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ISSUANCE

The Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority (the “Authority”) will issue
its Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 (ThedaCare, Inc.) (the “Bonds”) pursuant to a Bond
Trust Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2019 (the “Bond Indenture”), between the
Authority and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N. A., as trustee.
The Bonds will be issued in minimum denominations of $5,000 and any integral multiple
thereof.

INTEREST PAYMENTS

The Bonds will bear interest from their date of issuance, payable on June 15th and
December 15th in each year, commencing June 15, 2020.

REDEMPTION AND
MANDATORY PURCHASE

The Bonds are subject to optional, mandatory, extraordinary redemption and purchase
in lieu of redemption prior to maturity under certain circumstances. On a date on
which the Bonds would otherwise be subject to optional redemption, the Bonds are
also subject to mandatory tender for purchase upon conversion to a new Interest Rate
Period, as described herein. See “THE BONDS – REDEMPTION OF THE BONDS”
herein.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Authority will lend the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to ThedaCare, Inc. (the
“Corporation”). The Corporation will use the proceeds of the Bonds to (i) finance costs
of the Project as defined herein, (ii) refund the Authority’s Revenue Bonds, Series 2009A
(ThedaCare, Inc.) and the Authority’s Revenue Bonds, Series 2009B (ThedaCare, Inc.)
and (iii) pay certain costs of issuing and selling the Bonds. See “PLAN OF FINANCE”
herein.
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THE BONDS ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY AND ARE
NOT A DEBT OR LIABILITY OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN OR OF ANY
POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OR AGENCY THEREOF OTHER THAN THE
AUTHORITY. THE SOURCES OF PAYMENT AND SECURITY FOR THE BONDS
ARE MORE FULLY DESCRIBED HEREIN. THE AUTHORITY HAS NO TAXING
POWER.

The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued and received by the Underwriters, subject to prior sale, to withdrawal
or modifications of the offer without any notice, and to the approval of legality of the Bonds by Quarles & Brady LLP,
bond counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Authority by its general counsel, Quarles & Brady LLP,
for the Obligated Group by its counsel, Godfrey & Kahn, S.C., Milwaukee, Wisconsin, and for the Underwriters by their
counsel, Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP, Chicago, Illinois. Subject to prevailing market conditions, the Underwriters
intend, but are not obligated, to make a market in the Bonds. No assurance can be given that a secondary market will
develop for the Bonds. For details of the Underwriters’ compensation see “UNDERWRITING” herein. It is expected
that the Bonds in definitive form will be available for delivery to the Underwriters via The Depository Trust Company
in New York, New York on or about December 20, 2019.
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5.00%
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5.00
4.00
4.00
4.00
4.00
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2.15%
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2.69
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CUSIP†
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$8,810,000 3.125% Term Bond due December 15, 2044; Yield 3.25%; Price 97.872; CUSIP†: 97712D 4S2
$28,280,000 3.125% Term Bond due December 15, 2049; Yield 3.30%; Price 96.683; CUSIP†: 97712D 4T0
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REGARDING USE OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT
No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the Wisconsin
Health and Educational Facilities Authority, ThedaCare, Inc. or any of the hospital corporations
it controls or the Underwriters to give information or to make any representations with respect to
the Bonds, other than those contained in this Official Statement, and, if given or made, such
other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of
the foregoing. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an
offer to buy, and there shall not be any sale of the Bonds in any jurisdiction in which it is
unlawful to make such offer, solicitation or sale. Certain information contained herein has been
obtained from ThedaCare, Inc. and the hospital corporations which it controls and other sources
which are believed to be reliable, but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by, and is
not to be construed to be the representations of, the Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities
Authority or the Underwriters. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to
change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made
hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in
the affairs of the parties referred to above since the date hereof.
The information set forth in this Official Statement under the headings “THE
AUTHORITY” and “ABSENCE OF MATERIAL LITIGATION – Authority” has been
furnished by the Authority. The information set forth herein under “BOOK-ENTRY
SYSTEM” has been obtained from DTC. All other information set forth in this Official
Statement has been obtained from the Obligated Group and other sources that are believed to be
reliable, but is not guaranteed as to adequacy, accuracy or completeness by, and is not to be
construed to be the representations of the Underwriters. The information and expressions of
opinion set forth in this Official Statement are subject to change without notice, and neither the
delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall under any circumstances
create any implication that there has been no change since the date hereof in the business affairs
or financial condition of the parties referred to herein.
Neither the Authority, its counsel nor any of its members, agents, employees or
representatives have reviewed this Official Statement or investigated the statements or
representations contained herein, except for those statements relating to the Authority set forth
under the captions “THE AUTHORITY” and “ABSENCE OF MATERIAL LITIGATION –
Authority.” Except with respect to the information contained under such captions, neither the
Authority, its counsel, nor any of its members, agents, employees or representatives make any
representation as to the completeness, sufficiency and truthfulness of the statements set forth in
this Official Statement. Members of the Authority and any other person executing the Bonds are
not subject to personal liability by reason of the issuance of the Bonds.
The Underwriters have reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance
with, and as part of, its responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws, but the
Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.
IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITERS MAY
OVERALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN
THE MARKET PRICE OF THE BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT

OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET.
SUCH STABILIZING, IF
COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME.
THE BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT
OF 1933, AS AMENDED, NOR HAVE THE BOND INDENTURE OR THE MASTER
INDENTURE BEEN QUALIFIED UNDER THE TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF 1939, AS
AMENDED, IN RELIANCE UPON EXEMPTIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH ACTS. THE
REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION OF THE BONDS IN ACCORDANCE WITH
APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF SECURITIES LAWS OF THE STATES IN WHICH THE
BONDS HAVE BEEN REGISTERED OR QUALIFIED AND THE EXEMPTION FROM
REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION IN OTHER STATES CANNOT BE REGARDED AS
A RECOMMENDATION THEREOF. NEITHER THESE STATES NOR ANY OF THEIR
AGENCIES HAVE PASSED UPON THE MERITS OF THE BONDS OR THE ACCURACY
OR COMPLETENESS OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO
THE CONTRARY MAY BE A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.
CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTS IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT
Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this Official Statement
constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the United States Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 21E of the United States Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended. Such statements are generally identifiable by the terminology used
such as “plan,” “expect,” “estimate,” “budget” or other similar words. Such forward-looking
statements include, but are not limited to, certain statements contained in APPENDIX A hereto.
THE ACHIEVEMENT OF CERTAIN RESULTS OR OTHER EXPECTATIONS
CONTAINED IN SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS INVOLVE KNOWN AND
UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER FACTORS WHICH MAY CAUSE
ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS DESCRIBED TO BE
MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FUTURE RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR
ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTS. THE OBLIGATED GROUP DOES NOT PLAN TO ISSUE ANY UPDATES
OR REVISIONS TO THOSE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS IF OR WHEN ITS
EXPECTATIONS, OR EVENTS, CONDITIONS OR CIRCUMSTANCES ON WHICH SUCH
STATEMENTS ARE BASED OCCUR.
The CUSIP numbers are included in this Official Statement for the convenience of the
owners of the Bonds. No assurance can be given that the CUSIP numbers for the Bonds will
remain the same after the date of issuance and delivery of the Bonds.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT
$140,790,000
WISCONSIN HEALTH AND
EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES AUTHORITY
REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2019
(THEDACARE, INC.)

INTRODUCTION
Purpose of this Official Statement. The purpose of this Official Statement, including
the cover page and the Appendices hereto, is to set forth information in connection with the
offering of $140,790,000 aggregate principal amount of the Wisconsin Health and Educational
Facilities Authority (the “Authority”) Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 (ThedaCare, Inc.) (the
“Bonds”). Certain terms used herein are defined in APPENDIX C and APPENDIX D hereto.
The descriptions and summaries of various documents hereinafter set forth do not purport to be
comprehensive or definitive, and reference is made to each document for the complete details of
its terms and conditions. All statements herein are qualified in their entirety by reference to each
document.
ThedaCare, Inc. (the “Corporation”) and the seven hospital entities, ThedaCare Regional
Medical Center – Neenah, Inc. (“TCN”), a 151 staffed bed hospital; ThedaCare Regional
Medical Center – Appleton, Inc. (“TCA”), a 147 staffed bed hospital; ThedaCare Medical Center
– New London, Inc. (“TCNL”), a 25 staffed bed hospital; ThedaCare Medical Center – Berlin,
Inc. (“TCB”), a 25 staffed bed hospital; ThedaCare Medical Center – Shawano, Inc. (“TCS”), a
22 staffed bed hospital; ThedaCare Medical Center – Waupaca, Inc. (“TCW”), a 25 staffed bed
hospital and ThedaCare Medical Center – Wild Rose, Inc. (“TCWR”), a 25 staffed bed hospital
are the current members of the Obligated Group under the Master Indenture described further
herein. TCN, TCA, TCNL, TCB, TCS, TCW, and TCWR are collectively referred to as the
Hospitals. The Corporation was incorporated as a Wisconsin nonstock corporation to manage,
promote and support the health care endeavors of the Hospitals. The Corporation also manages
and operates 34 primary care clinics, employs 202 physicians and owns a 138 unit retirement
housing complex offering assisted living services, an 18 unit community based retirement
facility, a 58 bed skilled nursing facility, a 37-bed skilled nursing facility, a 19 bed inpatient
mental health program and a 10 bed inpatient hospice.
This Official Statement summarizes certain terms of the Bonds only while they bear
interest at the fixed rates established on the original issue date of the Bonds. Should the Bonds
be converted, which can only occur on a date on which the Bonds would otherwise be subject to
optional redemption, to operate in a different Interest Rate Period (as hereinafter defined) or to
bear interest at new fixed rates, the Bonds will be subject to mandatory tender for purchase and,
at that time, it is expected that a reoffering circular or a supplement to this Official Statement
will be prepared.
The Obligated Group. Currently, the Corporation and the Hospitals are the only
members of the Obligated Group established under the Master Trust Indenture dated as of
June 1, 1988 (as supplemented and amended to date and as being amended and restated, the

“Master Indenture”), between the Corporation, the Hospitals and U.S. Bank National
Association (the “Master Trustee”). Under the Master Indenture, the Corporation, the Hospitals
and other corporations (the “Obligated Issuers”) electing to become Obligated Issuers under the
Master Indenture (collectively, the “Obligated Group”) may issue obligations to finance
activities of the Obligated Group. Each Obligated Issuer is the principal obligor on obligations
issued by it under the Master Indenture; however, all other members of the Obligated Group
jointly and severally guarantee the repayment of all obligations issued under the Master
Indenture as described below. Other entities may become members of the Obligated Group in
accordance with the procedures set forth in the Master Indenture, although no additional
members are expected in the foreseeable future. See APPENDIX A for a more detailed
description of the Obligated Group, its history, organization and financial performance. The
Obligated Group represents 100% of the net patient revenues of the Corporation and 93% of total
Corporation assets.
Purpose of the Bonds. Concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds, the Corporation
and the Authority will enter into a Loan Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2019 (the “Loan
Agreement”), under which the proceeds to be received by the Authority from the sale of the
Bonds will be loaned to the Corporation. The proceeds of the Bonds will be used to: (i) finance
the hospital portion of an Orthopedic, Spine and Pain Center as well as other capital expenditures
and equipment acquisitions at the Hospitals (collectively, the “Project”), (ii) refund the
Authority’s Revenue Bonds, Series 2009A (ThedaCare, Inc.) and the Authority’s Revenue
Bonds, Series 2009B (ThedaCare, Inc.) (collectively, the “Prior Bonds”), and (iii) pay certain
costs of issuing and selling the Bonds. See “PLAN OF FINANCE” herein.
Security. The Bonds are limited obligations of the Authority; the Bonds are payable
solely from payments received by The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as
trustee (the “Bond Trustee”), pursuant to a Bond Trust Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2019
(the “Bond Indenture”), and, under certain circumstances, from amounts on deposit with the
Bond Trustee pursuant to the Bond Indenture. To secure its obligation to repay the loan of the
proceeds of the Bonds, the Corporation will issue its Promissory Note, Series 2019B (the “Series
2019 Master Note”) in an aggregate principal amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of
the Bonds. The Series 2019 Master Note will be delivered to the Authority and assigned to the
Bond Trustee. The terms of the Series 2019 Master Note will require payments by the
Corporation that in the aggregate, together with other moneys available therefor (and the interest
earned thereon), will be sufficient to provide for the timely payment of the principal of,
premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds. The Series 2019 Master Note will be issued under
the Master Indenture and the Twenty First Supplemental Master Trust Indenture dated as of
December 1, 2019 (the “Supplemental Master Indenture”), between the Corporation and the
Master Trustee. The Series 2019 Master Note will entitle the Bond Trustee, as the holder
thereof, to the security and protection of the covenants, restrictions and other obligations
imposed upon the Corporation and other members of the Obligated Group by the Master
Indenture. The Corporation has issued Prior Master Notes (as defined herein) under the Master
Indenture to evidence and secure indebtedness. See “SECURITY AND OTHER SOURCES
OF FUNDS FOR THE BONDS” herein.
Additional Indebtedness. Other notes on a parity with the Prior Master Notes and the
Series 2019 Master Note may be issued under the Master Indenture by the Corporation and other
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members of the Obligated Group for the purposes, upon the terms and subject to the conditions
provided in the Master Indenture in order to secure additional indebtedness. Subject to the
conditions contained therein, the Master Indenture also permits the Corporation to incur secured
and unsecured indebtedness in addition to Master Notes and to enter into Guarantees. Additional
Master Notes may also be entitled to the benefit of mortgages on property of the Obligated
Group, which Mortgages need not secure the Series 2019 Master Note. See “SUMMARY OF
THE MASTER INDENTURE – Restrictions as to Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness”
in APPENDIX C hereto.
Consent to Amendments to the Master Indenture.
As a result of purchasing the Bonds, the initial purchasers will be deemed to have
consented to certain amendments (the “Master Indenture Amendments”) constituting the
amendment and restatement of the Master Indenture pursuant to the Supplemental Master
Indenture.
See “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER
INDENTURE” in APPENDIX C hereto for a description of the Master Indenture, as so
amended. The Master Indenture Amendments shall take effect upon (i) receipt by the Master
Trustee of evidence of the consent of the holders of not less than a majority in principal amount
of Master Notes then outstanding and (ii) the consent of certain banks, as holders of the Series
2012 Master Note, the Series 2014 Master Note and the Series 2019A Master Note. Upon
issuance of the Bonds, the Corporation anticipates that the requisite consents will have been
received and, accordingly, the Master Indenture Amendments will be immediately effective. The
Master Indenture described herein is the amended and restated Master Indenture, containing all
the Master Indenture Amendments.
Possible Substitution of the Series 2019 Master Note. The Bond Indenture contains
certain provisions that permit substitution or replacement of the Series 2019 Master Note with a
note of a new credit group in order to effect an affiliation with another entity or entities so long
the ratings, prior to such substitution or replacement, on the Bonds by each rating agency then
rating the Bonds and on the new credit group by each rating agency then rating the long term
debt of the new credit group is at least A3 (Moody’s) / A- (S&P and Fitch) (without regard to
rating outlooks). Such substitution may result in a substantially different type of credit securing
the Bonds than that described herein. See “SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT FOR
THE BONDS – Possible Substitution of the Series 2019 Master Note” herein. See also
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND INDENTURE – Replacement
of Series 2019 Master Note with Master Note Issued under a Separate Master Indenture” in
APPENDIX D hereto for a description of these provisions.
Bondholders’ Risks. There are risks associated with the purchase of the Bonds. See
“BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS” herein for the discussion of some of these risks.
THE BONDS
Description of the Bonds
The Bonds are dated the date of their initial issuance and delivery, and bear interest from
that date payable on June 15 and December 15 in each year, commencing June 15, 2020. The
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Bonds bear interest at the rates per annum and mature in the amounts and at the times set forth
on the inside front cover page hereof. The day next succeeding the last day of an Interest Rate
Period and each date the Bonds are subject to mandatory tender for purchase are also interest
payment dates. Interest is computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day
months. The principal of and the redemption price on the Bonds are payable upon surrender of
the Bonds to the Bond Trustee at the principal corporate trust office of the Bond Trustee.
Interest payments on the Bonds shall be made to the registered owners of the Bonds by check
mailed on each interest payment date (or, subject to certain conditions described in the Bond
Indenture, at the option of any owner of $1,000,000 or more in aggregate principal amount of
Bonds or to the Depository, by wire transfer to an account within the United States) to the person
in whose name such Bond was registered at the close of business on the Record Date. The
Record Date is the first calendar day of the month in which such interest payment date falls.
For a description of the method of payment of the principal, premium, if any, and interest
on the Bonds so long as the Bonds are held pursuant to the Book-Entry System, see “BOOKENTRY SYSTEM” hereinafter.
So long as the Bonds are registered in the name of Cede & Co., registration, transfer and
exchange of the Bonds may only be made through DTC. See “BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM”
hereinafter.
The interest rate period on the Bonds may be converted from the initial Fixed Period as
described in this Official Statement, at the Corporation’s election, to a Weekly Interest Rate
Period, a Commercial Paper Interest Rate Period, an Index Floating Interest Rate Period, a LongTerm Interest Rate Period, a Window Interest Rate Period or a new Fixed Period, all as defined
in the Bond Indenture. Any such Conversion may occur only during the period that the Bonds
are subject to optional redemption as described under “THE BONDS – Redemption of the
Bonds – Optional Redemption” below. See “THE BONDS – Conversion and Mandatory
Tender of Bonds During Period Bonds are Subject to Optional Redemption.”
This Official Statement summarizes certain terms of the Bonds only while Bonds bear
interest at Fixed Rates established on the original issue date of the Bonds. Should the Bonds be
converted to operate in a different Interest Rate Period or to bear interest at new Fixed Rates,
which can occur only at such time as the Bonds may be called for optional redemption, the
Bonds will be subject to mandatory tender for purchase and, at that time, it is expected that a
reoffering circular or a supplement to this Official Statement will be prepared.
Redemption of the Bonds
The Bonds during the initial Fixed Period are subject to mandatory, optional and
extraordinary optional redemption as described below:
Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption Without Premium. The Bonds maturing on
December 15, 2044, December 15, 2049 (and bearing interest at the rate of 3.125% per annum)
and December 15, 2049 (and bearing interest at the rate of 4.00% per annum) are subject to
mandatory redemption, in part, prior to their stated maturity date under the sinking fund
provisions of the Bond Indenture. The Bonds to be redeemed under this provision will be
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redeemed at a price equal to the principal amount of the Bonds called for redemption plus
accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption (each a “Sinking Fund Redemption Date”),
without premium.
The Bonds maturing on December 15, 2044 are subject to mandatory sinking fund
redemption from Sinking Account Installments on the dates and in the amounts as follows:
Date
December 15
2040
2041
2042
2043
2044†
_____________________
†

Principal
Amount
$ 1,655,000
1,710,000
1,765,000
1,815,000
1,865,000

Maturity

The Bonds maturing on December 15, 2049 and bearing interest at the rate of 3.125% per
annum are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption from Sinking Account Installments on
the dates and in the amounts as follows:
Date
December 15
2045
2046
2047
2048
2049†
_____________________
†

Principal
Amount
$ 5,220,000
5,430,000
5,650,000
5,870,000
6,110,000

Maturity

The Bonds maturing on December 15, 2049 and bearing interest at the rate of 4.000% per
annum are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption from Sinking Account Installments on
the dates and in the amounts as follows:
Date
December 15
2045
2046
2047
2048
2049†
_____________________
†

Principal
Amount
$ 9,380,000
9,705,000
10,045,000
10,405,000
10,760,000

Maturity

The principal amount of the Bonds summarized under this heading to be redeemed on
any particular Sinking Fund Redemption Date shall be reduced by the principal amount of any
Bonds having the same stated maturity which (i) were purchased and delivered to the Bond
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Trustee for cancellation in accordance with the Bond Indenture during the twelve-month period
immediately preceding a Sinking Account Installment date or (ii) during said period and prior to
giving the notice of redemption the Corporation has deposited any such Bonds with the Bond
Trustee or (iii) Bonds were at any time purchased or redeemed by the Bond Trustee from the
Redemption Fund and allocable to said Sinking Account Installment.
In addition, each Bond delivered to the Bond Trustee pursuant to the preceding
paragraph, or optionally redeemed or pursuant to extraordinary optional redemption in part and
maturing on December 15, 2044, December 15, 2049 (and bearing interest at the rate of 3.125%
per annum) and December 15, 2049 (and bearing interest at the rate of 4.00% per annum), as
applicable, will be allocated first to the next succeeding related Sinking Account Installment,
then as a credit against future related Sinking Account Installments as the Corporation may
specify in writing.
Optional Redemption. The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to their stated
maturity at the option of the Issuer (which option will be exercised upon request of the
Corporation to the Bond Trustee at least 25 days prior to the date fixed for redemption) in whole
or in part on any date on or after December 15, 2029 at a redemption price equal to the principal
amount of the Bonds being redeemed, plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption,
without premium.
Extraordinary Optional Redemption. The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to
their respective stated maturities, at the option of the Authority (which option shall be exercised
upon request of the Corporation given to the Bond Trustee (unless waived by the Bond Trustee)
at least twenty-five (25) days prior to the date fixed for redemption) in whole or in part (in such
amounts and maturities as may be specified by the Corporation or, if the Corporation fails to
specify such maturities, in inverse order of maturity) randomly within a maturity, on any date,
from hazard insurance or condemnation proceeds received with respect to the Facilities of any
Member of the Obligated Group to the extent that such funds are elected to be applied to a
redemption or prepayment of the Series 2019 Master Note and are deposited in the Special
Redemption Account established under the Bond Indenture, at a redemption price equal to the
principal amount of Bonds called for redemption, plus accrued interest to the date fixed for
redemption, without premium. The principal amount of Bonds redeemed pursuant to this
paragraph may not exceed the aggregate amount of funds held by the Bond Trustee for
prepayment under the Bond Indenture. See “SUMMARY OF THE MASTER INDENTURE –
Damage or Destruction” in APPENDIX C hereto.
The Bonds are also subject to redemption prior to their respective stated maturities at the
option of the Authority (which option shall be exercised upon request of the Corporation given to
the Bond Trustee (unless waived by the Bond Trustee) at least 25 days prior to the date fixed for
redemption) as a whole (but not in part) on any date at a redemption price equal to the principal
amount of Bonds called for redemption, together with accrued interest thereon to the date fixed
for redemption, without premium, if as a result of any changes in the Constitution of the United
States of America or any state, or legislative or administrative action or inaction by the United
States of America or any state, or any agency or political subdivision thereof, or by reason of any
judicial decisions there is a good faith determination by any Member of the Obligated Group that
(a) the Master Indenture has become void or unenforceable or impossible to perform or (b)
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unreasonable burdens or excessive liabilities have been imposed on such Member of the
Obligated Group, including without limitation, federal, state or other ad valorem property,
income or other taxes not being imposed on the date of the Bond Indenture.
Notice and Effect of Redemption
Notice of redemption shall be mailed by the Bond Trustee, not less than twenty (20) days
nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the redemption date, to the Holders of Bonds called for
redemption. Such notice shall be given to the Holders of the Bonds at their addresses appearing
on the bond registration books maintained by the Bond Trustee and to the Master Trustee with a
copy to the Issuer.
Each notice of redemption shall state (i) the date of such notice, (ii) the date of issue of
the Bonds, (iii) the redemption date, (iv) the redemption price, (v) the place or places of
redemption (including the name and address of the Bond Trustee), (vi) the maturity, (vii) the
CUSIP numbers, if any, and, (viii) in the case of Bonds to be redeemed in part only, the
respective portions of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed. The Corporation may
instruct the Bond Trustee to provide conditional notice of redemption, which may be conditioned
upon the receipt of moneys or any other event.
Notice of redemption of Bonds shall be given by the Bond Trustee on behalf of the
Authority. Failure by the Bond Trustee to mail notice of redemption pursuant to the Bond
Indenture to any one or more of the respective Holders of any Bonds designated for redemption
shall not affect the sufficiency of the proceedings for redemption with respect to the Holders to
whom such notice was properly provided.
Notice of redemption having been duly given as aforesaid, and moneys for payment of
the redemption price of, together with interest accrued to the redemption date on, the Bonds (or
portions thereof) so called for redemption being held by the Bond Trustee, on the redemption
date designated in such notice, the Bonds (or portions thereof) so called for redemption shall
become due and payable at the redemption price specified in such notice together with interest
accrued thereon to the redemption date. Interest on the Bonds (or portions thereof) so called for
redemption shall cease to accrue on and after the redemption date, such Bonds (or portions
thereof) shall cease to be entitled to any benefit or security under the Bond Indenture and the
Holders of said Bonds shall have no rights in respect thereof except to receive payment of said
redemption price and accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption from funds held by the
Bond Trustee for such payment. All Bonds which have been redeemed shall be canceled upon
surrender thereof.
Selection of Bonds for Partial Redemption
Whenever less than all of the Bonds or any maturity are to be redeemed pursuant to the
Bond Indenture, the Bond Trustee shall select the Bonds to be redeemed from all Bonds subject
to redemption or such given portion thereof not previously called for redemption from among the
various maturities in such manner as the Borrower shall direct and select from among the Bonds
of the same maturity by lot.
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Purchase in Lieu of Redemption
Each Holder or Beneficial Owner, by purchase and acceptance of any Bond, irrevocably
grants to the Corporation the option to purchase such Bond at any time such Bond is subject to
optional redemption as described in the Bond Indenture. Such Bond is to be purchased at a
purchase price equal to the then applicable redemption price of such Bond. The Corporation
shall deliver a Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel to the Bond Trustee, and shall direct the
Bond Trustee to provide notice of mandatory purchase, such notice to be provided, as and to the
extent applicable, in accordance with the redemption notice provisions of the Bond Indenture and
to select Bonds subject to mandatory purchase in the same manner as Bonds called for
redemption pursuant to this Bond Indenture. On the date fixed for purchase of any Bond in lieu
of redemption, the Corporation shall pay the purchase price of such Bond to the Bond Trustee in
immediately available funds, and the Bond Trustee shall pay the same to the Holders of the
Bonds being purchased against delivery thereof. No purchase of any Bond in lieu of redemption
shall operate to extinguish the indebtedness of the Corporation evidenced by such Bond. No
Holder or Beneficial Owner may elect to retain a Bond subject to mandatory purchase in lieu of
redemption. The Corporation may exercise its option to purchase Bonds, in whole or in part, in
accordance with the Bond Indenture.
Conversion and Mandatory Tender of Bonds During Period Bonds are Subject to Optional
Redemption
The Bonds, upon their initial issuance will be in a Fixed Period. At the option of the
Corporation, the Bonds may be converted to operate in a Weekly Interest Rate Period, a
Commercial Paper Interest Rate Period, an Index Floating Interest Rate Period, a Long-Term
Interest Rate Period, a Window Interest Rate Period or a new Fixed Period, all as defined in the
Bond Indenture, on any date during the period such Fixed Rate Bonds are subject to optional
redemption pursuant to the provisions of the Bond Indenture as described under “THE BONDS
– Redemption of the Bonds – Optional Redemption” above. If the Corporation elects to
convert the Bonds to a new or different interest rate period, the Bond Trustee shall give notice of
a Conversion to the holders of the Bonds, not less than 10 days prior to the proposed Conversion
Date.
Such Conversion and mandatory tender will not occur unless the following shall occur:
(i) a Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel shall be provided with respect to such Conversion; and
(ii) the remarketing proceeds available on the Conversion Date shall not be less than the amount
required to purchase all of such Bonds at the Purchase Price (unless the Corporation, in its sole
discretion, transfers to the Bond Trustee the amount of such deficiency on or before the
Conversion Date).
In connection with any proposed Conversion of Bonds from the Fixed Period to another
Interest Rate Period, the Corporation has the right to deliver to the Bond Trustee and the
Authority on or prior to 10:00 a.m., New York City time, on the second Business Day preceding
the effective date of any such Conversion, a notice to the effect that the Corporation elects to
rescind its election to implement any such Conversion. If the Corporation rescinds its election to
implement any such Conversion, then the Interest Rate Period shall not be converted, there will
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be no mandatory tender and the Bonds shall continue to bear interest at the Fixed Rates as in
effect immediately prior to such proposed Conversion.
Registration, Transfer and Exchange
For a description of the procedure to transfer ownership of a Bond while in the bookentry only system, see “BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM” below. The Bond Trustee agrees in the
Bond Indenture to keep or cause to be kept sufficient books for the registration and transfer of
the Bonds, which shall at all times (during regular business hours at the location where such
books are kept) be open to inspection by any Bondholder or such Bondholder’s agent duly
authorized in writing, the Authority or the Corporation; and, upon presentation for such purpose,
the Bond Trustee shall, under such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, register or transfer
or cause to be registered or transferred, on such books, Bonds as provided in the Bond Indenture.
Subject to the provisions of the Bond Indenture, any Bond may, in accordance with its
terms, be transferred, upon the books required to be kept pursuant to the provisions of the Bond
Indenture, by the Person in whose name it is registered, in person or by such Person’s duly
authorized attorney, upon surrender of such Bond for cancellation, accompanied by delivery of a
written instrument of transfer, duly executed in a form approved by the Bond Trustee.
Whenever any Bond or Bonds shall be surrendered for transfer, the Authority shall
execute and the Bond Trustee shall authenticate and deliver a new Bond or Bonds, of the same
maturity and for a like aggregate principal amount.
Bonds may be exchanged at the Principal Corporate Trust Office of the Bond Trustee for
a like aggregate principal amount of Bonds of other Minimum Authorized Denominations of the
same maturity.
The Registered Owner requesting any transfer or exchange of any Bonds must pay, as a
condition to the transfer or exchange, any resulting tax or other governmental charge and the
reasonable fees and expenses of the Bond Trustee and the Authority.
The Bond Trustee is not required to register, transfer, exchange or replace any Bond
(a) during the 15-days next preceding the date on which a notice of redemption is given or (b)
called for such redemption.
SECURITY AND OTHER SOURCES OF FUNDS FOR THE BONDS
General
The Bonds are limited obligations of the Authority and the Bonds are payable solely from
payments received by the Bond Trustee under the Bond Indenture and, under certain
circumstances, from amounts on deposit with the Bond Trustee pursuant to the Bond Indenture.
The Bonds are secured by a pledge of the Corporation’s Series 2019 Master Note in an aggregate
principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Bonds. The Series 2019 Master Note will
be delivered to the Authority and assigned by the Authority to the Bond Trustee under the Bond
Indenture. The terms of the Series 2019 Master Note require payments by the Corporation
which, together with other monies available therefor and the interest earned thereon, will be
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sufficient to provide for the timely payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on
the Bonds. The Series 2019 Master Note will be the full, unlimited obligation of the
Corporation. Each other member of the Obligated Group will jointly and severally guarantee the
payment of any and all amounts payable under the Series 2019 Master Note and Prior Master
Notes (as defined below) if, for any reason, the amounts due on any Prior Master Note or the
Series 2019 Master Note are not punctually paid by the member of the Obligated Group that
issued it. Neither the Corporation’s obligation to make payments on the Prior Master Notes and
the Series 2019 Master Note nor the guaranty of the members of the Obligated Group will be
secured by a pledge, grant or mortgage of any assets of any member of the Obligated Group
other than the Pledged Revenues of the Obligated Group.
Heretofore, pursuant to the Master Indenture the Corporation issued the Master Notes
listed under “OUTSTANDING MASTER NOTES” which are hereinafter collectively referred
to as the “Prior Master Notes.” The aggregate principal amount of Prior Master Notes
Outstanding as of December 20, 2019, is $276,109,663, of which $76,690,000 will be refunded
with proceeds of the Bonds and $5,320,000 of maturing principal is expected to be paid on
December 15, 2019. The Prior Master Notes, the Series 2019 Master Note and any additional
Master Note hereinafter issued pursuant to the Master Indenture (collectively, the “Master
Notes”) are parity obligations and are secured equally and ratably under the Master Indenture.
The Master Notes are secured by a security interest in the Obligated Group’s Pledged Revenues
as defined in and pursuant to the Master Indenture. Each Obligated Issuer is the principal
obligor on the Master Note issued by it. Payment on all Master Notes, including the Prior
Master Notes and the Series 2019 Master Note, is jointly and severally guaranteed by each
member of the Obligated Group. See “BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS – Certain Matters Relating
to Security for the Bonds.” The Master Notes are not secured by a mortgage of any assets of
the Obligated Group except for a pledge of the Obligated Group’s Pledged Revenues.
Additional Indebtedness
The Master Indenture permits the Corporation and other members of the Obligated Group
to issue additional notes under the Master Indenture on a parity with the Prior Master Notes and
the Series 2019 Master Note. Additional Master Notes issued under the Master Indenture may
be issued to evidence or secure additional debt owed to the Authority or to other creditors. Each
Master Note will be the full and unlimited obligation of the member of the Obligated Group
issuing it and each other member of the Obligated Group will jointly and severally guarantee the
payment of any and all amounts payable under the Master Notes. Additional Master Notes may
also be entitled to the benefit of certain Mortgages in limited circumstances on property of the
Obligated Group, which Mortgages need not secure the Series 2019 Master Note. See
“BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS – Certain Matters Relating to Security for the Bonds” herein
and “SUMMARY OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Restrictions as to the Incurrence of
Additional Indebtedness” in APPENDIX C hereto.
Rate Covenant
The Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer agrees in the Master Indenture that it
will set rates and charges for its facilities such that the Debt Service Coverage Ratio, calculated
at the end of each Fiscal Year, will not be less than 1.10. If the Debt Service Coverage Ratio, as
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calculated at the end of any Fiscal Year, is below 1.10, the Corporation covenants to retain an
Independent Consultant at the end of each Fiscal Year in which the Debt Service Coverage Ratio
is below 1.10 to make recommendations to increase the Debt Service Coverage Ratio for
subsequent Fiscal Years to at least 1.10, provided, however, that in the event that an Independent
Consultant shall deliver a report to the Master Trustee to the effect that state or federal laws or
regulations or administrative interpretations of such laws or regulations then in existence do not
permit or by their application make it impracticable for the Obligated Group to produce the
required Debt Service Coverage Ratio of 1.10, then it shall be reduced to the highest practicable
ratio permitted by the laws or regulations then in effect but in no event less than 1.00. The
Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer, respectively, agrees in the Master Indenture that it
will follow the recommendations of the Independent Consultant for the subsequent Fiscal Year
to the extent feasible. So long as the Corporation shall retain an Independent Consultant and the
Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer shall follow such Independent Consultant’s
recommendations to the extent feasible, and so long as the Debt Service Coverage Ratio for each
Fiscal Year is in no event less than 1.00 for any two (2) consecutive fiscal years, the provisions
of the Master Indenture summarized under this heading shall be deemed to have been complied
with even if the Debt Service Coverage Ratio is below 1.10, and such circumstances will not
constitute an Event of Default under the Master Indenture.
Consent to Amendments to the Master Indenture
As a result of purchasing the Bonds, the initial purchasers will be deemed to have
consented to certain amendments (the “Master Indenture Amendments”) constituting the
amendment and restatement of the Master Indenture pursuant to the Supplemental Master
Indenture.
See “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER
INDENTURE” in APPENDIX C hereto for provisions of the Master Indenture, as amended.
The Master Indenture Amendments shall take effect immediately upon (i) receipt by the Master
Trustee of evidence of the consent of the holders of not less than a majority in principal amount
of Master Notes then outstanding and (ii) the consent of certain banks, as holders of the Series
2012 Master Note, the Series 2014 Master Note and the Series 2019A Master Note. Upon
issuance of the Bonds, the Corporation anticipates that the requisite consents will have been
received and, accordingly, the Master Indenture Amendments will be immediately effective.
Possible Substitution of the Series 2019 Master Note
The Bond Indenture provides that the Bond Trustee will surrender the Series 2019 Master
Note to the Master Trustee for cancellation upon receipt by the Bond Trustee prior to such
surrender of the following:
(A)
a Request of the Corporation requesting such surrender and delivery and
stating that the Corporation has become a member of an obligated group under a master
indenture (other than the Master Indenture) (or an entity which, directly or indirectly,
controls the Corporation has become a member of such an obligated group and the
Corporation is obligated, by its articles of incorporation, bylaws or by contract or
otherwise, to make payments to such controlling entity in amounts sufficient to enable the
entity to make payments with respect to obligations issued under such master indenture)
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and that an obligation is being issued to the Bond Trustee under such replacement master
indenture (the “Replacement Master Indenture”);
(B)
an executed obligation (the “Replacement Obligation”) issued under the
Replacement Master Indenture and registered in the name of the Bond Trustee with the
same tenor and effect as the Series 2019 Master Note (in a principal amount equal to the
then Outstanding principal amount of Bonds), authenticated by the master trustee under
the Replacement Master Indenture;
(C)
an Opinion of Counsel selected by the Corporation to the effect that the
Replacement Obligation has been validly issued under the Replacement Master Indenture
and constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the Corporation (or the entity which
directly or indirectly controls the Corporation, if applicable) and each other Obligated
Group Member (if any) which is jointly and severally liable under the Replacement
Master Indenture;
(D)
a copy of the Replacement Master Indenture, certified as a true and
accurate copy by the master trustee under the Replacement Master Indenture;
(E)
Evidence that, prior to such substitution or replacement, the ratings on the
Bonds by each rating agency then rating the Bonds and on the new credit group by each
rating agency then rating the long term debt of the new credit group is at least A3
(Moody’s) / A- (S&P and Fitch) (without regard to rating outlooks).
(F)
an Opinion of Bond Counsel, addressed to the Bond Trustee and the
Authority, to the effect that the action proposed to be taken is authorized or permitted by
the Bond Indenture and will not, in and of itself, adversely affect the validity of the
Bonds or any exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes to which
interest on the Bonds would otherwise be entitled.
Upon satisfaction of such conditions, all references in the Bond Indenture and the Loan
Agreement to the Series 2019 Master Note shall be deemed to be references to the Replacement
Master Note, all references to the Master Indenture shall be deemed to be references to the
Replacement Master Indenture, all references to the Master Trustee shall be deemed to be
references to the master trustee under the Replacement Master Indenture, all references to the
Obligated Group and the members of the Obligated Group shall be deemed to be references to
the obligated group and the members of the obligated group under the Replacement Master
Indenture and all references to the Supplemental Master Indenture shall be deemed to be
references to the supplemental master indenture pursuant to which the Replacement Master Note
is issued.
Covenants Related to Other Indebtedness
The Obligated Group Members are parties to certain agreements with banks, and Master
Note holders that contain certain financial covenants for the sole benefit of such banks, and
holders, which are in addition to, and in some cases, more restrictive than the provisions of the
Master Indenture. Such Master Note holders may modify, amend or waive the covenants in their
respective agreement in their sole discretion at any time without the consent of or any notice to
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the owners of the Bonds or the holder of the Series 2019 Master Note. Failure of the Obligated
Group Members to comply with covenants in those various agreements could result in an event
of default and an acceleration of the Master Notes secured by those covenants and may create an
event of default under the Master Indenture permitting an acceleration of Series 2019 Master
Note and, in certain circumstances, may permit the holders of certain thresholds of the aggregate
principal amount of all Master Notes outstanding under the Master Indenture to direct the Master
Trustee to accelerate all Master Notes outstanding under the Master Indenture, including Series
2019 Master Note issued for the benefit of the Bonds.
BMO Harris Bank, N.A. (“BMO”) is (i) the owner of all of Corporation’s outstanding
Series 2012 Bonds, evidenced and secured by the Series 2012A Master Note, and the holder of
the Corporation’s related Series 2012B Master Note, and (ii) the owner of all of the
Corporation’s outstanding Series 2014A Bonds, evidenced and secured by the Series 2014A
Master Note, and the holder of the related Series 2012B Master Note. U.S. Bank National
Association (“U.S. Bank”) is the holder of the Corporation’s Series 2019A Master Note. BMO,
U.S. Bank and the owners of the Series 2010 Bonds have the benefit of certain financial
covenants in their loan documents that are more restrictive than those contained in the Master
Indenture and will be for the sole benefit of, and may be waived at the discretion of, BMO, U.S.
Bank and the Series 2010 Bondholders, respectively. The following table summarizes the
financial covenants contained in the BMO, U.S. Bank and Series 2010 Bond loan documents:
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Nature of Covenant
Debt Service
Coverage Ratio

Minimum Days
Unrestricted Cash on
Hand

BMO Provision

U.S. Bank Provision

Required Debt Service
Coverage Ratio of 1.25. If
the Debt Service Coverage
Ratio is below 1.25 as of any
Fiscal Year end, the
Obligated Group will retain
a consultant to make
recommendations to raise
the Debt Service Coverage
Ratio to above 1.25. So
long as a consultant is
retained and the Obligated
Group maintains a Debt
Service Coverage Ratio in
excess of 1.00, the covenant
is complied with.
N/A

Required Debt Service
Coverage Ratio of 1.25.

Fifty five (55) days
Unrestricted Cash on
Hand as of the end of
each Fiscal Year.

Total Debt to
Capitalization Ratio

N/A

Total Debt To
Capitalization Ratio of
not greater than 0.65 to
1.00 as of the end of each
Fiscal Year.

Minimum Credit
Rating

Rating on all bonds issued
for the benefit of the
Obligated Group shall be at
least Baa1/A-/A- by
Moody’s, Standard &
Poor’s, and Fitch.

N/A

Series 2010
Bondholders
N/A

Fifty five (55) days
Unrestricted Cash
on Hand as of the
end of each Fiscal
Year.
Total Debt To
Capitalization
Ratio of not greater
than 0.65 to 1.00 as
of the end of each
Fiscal Year.
N/A

BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM
Information concerning the Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York,
and the Book-Entry System has been obtained from DTC and is not guaranteed as to accuracy or
completeness by, and is not to be construed as a representation by, the Authority, the
Underwriters, the Bond Trustee, the Master Trustee or the Obligated Group.
DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully
registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such
other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully registered
Bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Bonds, each in the aggregate principal
amount of each such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC.
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DTC is a limited purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a
“banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the
Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform
Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over
3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and
money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct
Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post trade settlement among Direct
Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic
computerized book entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This
eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include
both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing
corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly owned subsidiary of The
Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC,
National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which
are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries.
Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities
brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or
maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect
Participants”). DTC has a Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its
Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about
DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.
Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct
Participants, which will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest
of each actual purchaser of each Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the
Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written
confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive
written confirmation providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their
holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into
the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries
made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners.
Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Bonds,
except in the event that use of the book entry system for the Bonds is discontinued.
To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC
are registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as
may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and
their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any
change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the
Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such
Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect
Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their
customers.
Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by
Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to
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Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or
regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Bonds may
wish to take certain steps to augment transmission to them of notices of significant events with
respect to the Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the
security documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to ascertain that the
nominee holding the Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to
Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and
addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them.
Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds are being
redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct
Participant therein to be redeemed.
Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with
respect to Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI
Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Authority as soon
as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting
rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Bonds are credited on the record date
(identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).
Payments of principal of, and interest and premium, if any, on the Bonds will be made to
Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.
DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and
corresponding detail information from the Bond Trustee or Authority, on a payable date in
accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to
Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the
case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street
name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC nor its nominee, the
Bond Trustee, the Master Trustee, the Obligated Group, or the Authority, subject to any statutory
or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of principal, interest
and redemption prices to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an
authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the Bond Trustee, disbursement of
such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such
payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.
DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Bonds at
any time by giving reasonable notice to the Authority or Bond Trustee. Under such
circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not obtained, Bond certificates are
required to be printed and delivered.
The Authority may decide to discontinue use of the system of book entry transfers
through DTC (or a successor securities depository). In that event, Bond certificates will be
printed and delivered to DTC.
None of the Authority, the Underwriters, the Obligated Group, the Master Trustee nor the
Bond Trustee will have any responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the accuracy of the
records of DTC, its nominee or any DTC Participant or Indirect Participant with respect to any
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beneficial ownership interest in any Bond, (ii) the delivery to any DTC Participant or Indirect
Participant or any other Person, other than an owner, as shown in the Bond Register, of any
notice with respect to any Bond including, without limitation, any notice of redemption, tender,
purchase or any event which would or could give rise to a tender or purchase right or option with
respect to any Bond, (iii) the payment of any DTC Participant or Indirect Participant or any other
Person, other than an owner, as shown in the Bond Register, of any amount with respect to the
principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, any Bond or (iv) any consent given by DTC as
registered owner.
THE AUTHORITY
Powers
The Authority has, among other powers, the statutory power to make loans to certain
health care, educational and other nonprofit institutions in Wisconsin, to finance the cost of
projects and refinance or refund outstanding indebtedness and to assign loan agreements, notes,
mortgages and other securities of health care, educational and other nonprofit institutions to
which the Authority has made loans, and the revenues therefrom, for the benefit of the holders of
bonds issued to finance or refinance such projects.
Members of the Authority
The Authority consists of seven members, all of whom must be Wisconsin residents,
appointed by Wisconsin’s Governor by and with the consent of the Wisconsin State Senate.
Members of the Authority serve staggered seven-year terms and continue to serve until their
successors are appointed. The members of the Authority receive no compensation for the
performance of their duties but are paid their necessary expenses while engaged in the
performance of such duties. No member, officer, agent or employee of the Authority may,
directly or indirectly, have any financial interest in any bond issue or in any loan or any property
to be included in, or any contract for property or materials to be furnished or used in connection
with, any project of the Authority, under penalty of law. Members of the Authority, however,
may serve as directors or officers of institutions for which the Authority is providing financing,
but they may not vote or take part in the Authority’s deliberations concerning such financing.
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The present members of the Authority are:
Term Expires (June 30)

James Dietsche, Chairperson
Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer
Bellin Health Systems, Inc.
Green Bay, Wisconsin

2026

Tim Size, Vice-Chairperson
Executive Director
Rural Wisconsin Health Cooperative
Sauk City, Wisconsin

2025

Renee Anderson
President/CEO
Saint John’s Communities, Inc.
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

2024

Paul Mathews
President/CEO
Marcus Center for the Performing Arts, Inc.
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

2021

James Oppermann
Former Senior Vice President - Finance and
Management Services
Alverno College
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

2023

Pamela Stanick
Associate Vice President, Finance & Treasury
The Medical College of Wisconsin, Inc.
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

2022

Robert Van Meeteren
President/CEO
Reedsburg Area Medical Center, Inc.
Reedsburg, Wisconsin

2020

Financing Program of the Authority
The following summary outlines the principal amount of revenue bonds and notes issued
during each of the Authority’s fiscal years. Except for the other series of bonds previously
issued by the Authority for the benefit of the Corporation, all such bonds and notes are secured
by instruments separate and apart from the Master Indenture. All such bonds and notes are
secured by instruments separate and apart from the Bond Indenture.
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Public Issues
FY Ended
June 30

Number
of Issues

Private Placements
Number
of Issues

Amount

Total
Number
of Issues

Amount

Amount

1980

0

0

1

1,300,000

1

1,300,000

1981

3

24,480,000

4

20,365,000

7

44,845,000

1982

3

34,100,000

4

12,575,000

7

46,675,000

1983

1

4,000,000

1

600,000

2

4,600,000

1984

4

16,375,000

3

13,225,000

7

29,600,000

1985

6

196,505,000

2

2,200,000

8

198,705,000

1986

9

213,260,000

5

17,478,000

14

230,738,000

1987

12

191,610,000

9

48,410,000

21

240,020,000

1988

14

170,890,000

14

81,589,000

28

252,479,000

1989

20

254,979,000

6

14,394,000

26

269,373,000

1990

14

277,605,000

9

45,737,000

23

323,342,000

1991

11

233,590,000

3

37,500,000

14

271,090,000

1992

15

346,160,000

5

43,500,000

20

389,660,000

1993

25

579,235,000

6

18,775,000

31

598,010,000

1994

16

434,495,000

6

46,615,000

22

481,110,000

1995

7

101,770,000

6

18,847,000

13

120,617,000

1996

14

382,905,000

2

8,800,000

16

391,705,000

1997

28

706,960,300

1

764,000

29

707,724,300

1998

25

722,050,000

1

2,700,000

26

724,750,000

1999

28

710,960,000

4

36,000,000

32

746,960,000

2000

16

415,710,000

6

17,736,450

22

433,446,450

2001

19

437,580,000

8

26,589,000

27

464,169,000

2002

18

815,100,000

2

8,000,000

20

823,100,000

2003

14

296,895,000

3

15,935,000

17

312,830,000

2004

26

912,245,000

4

25,980,000

30

938,225,000

2005

32

923,038,430

2

23,067,000

34

946,105,430

2006

25

706,235,000

2

6,570,000

27

712,805,000

2007

25

1,238,330,000

2

29,090,000

27

1,267,420,000

2008

24

1,006,255,000

4

36,500,000

28

1,042,755,000

2009

21

1,470,875,000

3

37,859,824

24

1,508,734,824

2010

17

1,338,695,000

13

114,746,851

30

1,453,441,851

2011

11

512,745,000

12

75,330,531

23

588,075,531

2012

10

1,149,250,000

16

469,944,854

26

1,619,194,854

2013

18

1,335,035,000

29

374,569,801

47

1,709,604,801

2014

5

326,220,000

19

468,391,000

24

794,611,000

2015

11

726,181,000

26

752,236,098

37

1,478,417,098

2016

4

1,219,215,000

19

689,319,802

23

1,908,534,802

2017

8

668,330,000

18

700,681,416

26

1,369,011,416

2018

10

1,043,355,000

17

379,430,529

27

2019

8

TOTAL

577

1,027,775,000
$23,170,993,730

(1)

10

297,056,000

307

$5,020,408,156

(2)

1,422,785,529

18

1,324,831,000

884

$28,191,401,886

(1)

Includes $9,615,020,612 which was refinanced by subsequent Authority bond issues.

(2)

Includes $2,061,125,586 which was refinanced by subsequent Authority bond issues.

In its fiscal year beginning July 1, 2019, the Authority has issued and authorized the
issuance of additional issues of bonds. The Authority plans to offer other obligations from time
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to time to finance other health, educational and nonprofit facilities. Such other obligations will
be issued pursuant to and secured by instruments separate and apart from the Bond Indenture and
the security for the Bonds.
Bonds of the Authority
The Authority may from time to time issue bonds for any corporate purpose described in
the Act, and, pursuant to the Act, these bonds are negotiable for all purposes notwithstanding
their payment from a limited source. The bonds are payable solely out of revenues of the
Authority specified in the resolution under which they are issued or in a related trust indenture or
mortgage. The Authority must pledge the revenues to be received by it on account of each
financing as security for the bonds issued in that financing.
Authority Counsel
Quarles & Brady LLP serves as general counsel to the Authority.
Interest on the Bonds Not Exempt from Wisconsin Income Taxes
Interest on the Bonds is not exempt from present Wisconsin income taxes.
State of Wisconsin Not Liable on the Bonds
The Bonds and the interest payable thereon do not constitute a debt or liability of the
State of Wisconsin or of any political subdivision thereof other than the Authority, but will be
payable solely from the funds pledged for the Bonds in accordance with the Bond Indenture.
The issuance of the Bonds does not, directly, indirectly or contingently, obligate the State of
Wisconsin or any political subdivision thereof to levy any form of taxation for the payment of
the Bonds or to make any appropriation for their payment. The State of Wisconsin will not in
any event be liable for the payment of the principal of or interest on the Bonds or for the
performance of any pledge, obligation or agreement of any kind whatsoever which may be
undertaken by the Authority. No breach by the Authority of any such pledge, obligation, or
agreement may impose any pecuniary liability upon the State of Wisconsin or any charge upon
its general credit or against its taxing power. The Authority has no taxing power.
The Act provides that the State of Wisconsin pledges to, and agrees with, holders of any
obligations issued under the Act that it will not limit or alter the rights vested in the Authority by
the Act until such obligations, together with the interest thereon, are fully met and discharged,
provided nothing in the Act precludes such limitation or alteration if and when adequate
provision will be made by law for the protection of the holders of such obligations.
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OUTSTANDING MASTER NOTES
The Obligated Group has previously issued the following Master Notes (including the
Series 2009A Master Note and the Series 2009B Master Note which are to be prepaid in
connection with the issuance of the Bonds) which are secured by the Master Indenture and will
be secured on a parity basis with the Series 2019 Master Note:
Master Note
2009A
2009B
2010
2012A
2014A
2015
2019A
(1)

Outstanding
Principal Amount(1)
$
73,450,000
3,240,000
12,815,000
49,745,000
8,170,203
116,575,000
3,362,859
$
267,358,062

As of December 20, 2019.

PLAN OF FINANCE
The proceeds to be received by the Authority from the issuance and sale of the Bonds
will be loaned to the Corporation pursuant to the Loan Agreement. The proceeds of the Bonds
will be used to: (i) finance the acquisition, construction, renovation and equipping of the Project,
(ii) refund the Prior Bonds, and (iii) pay certain costs of issuing and selling the Bonds.
The Project
The Project to be financed with the proceeds of the Bonds includes the hospital portion of
an Orthopedic, Spine and Pain Center as well as other general capital expenditures and
equipment acquisitions at the Hospitals. For additional information see “THE PROJECT” in
APPENDIX A hereto.
Refunding of the Prior Bonds
A portion of the proceeds of the Bonds loaned to the Corporation is anticipated to be used
(along with other trustee-held funds with respect to the Prior Bonds) to refund the Prior Bonds.
The Prior Bonds were originally issued in the aggregate principal amount of $126,585,000, of
which $76,690,000 will be outstanding after December 15, 2019. The refunding of the Prior
Bonds will be accomplished through the deposit of funds with the respective bond trustees for
the Prior Bonds in an amount that will be sufficient for the payment of the redemption price of
the Prior Bonds on December 20, 2019 and accrued interest thereon to the redemption date.
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ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS
Set forth below is a summary of the estimated sources and uses of funds related to the
Bonds:
Sources:
Principal Amount of the Bonds
Net Original Issue Premium
Funds held for Prior Bonds

$ 140,790,000
12,161,126
8,253,339
$ 161,204,465

Total Sources
Uses:
Project Fund Deposit
Refunding of Prior Bonds
Issuance expenses(1)

$ 83,225,140
76,747,037
1,232,289
$ 161,204,465

Total Uses

(1)
Includes Underwriters’ discount, legal, accounting, consulting, printing and other costs of issuing the Bonds.
Totals may not foot due to rounding.
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ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS
The amounts required in each Fiscal Year ending the December 31st for the payment of
principal of and interest on the Corporation’s indebtedness are set forth in the following table.
Existing Debt Service includes the Prior Master Notes and other indebtedness not secured by the
Master Indenture.
Year Ending
December 31,
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037
2038
2039
2040
2041
2042
2043
2044
2045
2046
2047
2048
2049

Existing
Debt Service(1)(2)
$ 15,556,389
18,947,373
17,956,822
17,788,570
17,092,059
15,218,451
15,210,147
15,203,630
15,453,385
15,432,620
15,420,666
6,396,906
6,749,036
6,759,322
6,372,000
6,372,750
6,379,900
6,376,550
6,377,950
12,663,650
12,667,000
12,665,750
12,664,750
12,667,750
12,668,250
-----$ 307,061,674

Series 2019 Master Note
Principal
Interest
-$ 5,462,180
-5,539,113
-5,539,113
-5,539,113
-5,539,113
-5,539,113
-5,539,113
-5,539,113
-5,539,113
-5,539,113
-5,539,113
$ 5,555,000
5,539,113
5,485,000
5,261,363
5,745,000
4,987,113
6,420,000
4,699,863
6,740,000
4,378,863
7,005,000
4,109,263
7,285,000
3,829,063
7,575,000
3,537,663
1,595,000
3,234,663
1,655,000
3,170,863
1,710,000
3,119,144
1,765,000
3,065,706
1,815,000
3,010,550
1,865,000
2,953,831
14,600,000
2,895,550
15,135,000
2,357,225
15,695,000
1,799,338
16,275,000
1,220,975
16,870,000
621,338
$ 140,790,000 $ 124,644,787

Aggregate
Debt Service
$ 21,018,569
24,486,486
23,495,934
23,327,683
22,631,172
20,757,563
20,749,259
20,742,742
20,992,498
20,971,732
20,959,778
17,491,019
17,495,399
17,491,435
17,491,863
17,491,613
17,494,163
17,490,613
17,490,613
17,493,313
17,492,863
17,494,894
17,495,456
17,493,300
17,487,081
17,495,550
17,492,225
17,494,338
17,495,975
17,491,338
$ 572,496,461

____________________________________
(1)
Assumes the refunding of the Prior Bonds and that the variable rate indebtedness secured by the Corporation’s Series 2014A Note and the
Series 2019A Note bear interest at the rate of 2.56% and 3.46% , respectively, per annum.
(2)
Includes $6,100,000 principal amount of indebtedness as of November 1, 2019, that is not secured by the Master Indenture.
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BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS
General
The purchase and ownership of the Bonds involve certain risks that are discussed
throughout this Official Statement. Each prospective purchaser of the Bonds (or a beneficial
ownership interest therein) should make an independent evaluation of the information presented
in this Official Statement.
The Bonds are special, limited obligations of the Authority, payable solely from certain
payments to be made by the Corporation under the Loan Agreement, payments on the Series
2019 Master Note by the Obligated Group and certain other funds held by the Bond Trustee
under the Bond Indenture.
Payment of the Bonds depends directly on the ability of the Members of the Obligated
Group to collectively generate revenues sufficient to cover the debt service on the Bonds and all
other indebtedness of the Obligated Group. No representation or assurance can be given that the
Members of the Obligated Group will realize revenues in amounts sufficient to make such
payments under the Loan Agreement and the Series 2019 Master Notes and to pay other
expenses and obligations of the Members of the Obligated Group. Further, there is no assurance
that the revenues of the Members of the Obligated Group can be increased sufficiently to
compensate for cost increases that may occur.
The Members of the Obligated Group are subject to a wide variety of federal and state
regulatory actions and legislative and policy changes by the governmental and private agencies
that administer Medicare, Medicaid and other payors. The Members of the Obligated Group are
subject to actions by, among others, the National Labor Relations Board, The Joint Commission
(“The Joint Commission”), the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) of the U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”), the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and
other federal, state and local government agencies. The future financial condition of the
Members of the Obligated Group could be adversely affected by, among other things, changes in
the method and amount of payments to the Members of the Obligated Group by governmental
and nongovernmental payors, the financial viability of these payors, increased competition from
other health care entities, the costs associated with responding to governmental audits, inquiries
and investigations, demand for health care, other forms of care or treatment, changes in the
methods by which employers purchase health care for employees, capability of management,
changes in the structure of how health care is delivered and paid for (i.e., accountable care
organizations and other health care reform payment mechanisms), future changes in the
economy, demographic changes, availability of physicians, nurses and other health care
professionals, and malpractice claims and other litigation. These factors and others may
adversely affect payment by the Members of the Obligated Group on the Bonds. In addition, the
tax-exempt status of each Member of the Obligated Group could be adversely affected by,
among other things, an adverse determination by a governmental entity or non-compliance with
governmental regulations or legislative changes that could, in turn, adversely affect the Bonds,
including the tax-exempt status of the Bonds. Neither the Underwriters nor the Authority have
made any independent investigation of the extent to which any such factors may have an adverse
effect on the revenues of the Members of the Obligated Group.
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The discussion herein of risks to the owners of the Bonds is not intended as
comprehensive or definitive, but rather is to summarize certain matters that could affect timely
payment on the Bonds. Other sections of this Official Statement, as cited herein, should be
referred to for a more detailed description of risks described in this section, which descriptions
are qualified by reference to any documents discussed herein. Copies of all such documents are
available for inspection at the designated corporate trust office of the Bond Trustee.
Interest Rate Swap Risk
The Hospital has previously and may in the future enter into interest rate swap
agreements to hedge interest rate risk from time to time.
Any interest rate swap or other hedge agreement to which a Member of the Obligated
Group is a party may, at any time, have a negative value to the Obligated Group. If either a swap
or other hedge counterparty or Obligated Issuer terminates such an agreement when the
agreement has a negative value to the Member of the Obligated Group, the Member of the
Obligated Group would be obligated to make a termination payment to the counterparty in the
amount of such negative value, and such payment could be substantial and potentially materially
adverse to Obligated Group’s financial condition. A counterparty may generally only terminate
such an agreement upon the occurrence of defined termination events such as nonpayment by the
Member of the Obligated Group and any insurer thereof, or in the event rating agencies withdraw
or downgrade the ratings of the Obligated Group and an insurer of the Obligated Group’s
obligation under such an agreement, if any, below specified levels.
The Members of the Obligated Group may enter into interest rate swap agreements to
hedge interest rate risk from time to time, and interest rate swap agreements may or may not be
secured by Master Notes under the Master Indenture. The occurrence of a termination event or
changes in the market value of such agreements could negatively or positively impact the
Member’s operating results and financial condition, and such impact could be material. In the
event of an early termination of a swap agreement, there can be no assurance that (i) where the
swap agreement has a positive value to the Obligated Group, the Obligated Group will receive
any termination payment payable to it by the respective swap counterparty, (ii) where the swap
agreement has a negative value to the Obligated Group, the Obligated Group will have sufficient
amounts to pay a termination payment payable by them to the respective swap counterparty, and
(iii) in any event, the Obligated Group will be able to obtain a replacement swap agreement with
comparable terms.
Swaps may require the Obligated Group to secure their obligations in certain
circumstances. The Obligated Issuers’ ability to place a lien on their Property is limited by the
Master Indenture. See “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER
INDENTURE – Restrictions as to Creation of Liens” in APPENDIX C hereto. If the
Obligated Group is unable to secure its obligations under any future swap agreement with
sufficient collateral, the swap provider would have the right to terminate the swap and the
Obligated Group could be required to make a termination payment to the swap provider, the
amount of which could be substantial.
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The Federal Budget and the Federal Debt Limit
Budget Control Act. The Federal Budget Control Act of 2011 (the “Budget Control
Act”) mandates significant reductions in federal spending caps for fiscal years 2012-2021,
including annual reductions of two percent on all Medicare payments during this period. The
Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018 extended these reductions through 2027. It is possible that
Congress could act to extend or increase these across-the-board reductions.
Because Congress may make changes to the budget in the future, it is impossible to
predict the impact of any future spending cuts on the Obligated Group. Further, with no longterm resolution in place for Federal deficit reduction, hospital and physician reimbursement are
likely to continue to be targets for reductions with respect to any interim or long-term Federal
deficit reduction efforts. These and any additional reductions in Medicare spending could have a
material adverse effect upon the financial condition or operations of the Obligated Group.
Debt Limit Increase. The Federal government has, through legislation, created a debt
“ceiling” or limit on the amount of debt that may be issued by the U.S. Treasury. In the past
several years, disputes have arisen within the federal government in connection with the
authorization for an increase in the federal debt ceiling. Any failure by Congress to increase the
Federal debt limit may impact the federal government’s ability to incur additional debt, pay its
existing debt instruments and to satisfy its obligations relating to the Medicare and Medicaid
programs. Management of the Members of the Obligated Group is unable to determine at this
time what impact any failure to increase the federal debt limit may have on the operations and
financial condition of the Obligated Group, although such impact may be material and adverse.
Additionally, the market price or marketability of the Obligated Group’s outstanding bonds in
the secondary market may be materially adversely impacted by any failure to increase the federal
debt limit.
Health Care Reform
The discussion herein describes risks associated with certain existing federal and state
laws, regulations, rules, and governmental administrative policies and determinations to which
the Obligated Group and the health care industry are subject. While these are regularly subject
to change, many of the existing provisions were enacted by or promulgated pursuant to the
Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively referred to herein as the “ACA”), to which opposition
has been expressed by President Trump, as well as leaders in Congress. It is not possible to
predict with any certainty whether or when the ACA or any specific provision or implementing
measure will be repealed, withdrawn or modified in any significant respect, but Congress could
enact legislation, withdraw, modify or promulgate rules, regulations and policies, or make
determinations affecting the health care industry and the Obligated Group Members, any of
which individually or collectively could have a material adverse effect on the operations,
financial condition and financial performance of the Obligated Group Members.
In June 2012, the U.S. Supreme Court upheld most provisions of the ACA, including a
key provision known as the “individual mandate,” while limiting the power of the federal
government to penalize states for refusing to expand Medicaid. The individual mandate, which
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took effect in 2014, generally required that individuals either have a certain amount of health
insurance coverage or pay a yearly tax penalty. As discussed below, the individual mandate tax
penalty was eliminated by recent tax legislation. In June 2015, the U.S. Supreme Court upheld
U.S. Treasury Regulations issued under the ACA that allow health insurance exchange
purchasers to receive tax-credit subsidies, regardless of whether the purchase is made through a
federal or state-operated exchange. However, under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (defined below),
the penalty for failure to comply with the individual mandate was reduced to zero for tax years
2019 and beyond. (See “Tax Reform” below.)
The ACA addresses almost all aspects of health care facility and provider operations and
health care delivery and is changing how health care services are covered, delivered and
reimbursed. These changes are prompting implementation of new payment models, utilization
changes and increased government enforcement and are causing health care providers to assess,
and potentially alter, their business strategies and practices. While most providers are receiving
reduced payments for care, millions of previously uninsured Americans have health insurance
coverage. “Health insurance exchanges” have altered the health insurance market and negatively
affected health care providers by enabling insurers to more aggressively negotiate lower
reimbursement rates. Federal deficit reduction efforts have curbed and will likely continue to
further slow the growth of federal Medicare and Medicaid spending to the detriment of health
care facilities, physicians and other health care providers.
As discussed in more detail below, due to executive actions taken by President Trump
with respect to the ACA, potential challenges by states to such executive actions and continuing
efforts by Congress to modify the ACA, there is significant uncertainty as to whether the ACA
will continue to be implemented, funded and enforced as originally enacted.
Enactment of the ACA has led to substantial and continuing changes in the U.S. health
care system. The ACA has affected and continues to affect the delivery of health care services,
the financing of health care costs, reimbursement of health care providers and the legal
obligations of health insurers, providers, employers and consumers. Some of the provisions of
the ACA took effect immediately or within a few months of enactment, while others have been
or are expected to be phased-in over a longer time, ranging from one year to ten years.
The ACA has also required, and will continue to require, the promulgation of substantial
regulations with the potential to have significant effects on the health care industry and the
Members of the Obligated Group, including the need for structural and operational changes for a
substantial period of time. The full ramifications of the ACA may only become apparent over an
extended period of time and through later regulatory and judicial interpretations. Portions of the
ACA have already been limited or nullified as a result of legislative amendments and judicial
interpretations and future actions may further change its impact. The uncertainties regarding the
implementation of the ACA and the continuation of the ACA create unpredictability for the
strategic and business planning efforts of health care providers, which in itself constitutes a
substantial risk.
The changes in the health care industry attributable to enactment of the ACA have had
and may have both positive and negative effects, directly and indirectly, on the nation’s hospitals
and other health care providers, including the Members of the Obligated Group. For example,
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the increase in the numbers of individuals with health care insurance due to Medicaid expansion,
creation of the health insurance exchange and subsidies for insurance purchase has generally
resulted in lower levels of charity care and increased utilization, including more profitable shifts
in utilization patterns for health care providers. However, the extent to which Medicaid
expansion, which is now optional on a state-by-state basis, is either not pursued or results in a
shifting of significant numbers of commercially-insured individuals to Medicaid, the extent to
which health insurance options on exchanges are limited or unaffordable, and the cost
containment measures and pilot programs that the ACA requires, have offset these benefits in
part. As discussed herein, Wisconsin has decided not to expand its Medicaid programs pursuant
to the ACA. Additionally, it is predicted that the elimination of the individual mandate will
result in fewer healthy individuals purchasing insurance (through the exchanges or otherwise),
thereby increasing the number of uninsured individuals and further off-setting ACA benefits.
A negative overall impact of the ACA is likely to result from scheduled cumulative
reductions in Medicare payments; those scheduled reductions are substantial. The ACA’s costcutting provisions to the Medicare program include reduction in the Medicare “market basket”
updates to reimbursement rates under the inpatient prospective payment system, additional
reductions to or elimination of Medicare reimbursement for certain patient readmissions and
hospital-acquired conditions, as well as anticipated reductions in rates paid to Medicare managed
care plans that may ultimately be passed on to providers. Government cost reduction actions
have been and may continue to be followed by private insurers and payors. Because a significant
portion of the Obligated Group’s patient service revenue is attributable to Medicare
reimbursement, the reductions may have a material adverse effect on the operations, financial
condition and financial performance of the Obligated Group and could offset any positive effects
of the ACA.
On June 21, 2018, the U.S. Department of Labor published a final rule, amending the
definition of “employer” under section 3(5) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act
(“ERISA”) to allow for the establishment of group or association health plans (“AHPs”) that
broadens the criteria under ERISA for determining when and how employers may form
associations to offer group health plans to multiple employers and self-employed individuals.
The final rule is intended to expand access to group health coverage by permitting businesses,
sole proprietors and the self-employed to form associations to sponsor AHPs based on common
geography, industry or trade, if certain criteria are met; however, the final rule also eliminates
certain requirements for a health plan under the ACA.
In addition, beginning in 2020 and absent modifying legislation, an excise tax will be
imposed under the ACA on certain high-cost, employment-based health plans. This tax was
originally scheduled to take effect in federal fiscal year 2018, but its implementation has been
delayed by subsequent legislation.
The ACA encourages the creation of new health care delivery programs, mandates the
creation of a number of payment reform measures designed to incentivize or penalize health care
facilities based on quality, efficiency and clinical integration measures, and authorizes
government agencies to develop and test new payment methodologies designed to improve
quality of care and lower costs. Accordingly, the ACA will likely affect some health care
organizations differently from others, depending, in part, on how each organization adapts to the
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ACA’s emphasis on directing more federal health care dollars to integrated provider
organizations and providers with demonstrable achievements in quality care. For example, the
ACA proposes a value-based purchasing system for certain health care providers under which a
percentage of payments will be contingent on satisfaction of specified performance measures
related to common and high-cost medical conditions, such as cardiac, surgical and pneumonia
care. The ACA also funds various demonstration programs and pilot projects and other
voluntary programs to evaluate and encourage new provider delivery models and payment
structures, including Medicare Shared Saving Program “accountable care organizations” and
bundled provider payments. The outcomes of these projects and programs, including the
likelihood of being made permanent or expanded or their effect on health care organizations’
revenues or financial performance, cannot be predicted.
In an attempt to reduce unnecessary health care spending, the ACA includes a number of
provisions aimed at combating fraud and abuse within the Medicare and Medicaid programs.
Such provisions provide increased federal funding to fight health care fraud and abuse, provide
government agencies with additional enforcement tools and investigation flexibility, facilitate
cooperation between agencies by establishing mechanisms for information sharing, and enhance
criminal and administrative penalties for non-compliance with the federal fraud and abuse laws.
Under the ACA, a broad range of providers, suppliers and physicians are required to adopt a
compliance and ethics program. While the government has already increased its enforcement
efforts, failure to implement certain core compliance program features provides new
opportunities for regulatory and enforcement scrutiny, as well as potential liability if an
organization fails to prevent or identify improper federal health care program claims and
payments. Any legislative changes to the ACA could result in additional pressure on federal
health care program funding.
The ACA and its implementation have been, and remain, politically controversial. The
ACA has continually faced legal and legislative challenges, including repeal efforts, since its
enactment. President Trump and Republican leaders of Congress have repeatedly cited health
care reform, and particularly repeal and replacement of the ACA, as a key goal. To that end,
Congressional leaders have introduced various ACA repeal bills. While no bills wholly
repealing the ACA have passed both chambers of Congress, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act passed in
late 2017 (defined and discussed below) eliminated the ACA’s individual mandate tax penalty
associated with failing to maintain health coverage, effective 2019. Another example, in July
2019, the 5th U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals in New Orleans heard arguments over the repeal of
the ACA, following the U.S. District Court's (Texas) 2018 ruling that the ACA is invalid. The
original suit was brought by 18 states. A ruling is expected in the near future. Management
cannot predict the effect of the elimination of the individual mandate tax penalty, the likelihood
of any future ACA repeal bills or other health care reform bills becoming law, or the subsequent
effects of any such laws, though such effects could materially impact the Obligated Group’s
business or financial condition. However, any legal, legislative or executive action that
(1) reduces federal health care program spending, (2) increases the number of individuals
without health insurance, (3) reduces the number of people seeking health care, or (4) otherwise
significantly alters the health care delivery system or insurance markets could have a material
adverse effect on the Obligated Group’s business or financial condition.
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In addition to actual and possible legislative changes, the ACA implementation and the
ACA insurance exchange markets may be impacted by executive branch actions. President
Trump has issued two broad executive orders aimed at de-regulation: (1) one requiring federal
agencies to remove two previously implemented regulations for every new regulation added, and
(2) one directing each federal agency to set up a “regulatory reform task force” to review existing
regulations and eliminate those that are costly or unnecessary. Additionally, President Trump
has issued executive actions directly aimed at the ACA: (1) one requiring federal agencies with
authorities and responsibilities under the ACA to “exercise all authority and discretion available
to them to waive, defer, grant exemptions from, or delay” parts of the law that place
“unwarranted economic and regulatory burdens” on states, individuals or health care providers,
(2) a second instructing federal agencies to make new rules allowing the proliferation of
“association health plans” and short-term health insurance, which plans have fewer benefit
requirements than those sold through ACA insurance exchanges, and (3) a third ordering the
federal government to withhold ACA cost-sharing subsidies currently paid to insurance
companies in order to reduce deductibles and co-pays for many low-income people. These
executive actions have the potential to significantly impact the insurance exchange market by
causing a reduction in the number of healthy individuals in the ACA health insurance exchanges,
a reduction in the number of plans available on the health insurance exchanges, and/or an
increase in insurance premiums. The Obligated Group cannot predict the likelihood of similar
future executive actions or effect of any such executive actions on the financial conditions or
results of operations of the Obligated Group, though such effects could be material.
Tax Reform
On December 22, 2017, President Trump signed into law “H.R. 1 – An Act to provide for
reconciliation pursuant to titles II and V of the concurrent resolution on the budget for fiscal year
2018,” (the “Tax Cuts and Jobs Act”). The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act lowered corporate and
individual tax rates and eliminated certain tax preferences and other tax expenditures. As
discussed above, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act also eliminated, effective 2019, the tax penalties
associated with failure to comply with the ACA’s individual mandate. The Commonwealth
Fund ACA Tracking Survey, released in May 2018, noted that the number of uninsured
Americans increased since 2016, reversing years of decline since the ACA became effective in
2010. According to the report, the number of uninsured adults between the ages of 19 and 64
rose to 15.5% in March 2018, up from 12.7% in 2016, and an estimated 4 million people lost
individual coverage during that period. The elimination of the individual mandate may result in
a higher number of uninsured individuals, which may adversely affect the financial condition of
the Members of the Obligated Group.
The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act also eliminates the ability to issue tax-exempt bonds to
advance refund outstanding tax-exempt bonds; imposes an excise tax on exempt entities’
executive compensation in excess of $1,000,000 per year; requires that the tax on an exempt
organization’s unrelated business income be computed separately for each line of business;
requires the inclusion of certain fringe benefits in the calculation of unrelated business income
tax; and limits the use of net operating losses in computing unrelated business income tax, each
of which may, collectively or individually, adversely affect the financial condition or operations
of Members of the Obligated Group.
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Patient Service Revenues
General. A substantial portion of the net patient service revenue of the Obligated Group
is derived from third-party payors that reimburse or pay for the services and items provided to
patients covered by such third parties. These third-party payors include the federal Medicare
program, state Medicaid programs and private health plans and insurers, including health
maintenance organizations (“HMOs”) and preferred provider organizations (“PPOs”). Many of
these payors make payments to the Obligated Group in amounts that may not reflect the direct
and indirect costs of the Obligated Group providing services to patients. Accordingly, there can
be no assurance that payments made under these programs will be adequate to cover the
Obligated Group’s actual costs of furnishing health care services and equipment. In addition, the
financial performance of the Obligated Group could be adversely affected by the financial
position or the insolvency or bankruptcy of or other delay in receipt of payments from third-party
payors that provide coverage for services to their patients.
Medicare and Medicaid Programs; General. Medicare and Medicaid are the commonly
used names for reimbursement or payment programs governed by certain provisions of the
federal Social Security Act. Medicare is an exclusively federal program and Medicaid is jointly
funded by federal and state governments and governed by federal and state laws. Medicare
provides certain health care benefits to beneficiaries who are 65 years of age or older, blind,
disabled, or qualify for the End Stage Renal Disease Program. Medicaid is designed to pay
providers for care given to low-income persons, is funded by federal and state appropriations,
and is administered by the individual states. Benefits are available under each participating
state’s Medicaid program, within prescribed limits, to persons meeting certain income or other
eligibility requirements including children, the aged, the blind and/or disabled. Health care
providers have been and will be affected significantly by changes in the last several years in
federal and state health care laws and regulations, particularly those pertaining to Medicare and
Medicaid. The purpose of much of the recent statutory and regulatory activity has been to
reduce the rate of increase in health care costs, particularly costs paid under the Medicare and
Medicaid programs.
Medicare. Medicare is a federal governmental health insurance system under which
physicians, hospitals and other health care providers are reimbursed or paid directly for services
provided to eligible elderly and disabled persons. Medicare is administered by CMS. In order to
achieve and maintain Medicare certification, a health care provider must meet CMS’s
“Conditions of Participation” on an ongoing basis. A provider will be deemed to meet the
Conditions of Participation if it is accredited by a CMS-approved accrediting organization such
as The Joint Commission, the Healthcare Facilities Accreditation Program or DNV-GL
Healthcare, Inc. However, despite accreditation, a provider may be surveyed for compliance
with the Conditions of Participation by a state agency survey team acting on behalf of CMS. In
the event that noncompliance is found, a notice of termination of participation may be issued and
a provider may be required to develop and implement a potentially burdensome corrective action
plan. If the corrective action plan is not accepted by CMS, or if the corrective action plan is not
successfully implemented, the provider’s Medicare provider agreement could be terminated.
Other sanctions could potentially be imposed, including, in limited circumstances, monetary
penalties. Failure of a hospital or other health care provider, including an Obligated Group
Member, to comply with the Conditions of Participation could result in loss of its eligibility to
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participate in the Medicare and Medicaid programs, which would have a material negative effect
on the financial conditions and results of operations of such hospital or health care provider.
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, Medicare represented approximately
47.3% of the Hospitals’ gross patient service revenue. As a consequence, changes in the
Medicare program may have a material adverse effect on the Obligated Group. The aggregate
costs to a provider of providing care to Medicare beneficiaries may exceed aggregate Medicare
payments received during the relevant fiscal year period.
Reductions in Medicare
reimbursement, increases in Medicare reimbursement in amounts less than increases in the costs
of providing care or premium declines may have a material adverse financial effect on the
Members of the Obligated Group.
A substantial portion of the Medicare revenues of the Obligated Group is derived from
payments made for services rendered to Medicare beneficiaries under a prospective payment
system (“PPS”). Under a PPS, the amount paid to the provider for an episode of care is
established by federal regulation and is not related to the provider’s charges or costs of providing
that care. Presently, inpatient and outpatient services, and home health care are paid on the basis
of a PPS. Under the inpatient PPS, fixed payment amounts per inpatient discharge are
established based on the patient’s assigned Diagnosis Related Group (“DRG”). DRGs classify
treatments for illnesses according to the estimated intensity of health facility resources necessary
to furnish care for each principal diagnosis. All services paid under the PPS for outpatient
services are classified into groups called ambulatory payment classifications (“APCs”). Services
in each APC are similar clinically and in terms of the resources they require. A payment rate is
established for each APC. Certain health facility capital costs apportioned to Medicare patient
use (including depreciation and interest) are paid by Medicare on the basis of a standard federal
rate (based upon average national costs of capital), subject to limited adjustments specific to the
facility. There can be no assurance that future payments will be sufficient to cover the actual
capital-related costs of facilities applicable to Medicare patient stays or will provide flexibility
for health care providers to meet changing capital needs.
The ACA established a value-based purchasing program that rewards health care
facilities with incentive payments for the quality of care they provide to Medicare patients. The
quality performance standards take into account a broad range of factors designed to measure
quality of care, how closely best clinical practices are followed and the overall experience of the
patients. Because the ACA provides that the pool will be fully distributed, certain health care
service providers that meet or exceed the quality performance standards will receive greater
reimbursement under the value-based purchasing program than they would have otherwise.
Health care providers that do not achieve the necessary quality performance will receive reduced
Medicare inpatient payment. The Obligated Group is unable to predict how value-based
purchasing will affect its future results of operations, however the program could negatively
impact the revenues of the Obligated Group.
The Secretary of HHS is required to review annually the DRG categories to take into
account any new procedures, reclassify DRGs and recalibrate the DRG relative weights that
reflect the relative resources used by health care facilities with respect to discharges classified
within a given DRG category. There is no assurance that the Members of the Obligated Group
will be paid amounts that will reflect adequately changes in the cost of providing health care or
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in the cost of health care technology being made available to patients. CMS may only adjust
DRG weights on a budget neutral basis.
PPS-exempt health care facilities and units (inpatient psychiatric, rehabilitation and longterm health care services) are currently reimbursed under prospective payment systems separate
from the PPS/DRG system used for general acute care hospitals and units. However, these
exempt hospital/unit PPS payment methodologies are similar in that they utilize nationally
determined payment rates (per discharge for rehabilitation and long-term care, per diem for
psychiatric). These national rates are then generally subject to patient and/or facility specific
adjustments for such factors as: case mix, regional wage or cost differences, medical education,
disproportionate share, and outliers. The types of adjustments vary for each of the exempt PPS
programs.
Critical Access Hospitals are not paid under the DRG system, but rather are paid for most
inpatient and outpatient services at 101% of reasonable costs.
From time to time and as part of the ACA, the factors used in calculating the prospective
payments for units of service are modified by CMS, which may reduce revenues for particular
services. Additionally, as part of the federal budgetary process, Congress has regularly amended
the Medicare law to reduce increases in payments that are otherwise scheduled to occur, or to
provide for reductions in payments for particular services. Similarly, federal legislation is
regularly passed that affects payments made under the PPS. For example, such legislation may
add or eliminate categories of funding. These actions could adversely affect the revenues of the
Obligated Group.
Various additional payments may be made to individual providers. Health care facilities
that treat a disproportionately large number of low-income patients (Medicaid and Medicare
patients eligible to receive supplemental Social Security income) currently receive additional
payments in the form of disproportionate share payments. Additional payments are made to
health care facilities or system that treat patients who are costlier to treat than the average
patient; these additional payments are referred to as “outlier payments.” Eligible health care
facilities or system are paid for a portion of their direct and indirect medical education costs.
Providers may also apply for certain additional payments relating to new technology. Any and
all additional payments described herein are subject to reductions and modifications or other
changes.
Medicare Audits. Health care facilities or systems participating in Medicare are subject
to audits and retroactive audit adjustments with respect to reimbursement claimed under the
Medicare program. The Members of the Obligated Group receive payments for various services
provided to Medicare patients based upon charges or other reimbursement methodologies that
are then reconciled annually based upon the preparation and submission of annual cost reports.
Estimates for the amounts that may be payable or receivable from Medicare for the settlement of
the annual cost reports are reflected as amounts due to/from third-party payors in the Obligated
Group financing statements and represent several years of open cost reports due to time delays in
the fiscal intermediaries’ audits and the basic complexity of billing and reimbursement
regulations. These estimates are adjusted periodically based upon correspondence received from
the fiscal intermediary. Medicare regulations also provide for withholding Medicare payment in
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certain circumstances if it is determined that an overpayment of Medicare funds has been made.
In addition, under certain circumstances, payments may be determined to have been made as a
consequence of improper claims subject to the federal False Claims Act (described below under
“Regulatory Environment”) or other federal statutes, subjecting a hospital to civil or criminal
sanctions. Management is not aware of any situation whereby a material Medicare payment is
being withheld from the Obligated Group.
The ACA amended certain provisions of the federal False Claims Act (described below
under “Regulatory Environment”) and added provisions regarding the timing of the obligation
to reimburse overpayments. The effect of these changes on existing programs of the Obligated
Group cannot be predicted, although Management does not believe that the effects will be
materially adverse.
Off-Campus Provider-Based Departments. Some health care providers bill for services
as “provider-based entities” and, as such, are subject to CMS’ provider-based regulations. An
outpatient department is considered to be “off-campus” if it is located more than 250 yards from
a main provider facility or a remote location thereof. As of January 1, 2017, off-campus
outpatient departments established on or after November 2, 2015 were no longer eligible for
payment under the Outpatient PPS for non-emergency services. Instead, starting in 2017, CMS
commenced paying for non-emergency services performed at these facilities under the Medicare
physician fee schedule (“MPFS”), which offers lower rates of payment than the Outpatient PPS
for the same services. CMS has continued to pay non-exempt off-campus outpatient departments
under MPFS, subject to a “relativity adjustment” in 2018. CMS has recently opposed additional
rule changes related to off-campus departments that, if finalized, may further reduce payments to
hospitals for outpatient services. Such changes were invalidated by the District Court of the
District of Columbia, although an appeal by CMS is anticipated. CMS is likely to continue to try
to adjust the payment rates paid to non-exempt off-campus departments for outpatient services
under the agency’s current “site-neutral” payment policy, and may further reduce the extent to
which certain other off-campus departments are exempt from reduced payments, making it likely
that the reimbursement potentially available from Medicare for outpatient services rendered in
off-campus departments will continue to be lowered. The reduction in payment rates for services
rendered in off-campus provider-based departments arguably place a greater burden on providers
to consider the potential adverse reimbursement implications of moving or expanding existing
provider-based departments.
Medicare Disproportionate Share Payments. Beginning in federal fiscal year 2014, the
ACA mandated that recipients of supplemental Disproportionate Share (“DSH”) payments from
Medicare (i.e., those that care for a disproportionate share of low-income Medicare beneficiaries)
have their DSH payments reduced by 75%. This reduction was potentially adjusted by adding
back payments based on the volume of uncompensated care provided by a DSH provider, and
was anticipated to be offset by a higher proportion of covered patients as other provisions of the
ACA went into effect. The ACA also mandated cuts to Medicaid DSH payments to account for
anticipated reductions in uninsured individuals and uncompensated care. The Medicaid DSH
payment reduction schedule has been delayed by various pieces of legislation. Pursuant to the
budget bill passed in February 2018, the Medicare DSH payment reductions are scheduled to
begin in fiscal year 2020, with a reduction of $4 billion per year in fiscal year 2020, and with a
reduction of $8 billion per year from fiscal years 2021 through 2025. The Obligated Group has
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qualified for DSH payments in the past, but there can be no assurance that it will qualify for
DSH status in the future. Loss or reduction of funding for the Medicaid DSH program could
adversely affect the Obligated Group. In fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, the Hospitals
received approximately $1,349,970 in DSH payments from Medicare.
Other Medicare Service Payments. Medicare reimburses home health agencies
(“HHAs”), and hospices according to separate and distinct systems. HHAs are reimbursed under
a prospective payment system that employs home health resource groups that reflect the patient’s
condition and expected resources used in providing services. Medicare pays hospices a daily
rate for each patient-enrolled day, and such hospice payments are made according to four
separate rates established by CMS that reflect the type and location of the hospice services
rendered. CMS updates payment rates for these providers annually, and as with other provider
reimbursement systems, there is no assurance that the Members of the Obligated Group will be
paid amounts that will adequately reflect costs incurred in providing health care services to
Medicare beneficiaries.
Medicaid. Medicaid is a health insurance program for certain low-income individuals
that is jointly funded by the federal government and the states. Pursuant to broad federal
guidelines, each state establishes its own eligibility standards; determines the type, amount,
duration, and scope of services; sets the payment rates for services; and administers its own
programs. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, Medicaid represented approximately
10.3% of the Hospitals’ gross patient service revenues.
Under the Medicaid program, the federal government supplements funds provided by the
various states for qualifying medical assistance services. Payment for such medical and health
services is made to providers in amounts determined in accordance with procedures and
standards established by state law under federal guidelines. Fiscal considerations of both federal
and state governments in establishing their budgets will directly affect the funds available to the
providers for payment of services rendered to Medicaid beneficiaries.
The federal government continues to explore options for a long-term solution to the
funding difficulties with Medicaid. Certain additional proposals being examined may ultimately
result in reduced federal Medicaid funding to the states, which could adversely impact the
amount of revenue received by the Obligated Group. Further changes to the ACA could result in
additional pressure on Medicaid funding, reducing the number of individuals qualifying for
treatment as Medicaid patients and resulting in a greater number of uninsured individuals.
Management of the Obligated Group cannot predict the effect of these changes to the Medicaid
program on the financial condition of the Obligated Group.
Wisconsin Medicaid. General. In Wisconsin, Medicaid is administered by the
Wisconsin Department of Health Services (the “WDHS”). Payments made to health care
providers under the Medicaid program are subject to change as a result of federal or state
legislative and administrative actions, including changes in the methods for calculating
payments, the amount of payments that will be made for covered services and the types of
services that will be covered under the program. As described under the “Health Care Reform”
above, one component of the Affordable Care Act is designed to incentivize states to expand
their Medicaid programs to individuals earning up to 138% of the federal poverty level by
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offering additional Medicaid funding to participating states. Wisconsin has decided not to
expand its Medicaid programs to cover such individuals and thus has declined the additional
federal funding tied to such expansion. Instead, Wisconsin’s Medicaid program is limited to
individuals earning 100% of the federal poverty level.
Wisconsin Medicaid Inpatient Hospital Services. Wisconsin Medicaid payments for
inpatient services are based on a DRG system. While the Wisconsin Medicaid DRG system is
similar to the Medicare DRG system, certain differences apply. Separate Medicaid base rates are
paid for hospitals located in Milwaukee County and those located elsewhere in the state. For a
Critical Access Hospital, the base rate is determined using the hospital’s most recent audited cost
report. The base rate is adjusted for a Medicaid DRG factor (different from the Medicare DRG
factor) for each patient. As with the Medicare system, there is also an adjustment to the base rate
for regional wage differences. There are also adjustments for indirect medical education,
disproportionate share hospitals, rural hospitals, and cost outliers. There are additional payments
for direct medical education and capital costs. A Wisconsin hospital with a total cost of treating
Medicaid patients that exceeds the prospective payment rate will incur a loss on such services.
Wisconsin Medicaid Outpatient Hospital Services. Under the Wisconsin Medicaid
program, hospitals are reimbursed for outpatient services under the Enhanced Ambulatory
Patient Grouping (“EAPG”) system. There is no retrospective final settlement based on the
hospital’s audited cost report as EAPG payments are considered final and not subject to cost
settlement.
Wisconsin Medicaid Physician Payments. In Wisconsin physicians are reimbursed for
Medicaid covered services at the lesser of the physician’s usual and customary charge or the
maximum allowable fee established by WDHS. The maximum allowable fees are based on
various factors, including a review of the Wisconsin Legislature’s medical expense budgetary
constraints and other relevant economic information. Maximum allowable fees may be adjusted
to reflect reimbursement limits on the availability of state and federal funding as specified in
federal law.
Wisconsin Hospital Assessment Fund. The Wisconsin Hospital Assessment, first
implemented in the State of Wisconsin's fiscal year 2009, is a program in which WDHS levies a
payment from Wisconsin acute care hospitals, rehabilitation hospitals, and critical access
hospitals on a quarterly basis. These dollars, plus matching contributions from the federal
government, are then used to fund hospital access payments, hospital supplemental payments,
and reinvestment in the broader Wisconsin Medicaid program. The amount due from each
hospital each quarter is a uniform percentage of each hospital’s gross revenues, and therefore
varies from hospital to hospital.
Third-Party Payors. Many commercial insurance plans, including private health plans,
private insurers, HMOs, PPOs and other managed care payors reimburse their customers or make
direct payments to the Members of the Obligated Group for charges at established rates. Certain
of these third-party payors make payments that may be less than the direct charges of the
Obligated Group or the actual costs incurred in providing services. The Obligated Group’s
financial performance, to some extent, is dependent on its ability to enter into new, and maintain
existing, third-party payor agreements on advantageous terms. Defined broadly, for the fiscal
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year ended December 31, 2018, managed care represented approximately 39.18% of gross
patient service revenues of the Hospital. If payments by this or other third-party payors are
inadequate to cover the Obligated Group’s actual costs for service, are delayed or affected by the
financial health of the third-party payors or if the Obligated Group is unable to obtain or retain
these or other contracts on advantageous terms, the finances of the Obligated Group could be
adversely affected.
Some HMOs employ a “capitation” payment method under which health care facilities
are paid a predetermined periodic rate for each enrollee in the HMO who is “assigned” or
otherwise directed to receive care at a particular health care facility or system. Such health care
facility or system may assume financial risk for the cost and scope of institutional care given. If
payment is insufficient to meet the provider’s actual cost of care, or if utilization by such
enrollees materially exceeds projections, the financial condition of the health care facility or
system could erode rapidly and significantly. In addition to this standard managed care risk
sharing approach, private health insurance companies are increasingly adopting various
additional risk sharing/cost containing measures, sometimes similar to those introduced by
government payors. Providers may expect health care cost containment and its associated risk
sharing to continue to increase in the coming years amongst all payors. ThedaCare presently
does not have any “capitation” payment agreements with any payors.
Often, HMO contracts are enforceable for a stated term, regardless of losses by the health
care organization, and may require health care organizations to care for enrollees for a certain
time period, regardless of whether the HMO is able to pay the health care organization. As with
other large health care systems, the Members of the Obligated Group from time to time have
disputes with HMOs, PPOs and other managed care payors concerning payment and contract
interpretation issues. Such disputes may result in mediation, arbitration or litigation, which
could adversely affect the financial condition of the Members of the Obligated Group.
Failure to maintain contracts could have the effect of reducing a health care
organization’s market share and net patient service revenues. Conversely, participation may
result in lower net income if participating organizations are unable to adequately contain their
costs. In part to reduce costs, health plans are increasingly implementing, and offering to
purchasing employers, tiered provider networks, which involve classification of a plan’s network
providers into different tiers based on care quality and cost. With tiered benefit designs, plan
enrollees are generally encouraged, through incentives or reductions in copayments or
deductibles, to seek care from providers in the top tier. Classification of a provider in a nonpreferred or lower tier by a significant payor may result in a material loss of volume. The new
demands of dominant health plans and other shifts in the managed care industry may also reduce
patient volume and revenue. Thus, managed care poses a significant business risk for the
Obligated Group.
The ACA imposes increasing regulation of the industry, the use and availability of statebased exchanges in which health insurance can be purchased by certain groups and segments of
the population, the extension of subsidies and tax credits for premium payments by some
consumers and employers and the imposition upon commercial insurers of certain terms and
conditions that must be included in contracts with providers. In addition, the ACA imposes
many new obligations on states related to health care insurance. Additionally, states are also
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increasingly seeking to regulate the delivery of health care services, including in the managed
care industry. The effects of these changes could have a negative effect on the financial
condition of any third-party payor that offers health care insurance, which could, in turn, lead to
reduced rates paid by third-party payors to providers such as the Members of the Obligated
Group.
Regulatory Environment
“Fraud” and “False Claims.” Health care “fraud and abuse” laws have been enacted at
the federal and state levels to broadly regulate the provision of services to government program
beneficiaries and the methods and requirements for submitting claims for services rendered to
the beneficiaries. Under these laws, hospitals and others can be penalized for a wide variety of
conduct, including submitting claims for services that are not provided, billing in a manner that
does not comply with government requirements or including inaccurate or misleading billing
information, billing for services deemed to be medically unnecessary, or billings accompanied by
an illegal inducement to utilize or refrain from utilizing a service or product.
Federal and state governments have a broad range of criminal, civil and administrative
sanctions available to penalize and remediate health care fraud, including the exclusion of a
health care provider, facility or system from participation in the Medicare/Medicaid programs,
civil monetary penalties, and suspension of Medicare/Medicaid payments. Fraud and abuse
cases may be prosecuted by one or more government entities and/or private individuals, and
more than one of the available sanctions may be, and often are, imposed for each violation. The
ACA also significantly increased funding for enforcement efforts under fraud and abuse laws.
Laws governing fraud and abuse may apply to a health care facility or system and to
nearly all individuals and entities with which such facility or system does business. Fraud
investigations, settlements, prosecutions and related publicity can have a catastrophic effect on a
health care facility or system. See “Enforcement Activity,” below. Major elements of these
often highly technical laws and regulations are generally summarized below. Violations and
alleged violations may be deliberate, but also can occur in circumstances where management is
unaware of the conduct in question, as a result of mistake, or where the individual participants do
not know that their conduct is in violation of law. Violations may occur and be prosecuted in
circumstances that do not have the traditional elements of fraud, and enforcement actions may
extend to conduct that occurred in the past. The government periodically conducts widespread
investigations covering categories of services or certain accounting or billing practices.
False Claims Act. The federal False Claims Act (“FCA”), as well as various other civil
and criminal federal laws, makes it illegal to submit or present a false, fictitious or fraudulent
claim to the federal government, and may under certain circumstances, include claims that are
simply erroneous. The ACA further expanded the reach of the FCA to include, among other
things, failure to report and return known overpayments within statutory limits. FCA
investigations and cases have become common in the health care field and may cover a range of
activity from intentionally inflated billings, to highly technical billing infractions, to allegations
of inadequate care. Violation or alleged violation of the FCA most often results in settlements
that require multi-million dollar payments and long-term corporate integrity agreements. The
FCA also permits individuals to initiate civil actions on behalf of the government in lawsuits
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called “qui tam” actions. Qui tam plaintiffs, or “relators,” can share in the damages recovered by
the government or recover independently if the government does not participate. In addition,
FCA penalties apply to any person, including an organization that does not contract directly with
the government, who knowingly makes, uses or causes to be made or used, a false record or
statement material to a false or fraudulent claim paid in part by the federal government. Some
regulators and whistleblowers have asserted that claims submitted to governmental payers that
do not comply fully with regulations or guidelines come within the scope of the FCA. In June
2016, the U.S. Supreme Court in Universal Health Services, Inc. v. United States ex rel. Escobar
held that the theory of “implied false certification” can be used as a basis for FCA liability when
(1) a claim does more than merely request payment and makes specific representations about the
nature of the goods or services provided; and (2) the failure to disclose noncompliance with
material statutory, regulatory or contractual provisions makes the representations “misleading
half-truths.” The application of this new standard is unclear but could lead to an increase in FCA
claims in the health care industry based on this theory of liability.
The Deficit Reduction Act provides financial incentives to states that pass similar false
claims statutes or amend existing false claims statutes that track the FCA more closely with
regard to penalties and rewards to qui tam relators. A number of states have passed similar false
claims statutes, some of which expand the prohibition against false claims submitted to nongovernment third-party payors. Any sanctions imposed as a result of an FCA or state false
claims law violation could have a material adverse effect on the Obligated Group’s business or
financial condition.
Anti-Kickback Law. The federal “Anti-Kickback Law” is a criminal statute that
prohibits anyone from soliciting, receiving, offering or paying any remuneration, directly or
indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, in return for or to induce a referral,
recommendation, purchase, order or lease for any item or service that is paid by any federal or
state health care program. ACA has amended the Anti-Kickback Law to clarify that a party need
not have knowledge of the Anti-Kickback Law or a specific intent to violate the Anti-Kickback
Law to nevertheless violate the Anti-Kickback Law. Courts have interpreted the Anti-Kickback
Law to make illegal an arrangement of which only one purpose is shown to be to induce or
reward referrals. The Anti-Kickback Law applies to many common health care transactions
between persons and entities with which a hospital does business, including hospital-physician
joint ventures, medical director agreements, physician recruitment agreements, physician office
leases, physician employment agreements and other transactions and has been interpreted to
cover any arrangement where a single purpose of the remuneration was to obtain or pay money
for the referral of services or to induce further referrals. Accordingly, in addition to certain
statutory exceptions to the Anti-Kickback Law, the OIG has promulgated a number of regulatory
“safe harbors” under the Anti-Kickback Law designed to protect certain payment and business
practices.
Violation or alleged violation of the Anti-Kickback Law may result in settlements that
require multi-million dollar payments and costly corporate integrity agreements. The AntiKickback law can be prosecuted either criminally or civilly. Violation is a felony, subject to
potentially substantial fines, imprisonment and/or exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid
programs, any of which would have a significant detrimental effect on the financial stability of
most hospitals. In addition, significant civil monetary penalties may be imposed. Increasingly,
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the federal government is prosecuting violations of the Anti-Kickback Law under the FCA,
based on the argument that claims resulting from an illegal kickback arrangement are also false
claims for FCA purposes.
In addition to the federal Anti-Kickback Law, many states, including Wisconsin, have
anti-kickback and/or fee-splitting statutes designed to prohibit inducements or improper
remuneration for the referral of patients. In some cases, state statutes are broader or carry larger
fines than corresponding federal law. Any sanctions imposed as a result of an Anti-Kickback
Law or similar state law violation could have a material adverse effect on the Obligated Group’s
business or financial condition.
Physician Self-Referral Law (“Stark”). The federal “Stark” statute prohibits the referral
of Medicare patients for certain designated health services (including inpatient and outpatient
services, clinical laboratory services, and radiation and other imaging services) to entities with
which the referring physician or the physician’s family members has a financial relationship.
Importantly, the Stark statute prohibits an entity receiving a referral from filing a claim or billing
for the services arising out of the prohibited referral. The prohibition applies regardless of the
reasons for the financial relationship and the referral; that is, unlike the federal Anti-Kickback
Law, no finding of intent to violate the Stark statute is required. If certain technical requirements
are met, many ordinary business practices and economically desirable arrangements between
hospitals and physicians arguably constitute “financial relationships” within the meaning of the
Stark statute, thus triggering the prohibition on referrals and billing. Most providers of the
designated health services with physician relationships have some exposure to liability under the
Stark statute. Several rounds of recent revisions to the Stark regulations and the CMS comments
preceding them have made the Stark statute more difficult to interpret clearly, thus increasing the
possibility that inadvertent violations may occur. In addition, CMS continues to revise,
supplement and update the Stark law regulations, and the ACA enacted various changes to the
Stark law that expand the scope of Stark law restrictions.
The Stark statute is a “strict liability” statute, and, because of its complexity, is relatively
easy to violate, even if such violation is inadvertent and unintentional. For example, an
arrangement may be deemed to violate the Stark statute by virtue of relatively minor technical
issues, such as a lack of appropriate signatures on the contract. Matters of technical
noncompliance may require self-disclose of such noncompliance to CMS, and may subject a
health care facility or system to fines and penalties.
Medicare may deny payment for all services related to a prohibited referral and a hospital
that has billed for prohibited services may be obligated to refund the amounts collected from the
Medicare program or make a self-disclosure to CMS under its Self-Referral Disclosure Protocol.
For example, if an office lease, a medical director agreement or a physician recruitment or
retention agreement between a hospital and a large group of heart surgeons is found to violate the
Stark statute, the hospital could be obligated to repay CMS for the payments received from
Medicare for all of the heart surgeries performed by all of the physicians in the group for the
duration of the lease; a potentially significant amount. In addition, sanctions for violation of the
Stark statute may include civil penalties or exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs.
Although the Stark law does not have an extensive enforcement history, potential repayments to
CMS, settlements, fines or exclusion for a Stark violation or alleged violation could have a
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material adverse impact on a hospital. The federal government is also increasingly attempting to
recover the federal portion of Medicaid claims referred to hospitals by physicians with whom
they have a prohibited financial relationship.
Wisconsin has its own state law which applies the Stark law prohibitions to Wisconsin
Medicaid referrals.
HIPAA. The Federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as
amended by Title XIII of the American Recovery & Reinvestment Act of 2009, known as the
Health Information Technology and Economic and Clinical Health Act (collectively, “HIPAA”),
provides data privacy and security protections for individually identifiable health information
held by covered entities (health plans, health care clearinghouses and health care providers who
conduct the standard health care transactions electronically) and their business associates.
Moreover, HIPAA adds additional criminal sanctions for health care fraud and applies to all
health care benefit programs, whether public or private. HIPAA also provides for punishment of
a health care provider for knowingly and willfully embezzling, stealing, converting or
intentionally misapplying any money, funds, or other assets of a health care benefit program. A
health care provider convicted of health care fraud could be subject to mandatory exclusion from
Medicare.
HIPAA also established programs under Medicare and Medicaid to provide incentive
payments for the “meaningful use” of certified electronic health record technology (“CEHRT”)
by physicians and health care providers. Incentives are paid out according to a schedule set forth
in HIPAA, and a particular health care provider’s or physician’s incentive payments will be
determined primarily upon the date such health care provider or physician becomes a
“meaningful user” of CEHRT. Health care providers and physicians that fail to become
meaningful users of CEHRT systems in accordance with HIPAA’s schedule will be subject to a
reduction in Medicare payments.
Failure to comply with HIPAA can result in both criminal and civil fines and penalties.
Mandatory breach notification and reporting requirements increase the risk of government
enforcement as well as class action lawsuits, especially if large numbers of individuals are
affected by a breach. Additionally, states may have privacy or consumer protection laws that are
broader than HIPAA and, unlike HIPAA, authorize a private right of action. Any sanctions
imposed as a result of a HIPAA or state privacy law violation could have a material adverse
effect on the Obligated Group’s business or financial condition.
Negative Rankings Based on Clinical Outcomes, Cost, Quality, Patient Satisfaction
and Other Performance Measures. Health plans, Medicare, Medicaid, employers, trade groups
and other purchasers of health services, private standard-setting organizations and accrediting
agencies use statistical and other measures in efforts to characterize, publicize, compare, rank
and change the quality, safety and cost of health care services provided by hospitals and
providers. Health care consumers are now able to access hospital performance data on quality
measures and patient satisfaction, as well as standard charges for services, to compare competing
providers. If any of the Obligated Group’s health care facilities achieve poor results (or results
that are lower than their competitors’) on quality measures or patient satisfaction surveys, or if its

41

standard charges are higher than their competitors’, the Obligated Group may attract fewer
patients.
Security Breaches and Unauthorized Releases of Personal Information. Federal and
state authorities are increasingly focused on the importance of protecting the confidentiality of
individuals’ personal information, including patient health information. The 2009 Health
Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (“HITECH”) requires health care
providers and some of their vendors to notify individuals, and in some cases, the media, when
their unsecured protected health information is subject to a breach of security. In addition, many
states have enacted laws requiring businesses to notify individuals of security breaches that result
in the unauthorized release of personal information. In some states, notification requirements
may be triggered even where information has not been used or disclosed, but rather has been
inappropriately accessed. State consumer protection laws may also provide the basis for legal
action for privacy and security breaches and frequently, unlike HIPAA, authorize a private right
of action. In particular, the public nature of security breaches exposes health organizations to
increased risk of individual or class action lawsuits from patients or other affected persons, in
addition to government enforcement. Failure to comply with restrictions on patient privacy or to
maintain robust information security safeguards, including taking steps to ensure that contractors
who have access to sensitive patient information maintain the confidentiality of such
information, could consequently result in material liability and damage to a health care
provider’s reputation and could materially adversely affect business operations.
Exclusions from Medicare or Medicaid Participation. The government is required to
exclude a health care provider from Medicare/Medicaid program participation if the provider has
been convicted of a criminal offense relating to the delivery of any item or service reimbursed
under Medicare or a state health care program, any criminal offense relating to patient neglect or
abuse in connection with the delivery of health care, fraud against any federal, state or locally
financed health care program or an offense relating to the illegal manufacture, distribution,
prescription, or dispensing of a controlled substance. The government also may exclude
individuals or entities under certain other circumstances, such as an unrelated conviction of
misdemeanor fraud, or the provision of unnecessary or substandard services. Exclusion from the
Medicare/Medicaid program means that a health care provider would be decertified and no
program payments can be made. The exclusion of an Obligated Group Member would have a
material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Obligated Group.
Requirement to Screen for Exclusions. If a health care provider or organization, such as
a hospital, arranges or contracts (by employment or otherwise) with an individual or entity who
is excluded by the OIG from program participation for the provision of items or services
reimbursable under such a Federal program, the provider may be subject to Civil Monetary
Penalty (“CMP”) liability if they render services reimbursed, directly or indirectly, by such a
program. CMPs of up to $10,000 for each item or service furnished by the excluded individual
or entity and listed on a claim submitted for Federal program reimbursement, as well as an
assessment of up to three times the amount claimed and program exclusion may be imposed. In
addition to monetary fines, organizations are also subject to additional penalties for
noncompliance, including the organization as a whole being excluded from participation in all
federal health programs for a period of time.
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Administrative Enforcement. Administrative regulations may require less proof of a
violation than do criminal laws, and, thus, health care providers may have a higher risk of
imposition of monetary penalties as a result of administrative enforcement actions.
EMTALA. The Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act (“EMTALA”) is a
federal civil statute that requires hospitals and facilities with emergency departments to treat or
conduct a medical screening for emergency conditions and to stabilize a patient’s emergency
medical condition before releasing, discharging or transferring the patient. Outpatient facilities
that are included as part of a hospital by virtue of a provider-based status designation are
required to adhere to EMTALA’s requirements, regardless of whether they are located on or
away from the hospital’s main campus. A hospital that violates EMTALA is subject to civil
monetary penalties and exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs. In addition, the
hospital may be liable for any claim by an individual who has suffered harm as a result of a
violation.
Licensure and Accreditation. The Obligated Group’s health facilities are subject to
periodic review by licensing and/or accrediting agencies to determine compliance with various
federal, state and local requirements relating to issues such as personnel, operating policies and
procedures, fire prevention, rate-setting, the adequacy of medical care, and compliance with
building codes and environmental protection laws. In addition to facility-specific licensure,
various licenses and permits also are required in order to dispense narcotics, operate pharmacies,
handle radioactive materials and operate certain equipment. Renewal and continuance of certain
of these licenses, certifications and accreditations are based on inspections, surveys, audits,
investigations or other reviews, some of which may require or include affirmative action or
response by the Members of the Obligated Group. Loss of accreditation or licensure could
impair the ability of the Obligated Group to operate all or a portion of its health care facilities
and have a material adverse impact on the Obligated Group’s business or financial condition.
See “LICENSES AND ACCREDITATION” in APPENDIX A hereto.
Environmental Laws and Regulations. Health facilities are subject to a wide variety of
federal, state and local environmental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations.
These include, but are not limited to: (i) air and water quality control requirements; (ii) waste
management requirements; (iii) specific regulatory requirements applicable to hazardous
materials such as asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls and radioactive substances; (iv)
requirements for providing notice to employees and members of the public about hazardous
material handled by or located at the health facility; and (v) requirements for training employees
in the proper handling and management of hazardous materials and wastes; and (vi) other
requirements.
Health facilities may be subject to requirements related to investigating and remedying
hazardous substances located on their property, including such substances that may have
migrated off the property. Typical health facility operations include the handling, use, storage,
transportation, disposal and/or discharge of hazardous, infectious, toxic, radioactive, flammable
and other hazardous materials, wastes, pollutants and contaminants. As such, health care
operations are particularly susceptible to the practical, financial and legal risks associated with
compliance with such laws and regulations. Such risks may result in damage to individuals,
property or the environment; may interrupt operations and/or increase their cost; may result in
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legal liability, damages, injunctions or fines; and may result in investigations, administrative
proceedings, civil litigation, criminal prosecution, penalties or other governmental agency
actions; and may not be covered by insurance.
Enforcement Activity. Enforcement activity against health care providers has increased,
and enforcement authorities have adopted aggressive approaches. In the current regulatory
climate, it is anticipated that many hospitals and physician groups will be subject to an audit,
investigation, or other enforcement action regarding the health care fraud laws mentioned above.
Enforcement authorities are often in a position to compel settlements by providers
charged with, or being investigated for, false claims violations by withholding or threatening to
withhold Medicare, Medicaid and/or similar payments and/or by instituting criminal action. In
addition, the Insurance Fraud Prevention Act provides a vehicle for anti-fraud prosecutions. The
cost of defending such an action, the time and management attention consumed, and the facts of
a case may dictate settlement. Therefore, regardless of the merits of a particular case, a hospital
could experience materially adverse settlement costs, as well as materially adverse costs
associated with implementation of any settlement agreement. Prolonged and publicized
investigations could be damaging to the reputation and business of a hospital, regardless of
outcome.
Certain acts or transactions may result in violation or alleged violation of a number of the
federal and state health care fraud laws described above, and therefore penalties or settlement
amounts often are compounded. Generally, these risks are not covered by insurance.
Enforcement actions may involve multiple hospitals or other facilities in a health system, as the
government often extends enforcement actions regarding health care fraud to other health care
providers in the same organization. Therefore, the risks identified as being materially adverse as
to a hospital or health care provider could have materially adverse consequences to a health
system, taken as a whole.
Business Relationships and Other Business Matters
Physician Financial Relationships. In addition to the physician integration relationships
referred to above, hospitals and health care systems frequently have various additional business
and financial relationships with physicians and physician groups. These are in addition to
hospital-physician contracts for individual services performed by physicians in hospitals. They
potentially include: joint ventures to provide a variety of outpatient services; recruiting
arrangements with individual physicians and/or physician groups; loans to physicians; medical
office leases; equipment leases from or to physicians; and various forms of physician practice
support or assistance. These and other financial relationships with physicians (including
hospital-physician contracts for individual services) may involve financial and legal compliance
risks for the hospitals and systems involved. From a compliance standpoint, these types of
financial relationships may raise federal and state “anti-kickback” and federal “Stark” and related
state issues (see “— Regulatory Environment,” above), as well as other legal and regulatory
risks, and these could have a material adverse impact on hospitals and health facilities.
Antitrust. Enforcement of antitrust laws against health care providers is becoming more
common, and antitrust liability may arise in a wide variety of circumstances, including medical
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staff privilege disputes, third party contracting, physician relations, and joint venture, merger,
affiliation and acquisition activities. While the application of federal and state antitrust laws to
health care is still evolving, enforcement activities by federal and state agencies appear to be
increasing. Currently, the most common areas of potential liability are joint action among
providers with respect to payor contracting and medical staff credentialing disputes, and mergers
and acquisitions. Violators of antitrust laws could be subject to criminal and civil liability by
both federal and state agencies as well as by private litigants. In certain actions, private litigants
may be entitled to treble damages, and in others, governmental entities may be able to assess
substantial monetary fines.
A U.S. Supreme Court decision now allows physicians who are subject to adverse peer
review proceedings to file federal antitrust actions against hospitals. Hospitals regularly have
disputes regarding credentialing and peer review and, therefore, may be subject to liability in this
area. In addition, hospitals occasionally indemnify medical staff members who are involved in
such credentialing or peer review activities, and may be liable with respect to such indemnity.
Recent court decisions have also established private causes of action against hospitals that use
their local market power to promote ancillary health care business in which they have an interest.
Such activities may result in monetary liability for the participating hospitals under certain
circumstances where a competitor suffers business damage. Government or private parties are
entitled to challenge joint ventures and other transactions that may injure competition. Liability
in any of these or other antitrust areas of liability may be substantial, depending on the facts and
circumstances of each case, and may have a material adverse impact on hospitals.
Hospital Charges. It is possible that legislative action at the Federal, state or local levels
may be taken with regard to how hospitals charge for health care services. In addition to
legislative, regulatory, administrative, and enforcement oversight, payors and consumers have
repeatedly brought actions challenging hospital charges. It is expected that this will continue,
and hospitals with high charges relative to their peers will be targeted.
Information Technology. The ability to adequately price and bill health care services
and to accurately report financial results depends on the integrity of the data stored within
information systems, as well as the operability of such systems. An ongoing commitment of
significant resources is required to maintain, protect and enhance existing information systems
and to develop new systems that keep pace with continuing changes in information processing
technology, evolving systems and regulatory standards. There can be no assurance that efforts to
upgrade and expand information systems capabilities, protect and enhance these systems, and
develop new systems to keep pace with continuing changes in information processing technology
will be successful or that additional systems issues will not arise in the future.
Electronic media are also increasingly being used in clinical operations, including the
conversion from paper to electronic medical records, computerization of order entry functions
and the implementation of clinical decision-support software. The reliance on information
technology for these purposes imposes new expectations on physicians and other workforce
members to be adept in using and managing electronic systems. It also introduces risks related
to patient safety and to the privacy, accessibility and preservation of health information. See “–
Regulatory Environment – HIPAA,” above and “– Cybersecurity Risks” below. Technology
malfunctions or failure to understand and use information systems properly could result in the
45

dissemination of or reliance on inaccurate information, as well as in disputes with patients,
physicians, other health care professionals, and payors. Health information systems may also be
subject to different or higher standards or greater regulation than other information technology or
the paper-based systems previously used by health care providers, which may increase the cost,
complexity and risk of operations. All of these risks may have adverse consequences on
hospitals and health care providers.
Cybersecurity Risks. Like many other large organizations, the Obligated Group relies on
digital technologies to conduct its customary operations. In the past several years, a number of
entities have sought to gain unauthorized access to digital systems of large organizations for the
purpose of misappropriating assets or information or causing operational disruptions. These
attempts include highly sophisticated efforts to electronically circumvent network security as
well as more traditional intelligence gathering and social engineering aimed at obtaining
information necessary to gain access. The Obligated Group maintains a network security system
designed to stop “cyber-attacks” by third parties, and minimize its impact on operations;
however, no assurances can be given that such network security systems will be completely
successful. There have been no cyber security events within the Obligated Group during the past
24 months..
State and local authorities are increasingly focused on the importance of protecting the
confidentiality of individuals’ personal information, including patient health information. Many
states have enacted laws requiring businesses to notify individuals of security breaches that result
in the unauthorized release of personal information. In some states, notification requirements
may be triggered even where information has not been used or disclosed, but rather has been
inappropriately accessed.
State consumer protection laws may also provide the basis for legal action for privacy
and security breaches and frequently, unlike HIPAA, authorize a private right of action. In
particular, as discussed with respect to the HITECH Act above, the public nature of security
breaches exposes health organizations to increased risk of individual or class action lawsuits
from patients or other affected persons, in addition to government enforcement. Failure to
comply with restrictions on patient privacy or to maintain robust information security safeguards,
including taking steps to ensure that contractors who have access to sensitive patient information
maintain the confidentiality of such information, could consequently damage a health care
provider’s reputation and materially adversely affect business operations.
Charity Care. Tax-exempt health care organizations often treat large numbers of lowincome patients who are unable to pay in full for their medical care. These organizations may be
susceptible to economic and political changes that could increase the number of low-income
patients or their responsibility for caring for this population. General economic conditions that
affect the number of employed individuals who have health coverage further affect the ability of
patients to pay for their care. Similarly, changes in governmental policy, which may result in
coverage exclusions under local, state and federal health care programs (including Medicare and
Medicaid) may increase the frequency and severity of charity care treatment by such hospitals
and other providers. It also is possible that future legislation could require that tax-exempt health
care organizations and other providers maintain minimum levels of charity care as a condition to
federal income tax exemption or exemption from certain state or local taxes.
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Physician Medical Staff. The primary relationship between a health care organization
and physicians who practice in it is through the organization’s medical staff. Medical staff
bylaws, rules and policies establish the criteria and procedures by which a physician may have
his or her privileges or membership curtailed, denied or revoked. Physicians who are denied
medical staff membership or certain clinical privileges or who have such membership or
privileges curtailed or revoked often file legal actions against hospitals and medical staffs. Such
actions may include a wide variety of claims, some of which could result in substantial uninsured
damages to a hospital. In addition, failure of the health care organization’s governing body to
adequately oversee the conduct of its medical staff may result in liability to third parties.
Physician Supply. Sufficient community-based physician supply is important to health
care organizations. CMS annually reviews overall physician reimbursement formulas for
Medicare and Medicaid. Changes to physician compensation under these programs could lead to
physicians ceasing to accept Medicare and/or Medicaid patients. Regional differences in
reimbursement by commercial and governmental payors, along with variations in the costs of
living, may cause physicians to avoid locating their practices in communities with low
reimbursement or high living costs. Health care organizations may be required to invest
additional resources in recruiting and retaining physicians, or may be compelled to affiliate with,
and provide support to, physicians in order to continue serving the growing population base and
maintain market share. Such arrangements present certain regulatory risks that can result in
significant penalties. See “— Anti-Kickback Law” and “— Physician Self-Referral Law
(Stark)” above.
Staffing. In recent years, the health care industry has suffered from a scarcity of nursing
personnel, respiratory therapists, pharmacists and other trained health care technicians, and a
number of such trained health care professionals and technicians are expected to retire in the next
several years. A significant factor underlying this trend includes a decrease in the number of
persons entering such professions. This is expected to intensify in the future, aggravating the
general shortage and increasing the likelihood of staffing shortages. Competition for employees,
coupled with increased recruiting and retention costs as well as burnout by medical professionals
will increase operating costs, possibly significantly, and growth may be constrained. This trend
could have a material adverse impact on the financial conditions and results of operations of
health care organizations. This scarcity may further be intensified if utilization of health care
services increases as a consequence of the ACA’s expansion of the number of insured
consumers. Health care operations, patient and physician satisfaction, financial condition and
future growth could be negatively affected by physician and nursing and other technical
personnel shortages, resulting in material adverse impact to hospitals and health systems.
ThedaCare is actively recruiting several key leadership nursing positions. The Chief Nursing
Officer position was filled in September, 2019. Pursuant to the 2020 strategic plan, ThedaCare
seeks to reduce vacancy rate and agency support by partnering with local colleges and creating
internal programs for clinical ladders and advancement opportunities.
Competition Among Health Care Providers. Increased competition from a wide variety
of sources, including specialty hospitals, other hospitals and health care systems, inpatient and
outpatient health care facilities, long-term care and skilled nursing services facilities, clinics,
physicians and others, may adversely affect the utilization and/or revenues of hospitals. Existing
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and potential competitors may be subject to different restrictions, and competition, in the future,
may arise from new sources not currently anticipated or prevalent.
Specialty hospital developments that attract away an important segment of an existing
hospital’s admitting specialists and/or services that generate a significant source of revenue may
be particularly damaging. For example, some large hospitals may have significant dependence
on heart surgery programs, as revenue streams from those programs may cover significant fixed
overhead costs. If a significant component of such a hospital’s heart surgeons develop their own
specialty heart hospital (alone or in conjunction with a growing number of specialty hospital
operators and promoters), taking with them their patient base, the hospital could experience a
rapid and dramatic decline in net revenues that is not proportionate to the number of patient
admissions or patient days lost. It is also possible that the competing specialty hospital, as a forprofit venture, would not accept charity care patients or other payors and government programs,
leaving low-pay patient populations in the full-service hospital. In certain cases, such an event
could be materially adverse to the hospital. A provision contained in the ACA has all but
eliminated the development and expansion of physician-owned specialty hospitals, nonetheless,
specialty hospitals continue to represent a significant competitive challenge for full-service
hospitals.
Likewise, freestanding ambulatory surgery centers may attract away significant
commercial outpatient services traditionally performed at hospitals. Commercial outpatient
services, currently among the most profitable for hospitals, may be lost to competitors who can
provide these services in an alternative, less costly setting. Full-service hospitals rely upon the
revenues generated from commercial outpatient services to fund other less profitable services,
and the decline of such business may result in the significant reduction of profitable income.
Competing ambulatory surgery centers, more likely a for-profit business, may not accept charity
care patients or low paying programs and would leave these populations to receive services in
the hospital setting. Consequently, hospitals are vulnerable to competition from ambulatory
surgery centers.
Hospitals and other health care providers face increased pressure to be transparent and
provide information about cost and quality of services, which may lead to a loss of business as
consumers and others make choices about where to receive health care services based upon
published information.
Employer Status. Hospitals are major employers, with mixed technical and nontechnical workforces. Labor costs, including salary, benefits and other liabilities associated with
the workforce, have significant impacts on hospital operations and financial condition.
Developments affecting hospitals as major employers include: (1) imposing higher minimum or
living wages; (2) enhancing occupational health and safety standards; and (3) penalizing
employers of undocumented immigrants. Legislation or regulation on any of the above or
related topics could have a material adverse effect on a hospital’s operations.
Labor Relations. Hospitals are large employers with a wide diversity of employees.
Increasingly, employees of hospitals are becoming unionized, and many hospitals have collective
bargaining agreements with one or more labor organizations. Dealing with a new bargaining
unit or negotiating collective bargaining agreements may result in significant cost increases to
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hospitals. Employee strikes or other adverse labor actions may have an adverse impact on
operations, revenue and hospital reputation. At the present time, however, none of the
employees of any Member of the Obligated Group are members of unions or receive union
wages or benefits. See “EMPLOYEES” in APPENDIX A hereto.
Wage and Hour Class Actions and Litigation. Federal law and many states impose
standards related to worker classification, eligibility and payment for overtime, liability for
providing rest periods and similar requirements. Large employers with complex workforces,
such as hospitals, are susceptible to actual and alleged violations of these standards. In recent
years there has been a proliferation of lawsuits over these “wage and hour” issues, often in the
form of large, sometimes multi-state, class actions. For large employers such as hospitals and
health systems, such class actions can involve multi-million dollar claims, judgments and/or
settlements. A major class action decided or settled adversely to the Obligated Group could have
a material adverse impact on their financial condition and their results of operations.
Other Class Actions. Nonprofit hospitals and health systems have long been subject to a
wide variety of litigations risks, including liability for care outcomes, employer liability,
property and premises liability, billing, charging, and collections practices, among others. In
recent years, consumer class action litigation has emerged as a potentially significant source of
litigation liability for tax-exempt hospitals and health systems. These class action suits have
most recently focused on hospital billing and collections practices, and they may be used for a
variety of currently unanticipated causes of action. Since the subject matter of class action suits
may involve uninsured risks, and since such actions often involved alleged large classes of
plaintiffs and a large number of patient encounters, they may have material adverse
consequences on hospitals and health systems in the future.
Health Care Worker Classification. Health care providers, like all businesses, are
required to withhold federal and State income and Social Security and Medicare taxes from
amounts paid to employees. If the employer fails to withhold these taxes, the employer becomes
liable for payment of the taxes imposed on the employee. On the other hand, businesses are not
required to withhold federal taxes from amounts paid to a worker classified as an independent
contractor. The IRS has established criteria for determining whether a worker is an employee or
an independent contractor for tax purposes. If the IRS were to reclassify a significant number of
hospital independent contractors (e.g., physician medical directors) as employees, back taxes and
penalties could be material.
Professional Liability Claims and General Liability Insurance. In recent years, the
number of professional and general liability suits and the dollar amounts of damage recoveries
have increased in health care nationwide, resulting in substantial increases in malpractice
insurance premiums, higher deductibles and generally less coverage. Professional liability and
other actions alleging wrongful conduct and seeking punitive damages are often filed against
health care providers. Insurance does not provide coverage for judgments for punitive damages.
CMS does not reimburse under the Medicare program for medical costs arising from
certain “never events,” which are the kinds of mistakes which should never happen. These
include specific preventable medical errors such as performing surgery on the wrong body part.
A similar rule has been adopted under the Medicaid program. HMOs and other private insurers
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have begun to follow suit. The occurrence of “never events” may be more likely to be publicized
and may negatively impact a health care organization’s reputation, thereby reducing future
utilization and potentially increasing the possibility of liability claims.
Litigation also arises from the corporate and business activities of health care
organizations, from a health are organization’s status as an employer or because of medical staff
or provider network peer review or the denial of medical staff or provider network privileges.
As with professional liability, many of these risks are covered by insurance, but some are not.
For example, some antitrust claims or business disputes are not covered by insurance or other
sources and may, in whole or in part, be a liability of the health care organization if determined
or settled adversely.
There is no assurance that health care organizations will be able to maintain coverage
amounts currently in place in the future, that the coverage will be sufficient to cover judgments
rendered against a health care organization or that such coverage will be available at a reasonable
cost in the future.
The Wisconsin Injured Patients and Families Compensation Fund (the “Fund”) was
created by Wisconsin Statues to cover professional liability claims against certain Wisconsin
health care providers, including hospitals and physicians, to the extent such claims result in
awards in excess of defined limits of required primary insurance coverage. Currently, the
required primary coverage limits are $1,000,000 for each occurrence and $3,000,000 for all
occurrences in any policy year. Systems carries the required primary liability insurance coverage
for its health care affiliates and each individual employed physician. See “PROFESSIONAL
LIABILITY INSURANCE COVERAGE” in APPENDIX A hereto.
Medical Liability Litigation and Insurance. Medical liability litigation is subject to
public policy determinations and legal and procedural rules that may be altered from time to
time, with the result that the frequency and cost of such litigation, and resultant liabilities, may
increase in the future. Health systems may be affected by negative financial and liability impacts
on physicians.
Nonprofit Health Care Environment
Each Member of the Obligated Group is a nonprofit entity, exempt from federal income
taxation as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code. The tax-exempt status
afforded nonprofit hospitals is increasingly being threatened.
Nonprofit, tax-exempt
organizations such as the Members of the Obligated Group are subject to federal, state and local
laws, regulations, rulings and court decisions relating to their organization and operation,
including operation for religious and charitable purposes. At the same time, nonprofit health
care providers conduct large-scale complex business transactions. There can often be a tension
between the rules designed to regulate a wide range of charitable organizations and the day-today operations of a complex, multi-state and/or multi-facility health care organization.
The operations or practices of health care providers are routinely challenged or
questioned to determine if they are consistent with the tax exemption benefits conferred on such
providers or the regulatory requirements for nonprofit, tax-exempt organizations. These
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challenges, in some cases, are broader than concerns about compliance with federal and state
statutes and regulations, such as Medicare and Medicaid compliance, and instead are
examinations of core business practices of the health care organizations. An overarching
concern is that nonprofit health care organizations may not confer community benefits that
exceed or are equal to the benefit received from their tax-exempt status. Areas that have come
under examination include pricing practices, billing and collection practices, charitable care,
providing and reporting community benefit, executive compensation, exemption of property
from real property taxation, and others. These challenges and questions arise from a variety of
sources, including state attorneys general, the IRS, labor unions, Congress, state legislatures, and
patients, and in a variety of forums, including hearings, audits and litigation. Such challenges
include class action litigation in various jurisdictions concerning hospital pricing practices with
respect to the uninsured or underinsured. Some of these challenges and examinations are
described below.
Congressional Hearings. Senate and House committees have conducted several
nationwide investigations of hospital billing and collection practices and prices charged to
uninsured patients and have considered reforms to the nonprofit sector, including proposed
reform in the area of tax-exempt health care organizations, as part of health care reform
generally. The ACA added Section 501(r) to the Code which addresses these issues (see “—
Tax-Exempt Status and Other Tax Matters — Maintenance of the Tax-Exempt Status of
the Members of the Obligated Group”). The fact that Congress enacted legislation in this area
does not mean that Congress will not enact additional legislation in the future.
IRS Review of Nonprofit Corporations. IRS officials have indicated that more resources
will be invested in audits of tax-exempt bonds in the charitable sector with specific review of
private use. The IRS Form 990 is used by most nonprofit organizations exempt from federal
income taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code to submit information required by the
federal government. The IRS Form 990 requires detailed public disclosure of compensation
practices, corporate governance, loans to executive management and others, joint ventures and
other types of transactions, political campaign activities, and other areas the IRS deems to be
compliance risk areas. The IRS Form 990 also requires disclosure concerning community
benefit and compliance with financial assistance policy and billing and collection requirements
(on Schedule H, which must be completed by hospital organizations), as well as reporting of
information relating to tax-exempt bonds, including compliance with the arbitrage rules and rules
limiting private use of bond-financed facilities (on Schedule K). Schedule K to the IRS Form
990 is intended to enhance transparency as to the operations of exempt organizations and address
what the IRS believes is significant noncompliance by tax-exempt organizations with
recordkeeping and record retention requirements relating to their outstanding tax-exempt bonds.
It is likely that the IRS will use the information provided by the IRS Form 990 and Schedule K
(as well as other schedules) to assist in, and expand, its enforcement efforts.
Litigation Relating to Billing and Collection Practices. Lawsuits have been filed in both
federal and state courts alleging, among other things, that tax-exempt hospitals have failed to
fulfill their obligations to provide charity care to uninsured patients and have overcharged
uninsured patients. Some of these cases have since been dismissed by the courts and some
hospitals and health systems have entered into settlements. A number of cases are still pending
in various courts around the country.
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State Oversight. Nonprofit corporations are subject to oversight and examination by
state attorneys general to ensure their charitable purposes are being carried out, that their
fundraising and investment activities comply with state law, that the terms of charitable gifts are
followed, and that acquisitions, dispositions, and reorganizations are in the public interest. This
oversight can limit some of the options available to tax-exempt entities in states where the
respective Attorney General takes a keen interest in these issues.
Challenges to Real Property Tax Exemptions and Related Matters. The real property
tax exemptions afforded to certain nonprofit health care providers by state and local taxing
authorities have been challenged on the grounds that the health care providers were not engaged
in sufficient charitable activities. These exemptions may apply to both real property owned
outright and real property leased to another party (sometimes referred to as “possessory
interest”). The bases for these challenges generally include nonuse of real property for the
charitable object of the tax-exempt organization, use by a non-exempt party, inadequate levels of
public benefit, uncompensated care, aggressive billing and collection practices, and excessive
financial margins.
In July 2011, the Wisconsin Supreme Court affirmed that off-campus hospital outpatient
facilities qualify for Wisconsin property tax exemption. Specifically, the Wisconsin Supreme
Court held that a hospital outpatient facility operated by Wheaton Franciscan Healthcare in
Wauwatosa, Wisconsin is exempt from the property tax under the same statute that exempts
hospitals. Although this decision allows Wisconsin hospitals to maintain property tax exemption
for off-campus facilities that provide hospital-based outpatient services, there can be no
assurance that future disputes challenging property tax exemption of other health care facilities
will not arise within the State. As a result, while Management of the Members of the Obligated
Group is not aware of any current challenge to the tax exemption afforded to any of its material
real property, there can be no assurance that such challenges will not occur in the future.
The foregoing are some examples of the challenges and examinations facing nonprofit
health care organizations. They are indicative of a greater scrutiny of the billing, collection and
other business practices of these organizations and may indicate an increasingly difficult
operating environment for health care organizations such as the Members of the Obligated
Group.
Construction Risks
Construction projects, including portions of the Projects, are subject to a variety of risks,
including but not limited to delays in issuance of required building permits or other necessary
approvals or permits, including environmental approvals, strikes, shortages of qualified
contractors or materials and labor, adverse weather conditions and funding shortfalls. Such
events could delay occupancy of major construction projects. Cost overruns may occur due to
change orders, delays in construction schedules, scarcity of building materials, tariffs on building
materials, labor and other factors. Cost overruns could cause project costs to exceed estimates
and require more funds than originally allocated or require the Obligated Group to borrow
additional funds to complete projects.
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Affiliations, Merger, Acquisition and Divestiture
From time to time, the Obligated Group may evaluate and pursue potential acquisition,
merger and affiliation candidates as part of the overall strategic planning and development
process. As part of its ongoing planning and management functions, the Obligated Group
reviews the use, compatibility and business viability of many of the operations of the Obligated
Group, and from time to time the Obligated Group may pursue changes in the use of, or
disposition of, their facilities. Likewise, the Obligated Group occasionally receives offers from,
or conducts discussions with, third parties about the potential acquisition of operations and
properties which may become subsidiaries or affiliates of Obligated Group in the future, or about
the potential sale of some of the operations or property which are currently conducted or owned
by the Obligated Group. Discussions may be conducted from time to time with acute care
hospital facilities with respect to affiliation, merger, acquisition, disposition or change of use of
facilities, including those which may affect the Obligated Group. As a result, it is possible that
the current organization and assets of the Obligated Group may change from time to time. There
are no imminent affiliations or mergers.
In addition to relationships with other hospitals and physicians, the Obligated Group
considers and is currently evaluating investments, ventures, affiliations, development and
acquisition of other healthcare-related entities. These may include home health care, long-term
care entities or operations, infusion providers, pharmaceutical providers, and other health care
enterprises which support the overall operations of the Obligated Group. In addition, the
Obligated Group may pursue such transactions with health insurers, HMOs, preferred provider
organizations, third-party administrators and other health insurance-related businesses. Because
of the integration occurring throughout the health care field, management of the Members of the
Obligated Group will consider such arrangements if there is a perceived strategic or operational
benefit for the Obligated Group. Any such initiative may involve significant capital
commitments and/or capital or operating risk (including, potentially, insurance risk) in a business
in which the Obligated Group may have less expertise than in hospital operations. There can be
no assurance that these projects, if pursued, will not lead to material adverse consequences to the
Obligated Group. See “POTENTIAL FUTURE AFFILIATIONS OR ACQUISITIONS” in
“APPENDIX A” hereto.
Tax-Exempt Status and Other Tax Matters
Maintenance of the Tax-Exempt Status of the Members of the Obligated Group. The
maintenance of the status of each Obligated Group Member as an organization described in
Section 501(c)(3) of the Code is contingent on compliance by each Obligated Group Member
with general rules promulgated in the Code and related regulations regarding the organization
and operation of tax-exempt entities, including their operation for charitable and other
permissible purposes and their avoidance of transactions that may cause their earnings or assets
to inure to the benefit of private individuals. As these general principles were developed
primarily for public charities that do not conduct large-scale technical operations and business
activities, they often do not adequately address the myriad of operations and transactions entered
into by a modern health care organization. Although traditional activities of health care
providers, such as certain management contracts and other use arrangements, have been the
subject of interpretations by the IRS in the form of private letter rulings (which are binding only
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on the IRS with respect to the taxpayers who requested them), many activities or categories of
activities have not been fully addressed in any official opinion, interpretation or policy of the
IRS.
The ACA also contains new requirements for tax-exempt health care facilities and
organizations. Under Section 501(r) of the Code, enacted as part of the ACA, each tax-exempt
hospital facility is required to (i) conduct a community health needs assessment at least every
three years and adopt an implementation strategy to meet the identified community needs, (ii)
adopt, implement and widely publicize a written financial assistance policy and a policy to
provide emergency medical treatment without discrimination, (iii) limit charges to individuals
who qualify for financial assistance under such tax-exempt hospital’s financial assistance policy
to no more than the amounts generally billed to individuals who have insurance covering such
care and refrain from using “gross charges” when billing such individuals, and (iv) refrain from
taking extraordinary collection actions without first making reasonable efforts to determine
whether the individual is eligible for assistance under such tax-exempt hospital’s financial
assistance policy. In addition, the IRS is required to review information about each tax-exempt
hospital’s community benefit activities at least once every three years, as well as to submit an
annual report to Congress with information regarding the levels of charity care, bad debt
expenses, unreimbursed costs of government programs, and costs incurred by tax-exempt
hospitals for community benefit activities. The periodic reviews and reports to Congress
regarding the community benefits provided by 501(c)(3) hospitals may increase the likelihood
that Congress will require such hospitals to provide a minimum level of charity care in order to
retain tax-exempt status and may increase IRS scrutiny of particular 501(c)(3) hospital
organizations.
If the IRS were to find that any Obligated Group Member has participated in activities in
violation of certain regulations or rulings, including any set forth pursuant to Section 501(r) of
the Code, the tax-exempt status of the entity could be in jeopardy. The Treasury Regulations
provide that a hospital facility's omission or error with respect to the Treasury Regulations
implementing Section 501(r) of the Code will not be considered a failure to meet a requirement
of Section 501(r) (and therefore should not jeopardize the facility's 501(c)(3) status) if: (i) such
omission or error was minor and either inadvertent or due to reasonable cause; and (ii) the
hospital facility corrects such omission or error as promptly after discovery as is reasonable
given the nature of the omission or error. Although the IRS has not frequently revoked the
501(c)(3) tax-exempt status of nonprofit health care corporations, it could do so in the future.
Loss of tax-exempt status by even one Member potentially could result in loss of tax exemption
of any tax-exempt debt of the Obligated Group and defaults in covenants regarding such taxexempt debt and obligations likely would be triggered. Loss of tax-exempt status also could
result in substantial tax liabilities on income of any Member of the Obligated Group. For these
reasons, loss of tax-exempt status of any Member could have a material adverse effect on the
financial condition and results of operations of the Obligated Group, taken as a whole.
In some cases, the IRS has imposed substantial monetary penalties on tax-exempt
corporations in lieu of revoking their tax-exempt status. In those cases, the IRS and exempt
corporations entered into settlement agreements requiring the corporation to make substantial
payments to the IRS. Given the range of complex transactions entered into by the Members of
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the Obligated Group and potential exemption risks, Members of the Obligated Group could be at
risk for incurring monetary and other liabilities imposed by the IRS.
Pursuant to the “intermediate sanctions” rules, the IRS may impose penalty excise taxes
on certain “excess benefit transactions” involving 501(c)(3) organizations and “disqualified
persons” rather than revoking the organization’s exempt status. An excess benefit transaction is
one in which a disqualified persons or entity receives more than fair market value from the
exempt organization or pays the exempt organization less than fair market value for property or
services, or share the net revenues of the tax-exempt entity. A disqualified person is a person (or
an entity) who is in a position to exercise substantial influence over the affairs of the exempt
organization during the five years preceding an excess benefit transaction. The statute imposes
excise taxes on the disqualified person and any “organization manager” who knowingly
participates in an excess benefit transaction. These rules do not penalize the exempt organization
itself, so there would be no direct impact on the Members of the Obligated Group or the tax
status of the Bonds if an excess benefit transaction were subject to IRS enforcement pursuant to
the intermediate sanctions rules.
Tax-Exempt Status of Bonds. The Code imposes a number of requirements that must be
satisfied for interest on state and local obligations, such as the Bonds, to be excludable from
gross income for federal income tax purposes. These requirements include limitations on the use
of bond proceeds and facilities financed with bond proceeds, limitations on the investment
earnings of bond proceeds prior to expenditure, a requirement that certain investment earnings on
bond proceeds be paid periodically to the United States, and a requirement that the issuer file an
information report with the IRS. The Obligated Group has agreed that it will comply with such
requirements. Failure to comply with the requirements stated in the Code and related
regulations, rulings and policies may result in the treatment of the interest on the Bonds as
taxable. Such adverse treatment may be retroactive to the date of issuance. See “TAX
EXEMPTION ON THE BONDS” herein.
For certain individual taxpayers, future tax legislation could tax a portion of the interest
on tax-exempt bonds under the regular income tax or the alternative minimum tax, and could
apply not only to bonds issued on and after the effective date, but to bonds issued before the
effective date, including the Bonds. From time to time, Congress has considered revisions to the
Code that may limit access to the tax-exempt debt market to issuers or borrowers such as the
Members of the Obligated Group. For example, in November 2017, the U.S. House of
Representatives released a tax reform proposal that included the elimination of all private
activity bonds. Ultimately, the bill that was passed by both chambers of Congress and signed by
President Trump on December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (discussed above), did not
include such elimination; however, if any such legislation is reintroduced and is retroactively
applied to tax-exempt bonds, including the Bonds, previously issued for the benefit of any
Obligated Group Member, the adoption of any such legislation could adversely affect the
marketability of and the market value for the Bonds and the financial condition of the Obligated
Group. Moreover, the adoption of any such legislation could materially increase the cost to the
Obligated Group of financing future capital needs.
Unrelated Business Income. In recent years, the IRS and local taxing authorities also
have been undertaking audits and reviews of the operations of tax-exempt hospitals with respect
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to their exempt activities and the generation of unrelated business taxable income (“UBTI”).
The Members of the Obligated Group may participate in activities which generate UBTI.
Management of the Members of the Obligated Group believes it has properly accounted for and
reported UBTI in all material respects; nevertheless, an investigation or audit could lead to a
challenge which could result in taxes, interest and penalties with respect to unreported UBTI, and
in some cases could affect the tax-exempt status of such Member of the Obligated Group as well
as the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the interest payable on
certain tax-exempt debt issued on behalf of the Obligated Group.
Limitations on Contractual and Other Arrangements Imposed by the Code. As taxexempt organizations, the Members of the Obligated Group are limited with respect to their use
of practice income guarantees, reduced rent on medical office space, low interest loans, joint
venture programs and other means of recruiting and retaining physicians. Uncertainty in this
area has been reduced somewhat by the issuance by the IRS of guidelines on permissible
physician recruitment practices. The IRS scrutinizes a broad variety of contractual relationships
commonly entered into by hospitals and has issued a detailed audit guide suggesting that field
agents scrutinize numerous activities of hospitals in an effort to determine whether any action
should be taken with respect to limitations on or revocation of their tax-exempt status or
assessment of additional tax. Any suspension, limitation, or revocation of any Member of the
Obligated Group’s tax-exempt status or assessment of significant tax liability would have a
materially adverse effect on the Obligated Group.
Certain Matters Relating to Security for the Bonds
General. The facilities of the Members of the Obligated Group are not pledged as
security for the Bonds. Such facilities are not comprised of general purpose buildings and
generally would not be suitable for industrial or commercial use. Consequently, it could be
difficult to find a buyer or lessee for such facilities and, upon any default which results in the
acceleration of the Bonds, the Master Trustee may not realize an amount sufficient to pay in full
the Master Notes, including those in respect of the outstanding Bonds, from the sale or lease of
such facilities if it were necessary to proceed against such facilities, whether pursuant to a
judgment, if any, against any Member of the Obligated Group or otherwise.
Effectiveness of Security Interest in Pledged Revenues. The obligations of the
Obligated Group under the Master Indenture are secured by a security interest in certain Pledged
Revenues of the Obligated Group under the terms of the Master Indenture. The creation,
perfection and priority of the security interest in the Pledged Revenues of the Obligated Group
granted pursuant to the Master Indenture may be limited by a number of factors, including: (i)
provisions prohibiting the direct payment of amounts due to health care providers from Medicaid
and Medicare programs to persons other than such providers; (ii) the absence of an express
provision permitting assignment of receivables due under the Medicare or Medicaid programs or
contracts with third-party payors, and present or future prohibitions against assignment contained
in any applicable statutes or regulations; (iii) certain judicial decisions which cast doubt upon the
right of the Master Trustee, in the event of the bankruptcy of the Members of the Obligated
Group or any future Member of the Obligated Group, to collect and retain account receivables
due such Member from Medicare and Medicaid, general assistance and other governmental
programs; (iv) commingling of Pledged Revenues with other moneys of the Obligated Group not
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so pledged under the Master Indenture; (v) statutory liens and rights of set-off; (vi) rights arising
in favor of the United States of America or any agency thereof; (vii) constructive trusts, equitable
or other rights impressed or conferred by a federal or state court in the exercise of its equitable
jurisdiction; (viii) federal bankruptcy laws which may affect the priority of claims against the
assets of the Obligated Group and the enforceability of the Bond Indentures or the security
interest in the Pledged Revenues of any Member of the Obligated Group which are earned by
such Member within 90 days preceding and after any effectual institution of bankruptcy
proceedings by or against such Member; (ix) rights of third parties in Pledged Revenues
converted to cash and not in the possession of the Bond Trustee or Master Trustee; and (x)
claims that might arise if appropriate financing or continuation statements are not filed in
accordance with the Uniform Commercial Code as from time to time in effect
Financial Information. Much of the financial information contained herein and in
APPENDIX A and APPENDIX B hereto includes information with respect to the Members of
the Obligated Group and all entities whose financial information is required to be consolidated
with Systems under generally accepted accounting principles, including certain entities which are
not Members of the Obligated Group, including Systems. Any such entities which are not
Members of the Obligated Group would not be liable for payments due under the Series 2019
Master Notes.
Limited Covenants and Restrictions of Master Indenture. The Master Indenture
contains various financial and operational covenants for the Obligated Group and each future
Obligated Group Member, however, some of these covenants have been made for the sole
benefit of certain insurers or creditors and may be withdrawn or waived by the insurer or creditor
without the consent of the Bondholders. If such covenants are not waived, any failure to satisfy
such covenants could result in an Event of Default under the Master Indenture. See
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE” in
APPENDIX C hereto.
Amendments to Master Indenture. The Obligated Group and the Master Trustee may,
without the consent of, or notice to, any holders of the Master Notes, amend or supplement the
Master Indenture in certain circumstances as provided in the Master Indenture. In addition,
certain amendments to the Master Indenture may be made with the consent of the holders of a
majority in aggregate principal amount of outstanding Master Notes. Such amendments may
adversely affect the security of the Bondowners, and such percentage may be composed wholly
or partially of the holders of Master Notes other than the Series 2019 Master Notes. See
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE –
Supplemental Master Indentures With Consent of Noteholders” and “— Supplemental
Master Indentures Without Consent of Noteholders” in APPENDIX C hereto.
Amendments to the Bond Indenture and Loan Agreement. Certain amendments to
the Bond Indenture and the Loan Agreement may be made without the consent of related
Bondowners, and other amendments thereto may be made with the consent of the Owners of a
majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Bonds. Such amendments may
adversely affect the security of the Bondowners. See “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE BOND INDENTURE – Amendment of Bond Indenture” and “—
Amendment of Loan Agreement” in APPENDIX D hereto.
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Certain Matters Relating to Enforceability of the Master Indenture and Loan
Agreement. The enforceability of the obligations of the Obligated Group under the Series 2019
Master Note and of the Corporation under the Loan Agreement are limited to the same extent as
the obligations of debtors typically are affected by bankruptcy, insolvency and the application of
general principles of creditors’ rights and as additionally described below.
The financial statements of the Members of the Obligated Group and any future Members
of the Obligated Group will be combined for financial reporting purposes and will be used in
determining whether various covenants and tests contained in the Master Indenture (including
tests relating to the incurrence of Additional Indebtedness) are met, notwithstanding the
uncertainties as to the enforceability of certain obligations of any future Members of the
Obligated Group contained in the Master Indenture which bear on the availability of the assets
and revenues of any future Members to pay debt service on Notes, including the Series 2019
Master Note pledged under the Bond Indenture as security for the Bonds. The joint and several
obligations described herein of any Members of the Obligated Group to make payments of debt
service on Notes issued under the Master Indenture (including transfers in connection with
voluntary dissolution or liquidation) may not be enforceable to the extent: (1) enforceability may
be limited by applicable bankruptcy, moratorium, reorganization or similar laws affecting the
enforcement of creditors’ rights and by general equitable principles and (2) such
payments: (i) are requested with respect to payments on any Notes issued by a Member other
than the Member from which such payment is requested, issued for a purpose which is not
consistent with the charitable purposes of any future Member of the Obligated Group from which
such payment is requested or issued for the benefit of any future Member of the Obligated Group
which is not a Tax-Exempt Organization; (ii) are requested to be made from any moneys or
assets which are donor-restricted or which are subject to a direct or express trust which does not
permit the use of such moneys or assets for such a payment; (iii) would result in the cessation or
discontinuation of any material portion of the health care or related services previously provided
by any future Member of the Obligated Group from which such payment is requested; or (iv) are
requested to be made pursuant to any loan violating applicable usury laws. The extent to which
the assets of any future Member of the Obligated Group may fall within the categories (ii) and
(iii) above with respect to the Series 2019 Master Note cannot now be determined. The amount
of such assets which could fall within such categories could be substantial.
Any future Member of the Obligated Group may not be required to make any payment on
any Master Note, or portion thereof, the proceeds of which were not loaned or otherwise
disbursed to such Member of the Obligated Group, to the extent that such payment would render
such Member of the Obligated Group insolvent or which would conflict with or not be permitted
by or which is subject to recovery for the benefit of other creditors of such Member of the
Obligated Group under applicable laws. There is no clear precedent in the law as to whether
such payments from a Member of the Obligated Group in order to pay debt service on the Series
2019 Master Note may be voided by a trustee in bankruptcy in the event of bankruptcy of a
Member of the Obligated Group, or by third-party creditors in an action brought pursuant to
Wisconsin fraudulent conveyance statutes. Under the federal Bankruptcy Code, a trustee in
bankruptcy and, under Wisconsin fraudulent conveyance statutes and common law, a creditor of
a related guarantor, may avoid any obligation incurred by a related guarantor if, among other
bases therefor, (1) the guarantor has not received fair consideration or reasonably equivalent
value in exchange for the guaranty or grossly inadequate consideration is received for the
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guaranty and (2) the guaranty renders the guarantor insolvent or is made while the guarantor is
insolvent, as defined in the federal Bankruptcy Code or Wisconsin fraudulent conveyance
statutes, or the guarantor is undercapitalized.
Application by courts of the tests of “insolvency,” “reasonably equivalent value” and
“fair consideration” has resulted in a conflicting body of case law. It is possible that, in an action
to force any future Member of the Obligated Group to pay debt service on a Master Note for
which it was not the direct beneficiary, a court might not enforce such a payment in the event it
is determined that any future Member of the Obligated Group is analogous to a guarantor of the
debt of any future Member of the Obligated Group who directly benefited from the borrowing
and that sufficient consideration for the Member’s guaranty was not received and that the
incurrence of such Master Note has rendered or will render the Member insolvent or the Member
is or will thereby become undercapitalized.
In addition, there exists common law authority and authority under various state statutes
pursuant to which courts may dissolve a nonprofit corporation or undertake supervision of its
affairs on various grounds, including a finding that such corporation has taken some action
which renders it unable to carry out its charitable purposes. Such court action may arise on the
court’s own motion pursuant to a petition of the state attorney general or such other persons who
have interests different from those of the general public, pursuant to the common law and
statutory power to enforce charitable trusts and to see to the application of their funds to their
intended charitable uses.
Potential Effects of Bankruptcy
If any Member of the Obligated Group were to file a petition for relief (or if a petition
were filed against any future Member of the Obligated Group) under the federal Bankruptcy
Code, the filing would operate as an automatic stay of the commencement or continuation of any
judicial or other proceeding against such Member of the Obligated Group, and its property. If
the bankruptcy court so ordered, such Member of the Obligated Group’s property, including its
accounts receivable and proceeds thereof, could be used for the benefit of such Member of the
Obligated Group despite the claims of its creditors.
In a bankruptcy proceeding, such Member of the Obligated Group could file a plan for
the adjustment of its debts, which modifies the rights of creditors generally, or the rights of any
class of creditors, secured or unsecured. The plan, when confirmed by the court, would bind all
creditors who had notice or knowledge of the plan and discharge all claims against such Member
of the Obligated Group provided for in the plan. No plan may be confirmed unless, among other
conditions, the plan is in the best interests of creditors, is feasible and has been accepted by each
class of claims impaired thereunder. Each class of claims has accepted the plan if at least
two-thirds in dollar amount and more than one-half in number of the allowed claims of the class
that are voted with respect to the plan are cast in its favor. Even if the plan is not so accepted, it
may be confirmed if the court finds that the plan is fair and equitable with respect to each class
of non-accepting creditors impaired thereunder and does not discriminate unfairly.
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Additional Indebtedness
The Master Indenture permits the issuance of additional Master Notes on a parity with the
Series 2019 Master Note and the Prior Master Notes and permits the incurrence of additional
indebtedness by the Obligated Group. See “SUMMARY OF MASTER INDENTURE –
Summary of Certain Provisions of the Master Indenture – Restrictions as to Incurrence of
Additional Indebtedness” in APPENDIX C hereto. Such additional Master Notes would also
increase debt service requirements and could adversely affect debt service coverage on the
Master Additional Risk Factors
Bond Ratings. There is no assurance that the ratings assigned to the Bonds will not be
lowered or withdrawn at any time, which could adversely affect the market value or
marketability of the Bonds. See “RATINGS” below.
Secondary Market. There can be no assurance that there will be a secondary market for
the purchase or sale of the Bonds. From time to time there may be no market for the Bonds
depending upon prevailing market conditions, the financial condition or market position of any
firms who may make the secondary market, and the financial condition and results of operations
of the Members of the Obligated Group.
Other Future Risks. In the future, the following factors, among others, may adversely
affect the operations of health care providers or the market value of the Bonds to an extent that
cannot be determined at this time:
•

Adoption of legislation that would establish a national or statewide single-payor
health program or that would establish national, statewide or otherwise regulated rates
applicable to hospitals and other health care providers.

•

Reduced demand for the services of hospitals that might result from decreases in
population or loss of market share to competitors.

•

Bankruptcy or business failures of an indemnity/commercial insurer, managed care
plan or other payor could have a material adverse impact on contracted hospitals and
other health care providers in the form of payment shortfalls or delay, and/or
continuing obligations to care for managed care patients without receiving payment.

•

Efforts by insurers and governmental agencies to limit the cost of health care services,
to reduce the number of beds and to reduce the utilization of health care facilities by
such means as preventive medicine, improved occupational health and safety and
outpatient care, or comparable regulations or attempts by third-party payors to control
or restrict the operations of certain health care facilities.

•

New clinical techniques and technology, as well as new pharmaceutical and genetic
developments and products, may alter the course of medical diagnosis and treatment
in ways that are currently unanticipated, and that may dramatically change medical
and hospital care. These could result in higher health care costs, reductions in patient
populations, lower utilization of hospital service and/or new sources of competition
for hospitals.
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•

Cost and availability of any insurance, such as professional liability, fire, flood,
automobile and general comprehensive liability coverages, which health care
facilities of a similar size and type generally carry.

•

The occurrence of a natural disaster, a pandemic or an epidemic that could damage
health care facilities, interrupt utility service to the facilities, result in an abnormally
high demand for health care services or otherwise impair hospitals’ operations and the
generation of revenues from the facilities.

•

Acts of terrorism against public facilities such as hospitals and other health care
facilities.

•

Fluctuations in global capital markets that could affect the Obligated Group’s access
to capital, the value of its investment assets and pension funds.

•

The treatment of a highly contagious disease at one of the Obligated Group’s
facilities may result in a temporary shutdown or diversion of patients or cause
unaffected individuals to decide to defer elective procedures or otherwise avoid
medical treatment, resulting in reduced patient volumes and operating revenues.

•

Limitations on the availability of, and increased compensation necessary to secure
and retain, nursing, technical and other professional personnel.
ABSENCE OF MATERIAL LITIGATION

Authority
There is not now pending or, to the knowledge of the Authority, threatened any litigation
restraining or enjoining the issuance or delivery of the Bonds or questioning or affecting the
validity of the Bonds or the proceedings or authority under which they are to be issued. Neither
the creation, organization or existence of the Authority nor the title of the present members or
other officials of the Authority, to their respective positions is being contested. There is no
litigation pending or, to its knowledge, threatened which in any manner questions the right of the
Authority to enter into the Bond Indenture or the Loan Agreement or to secure the Bonds in the
manner provided in the Bond Indenture and the Act.
Obligated Group
There is no litigation or proceedings pending or, to the Obligated Group’s knowledge,
threatened against any member of the Obligated Group except litigation in which the probable
recoveries and the estimated costs and expenses of defense, in the opinion of counsel to the
Obligated Group, will be entirely within the applicable insurance policy limits of the Obligated
Group (subject to applicable deductibles) or will be otherwise immaterial.
LEGAL MATTERS
All legal matters incidental to the authorization and issuance of the Bonds by the
Authority are subject to the approval of Quarles & Brady LLP (“Bond Counsel”), whose form of
approving opinion is attached hereto as APPENDIX E. Certain matters will be passed upon for
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the Authority by its general counsel, Quarles & Brady LLP; for the Obligated Group by its
general counsel, Godfrey & Kahn, S.C., Milwaukee, Wisconsin; and for the Underwriters by
their counsel, Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP, Chicago, Illinois.
TAX EXEMPTION ON THE BONDS
In General
The opinion of Bond Counsel is based on laws and official interpretations of them that
are in existence on the date the Bonds are issued. There can be no assurance that those laws or
the interpretations of them will not change or that new laws will not be enacted or regulations
issued while the Bonds are outstanding in a manner that would adversely affect the value of any
investment in the Bonds or the tax treatment of the interest paid on the Bonds.
Federal Income Tax Opinion of Bond Counsel
Quarles & Brady LLP, Bond Counsel, will deliver a legal opinion with respect to the
federal income tax exemption applicable to the interest on the Bonds under existing law in
substantially the form attached as APPENDIX E hereto.
Wisconsin Income Tax
The interest on the Bonds is not exempt from present Wisconsin income taxes.
Original Issue Discount
To the extent that the initial public offering price of certain of the Bonds is less than the
principal amount payable at maturity, such Bonds (“Discounted Bonds”) will be considered to be
issued with original issue discount. The original issue discount is the excess of the stated
redemption price at maturity of a Discounted Bond over the initial offering price to the public,
excluding Underwriters or other intermediaries, at which price a substantial amount of such
Discounted Bonds were sold (“issue price”). With respect to a taxpayer who purchases a
Discounted Bond in the initial public offering at the issue price and who holds such Discounted
Bond to maturity, the full amount of original issue discount will constitute interest that is not
includible in the gross income of the owner of such Discounted Bond for federal income tax
purposes and such owner will not, subject to the caveats and provisions herein described, realize
taxable capital gain upon payment of such Discounted Bond upon maturity.
Original issue discount is treated as compounding semiannually, at a rate determined by
reference to the yield to maturity of each individual Discounted Bond, on days that are
determined by reference to the maturity date of such Discounted Bond. The amount treated as
original issue discount on a Discounted Bond for a particular semiannual accrual period is
generally equal to (a) the product of (i) the yield to maturity for such Discounted Bond
(determined by compounding at the close of each accrual period) and (ii) the amount that would
have been the tax basis of such Discounted Bond at the beginning of the particular accrual period
if held by the original purchaser; and less (b) the amount of any interest payable for such
Discounted Bond during the accrual period. The tax basis is determined by adding to the initial
public offering price on such Discounted Bond the sum of the amounts that have been treated as
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original issue discount for such purposes during all prior periods. If a Discounted Bond is sold
or exchanged between semiannual compounding dates, original issue discount that would have
been accrued for that semiannual compounding period for federal income tax purposes is to be
apportioned in equal amounts among the days in such compounding period.
For federal income tax purposes, the amount of original issue discount that is treated as
having accrued with respect to such Discounted Bond is added to the cost basis of the owner in
determining gain or loss upon disposition of a Discounted Bond (including its sale, exchange,
redemption, or payment at maturity). Amounts received upon disposition of a Discounted Bond
that are attributable to accrued original issue discount will be treated as tax-exempt interest,
rather than as taxable gain.
The accrual or receipt of original issue discount on the Discounted Bonds may result in
certain collateral federal income tax consequences for the owners of such Discounted Bonds.
The extent of these collateral tax consequences will depend upon the owner’s particular tax
status and other items of income or deduction.
The Code contains additional provisions relating to the accrual of original issue discount.
Owners who purchase Discounted Bonds at a price other than the issue price or who purchase
such Discounted Bonds in the secondary market should consult their own tax advisors with
respect to the tax consequences of owning the Discounted Bonds. Under the applicable
provisions governing the determination of state and local taxes, accrued interest on the
Discounted Bonds may be deemed to be received in the year of accrual even though there will
not be a corresponding cash payment until a later year. Owners of Discounted Bonds should
consult their own tax advisors with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning the
Discounted Bonds.
Bond Premium
To the extent that the initial offering prices of certain of the Bonds are more than the
principal amount payable at maturity, such Bonds (“Premium Bonds”) will be considered to have
bond premium.
Any Premium Bond purchased in the initial offering at the issue price will have
“amortizable bond premium” within the meaning of Section 171 of the Code. The amortizable
bond premium of each Premium Bond is calculated on a daily basis from the issue date of such
Premium Bond until its stated maturity date (or call date, if any) on the basis of a constant instant
rate compounded at each accrual period (with straight line interpolation between the
compounding dates). An owner of a Premium Bond that has amortizable bond premium is not
allowed any deduction for the amortizable bond premium; rather the amortizable bond premium
attributable to a taxable year is applied against (and operates to reduce) the amount of taxexempt interest payments on the Premium Bonds. During each taxable year, such an owner must
reduce his or her tax basis in such Premium Bond by the amount of the amortizable bond
premium that is allocable to the portion of such taxable year during which the holder held such
Premium Bond. The adjusted tax basis in a Premium Bond will be used to determine taxable
gain or loss upon a disposition (including the sale, exchange, redemption, or payment at
maturity) of such Premium Bond.
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Owners of Premium Bonds who did not purchase such Premium Bonds in the initial
offering at the issue price should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the tax
consequences of owning such Premium Bonds. Owners of Premium Bonds should consult their
own tax advisors with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning the Premium
Bonds.
Other Federal Income Tax Considerations
Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should be aware that ownership of the Bonds may
result in collateral federal income tax consequences to certain taxpayers. Bond Counsel will not
express any opinion as to such collateral tax consequences. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds
should consult their tax advisors as to collateral federal income tax consequences of owning the
Bonds. Investors should consult their tax advisors to determine how the provisions described
under this heading and under the subheadings “Original Issue Discount” and “Bond Premium,”
and other provisions of the Code relating to the ownership of tax-exempt obligations apply to
them.
From time to time legislation is proposed, and there are or may be legislative proposals
pending in the Congress of the United States that, if enacted, could alter or amend the federal tax
matters referred to above or adversely affect the market value of the Bonds. It cannot be
predicted whether, or in what form, any proposal that could alter one or more of the federal tax
matters referred to above or adversely affect the market value of the Bonds may be enacted.
Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding any pending
or proposed federal tax legislation. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any pending
or proposed federal tax legislation.
RATINGS
Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and Fitch Inc. have given the Bonds the ratings of “A1”
(outlook negative) and “AA-” (outlook stable), respectively. The ratings reflect only the view of
such rating agencies and are not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold the Bonds. There is no
assurance that such ratings will continue for any given period of time or that such ratings will not
be revised downward or withdrawn entirely, if in the judgment of such rating agencies
circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of the ratings may have
an adverse effect on the market price or marketability of the Bonds.
A further explanation of the significance of the ratings may be obtained from each rating
agency.
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
No financial or operating data concerning the Authority is material to any decision to
purchase, hold or sell the Bonds, and the Authority will not provide any such information. The
Corporation and the Hospitals have undertaken all responsibilities for any continuing disclosure
to Bondholders as described below, and the Authority has no liability to the Holders of the
Bonds or any other person with respect to such disclosures.
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The Corporation, for itself and on behalf of the Obligated Group Members, will enter into
a Continuing Disclosure Agreement under substantially similar terms as the form attached hereto
as APPENDIX F for the benefit of the Bondholders in accordance with the requirements of
Section (b)(5) of Rule 15c2-12 (the “Rule”) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 to provide certain information annually and quarterly
and to provide notice of certain events to information repositories designated in the Continuing
Disclosure Agreement pursuant to the requirement of Section (b)(5) of the Rule. For purposes of
the Bonds, the Members of the Obligated Group have agreed to provide on an annual basis
audited financial statements and the financial and operating data in the Official Statement as
shown in APPENDIX F hereto. The Members of the Obligated Group have also agreed to
provide certain quarterly financial statements and operating data as described in APPENDIX F
hereto. The events which will be noticed on an occurrence basis and the other terms of the
Continuing Disclosure Agreement, including termination, amendment and remedies, are set forth
in the form of the Agreement set forth in APPENDIX F hereto.
Pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the Members of the Obligated Group
agree, not later than 150 days after the end of the Obligated Group’s fiscal year to provide to the
Electronic Municipal Markets Access (“EMMA”) system of the Municipal Securities
Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”) the following annual financial information:
(a)
The consolidated audited financial statements of the Corporation and all
other members of the Obligated Group substantially similar in form and scope to the
audited financial statements included in APPENDIX B hereto for the preceding fiscal
year; and
(b)
Updates as of the end of the fiscal year of the following historical financial
information and operating data contained in APPENDIX A of this Official Statement:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

“UTILIZATION”
“SOURCES OF REVENUE”
“HISTORICAL AND PROFORMA CAPITALIZATION”
“HISTORICAL AND PROFORMA DEBT SERVICE
COVERAGE”
“LIQUIDITY”

Pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the members of the Obligated Group
agree, not later than 45 days after the end of each of the each fiscal quarter, to provide to EMMA
the unaudited consolidated financial statements with respect to the Corporation and the other
members of the Obligated Group and the operating data of the Corporation (including all
members of the Obligated Group) set forth under the caption “Utilization” in the APPENDIX A
to this Official Statement; all substantially similar in form and scope to the quarterly financial
information and operating data provided in the Official Statement (the “Quarterly Report”): and
Pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the Obligated Group will also give
notice of the occurrence of any Listed Events with respect to the Bonds (“Listed Events”) as
defined in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement. The Obligated Group shall report on EMMA
such event within ten (10) Business Days of the date such Listed Event occurred.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of a Listed Event described in subsections (a)(4) and (5)
need not be given under this Section any earlier than the notice (if any) of the underlying event is
required to be given to the owners of affected Bonds pursuant to the Bond Indenture.
Except as set forth in this paragraph, over the last five years, the Corporation believes
that it has complied in all material respects with its obligations under its existing continuing
disclosure agreements and undertakings. The Corporation missed filing the following annual
operating data by the required dates for the Fiscal Years listed: “Sources of Revenue” (Fiscal
Years 2014-2018), “Competition” (Fiscal Years 2014-2018), “Capitalization” (Fiscal Years 2014
– 2016) and “Liquidity” Fiscal Years 2014-2016). The Corporation has established procedures
to ensure compliance with its continuing disclosure obligations in the future.
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation (including the Obligated Group)
as of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 included in APPENDIX B to this
Official Statement have been audited by CliftonLarsonAllen LLP for the year ended December
31, 2018 and Wipfli LLP for the year ended December 31, 2017, as stated in the report of
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP appearing in APPENDIX B hereto. The financial statements of the
Corporation are consolidated and include certain entities that are not members of the Obligated
Group. See APPENDIX A under the caption “HISTORY AND BACKGROUND” for a
description of the Obligated Group members.
UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the Corporation’s unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for
the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018 are included in
APPENDIX A hereto. The summary consolidated financial information and other financial data
contain information determined by methods other than in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). These disclosures should not be
viewed as substitutes for the results determined to be in accordance with GAAP, nor are they
necessarily comparable to non-GAAP performance measures that may be presented by other
companies. The unaudited interim financial information should be read in conjunction with the
audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in APPENDIX B to this
Official Statement. CliftonLarsonAllen LLP has not audited the interim consolidated financial
information. The unaudited interim financial information included in APPENDIX A is not
necessarily indicative of full year performance.
FINANCIAL ADVISOR
Ponder & Co. has served as financial advisor (the “Financial Advisor”) to the
Corporation for purposes of assisting with the development and implementation of the Bond
financing. Ponder & Co. is not obligated to undertake, and has not undertaken, an independent
verification of the accuracy, completeness, or fairness of the information contained in this
Official Statement and assumes no responsibility therefor. Ponder & Co. is an independent
advisory firm and is not engaged in the business of underwriting or distributing municipal
securities or other public securities.
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UNDERWRITING
BofA Securities, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (the “Underwriters”)
have agreed to purchase the Bonds at a purchase price of $152,399,229.20 (representing the
principal amount of the Bonds minus Underwriters’ discount in the amount of $551,896.80 plus
net original issue premium on the Bonds in the amount of $12,161,126.00) pursuant to a Bond
Purchase Agreement entered into by and between the Authority and the Underwriters and
approved by the Obligated Group (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to the Bond
Purchase Agreement, the Obligated Group has agreed to indemnify the Underwriters and the
Authority against certain liabilities. The Underwriters reserve the right to join with dealers and
other underwriters in offering the Bonds to the public. The obligation of the Underwriters to
accept delivery of the Bonds is subject to the various conditions of the Bond Purchase
Agreement.
BofA Securities, Inc., an underwriter of the Bonds, has entered into a distribution
agreement with its affiliate Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated
(“MLPF&S”). As part of this arrangement, BofA Securities, Inc. may distribute securities to
MLPF&S, which may in turn distribute such securities to investors through the financial advisor
network of MLPF&S. As part of this arrangement, BofA Securities, Inc. may compensate
MLPF&S as a dealer for their selling efforts with respect to the Bonds.
Wells Fargo Securities is the trade name for certain securities-related capital markets and
investment banking services of Wells Fargo & Company and its subsidiaries, including Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association, which conducts its municipal securities sales, trading and
underwriting operations through the Wells Fargo Bank, NA Municipal Products Group, a
separately identifiable department of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, registered with
the Securities and Exchange Commission as a municipal securities dealer pursuant to Section
15B(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, acting through its Municipal Products Group
(“WFBNA”), one of the underwriters of the Bonds, has entered into an agreement (the “WFA
Distribution Agreement”) with its affiliate, Wells Fargo Clearing Services, LLC (which uses the
trade name “Wells Fargo Advisors”) (“WFA”), for the distribution of certain municipal securities
offerings, including the Bonds. Pursuant to the WFA Distribution Agreement, WFBNA will
share a portion of its underwriting or remarketing agent compensation, as applicable, with
respect to the Bonds with WFA. WFBNA has also entered into an agreement (the “WFSLLC
Distribution Agreement”) with its affiliate Wells Fargo Securities, LLC (“WFSLLC”), for the
distribution of municipal securities offerings, including the Bonds. Pursuant to the WFSLLC
Distribution Agreement, WFBNA pays a portion of WFSLLC’s expenses based on its municipal
securities transactions. WFBNA, WFSLLC, and WFA are each wholly-owned subsidiaries of
Wells Fargo & Company.
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MISCELLANEOUS
The references herein to the Bonds, the Master Indenture, the Bond Indenture, the Series
2019 Master Note, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, and the Loan Agreement are brief
outlines of certain provisions thereof and do not purport to be complete. For full and complete
statements of such provisions reference is made to such documents. Copies of the documents
mentioned under this heading are on file at the offices of the Authority and following delivery of
the Bonds will be on file at the offices of the Bond Trustee.
It is anticipated that CUSIP identification numbers will be printed on the Bonds, but
neither the failure to print such numbers on any Bond nor any error in the printing of such
numbers shall constitute cause for a failure or refusal by the purchaser thereof to accept delivery
of and pay for any Bonds.
The attached APPENDICES A, B, C, D, E and F are integral parts of this Official
Statement and must be read together with all of the foregoing statements.
The Corporation has reviewed the information contained herein, including the
Appendices hereto, which relates to it, the other members of the Obligated Group, and their
respective property, and has approved all such information for use within the Official Statement.
The execution and delivery of this Official Statement has been duly authorized by the
Authority and the Corporation.
WISCONSIN HEALTH AND EDUCATIONAL
FACILITIES AUTHORITY
By: /s/ Dennis P. Reilly
Executive Director

This Official Statement is approved:
THEDACARE, INC.

By: /s/ Mark Thompson
Chief Financial Officer /
Chief Operating Officer
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(i)

THEDACARE, INC.
HISTORY AND BACKGROUND
The ThedaCare healthcare organization began in 1909 when Theda Clark Medical
Center opened. The hospital is named after Theda Clark Peters who dreamed of a better life for
the people of her community. Her estate included an endowment to develop a community hospital.
Over the years ThedaCare has evolved into a not-for-profit health system consisting
of seven hospitals, over 29 clinic locations including primary care and onsite clinics, offering over
60 specialties, and numerous other related services and has a long history of using Lean practices.
In 1987, Theda Clark Medical Center and Appleton Medical Center joined to form
Novus Health Group. In 1994 Novus partnered with United Health of Wisconsin Insurance
Company, which was owned by independent physicians practicing at both hospitals. Novus
became United Health Group. In August 1999, United Health Group changed its name to
ThedaCare and United Health of Wisconsin Insurance Company changed its name to Touchpoint
Health Plan, which was sold in 2004.
ThedaCare, Inc., is the parent corporation of a seven hospital system comprised of
ThedaCare Regional Medical Center-Appleton, Inc. in Appleton, Wisconsin (“TCA”), ThedaCare
Regional Medical Center-Neenah, Inc. in Neenah, Wisconsin (“TCN”), ThedaCare Medical
Center–New London, Inc. (formerly known as New London Family Medical Center, Inc.) in New
London, Wisconsin (“TCNL”), ThedaCare Medical Center-Waupaca, Inc. (formerly known as
Riverside Medical Center, Inc.) in Waupaca, Wisconsin (“TCW”), ThedaCare Medical Center–
Shawano, Inc. (formerly known as Shawano Medical Center, Inc.) in Shawano, Wisconsin
(“TCS”), ThedaCare Medical Center – Berlin, Inc. (formerly known as Community Health
Network, Inc.) in Berlin, Wisconsin (“TCB”), and ThedaCare Medical Center-Wild Rose, Inc.
(formerly known as Wild Rose Community Memorial Hospital, Inc.) in Wild Rose, Wisconsin
(“TCWR”). (TCA, TCN, TCNL, TCW, TCS, TCB, and TCWR are sometimes hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Hospitals”).
The Corporation and each of the Hospitals are members of the Obligated Group.
Another active subsidiary of the Corporation, but not a member of the Obligated Group is
ThedaCare Family of Foundations, Inc. (the “Foundation”). The Foundation was formed in 2013
pursuant to a Master Foundation Agreement which consolidated the operations of the seven
ThedaCare affiliated foundations, to wit, the Appleton Medical Center Foundation, Inc.,
Community Hospice Foundation, Inc., George F. Peabody Foundation, Inc., Riverside Health
Foundation, Inc., Shawano Medical Center Foundation, Inc., Theda Clark Medical Center
Foundation, Inc. and the Wolf River Area Healthcare Foundation, Inc. In connection with the
Corporation’s affiliation with TCB in 2014, the assets of TCB’s related foundation, Partners Health
System Foundation, Inc., were added to the Foundation. The Foundation has approximately
$62 million net assets and its primary function is to raise support for ThedaCare’s affiliates.
ThedaCare is invested in three joint ventures: 50% ownership in Gold Cross
Ambulance Service, Inc., a not-for-profit corporation formed by area hospitals to provide
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ambulance services to the community, 50% ownership in Premium Healthcare, Inc., a corporation
formed to assist in the administration of contracts on behalf of health care providers and to develop
and implement systems of utilization management and quality control for services of health care
providers, and 50% ownership in Mosaic Family Health, Inc., a not-for-profit corporation
providing graduate medical education in the Primary Service Area through a relationship with The
Medical College of Wisconsin.
Additionally, the Corporation operates physician clinics, an outpatient mental
health service, an occupational medicine clinic, counseling services, a retirement living center, two
skilled nursing facilities, and a home health service (TCA, TCN, TCNL TCW, TCS, TCB, TCWR,
and the Foundation are sometimes hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Subsidiaries” and,
with the Corporation, “ThedaCare”). ONLY THE CORPORATION, TCA, TCN, TCNL
TCW, TCS, TCB, and TCWR ARE MEMBERS OF THE OBLIGATED GROUP AND
ONLY THEY ARE OBLIGATED TO MAKE DEBT SERVICE PAYMENTS WITH
RESPECT TO THE LOAN AGREEMENT AND SERIES 2019 MASTER NOTE. The
Obligated Group members represent 100% of the net patient service revenues of the Corporation
and 93% of total Corporation assets (see “FINANCIAL INFORMATION”, below).
Below are brief descriptions of the Hospitals and the Corporation.
TCA is an acute care hospital, which was founded in 1958. It began as a 103 bed
hospital and is now a regional medical center approved for 158 beds with 147 staffed acute care
beds. In 1987, TCA and TCN affiliated under the Corporation. TCA offers a comprehensive
cardiac program with diagnostic, surgical and rehabilitative capabilities; an accredited chest pain
and resuscitation center; an orthopedic and sports medicine program; and ambulatory and
emergency care services, including medical helicopter transport. TCA is a Wisconsin nonstock
nonprofit corporation and is an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code and exempt
from federal income taxation.
TCN is a full service acute care hospital and Level II Trauma Center that was
founded by a family bequest in 1909. It began as a 25 bed hospital and is now a regional medical
center approved for 168 beds with 151 staffed acute care beds. Major specialty services include a
perinatal unit providing high risk obstetrical care (see the subsequent discussion regarding the
arrangement between the Corporation and Children’s Hospital of Wisconsin, Inc. under the caption
“AFFILIATIONS - CHILDREN’S HOSPITAL OF WISCONSIN (CHOW)”); emergency
services, including medical helicopter transport; orthopedic and sports medicine services; a
physical rehabilitation program; and outpatient and inpatient chemical dependency treatment
services. TCN is a Wisconsin nonstock nonprofit corporation and is an organization described in
Section 501(c)(3) of the Code and exempt from federal income taxation.
TCNL affiliated with ThedaCare on May 1, 2000. TCNL is an acute care critical
access hospital founded in 1929. It provides both basic inpatient and outpatient services, except
obstetrics, along with emergency services. TCNL is approved for 25 beds and currently maintains
25 critical access beds. TCNL is a Wisconsin nonstock nonprofit corporation and is an
organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code and exempt from federal income taxation.
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TCW affiliated with ThedaCare on June 28, 2006. TCW is an acute care critical
access hospital founded in 1955. It provides medical, surgical, emergency, and outpatient services.
TCW is approved for 25 beds and currently maintains 25 staffed beds. TCW is a Wisconsin
nonstock nonprofit corporation and is an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code
and exempt from federal income taxation.
TCS affiliated with ThedaCare on January 30, 2011. TCS is an acute care critical
access hospital founded in 1931. It provides 24-hour emergency care, a birth center, specialty
physicians and many other services. TCS is approved for 25 beds and currently maintains 22
staffed beds. TCS is a Wisconsin nonstock nonprofit corporation and is an organization described
in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code and exempt from federal income taxation.
TCB affiliated with ThedaCare on June 30, 2014. TCB includes an acute care
critical access hospital founded in 1911 and also serves the Berlin community with a nursing home,
nearly two dozen outlying community clinics, a retail pharmacy, and a rehabilitation program
serving nine surrounding communities. TCB is approved for 25 beds and currently maintains 25
critical access beds. TCB is a Wisconsin nonstock nonprofit corporation and is an organization
described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code and exempt from federal income taxation.
TCWR affiliated with ThedaCare on June 30, 2014. TCWR is an acute care critical
access hospital founded in 1941. It provides emergency, diagnostic, rehabilitation and outpatient
surgical services. TCWR is approved for 25 beds and currently maintains 25 acute care beds.
TCWR is a Wisconsin nonstock nonprofit corporation and is an organization described in Section
501(c)(3) of the Code and exempt from federal income taxation.
Within the Corporation there are five distinct operating divisions:
1.
ThedaCare Physicians manages and operates 34 primary care clinics and
employs 202 physicians (full-time equivalents) who practice at these clinic locations as
well as co-located sites within the Corporation’s primary and secondary service areas.
These clinic locations are typically primary care sites with basic laboratory and x-ray
services complemented with specialty service offerings. These clinics are located
throughout the Primary Service Area as later defined.
2.
ThedaCare Senior Services consists of: The Heritage Retirement Center, a
138 unit retirement housing complex offering assisted living services; Heritage Woods, an
18 unit community based residential facility; Peabody Manor, a 58 bed skilled nursing
facility; Juliette Manor, a 37 bed skilled nursing facility; and Cherry Meadows, a 10 bed
inpatient hospice.
3.
ThedaCare at Home is a home health, hospice and durable medical
equipment division.
4.
ThedaCare at Work provides customized employee assistance, occupational
health, health risk assessment, and onsite services to promote a healthier work force and
workplace for employers.
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5.
ThedaCare Behavioral Health Services (“TCBHS”) is an outpatient mental
health and substance abuse program with five clinics located in the Primary Service Area
and a 19 bed inpatient mental health program at TCN.
The Corporation, as the sole corporate member of each of the Hospitals, oversees
their affairs through the exercise of extensive reserved powers. TCA and TCN have the same
members on their respective Boards of Trustees as the Corporation. The Corporation’s Board of
Trustees approves the members of the Board of Directors of TCNL TCW, TCS, TCB and TCWR.
The Corporation also maintains reserve powers with respect to the following actions at TCNL
TCW, TCS, TCB and TCWR: approval of budget; indebtedness; and material capital expenditures.
UPON DELIVERY OF THE BONDS, THE CORPORATION AND THE
HOSPITALS WILL BE THE ONLY MEMBERS OF THE OBLIGATED GROUP. THE LOAN
AGREEMENT, THE SERIES 2019 MASTER NOTE AND OTHER MASTER NOTES ISSUED
UNDER THE MASTER INDENTURE ARE NOT OBLIGATIONS OF THE THEDACARE
FAMILY OF FOUNDATIONS OR ANY OTHER ENTITY.
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The following table illustrates the corporate organization of the Obligated Group.
ThedaCare Corporate Organization

ThedaCare, Inc.
Senior Services Division

ThedaCare at Home

ThedaCare Behavioral

ThedaCare At Work
Health Services

Heritage
Peabody Manor

ThedaCare Regional Medical
Center-Appleton, Inc.

Physician Services
(clinics)

ThedaCare Family of
Foundations, Inc.

Joint Ventures
FOR PROFIT:
Premium Healthcare–50%
NOT FOR PROFIT:
Gold Cross – 50%
Mosaic – 50%

ThedaCare Regional Medical
Center-Neenah, Inc.

ThedaCare Medical CenterShawano, Inc.

ThedaCare Medical Center –
New London, Inc.

ThedaCare Medical CenterWaupaca, Inc.

ThedaCare Medical Center –
Berlin, Inc.

ThedaCare Medical Center –
Wild Rose, Inc.

Shaded = Obligated Group Member
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BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE CORPORATION
A thirteen member Board of Trustees governs the Corporation. Each trustee (other
than the President of the Corporation) holds office for a term of three years and may serve any
number of terms so long as no more than three full terms are served consecutively. The trustees
do not receive compensation for their service, except for Imran Andrabi, MD, by virtue of his
position as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation. The trustees’ terms have
been staggered to allow approximately one-third (1/3) to expire each year, with the exception of
Imran Andrabi, MD, who has a one-year renewable term. The Board of Trustees meets regularly
four times each year and has a Finance & Strategy Committee, a System Safety & Quality
Committee, a Human Resource and Governance Committee and an Audit & Corporate
Responsibility Committee, each of which meets four times each year and an Executive Committee
of the Board which meets periodically throughout the year.
Name

Business

Current Term
Expires

Imran Andrabi, MD

President and CEO, ThedaCare, Inc.

Tim Bergstrom

Bergstrom Automotive

12/31/20

Karen Timberlake

Michael Best Strategies

12/31/20

Gary Edelman, MD

ThedaCare Physicians

12/31/20

John Davis

Great Northern Corporation

12/31/21

Jim Meyer

Denmark State Bank

12/31/22

Pat Brennan, MD

Surgical Associates of Neenah

12/31/22

Mark Burstein

Lawrence University

12/31/20

David Koeper, MD

Fox Valley Nephrology Partners

12/31/21

Jim Kotek (Vice-Chair &
Secretary)

Menasha Corporation

12/31/20

Terry Timm (Chair)

Thrivent

12/31/20

Norma Turk, MD

ThedaCare Regional Medical CenterAppleton

12/31/19

Maria Van Laanen

Fox Cities Performing Arts Center

12/31/19
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Annual renewal

ADMINISTRATION
The management of the Corporation is delegated by the Board of Trustees to the
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation. The President and Chief Executive
Officer is assisted by 11 executive leaders, as well as the Chief Medical Officer and Senior Vice
President of TCA/TCN. The Administrative Officers include:
Imran Andrabi
President & CEO
Imran Andrabi, MD, is president and chief executive officer of ThedaCare.
Dr. Andrabi is a family medicine physician who graduated from King Edward
Medical College in Lahore, Pakistan. He completed his transitional year residency and then his
family medicine training at Mercy Hospital in Toledo, Ohio, where he served as chief resident. He
is board certified by the American Board of Family Medicine and American College of Managed
Care Medicine and is a fellow of the American Academy of Family Physicians.
Before joining ThedaCare in June 2017, Dr. Andrabi was chief operating officer
and then president and CEO of Mercy Health in Toledo, Ohio. Dr. Andrabi spent nearly sixteen
(16) years in various roles at Mercy Health. Dr. Andrabi currently sits on the Board of the United
Way Fox Cities and the Wisconsin Collaborative for Healthcare Quality.
Jim Albin
Chief Information Officer
Mr. Albin oversees Information Services for ThedaCare. He joined ThedaCare in
2018. Mr. Albin came to ThedaCare from Santa Rose Consulting/InfoPartners where he served as
vice president/chief information officer with the Regional Medical Center in South Carolina. For
more than 30 years, Mr. Albin has worked in the healthcare industry and has developed IT
solutions that drive clinical and administrative process improvements for a number of healthcare
systems around the country.
Mr. Albin earned his bachelor’s degree in business administration from Wayne
State University and a master’s degree in business administration specializing in healthcare
management from the University of Texas.
Jacqueline (Jackie) Anhalt
Chief Nursing Officer
Ms. Anhalt oversees and coordinates nursing operations throughout ThedaCare.
She is responsible for leading efforts with the large, nursing team.
She holds a Master of Science in Nursing from St. Ambrose University and a
Master of Science in Health Education from Western Illinois University. She is a member of
American Nurses Association and American Association of Nurse Executives and holds an ANCC
Nurse Executive Advanced Board Certification.
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Thomas Arquilla
Chief Strategy and Business Development Officer
Mr. Arquilla is the chief strategy and business development officer for ThedaCare.
He provides oversight and leadership related to strategy, business development and provider
partnerships. He joined ThedaCare in June of 2017.
For six years he worked for Mercy Health, a non-profit Catholic healthcare ministry
serving Ohio and Kentucky. Most recently he served as chief strategy officer in Toledo, and led
the development of several key growth initiatives, including the opening of the first freestanding
emergency room in Perrysburg, OH. Additionally, under Mr. Arquilla’s leadership Mercy Health
and the Toledo Clinic formed a partnership for oncology services, leading to the opening of the
Mercy Health – Perrysburg Cancer Center in fall 2016, which offers comprehensive cancer care
and treatment in a single location.
Mr. Arquilla is a University of Dayton alumnus, having received his Bachelor of
Science in criminal justice along with both an MBA and juris doctorate from the University.
Mark Cockley, MD
Chief Clinical Officer and President of the Clinically Integrated Network
Dr. Cockley is responsible for designing and executing ThedaCare’s population
health and physician integration strategy. He joined ThedaCare in 2019. In addition, he has direct
responsibility for the ThedaCare Accountable Care Organization, Clinically Integrated Network
(“CIN”), ThedaCare physician group, graduate and undergraduate medical education, medical
staff services, and all physician leadership within ThedaCare in the pre-acute, acute and post-acute
settings.
He established and managed an internal medicine and pediatrics practice with three
other physicians and more than 14,000 patients. Since 2010, he has held several medical and
leadership roles at Mercy Health in Toledo, Ohio, including Medical Director of their Clinically
Integrated Network with over 700 providers. Dr. Cockley was instrumental in the design and
implementation of the Medicare Annual Wellness program along with Transition of Care delivery
optimization. He most recently served as the Chief Medical Officer and Chief Network Integration
Officer, while treating patients as a private practice physician with Mercy Primary Care
Associates.
After receiving his Bachelor of Science in Biology from The Ohio State University,
he earned a Doctor of Medicine from University of Cincinnati College of Medicine. He is board
certified in Internal Medicine and Pediatrics. Prior to obtaining his undergraduate degree, he spent
four years in the Navy as an electrician in the Navy Nuclear Power program.
Jennifer Frank
Chief Medical Officer for the Clinically Integrated Network
Dr. Frank is a family physician who has been with ThedaCare for almost nine years.
She has held the roles of Senior Medical Director and Associate Medical Director of ThedaCare
Physicians. She continues to practice family medicine at the Neenah clinic. She is one of the
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leaders for team-based care and primary care redesign and helped to create and launch the EPIC
Continuing Medical Education Course for Providers.
Prior to joining ThedaCare, Dr. Frank was an associate professor at the University
of Wisconsin School of Medicine, a faculty member of the UW Family Medicine Residency
program (now Mosaic Family Medicine Residency Program) and medical director of the residency
clinic. In 2008, she completed a fellowship in faculty development through the University of
Wisconsin.
Dr. Frank received her undergraduate and medical degrees from Boston University
and completed her family medicine residency at Fort Belvoir-Dewitt Army Community Hospital
in Northern Virginia. She was an Army physician for seven years and was stationed at Fort Belvoir,
VA and Fort Benning, GA.
Dale Gisi
Senior Vice President, ThedaCare Regional Medical Centers-Appleton and Neenah
Mr. Gisi is responsible for providing leadership for the ThedaCare system at TCA
and TCN. He joined ThedaCare in January of 2019. He works with ThedaCare and affiliated
physicians, CIN and ACO leaders, and other hospital vice presidents, and is the key steward of
TCA and TCN operations, financial and physical assets. He serves as a strategic partner in setting
the vision and direction for both hospitals and the region. He also has system responsibility to
ancillary and support services that support all hospitals, including imaging, pharmacy, lab,
cardiology and peri-operative services.
Mr. Gisi has over 20 years of leadership experience in complex and matrixed
healthcare systems.
Dale served most of his career at Regional Health in South Dakota as Vice President
of Human Resources, where he provided direction in all aspects of human resource management
including employee relations, compliance, benefits, compensation, education, organizational
development, and safety and security for approximately 4,800 employees. Most recently, he was
President of Mercy Health at St. Rita’s Medical Center and St. Rita’s Health Partners, a 425-bed
level II trauma center in Lima, Ohio that serves 10 counties.
With a Master of Science in Administrative Studies from University of South
Dakota and Bachelor of Science in Health Services Administration from Presentation College, Mr.
Gisi completed his Administration Internship at Bethesda Home of Aberdeen.
Maggie Lund
Chief Human Resources Officer
Maggie Lund is Chief Human Resources Officer for ThedaCare. She joined
ThedaCare in 2018 from Mercy Health in Cincinnati, where she was system vice president of
human resources. Ms. Lund spent 18 years with Mercy Health, where she held several human
resources positions of increasing responsibility. Prior to that, she was vice president of human
resources and organizational development at Wilkes University.
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Ms. Lund completed Ph.D. coursework in labor relations and human resources at
Rutgers University. She earned master’s degrees in rehabilitation counseling and human resources
administration from the University of Scranton in Pennsylvania and a bachelor’s degree in human
services from the University of Scranton.
Megan Manahan
Chief Brand Officer
Megan Manahan is the Chief Brand Officer for ThedaCare. She joined ThedaCare
in early 2019.
The Chief Brand Officer is a newly created role within in the organization to
support growth strategy. Ms. Manahan oversees a broad range of strategies including marketing,
brand positioning and identity, consumer insights, public relations and reputation management,
community outreach, advertising, digital and social, and employee communications and
engagement.
She brings an extensive background in healthcare marketing and communications.
She spent the last 28 years at Mercy Health, the largest healthcare provider in Ohio, in a number
of leadership roles. Most recently she served as the Vice President of Marketing Strategy and
served as System Director of Brand, Marketing and Communications and Regional Vice President
of Marketing and Communications.
Ms. Manahan holds a Master of Business Administration in Organizational
Leadership from the University of Findlay and a Bachelor of Arts in Public Relations and
Advertising from The Ohio State University.
Hal McLean
Senior Transformation Executive
Mr. McLean drives organizational transformation at ThedaCare. Mr. McLean
joined ThedaCare in 2018 and is the founder of The McLean Group, a consulting firm, where for
almost 30 years he has honed their method of organizational improvement to discover and execute
areas of dramatic change in capacity, profitability and value. Prior, Mr. McLean held various
leadership positions with Wilson Learning and Owens Corning.
He has a bachelor’s of psychology from Wittenberg University in Springfield,
Ohio.
Frank Mellon
Senior Innovation Executive
Mr. Mellon drives organizational transformation at ThedaCare. He joined
ThedaCare in 2018 and is the founder of Mellon Solutions where his approach to leading change
produced significant sustained gains in growth and profitability for a number of firms in
manufacturing and healthcare. Before that, he held leadership roles with Dow Corning
Corporation, Prince Manufacturing and Herman Miller.
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Mr. Mellon has a bachelor’s of science in chemical engineering from the University
of Kentucky.
James T. Prosser
Chief Legal Officer
Mr. Prosser is the chief legal officer for ThedaCare. He provides oversight and
leadership of the Legal Department, Risk Management and Compliance.
For nine years prior to joining ThedaCare, Mr. Prosser was of counsel at Godfrey
& Kahn, S.C., a Milwaukee based law firm. His practice consisted of representing corporations on
all legal matters, including corporate governance, mergers and acquisitions, strategy and
employment law. He worked on behalf of ThedaCare during that time.
Prior to working at Godfrey, Mr. Prosser served as general counsel and chief
administrative officer for Jewelers Mutual Insurance Co. in Neenah, Wisconsin.
Mr. Prosser graduated with a J.D. from the University of Wisconsin – Madison Law
School. He received a B.A. in History from the University of Wisconsin - Whitewater.
Brian Sterns
Chief Of Staff
As chief of staff, Mr. Sterns works with the executive leadership team to support
implementation of key initiatives, works closely with hospital leaders and operational vice
presidents to support initiatives and operations, and serves as a resource to identify opportunities
for innovation and assess new opportunities that align with the organization’s strategic directions
and goals.
Before joining ThedaCare, Mr. Sterns was director of network operations and
program management for Mercy Health North Region in Ohio. He also served as Mercy Health’s
Toledo’s IT relationship executive, IT controller and manager of the project office. Before joining
Mercy Health, Mr. Sterns was a senior auditor with Ernst and Young.
He holds a bachelor’s of business administration from the University of Toledo and
master’s in business administration from the University of Michigan-Dearborn. He is a certified
public accountant and a certified information systems auditor.
Mark Thompson
Chief Financial Officer/Chief Operating Officer
Mr. Thompson directly oversees the leaders of hospitals, facilities, ancillary
services, revenue cycle and finance/hospital operations.
He joined ThedaCare in October of 2017 from Mercy Hospital System, Cincinnati,
Ohio, where he served as regional chief financial officer. Thompson has 40 years of management
experience in healthcare.
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Mr. Thompson has a bachelor’s degree in accounting from the University of
Washington and master’s degree in business from Seattle University.
RELATIONSHIP OF PARTIES
The Corporation and the Hospitals have entered into transactions from time to time
with business organizations with which one or more of the Corporation’s or the Hospitals’ officers
or directors are affiliated. Pursuant to the policies of the Board of Trustees of the Corporation and
the Hospitals, such transactions or affiliations are permitted only after full disclosure of the
potential conflict of interest and approval by a majority of disinterested members of the Board.
Interested Board members are required to refrain from voting. All such transactions to date have
been in the ordinary course of business.
FACILITIES
The Corporation maintains its corporate offices in Appleton, Wisconsin in leased
office space.
Since its inception in 1958, TCA has undergone various expansion and remodeling
programs. Specifically, significant upgrades, expansions, and service additions were completed
in 1968, 1979, 1981, 1983, 1986, 1993, and 1994. In addition, from 1988 to 1990 major interior
renovations and remodeling projects were performed which modernized virtually all of the original
hospital and subsequent expansions. TCA completed construction of a new 26,000 square foot
outpatient surgery center (1999); an addition was built to house a second Linear Accelerator
(2000); extensive renovations were performed in the Inpatient Surgery area (2000); an entire
patient unit was renovated to serve as an inpatient Cancer Center (2001); a three-story building
was added to the campus to serve as the Appleton Heart Institute, along with a new three-story
parking ramp (2002); the emergency department was expanded and completely renovated (2002);
a new Cardiac Catheterization recovery unit was created in renovated space within the hospital
(2004); the Intensive Care Unit was completely renovated into a state-of-the art ICU (2005); and
an eight-story patient tower was constructed and extensive renovations of existing inpatient bed
facility were performed (2009). In 2016, cancer services moved from the TCA campus to the
Encircle Health campus (described below) as part of the development of ThedaCare Regional
Cancer Center of Excellence. Currently, the main hospital structure is approximately 706,000 gross
square feet, 487,000 square feet is hospital and 219,000 for medical office space.
Like TCA, TCN has made significant changes to its original structure. The bulk of
the hospital building consists of additions, upgrades, expansions, and service additions that were
completed in 1948, 1963, 1970, 1985-1988, 1989, 1990 and 1992. In addition, TCN completed a
major addition of approximately 113,000 square feet to replace the operating rooms, provide a new
and expanded ambulatory care center, a 20-bed critical care unit and a new central sterile
processing unit (1996); constructed a new 54,000 square foot building to house a new emergency
department and a pediatric inpatient hospital operated by CHOW (2000); constructed a new
cardiac rehabilitation department and expanded and renovated the cardiac lab (2002); constructed
a new C-section suite adjacent to the Theda Birth Center (2003); renovated the Nuclear Medicine
area (2005); expanded an Ambulatory Care Center (2006); and completed a multi-phased
extensive renovation of all hospital inpatient units (2009). The main hospital structure is
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approximately 548,000 gross square feet. TCN provides certain services in off-site leased space.
It maintains outpatient rehabilitation programs in Neenah, Wisconsin. TCN also operates its
ambulatory care center in Oshkosh, Wisconsin.
TCNL, founded in 1929, affiliated with ThedaCare in May 2000. TCNL’s hospital
building has 114,000 square feet of space and 25 licensed and staffed beds. It has surgical, and
emergency programs. A 20,000 square foot addition was constructed in 2009 to relocate and
expand surgery and expand the physician clinic. In 2003, a Medical Office Building (“MOB”)
was completed adjacent to the existing hospital. The MOB has 44,000 square feet with two floors.
In 2003, TCNL was reclassified to a rural status and at that time changed its designation to an
acute care, Critical Access Hospital.
TCW, founded in 1955, affiliated with ThedaCare in June 2006. TCW’s hospital
building has 140,000 square feet of space and 25 licensed and staffed beds. TCW is an acute care,
Critical Access Hospital, providing a fully staffed, 24-hour emergency department and inpatient
care — along with ambulatory care services, cardiac care and cardiac rehab services, diagnostic
imaging services, obstetrics services, occupational health services, orthopedic services, surgical
services, urgent care and laboratory. In 2009, a $23 million, 55,000-square-foot facility was
integrated with TCW by providing a common entrance and central registration area for ThedaCare
Physicians – Waupaca and for inpatient and outpatient services of the hospital. The new facility is
designed to improve patient access to primary care, specialty physicians, and enhanced diagnostic
technologies.
TCS, founded in 1931, affiliated with ThedaCare in January 2011. ThedaCare
constructed a new $50,000,000, 173,000 square foot hospital building for TCS which opened in
2015, replacing the 82 year old Shawano Medical Center. In addition to the new hospital,
ThedaCare Physicians occupies approximately 30,000 square feet of office and clinic space. The
new hospital has 25 licensed and 22 staffed beds. TCS is an acute care, Critical Access Hospital,
providing a fully staffed, 24-hour emergency department and inpatient care – along with FastCare,
a birth center, and 34 specialties (such as behavioral health, cancer, cardiology, neurology,
orthopedics, pain, pediatrics, urology, and vascular).
TCB, founded in 1911, affiliated with ThedaCare in June 2014. TCB’s hospital
building has 161,300 square feet of space and 25 licensed and staffed beds. TCB also includes a
nursing home, outlying community clinics, a retail pharmacy and a rehabilitation program. 40
specialties (such as cancer, cardiology, gynecology, neurology, obstetrics, orthopedics, pain,
pediatrics, urology, and vascular) are available at TCB Bond proceeds are planned to be used for
renovations at TCB for a new emergency room (see “THE PROJECT” below).
TCWR, founded in 1941, affiliated with ThedaCare in June 2014. TCWR’s
hospital building has 36,938 square feet of space and 25 licensed and staffed beds. Some of its
services include cardiopulmonary, rehabilitation, diagnostic imaging and emergency department
services.
The Heritage and Peabody Manor are located on a 9.4-acre site in Appleton. The
Heritage, purchased by the Corporation in December 1988, was originally constructed in 1985 and
consists of a 190,700 square foot, three-story frame and brick veneer building with five apartment
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wings containing a total of 136 rental units and one kitchen/dining room wing surrounding a central
common area. Common areas include an arts and crafts room, activity center, chapel, library,
dining room, private dining room, outside dining patio, coffee shop, and convenience store. A
garage (87 spaces) and surface lot parking (39 spaces) are available to residents. In November
1994, Heritage Woods, a 6,000 square foot, 10 person assisted living center, opened. In January
1997, the capacity of Heritage Woods was expanded to 18 units and 11,500 square feet. Currently
assisted living services are available throughout the Heritage and Heritage Woods at the election
of the residents. The residents pay a monthly fee that is based on the apartment type and level of
service. Peabody Manor is a 58-bed skilled nursing facility, which moved to a new building in
October 2000. Peabody Manor also houses a 10-bed hospice unit.
ThedaCare Physician Services operates 34 practices (adult and pediatric primary
care, internal medicine, and walk-in care) in 29 different locations throughout the service area.
Some of these sites are owned by the Corporation while others are leased.
TCBHS, the Corporation’s outpatient mental health and substance abuse program,
has four different outpatient mental health sites located throughout the primary service area (New
London, Menasha, Oshkosh, and Waupaca). The Corporation owns the main facility located in
Appleton and the other sites are leased. The main facility offers psychiatry, psychology,
psychotherapy, neuropsychology, substance abuse recovery services, and mental health day
treatment.
ThedaCare at Work (“TCAW”), the Corporation’s employee assistance and
occupational health services operates out of two leased locations in Appleton. It also has many
onsite clinic locations inside employers, throughout the service area, offering sick and injured
employees fast, convenient, lower-cost healthcare. TCAW also offers health assessments and
onsite wellness coaches for employers throughout the service area. The health assessments provide
a confidential and comprehensive picture of a company’s overall health and based on those results
puts together a program to improve employee health and reduce healthcare expenses.
ThedaCare at Home provides home health services, durable medical equipment,
nursing and related home health services, including infusion therapy and respiratory care services.
ThedaCare also provides clinical services through Encircle Health. Encircle Health
is a collaboration with ThedaCare-employed physicians and independent providers for clinical
space offering both primary and specialty care. Adjacent to Encircle Health is the ThedaCare
Regional Cancer Center, an 86,562 square foot facility constructed in 2015, which provides
outpatient oncology services for patients within our Primary Service Area. ThedaCare also offers
ambulatory services at both Encircle Health and in Oshkosh, Wisconsin. The Orthopedic/Spine
Center of Excellence described under “THE PROJECT” below, will be located adjacent to
Encircle Health.
AFFILIATIONS
CHILDREN’S HOSPITAL OF WISCONSIN
In 2000, the Corporation signed an affiliation agreement with Children’s Hospital
of Wisconsin, Inc. (“CHOW”). CHOW established a pediatric inpatient hospital, as well as
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pediatric and neonatal intensive care units with 42 staffed beds on the TCN campus. The pediatric
hospital, which is leased by the Corporation to CHOW, is located in a 58,700 square foot, fourstory addition to the main hospital building constructed in 2001. This lease was renewed for a six
(6) year period in 2017. The termination date is December 31, 2023.
GOLD CROSS AMBULANCE SERVICE
TCA, TCN, and Affinity Health System (now Ascension) formed a nonprofit
corporation to operate a jointly owned regional emergency ambulance service serving residents in
a significant portion of Outagamie and Winnebago Counties and a small portion of Calumet
County. Each member appoints two persons to the corporation’s Board of Directors. The service
works with the Regional Emergency Medical Services Committee and the Oshkosh Paramedic
Plan, which are responsible for the operation of the Fox Cities and Waupaca area EMT paramedic
control plan. It is recognized as a provider of the 911 ambulance service in Outagamie, Calumet
and Winnebago counties.
CATALPA HEALTH
The Corporation formed a joint venture in 2012 with Affinity Health System (now
Ascension) and CHOW to provide comprehensive outpatient pediatric mental health care.
Operating from 5 locations as Catalpa Health, Inc., psychiatrists, advance nurse practitioners,
psychologists, prevention specialists, and therapists, provide services including diagnostic
evaluations for autism, ADHD, learning disabilities, gifted testing, medication management,
therapy, and neuropsychological testing.
MOSAIC FAMILY HEALTH
The Corporation formed a Wisconsin non-stock, not-for-profit corporation in a
joint venture with Ministry (now Ascension) to enter into a relationship with the Medical College
of Wisconsin for graduate medical education through a family residency program located in
Appleton, Wisconsin.
MAYO CLINIC NETWORK
In September, 2013, the Corporation became the first Wisconsin healthcare system
to become a member of the Mayo Clinic Care Network and remains the only member in Wisconsin
at this time. This is a non-ownership relationship that provides System physicians and patients
with enhanced access to Mayo Clinic physicians and clinical resources. More specifically,
physicians have access to Mayo Clinic’s evidence-based disease management protocols, clinic
care guidelines, treatment recommendations and reference materials for complex medical
conditions.
ABOUTHEALTH
The Corporation is a member of AboutHealth, LLC along with 5 other health care
organizations. The network consists of the Corporation, AdvocateAurora Health, Aspirus, Bellin
Health Partners, Gundersen Health System, and ProHealth Care. AboutHealth was created in 2014
to advance clinical quality, efficiency and consumer satisfaction of services provided by the
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partnering organizations. The network is designed to enable the partnership to be featured in
insurance plans serving the needs of individual purchasers as well as national employers who have
a statewide presence improving access to high quality care and greater collaboration among health
systems. The members participate in shared savings and other programs sponsored by healthcare
payors.
ACO/CLINICALLY INTEGRATED NETWORK
Accountable Care Organizations are comprised of groups of doctors, hospitals and
other health care providers that come together to provide coordinated, high-quality care at lower
costs to patients. ACOs are patient-centered organizations where the patient and providers are
partners in care decisions. In 2016, ThedaCare began its own ACO, called ThedaCare
Accountable Care Organization (“ThedaCare ACO”). ThedaCare ACO is a single signature
contracting vehicle and a clinically integrated network. 62% of ThedaCare’s revenue is in a variety
of value based payment models through ThedaCare ACO. ThedaCare ACO has access to
approximately 600,000 lives in Northeast Wisconsin. 1,133 providers of all types are part of
ThedaCare ACO, which includes all of ThedaCare’s employed providers and 59 local independent
provider groups. ThedaCare ACO supports a single electronic medical record platform hosted by
ThedaCare and managed jointly with Bellin Health. Through ThedaCare ACO, ThedaCare
supports a vision of becoming a Population Health organization by providing high quality low cost
care to patients within our service area.
ROBIN BY HEALTH PARTNERS
In 2017, a new collaboration between Bellin, ThedaCare and HealthPartners, Inc.
formed to create Robin by HealthPartners, which the Corporation uses to self-insure its employees
and their dependents. Robin offers a portfolio of health insurance products for large and small
employers, as well as Medicare options and insurance plans. Coverage started January 1, 2018.
CARDIOVASCULAR CARE
In October 2019, Bellin and ThedaCare announced their cardiovascular partnership
to enhance access for those living in Central and Northeast Wisconsin and Michigan’s Upper
Peninsula. Bellin Health and ThedaCare announced a partnership with the vision of creating the
region’s largest and most comprehensive heart care team. The group will be comprised of nearly
50 cardiology providers covering nine hospitals and almost 20 outreach centers across 17 counties
in Wisconsin and Michigan. By combining the talent and resources of the two organizations,
patients and families will have access to highly specialized cardiovascular care experts and
advanced technology. The partnership creates a single, collaborative team of providers with a
common administrative leadership structure to leverage the quality and expertise of both entities,
and align around a goal of helping people live healthier lives through patient-focused,
comprehensive cardiovascular care.
POTENTIAL FUTURE AFFILIATIONS OR ACQUISITIONS
The Corporation regularly considers, and is currently considering, potential
candidates for affiliation and collaboration as part of its overall strategic planning process. The
Corporation routinely conducts discussions and/or receives offers from third parties concerning
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affiliations, joint ventures, investments or acquisitions. It is possible that the corporate entity, its
organization and its assets, may change from time to time.
STRATEGY
ThedaCare’s strategy execution framework is driven by its Mission: to improve the
health of the communities we serve and its Vision: peace of mind for all we serve with the goal of
being a full service population health organization leading the nation in providing world class
consumer focused, affordable, and high quality care close to home. There are five key components
of the strategy:
(1)
Managed Care/ACO: Expanding into an integrated delivery network to
manage population health needs, develop innovative provider-payer partnerships that
integrate care delivery and reimbursement to improve care and reduce the total cost of care.
(2)
Access/Market Development: Expanding access points and options to
provide our patients quality care in the right place, right time close to home through
traditional and non traditional means.
(3)
Care Optimization/Care Delivery: Ensuring that the right level of services
are in our patients’ communities with seamless transitions to higher acuity care when
needed.
(4)
Partnerships: Developing strategic alliances, joint ventures,
acquisitions to accelerate growth and population health management capabilities.

and

(5)
Strategy Enablers: Investing in support functions to implement the strategic
vision and goals.
THE PROJECT
The capital investments will primarily be financed with the Series 2019 Bonds and
further support ThedaCare’s strategic imperatives.
Major Capital Projects
Description
Orthopedic and Spine Center of Excellence
Berlin Project
TCA/TCN Renovations
Major Capital Total

Estimated Cost
$72,400,000
8,531,000
7,379,000
$88,310,000

Expected Completion
Fall 2021
January 2022
Various

Orthopedic and Spine Center of Excellence: ThedaCare will develop the region’s
first comprehensive Orthopedic, Spine and Pain center that consolidates these service lines at a
single destination. This comprehensive center will include a medical office building, surgery
center, physical therapy center, and hospital. The medical office and surgery center will be housed
in the same building. Bond proceeds will be used to finance the hospital portion of the Orthopedic
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and Spine Center. The medical office space will encompass a lease arrangement with a third party.
The balance of the Orthopedic and Spine Center, not financed with Bond proceeds, will be
financed through operating cash flows of ThedaCare.

MOB
Surgery Center
PT
Hospital
Totals

Building Size
84,088
48,347
16,000
81,968
230,403

Total
Estimated Cost ($M)
$35.5
$31.6
incl. in hospital
$72.4
$139.5

The comprehensive Orthopedic, Spine and Pain center will have highly specialized
providers who are experts in their field. These experts will come from Hand to Shoulder Center of
Wisconsin, Ltd., NeuroScience Group of Northeast Wisconsin, S.C., and ThedaCare Orthopedics.
These three groups will offer integrated clinical services at the new location. ThedaCare will be
relocating all of its elective orthopedic, spine and pain services to this new location.
The architect on the Project is Eppstein Uhen Architects (“EUA”) from Milwaukee,
Wisconsin. The general contractor is Miron Construction Company, Inc. from Appleton,
Wisconsin. The parties are in the process of negotiating the architect and construction contracts.
ThedaCare Berlin Project: TCB supports people living in the southwest part of
our service area. ThedaCare will construct and equip a new emergency department at TCB to
replace the existing one that is undersized, outdated, and in need of renovation to support
technological updates and more complex services. The Project will bring the TCB emergency
facilities up to date, ensure it is appropriately sized, and provides spaces to optimize experience,
efficiency, and clinical care. It will also correct flows to optimize care and safety (visibility to
exam rooms, separation of ambulance and walk-in traffic, accommodation of family members,
etc.) The new space is designed for flexibility, supporting different patient types during different
times of the day and future care models. The Project is being undertaken to ensure the level of high
quality services offered in the Berlin ED align with the higher level of services and breadth of
services to be available in Berlin so patients and families can stay in their community rather than
traveling long distances. Bond proceeds will be used to finance the project.
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Berlin Emergency Room Project Cost
Construction

$5.660M

Programming & Master Planning

0.088M

A & E Basic Services

0.596M

Specialty Consultants

0.155M

Non-Construction Costs

1.256M

Project Contingencies

0.776M

Total

$8.531M

ThedaCare Regional Medical Center- Appleton Renovations: The Corporation
will expand the emergency room, expand the size of the operating rooms, and expand the ICU to
accommodate a cardiac unit, as well as update entrances and parking to improve wayfinding and
convenience. Bond proceeds may be used to finance a portion of the TCA renovations.
ThedaCare Regional Medical Center-Neenah Renovations: The Corporation
will expand the emergency room (which supports the level 2 trauma program for the PSA), expand
the size of the operating rooms, relocate the helicopter landing pad, relocate the cafeteria, and
improve flow of materials management for the campus. Bond proceeds may be used to finance a
portion of the TCN renovations.
HOSPITAL SERVICES
The Hospitals offer a full range of diagnostic and therapeutic services and related
ancillary services. The table below indicates the number of staffed beds by unit for each hospital.
Medical/Ortho/Surgical
Cardiology
Orthopedics/Oncology
ICU/CCU
Obstetrics/LDRP
Pediatric/Adult Isolation
Psychiatric
Physical Rehabilitation
Total

TCA
68
24
21
16
16
2
---

TCN
78
--12
28
2
19
12

147

151

TCNL
25
-------25

TCW
19
--4
2
----

TCS
16
---6
----

TCB
16
--5
4
----

TWR
25
--------

Total
248
24
21
37
60
4
19
12

25

22

25

25

425

____________________
Source: Corporation Records.
*
Does not include services provided by CHOW. See “AFFILIATIONS” herein.
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The Specialty and Subspecialty Services Provided by the Hospitals include:

Aeromedical Services
Anesthesiology
Athletic Training
Audiometry
Biomedical Systems
Cardiac Rehabilitation
Cardiac Surgery
Cardiopulmonary Services
Cardiovascular Services
Chemical Dependency Services
Day Surgery
ECG
Echocardiology
Education
EEG/EMG
Emergency Services
Eye Excimer Laser
Eye Services
Laboratory
Laser Angioplasty
Lifeline
Lithotripsy
Magnetic Resonance Imaging
Mammography
Medical Imaging (CT, Nuclear,
Ultrasound)
Mobile Diagnostic Services
Neurosurgery
Occupational Health Program
Occupational Therapy
Oncology Services
Outpatient Surgery
Pastoral Care
Pet Scans
Perinatal Center
Pharmacy
Physical Medicine & Rehab
Physical Therapy
Psychiatry
Radiation Therapy
Radiology
Recreation Therapy
Rehabilitative Services
Renal Dialysis
Respiratory Therapy
Sleep Laboratory
Social Services

TCA

TCN

X

X
X

X
X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

X

X

X
X
X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X
X
X
X

X

X

X
X

X
X

X
X
X

TCNL

TCW

TCS

TCB

TWR

X
X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X
X

X

X
X
X

X

X

X

X

X
X
X
X
X
X
X

X
X

X

X

X

X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X

X

X
X
X
X
X
X

X
X

X

X
X

X

X

X

X
X
X

X
X
X

X
X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
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X
X
X
X
X

X
X
X

X

X

X
X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X
X

X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X
X

X

X
X
X
X

X
X

X

X
X
X
X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X
X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X
X

X

TCN

TCNL

TCW

TCS

TCB

X

X
X

X
X
X

X

X

X
X
X
X
X

X

X

X
X
X
X
X

TCA
Speech Pathology
Sports Medicine
Surgery
Wellness Programs
Women’s Diagnostic Center
________________________
Source: Corporation Records.

TWR

X
X

MEDICAL STAFF
TCA and TCN share a combined medical staff. Most TCA and TCN physicians
practice primarily at one of these two hospitals. The other hospitals maintain separate medical
staffs. TCA and Ascension NE Wisconsin - St. Elizabeth Campus (“St. Elizabeth”) in Appleton,
Wisconsin participate in Mosaic Family Health, the Medical College of Wisconsin’s 3-year Family
Practice Residency Program which provides training sites for 21 residents, many of who remain
in the area after completion of their residency program.
The percentages of physicians who are Board Certified on each medical staff are:
98% at TCA and TCN physicians, 99% at TCNL, 98% at TCW, 99% at TCS, 100%. The average
age of the physicians is 44.
Physician Staffing of All Hospitals
Active
506
7
513

Physicians
Psychiatrists
Total

Consulting
235
2
237

Courtesy
168
0
168

Affiliates
38
1
39

________________________
Source: Corporation Records.

The following chart shows the Hospitals’ Active Staff Physicians Grouped by
Specialty:
Active Physicians
(MD/DO) by Specialty

Number of Physicians
(MD/DO)

Family Medicine
Internal Medicine
Pediatrics
Subtotal
Allergy/Immunology
Anesthesiology
Breast Surgery
Cardiology
Cardiothoracic Surgery
Colorectal Surgery

112
20
6
138
1
33
2
14
4
1
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Dentistry
Dermatology
Emergency Medicine
Gastroenterology
General Surgery
Hand Surgery
Hospice and Palliative
Medicine
Hospitalist
Infectious Disease
Neonatology
Nephrology
Neurology
Neurosurgery
OB/GYN
Occupational Medicine
Oncology/Hematology
Ophthalmology
Oral Surgery
Oral and Maxillofacial
Surgery
Orthopedic Spine Surgery
Orthopedic Surgery
Otolaryngology
Pain Management
Pathology
Pediatric Cardiology
Pediatric Dentistry
Pediatric Endocrinology
Pediatric Neurology
Physical Medicine and
Rehab
Plastic Surgery
Podiatry
Psychiatry
Pulmonology/Sleep
Medicine
Radiation Oncology
Radiology
Rheumatology
Urology
Subtotal
Total

5
2
29
3
22
7
1
22
3
15
5
6
7
19
1
5
12
4
1
1
18
10
3
6
4
2
1
1
12
6
8
7
4
5
48
3
12
375
513

________________________
Source: Corporation Records.
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THEDACARE PHYSICIANS
ThedaCare Physicians operates 34 practices (adult and pediatric primary care,
internal medicine, and walk-in care) in 29 different locations throughout the Primary Service Area
with 202 employed physicians (full-time equivalents) who practice at these locations. These
locations are typically primary care sites with basic laboratory and x-ray services complemented
with specialty service offerings.
The distribution of employed physicians by specialty is as follows:
Family Practice
Pediatrics
Cardiology
Hospitalist
Emergency
Oncology
Psychiatry
Internal Medicine
Surgeon
Physiatry
Orthopedics
Occupational Health
Sports Medicine
Rheumatologist
Ortho Surgeon
Pain
Infectious Disease
Palliative Care
Cardiovascular
Surgeon
Geriatrics
Anesthesiologist
Urology
Endocrinology
Total

82
16
16
13
12
10
8
7
6
4
4
3
3
2
3
3
2
1
2
2
1
1
1
202

The change in FTE physician levels on a historical basis is:
2016

2017

2018

Beginning FTE’s

204

207

209

Gained
Lost
Ending FTE’s

10
(7)
207

16
(14)
209

20
(27)
202
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The level of primary care patient visits on a historical basis is shown below:

Primary Care Patient
Visits1
1

2016

2017

2018

482,078

478,576

493,101

Does not include FastCare visits.

UTILIZATION
The following chart depicts historical utilization statistics for the Hospitals.
Fiscal Years Ended Dec 31,
Admissions
Patient Days
Average Daily
Census
Average Length of
Stay
Emergency Visits
Outpatient Visits
Deliveries
Surgeries
Inpatient
Outpatient

Nine Months Ended
Sept 30,

2016
19,940
78,134

2017
19,684
74,706

2018
20,870
80,151

2018
15,627
60,220

2019
16,565
62,428

213

205

219

220

229

3.92

3.80

3.84

3.85

3.77

110,860
346,442
3,179
47,906
8,033
39,873

106,992
345,073
3,054
46,891
7,982
38,909

106,445
398,957
3,014
47,375
7,955
39,420

80,554
292,026
2,255
34,500
5,962
28,538

82,750
307,670
2,352
34,664
5,799
28,865

________________________
Source: Corporate Records.

SOURCES OF REVENUE
A substantial portion of the Obligated Group’s patient service revenue is derived
from third-party payors. See “BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS” for a discussion of the historical
trends or reimbursement under the Medicare and Medicaid programs. The Corporation has entered
into payment agreements with commercial insurance carriers, health maintenance organizations,
and preferred provider organizations. The basis for payment under these agreements includes
prospectively determined rates per discharge, discounts from established charges, fee schedules,
and prospectively determined daily rates. The chart below lists the approximate percentages of
the Obligated Group’s gross patient services revenue by category for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2016, 2017 and 2018.
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Medicare
Medicaid
Commercial
Other
Self Pay
Total

2016

2017

2018

44.0%
11.0
41.8
1.3
1.9
100%

45.1%
10.6
41.3
1.2
1.8
100%

47.3%
10.3
39.4
1.2
1.8
100%

________________________
Source: Corporate Records.

The top three managed care payers and their renewal periods and percentage of
fiscal year 2018 patient service revenue are listed below. Both United Health Group and Common
Ground contracts are in force through December 31, 2019 and the renewal contracts have been
executed and will be effective on January 1, 2020.

Payer
United Health Group
Anthem
Common Ground

Contract Date

Term

Patient
Revenue
Service

1/1/2020
1/1/2016
1/1/2020

3 years
5 years
2 years

13.93
10.05
2.49
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SERVICE AREA
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ThedaCare is located in east central Wisconsin and draws 90% of its patients from
a nine county area, known as the primary service area (“PSA”) comprised of Calumet, Green Lake,
Marquette, Menominee, Outagamie, Shawano, Waupaca, Waushara, and Winnebago counties.
Within the PSA, ThedaCare has seven hospitals located in Appleton (“TCA”),
Neenah (“TCN”), Berlin (“TCB”), Waupaca (“TCW”), Shawano (“TCS”), New London
(“TCNL”) and Wild Rose (“TCWR”) as well as 29 different TCP clinic locations. There are five
competing hospitals that exist in the PSA which are located in Appleton (1), Chilton (1), Oshkosh
(2), and Ripon (1).
For the remaining areas of the state of Wisconsin, ThedaCare breaks it into two
categories:
1.
The secondary service area (“SSA”) which is to the east of the PSA and
includes larger cities such as Green Bay, Door County, Oconto Falls, Marinette,
Manitowoc, Fond du Lac, Sheboygan, and Two Rivers. 5% of ThedaCare patients travel
to us from the SSA.
2.
The tertiary service area (“TSA”) which is to the west of the PSA and the
remainder of the state of Wisconsin. This area includes larger cities such as Stevens Point,
Wausau, Wisconsin Rapids and the major cities of Milwaukee and Madison in the south
part of the state. 2% of ThedaCare patients travel to us from the TSA.
Where ThedaCare Patients Live
Setting
Patient Service Area
Primary (PSA)
Secondary (SSA)
Tertiary (TSA)
Out of State
Zip codes unknown

Ambulatory Surgery

Inpatient

# Dischs

(%)

# Dischs

(%)

37214
2085
641
81
986

90.8%
5.1
1.6
0.2
2.4

19478
1137
408
25
718

89.5%
5.2
1.9
0.1
3.3

________________________
Source: WHA. Totals may not foot due to rounding.
Quarter: 2018-Q2, 2018-Q3, 2018-Q4, 2019-Q1
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COMPETITION
There are three distinct health systems that operate in the PSA: ThedaCare,
Ascension Wisconsin – Northeast Wisconsin (“Ascension”) and AdvocateAurora Health
(“Aurora”). ThedaCare, Ascension, and Aurora are the primary referral centers for the service
area indicated on service area map on the prior page.
Ascension’s predecessor in interest, Affinity Health System, was formed on
January 1, 1995 as a result of a joint venture between St. Elizabeth Hospital (Appleton, Wisconsin),
a 190 staffed bed hospital and a member of the Wheaton Franciscan Services, Inc. System
(“WFSI”), and Mercy Medical Center (Oshkosh, Wisconsin), a 128 staffed bed hospital and
member of Ministry Healthcare, Inc. (“MHI”). MHI replaced Mercy Medical Center with a
298,000 square foot, 128 bed replacement hospital which opened in 2000. In 2003 Mercy Medical
Center added a fifth floor expansion. WFSI and MHI formed a joint holding company (Affinity
Health System) to manage St. Elizabeth Hospital and Mercy Medical Center. In 2012, Ministry
Health Care assumed full sponsorship. In 2013 Ministry Health Care affiliated with and became
part of Ascension Health.
Ascension Medical Group is a 270 physician, multi-specialty clinic with its main
facilities in Appleton and Neenah and satellite offices located throughout the PSA. Ascension is
collaborating in a joint venture with Orthopedic and Sports Medicine Specialists (a physician
owned orthopedics practice out of Green Bay) on a new 45,000 square foot orthopedics surgery
center, physical therapy, and orthopedic walk in clinic to be located in the PSA in the Village of
Fox Crossing.
AdvocateAurora is a large healthcare system which was created from the merger of
Aurora Health System in Wisconsin and Advocate Health in Illinois. In October 2003,
AdvocateAurora opened a 72-bed hospital to complement an existing ambulatory care facility in
Oshkosh, Wisconsin. The Oshkosh location has physician offices which house AdvocateAurora
physicians. AdvocateAurora also has a few physician offices within the PSA. AdvocateAurora is
presently building a new 72,000 square foot ambulatory clinic, ambulatory surgery center, and
urgent care in Kaukauna at the intersection of Interstate 41 and Hwy 55 which is in the PSA. The
new site is scheduled to open the summer of 2020 and will be supported by BayCare physicians.
BayCare is a medical group with dual ownership between physicians and AdvocateAurora
practicing in the Green Bay market.
Ascension, AdvocateAurora and ThedaCare compete for HMO/PPO contracts and
for the non-HMO patients within the service area.
Several independent provider groups have formed their own ambulatory surgery
centers (“ASC”). The providers of these groups use ThedaCare for their inpatient services and for
outpatient services that are not ASC eligible. These independent groups include Orthopedics and
Sports Institute of the Fox Valley (“OSI”) which opened its ASC in 2006, Wisconsin Institute of
Urology (“WIU”) which opened in 2018, and NeuroSpine Center of Wisconsin which opened in
2019.
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The Heart and Vascular Institute of Wisconsin was opened in April 2019 by 15
cardiologists that had been employed by ThedaCare since 2011. This group of physicians was
independent prior to joining ThedaCare and decided that they wanted to return to private practice.
This practice is now a competitor of ThedaCare’s with respect to cardiology treatment.
Primary Care Associates and Kaukauna Clinic, which are independent primary care
clinics, compete with ThedaCare Physicians, but refer patients to ThedaCare Hospitals.
Fox Valley Hematology and Oncology, which was a competitor of ThedaCare’s
with respect to cancer treatment, was acquired by ThedaCare in June of 2018 (see also the
discussion of ThedaCare’s Cancer Center under “FACILITIES,” above).
Percentage of Hospital Admissions from Primary Service Area
ThedaCare
Ascension
Aurora
Other Area Hospitals

2016

2017

2018

Q1/2019

53.5%
34.4
8.7
3.4

53.8%
33.0
9.8
3.5

57.5%
30.7
8.5
3.4

57.7%
29.7
9.5
3.1

________________________
Source: Wisconsin Hospital Association.

Percentage of Ambulatory/Outpatient
Surgeries from Primary Service Area

ThedaCare
Ascension
Aurora
Other Area Providers

2016

2017

2018

47.8%
24.1
9.8
18.3

48.0%
22.9
10.8
18.2

46.7%
24.6
11.4
17.3

________________________
Source: Wisconsin Hospital Association.
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Q1/2019
44.6%
24.8
11.9
18.7

The following chart displays the main hospital facilities in ThedaCare’s service
area:
Area Hospital Information: 2016-2018

Hospitals

Miles

2018

2016

2016

2017

2017

2018

2018

From

Beds

Inpatient

Percent

Inpatient

Percent

Inpatient

Percent

Staffed

Admissions

Occupied

Admissions

Occupied

Admissions

Occupied

TC-Appleton
TC-Neenah
TC-Waupaca
TC-New London
TC-Shawano
TC-Berlin
TC-Wild Rose
Total ThedaCare

Appleton
0
8
42
20
44
42
48

156
164
25
25
22
25
25
442

8,211
7,441
899
499
1,426
1,189
152
19,817

58.9%
53.7%
29.0%
16.0%
53.5%
38.9%
5.2%

7,812
7,647
873
543
1,270
1,115
157
19,417

49.0%
51.4%
25.8%
15.5%
48.3%
41.5%
6.0%

8,391
8,178
985
645
1,456
1,170
191
21,016

54.9%
54.6%
30.9%
20.4%
53.9%
39.6%
6.6%

St. Elizabeth Hospital – Appleton, WI
Mercy Medical Center – Oshkosh, WI
Total Ascension

0
20

190
128
318

8,415
4,618
13,033

50.7%
39.2%

8,469
4,145
12,614

53.3%
35.1%

8,475
3,942
12,417

50.4%
30.4%

Aurora Medical Center – Oshkosh, WI

20

72

3,445

47.6%

3,776

51.5%

3,468

40.4%

832

36,295

35,807

36,901

53.13%

54.6%

54.2%

57.0%

Total All Hospitals
ThedaCare Hospitals as a % of Total

________________________
There are smaller hospitals within the Primary Service Area that management of the Corporation does not view as competitors to
ThedaCare.

EMPLOYMENT
The table below lists the top employers in the Fox Cities region as of March 2019.
Fox Cities Employment
Employer

Product or Service

# Employees

ThedaCare, Inc.
Ascension NE Wisconsin
Kimberly-Clark Corporation
Thrivent Financial for Lutherans
Faith Technologies
Pierce Manufacturing, Inc.
Plexus Corporation & Affiliates
Miller Electric Manufacturing Co.
Bergstrom
Bemis

Health care services
Health care services
Tissue products for personal care
Direct life insurance carriers
Electrical Contractor
Motor vehicle body manufacturing
Electronic design, manufacturing and testing
Electric arc welders
Auto & truck sales/service
Packaging

6,800
3,900
3,200
2,000
1,700
1,500
1,450
1,400
1,200
1,100

________________________
Source: Fox Cities Chamber of Commerce <http://www.foxcitiesregionalpartnership.com>.

In addition to the paper industry, plastics, printing, graphic arts, machinery, metal
and the electronics industries are all important elements of the Fox Cities manufacturing sector.
The growth of the Fox River Mall area, coupled with ongoing downtown redevelopment in the
communities, makes the Fox Cities one of Wisconsin’s major retail centers. Service industries
include several insurance companies and a network of financial institutions. Post-secondary
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educational facilities include Lawrence University, University of Wisconsin-Fox Valley Center,
Fox Valley Technical College, University of Wisconsin-Oshkosh, and several other satellite
campuses.
The following chart depicts historical unemployment rates in the service area, the
state and the United States:
Annual Average Unemployment Rates
County
Calumet
Green Lake
Menominee
Outagamie
Shawano
Waupaca
Waushara
Winnebago
Wisconsin
United States

2016

2017

2018

3.2%
4.9
7.6
3.51
4.2
3.9
5.0
3.6
4.0
4.9

2.8%
3.7
5.9
3.0
3.2
3.2
4.0
3.0
3.3
4.4

2.6%
3.3
5.7
2.8
3.0
3.0
3.5
2.7
3.0
3.9

________________________
Source: Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development, <http://worknet.wisconsin.gov/worknet>, 2019

PATIENT POPULATION
The following table presents population statistics for certain market segments
within ThedaCare’s PSA.
Population
2024 (est)

Population
2029 (est)

177,544

184,560

190,226

72,888
95,311
35,711
52,021
26,154
66,377
20,381
546,387

74,460
95,993
36,076
51,965
34,660
66,383
20,020
564,117

76,220
97,341
36,418
51,916
34,550
66,882
20,043
573,596

Population
(2014)
Appleton/Kaukauna/Kimberly/Little
Chute
Neenah/Menasha
Oshkosh/Omro/Winneconne
New London/Hortonville/Greenville
Shawano/Clintonville
Waupaca/Weyauwega/Fremont
Ripon/Berlin/Wautoma/Green Lake
Chilton/New Holstein/Kiel/Brillion
TOTAL
________________________
Source: Claritas.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The Corporation and the Hospitals maintain their financial records on a fiscal year
basis ending December 31. The following summary of consolidated financial statements of the
Corporation has been derived from the consolidated financial statements of the Corporation for
each of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2016, 2017 and 2018.
The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation as of and for the years
ended December 31, 2016 and 2017 were audited by Wipfli LLP, independent certified public
accountants. The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2018, which are included in APPENDIX B to this Official Statement, were audited
by CliftonLarsonAllen, LLP (“CLA”), an independent certified public accountant.
A summary of the Corporation’s unaudited interim consolidated financial
statements for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018 are
included. The summary consolidated financial information and other financial data contain
information determined by methods other than in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”); however, any differences are not material.
The unaudited interim financial information should be read in conjunction with the audited
consolidated financial statements and related notes included in APPENDIX B to this Official
Statement. Neither CLA nor any other firm has audited the interim consolidated financial
information.
The historical information included in the table below was prepared from the
consolidated financial statements of the Corporation and includes certain entities that are not
members of the Obligated Group. Only Obligated Group members are obligated to make payments
on the Bonds and the Master Notes. The Obligated Group members represent 100% of the net
patient service revenues of the Corporation and 93% of total Corporation assets.
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The Corporation
Summary Consolidated Statements of Operations
($ in 000’s)
Unaudited
Fiscal Years Ended December 31,

2016
Operating Revenue:
Net Patient Service Revenues
$857,885
Other Operating Revenues
28,615
13,731
Medicaid Assessment Program R
Total Operating Revenue
900,231
Operating Expenses:
Compensation and Benefits
Supplies and Services
Interest
Depreciation and
Amortization
Medicaid Assessment
Program Exp
Total Expenses
Operating Income
Non-Operating Income
(Expense):
Investment Income
Other, Net
Total Non-Operating Income,
Net
Excess (Deficit) of Revenues
Over Expenses

2017

Nine Months Ended Sept 30,

2018

2018

2019

$862,726
35,741
10,693
909,160

$956,502
28,791
9,892
995,185

$704,271
20,751
6,557
731,579

$748,956
23,977
8,169
781,102

504,929
314,334
11,869
45,450

507,392
326,854
12,340
45,788

517,199
381,929
12,424
47,943

387,788
273,240
9,256
36,057

380,433
320,812
9,415
36,928

9,548

9,454

9,021

6,734

7,061

886,130

901,828

968,516

713,075

754,649

14,101

7,332

26,669

18,504

26,453

23,226
(16,277)
6,949

96,877
(16,035)
80,842

(27,274)
(12,747)
(40,021)

17,545
(696)
16,849

60,111
624
60,735

$21,050

$88,174

($13,352)

________________________
Source: Corporation Records
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$35,353

$87,188

The Corporation
Summary Consolidated Balance Sheets
($ in 000’s)
Unaudited
As of September 30,

As of December 31,

2017

2018

$526,557
174,769
36,505
485,686
9,933

$607,052
203,222
30,494
471,838
9,858

$630,205
179,038
28,186
470,939
10,188

$672,258
184,378
38,873
461,634
12,242

$713,989
161,118
38,011
470,128
52,786

$1,233,450

$1,322,464

$1,318,556

$1,369,385

$1,436,032

2016
ASSETS
Current Assets
Investments
Assets Limited as to Use
PP&E, net
Investments & Other
Total Assets

2018

2019

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities

$94,703
381,771

$99,850
377,441

$117,647
357,465

$119,933
369,340

$118,687
387,750

Total Liabilities

476,474

477,291

475,112

489,273

506,437

NET ASSETS
Without Donor Restrictions
With Donor Restrictions
Total Net Assets

741,308
15,668
756,976

829,211
15,962
845,173

828,468
14,976
843,444

863,861
16,251
880,112

913,855
15,740
929,595

$1,233,450

$1,322,464

$1,318,556

$1,369,385

$1,436,032

Total Liabilities & Net Assets
________________________
Source: Corporation Records
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires
management of the Corporation to make assumptions, estimates and judgments that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements, including notes thereto, and related disclosures of
commitments and contingencies, if any. The Corporation considers critical accounting policies to
be those that require the more significant judgments and estimates in the preparation of financial
statements, including the following:
Recognition of net patient service revenues and operating expenses includes
estimating contractual allowances, provision for bad debts and reserves for losses and expenses
related to healthcare professional risk and general liability risk. Management relies on historical
experience and assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances in making its
judgments and estimates. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.
Results of Operations
A summary of the Corporation’s operating results for the years ended December
31, 2016, 2017 and 2018 follows:
•

From 2016 to 2018, operating income increased by $12.5 million or 89.1%.

•

From 2016 to 2018, the excess of revenues over expenses decreased $34.4
million or 163.4%. Total operating revenue increased by $94.9 million or
10.5%, expenses increased $82.4 million or 9.3%, and non-operating gains
decreased $48.0 million or 675.9%.

•

From 2016 to 2018 the Corporation’s operating margin was in the range of 1.6%
to 2.7%.

•

From 2016 to 2018, investment income decreased from $23.2 million gain to
$27.3 million loss.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019 compared to Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018
•

For the nine month period ended September 30, 2019 compared to September
30, 2018, operating income increased $7.9 million (43%).

Net patient service revenue increased 6.3% for the nine-month period 2019 over
2018. This is primarily the result of growth in the oncology service line as well as an increase in
inpatient admissions. Acute admissions increased 3.4% from September 2018 to September 2019.
Including unrealized gains, investment income increased to a $60.1 million gain for
the nine months in 2018 from a $17.5 million gain in the nine months in 2019 due to market
fluctuations.
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Compensation and employee benefits increased $19.5 million or 5.0% over 2018.
This reflects a general wage increase of approximately 3% and a 9.7% reduction in benefits
expense. Wages as a percent of operating revenues declined from 43.6% in 2018 to 42.3% in
2019.
Supplies and services are comprised primarily of pharmacy, medical and surgical
supplies, purchased services and other operating expenses such as utilities and insurance. For the
nine-month period year over year these expenses have increased $47.6 million, or 17%. This
increase is due to the expansion of the oncology service line.
Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017
Net patient service revenue increased 10.9% over fiscal 2017 with a 6% increase in
inpatient admissions. Outpatient visits increased 15.6% with the expansion of the oncology service
line. Surgeries increased 1.0% to 47,375 in 2018 from 46,891 in 2017.
Including unrealized gains, 2018 experienced a loss on investment of $27.2 million
compared to a gain in 2017 of $96.8 million due to market fluctuations.
Compensation and employee benefits increased 1.9% over 2017. Salaries as a
percentage of net operating revenues in 2018 of 43.2% was substantially less than 2017 of 46.3%.
This is due to productivity gains as well as a change in patient mix due to the increase in oncology
services.
Supplies and services are comprised primarily of pharmacy, medical and surgical
supplies, purchased services and other operating expenses such as utilities and insurance. Supplies
and services increased $55.1 million or 16.85% in 2018 due to the oncology service line expansion.
Fiscal Years Ending December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016
Net patient service revenue increased 0.61% over fiscal year 2016. Admissions of
19,684 reflect a decline of 1.28% from 2016. Surgeries of 46,891 reflect a decline of 2.1% from
fiscal year 2016.
Compensation and benefits increased 0.49% over fiscal year 2016 with a focus on
improved employee health and wellness. Supplies and services increased 3.98% over 2016,
mainly due to inflationary costs of goods and services. Overall expenses in 2017 increased 1.77%
over 2016.
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HISTORICAL AND PROFORMA CAPITALIZATION
The table below sets forth the Corporation’s capitalization as of December 31, 2018
on both a historical and proforma basis, assuming the issuance of $140,790,000 in principal
amount of Bonds including the refunding of the Series 2009 Bonds.
Historical and Proforma Capitalization
As of December 31, 2018
(Dollars in Thousands)
Indebtedness
Existing Indebtedness
Proposed Bonds
Total Long-Term Debt
Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Total Capitalization
Net Long-Term Debt as a % of
Total Capitalization

Historical

Proforma

$285,715

$209,024
140,790

285,715
828,468

349,814
828,468

$1,114,183

$1,178,282

25.64%

29.69%

________________________
Source: Corporation Records.

HISTORICAL AND PROFORMA DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE
The following table sets forth the fiscal years ended December 31, 2016, 2017 and
2018, the net income of the Obligated Group (excluding the Foundation) available to cover
historical debt service requirements, together with calculations, made in accordance with the
Master Indenture, of the historical debt service coverage ratio and the proforma debt service
coverage ratio of Maximum Annual Debt Service to reflect the issuance of the Bonds and the
application of proceeds to refund the Prior Bonds.
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Historical and Proforma Debt Service Coverage
For the Years Ended December 31
(Dollars in Thousands)
2017

2016

2018

Excess (Deficit) of Revenues Over Expenses
Unrealized gains/losses from Investments
Depreciation, Amortization and Interest Expense
Income Available for Debt Service

$13,407
(17,452)
57,319
$53,274

$74,809
(66,359)
58,128
$66,578

($10,123)
56,542
60,367
$106,786

Maximum Annual Debt Service

$24,418

$24,418

$25,248

Historical Debt Service Coverage

2.18x

2.73x

4.23x

Proforma Maximum Annual Debt Service

--

--

$24,486

Proforma Maximum Debt Service Coverage

--

--

4.36x

________________________
Source: Corporation Records.

LIQUIDITY
The following table sets forth data regarding the liquidity of the Corporation as of
December 31, 2016, 2017 and 2018. The Bonds will not be subject to any covenant relating to
liquidity.
(Dollars in Thousands)

Cash, Cash Equivalents, Short
Term Investments and Investments
Non-Obligated Group Cash &
Investments*
Total
Average number of days cash on
hand

2016

2017

2018

$517,347

$606,369

$596,462

56,924

64,067

57,656

$574,271

$670,436

$654,118

250

285

259

________________________
(All investments are stated at fair market value.)
* Includes Foundation assets. The Foundation is not a member of the Obligated Group and is therefore not obligated to make
payments on the Bonds or the Master Notes. The main purpose of the Foundation is to support the Hospitals.

INVESTMENT POLICY
The amounts described above are invested in a combination of bonds and equity
securities. In its investment policy, the Corporation permits investments in bonds that are either
government securities or high-grade corporate bonds. Any investments in equity securities are
handled by private investment managers or mutual funds. ThedaCare’s assets are invested in 65%
equities and 35% bonds pursuant to its investment policy.
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PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE COVERAGE
Under Wisconsin law, once a health care provider secures primary coverage on the
amount of $1,000,000 per incident and $3,000,000 annual aggregate, the provider’s maximum
liability for malpractice is limited to $1,000,000 per occurrence and $3,000,000 annual aggregate.
The Corporation and the Hospitals have secured such coverage. Any claim in excess of these
limits is chargeable to the Wisconsin Patient’s Compensation Fund (“PCF”) established by statute.
Premiums under the PCF are assessed based upon a hospital’s size and other factors. Premium
over the last five years have been stable and consistent with standard market increases.
LICENSES AND ACCREDITATION
The Department of Health Services of the State of Wisconsin has provided the
appropriate approval to the Hospitals. The Hospitals, except TCWR, are accredited by the Joint
Commission.
EMPLOYEES
Currently the Corporation has 5,050 full time equivalent employees. The labor pool
is drawn primarily from the Fox Cities area. Employee benefits at the Corporation are substantially
the same for all employees, both bargaining unit and non-bargaining unit employees. They include
a frozen defined benefit plan, a defined contribution plan and a contributory health group insurance
plan.
In 1969, TCA recognized Local 150 of the Service Employees International Union,
AFL/CIO (the “Union”) as the bargaining agent for nurses aids, x-ray aids, surgery aids, dietary,
maintenance and housekeeping employees. In 2006, the recognition shifted from Local 150 to
Local 1199, still with Service Employees International Union. Supervisory, office, nursing,
clerical and other professional employees are not included in the bargaining unit. The Union’s
contract which expired on April 30, 2019, provides for binding arbitration of all disputes and
prohibits strikes during the term of the agreement. Management of the Corporation and the
Hospitals believe that relations with their employees are generally good. The parties met on
November 1, 2019. The Union agreed to endorse the agreement proposed by the Corporation and
there will be a membership vote to ratify the agreement on November 8, 2019.
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PENSION FUND
The Corporation has a defined contribution pension plan, which began in 2009.
During 2009, ThedaCare froze its defined benefit plan which covered all full and many part-time
employees. The total remaining unrecognized prior service credit was fully recognized as a result
of the benefit freeze. The Corporation will continue to be obligated to provide benefits to eligible
employees who have accrued benefits in the defined benefit plan prior to the freeze. As of
September 30, 2019, the defined benefit plan was approximately 74% funded. The contributions
to the defined benefit plan were as follows:
Plan Year1

Contribution

2015
2016
2017
2018
20192

$10,000,000
10,000,000
10,000,000
10,000,000
13,000,000

________________________
1 Not on a fiscal year basis.
2 Anticipated

CORPORATE COMPLIANCE PROGRAM
The Corporation has implemented a written compliance policy (the “Plan”), which
stipulates that all business and other practices are to be conducted in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations and in accordance with the ethical standards of the industry and organization.
The Plan is applicable to all employees and members of the Board of Trustees of the Corporation
and its affiliates. The Compliance Officer oversees the implementation of the Plan, maintains an
employee hotline, reviews reports of incidences relating to compliance issues, coordinates internal
investigations, and initiates periodic audits. The Compliance Officer has direct access to the Chief
Executive Officer and the Corporation’s Board of Trustees to report the status of compliance
efforts.
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APPENDIX B
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Board of Directors
ThedaCare, Inc. and Affiliates
Appleton, Wisconsin
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of ThedaCare, Inc. and Affiliates,
which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2018, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, changes in net assets, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the
related notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

(1)

Board of Directors
ThedaCare, Inc. and Affiliates

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of ThedaCare, Inc. and Affiliates as of December 31, 2018, and the
results of their operations, changes in their net assets, and their cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Other Matters
The 2017 financial statements of ThedaCare, Inc. and Affiliates were audited by other auditors whose
report dated May 29, 2018, expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
May 22, 2019
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THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

(In Thousands)
2018

2017

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Short-Term Investments
Patient Accounts Receivable, Net
Other Accounts Receivable
Inventory
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
Total Current Assets

$

INVESTMENTS
ASSETS LIMITED AS TO USE
Investments Held by Bond Trustee
Deferred Compensation Investments
Board-Designated Investments
Donor-Designated Investments
Total Assets Limited as to Use
LAND, BUILDINGS, AND EQUIPMENT, NET
INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES AND OTHER
Total Assets

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

111,916
353,898
136,386
6,018
10,969
11,018
630,205

$

29,146
428,792
126,075
10,053
8,086
4,900
607,052

179,038

203,222

9,014
9,906
2,600
6,666
28,186

9,189
12,029
2,447
6,829
30,494

470,939

471,838

10,188

9,858

1,318,556

$

1,322,464

THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

(In Thousands)
2018

2017

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Portion of Long-Term Debt
Accounts Payable
Accrued and Other Liabilities
Estimated Third-Party Payor Settlements
Total Current Liabilities

$

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Long-Term Debt, Net of Current Portion
Deferred Employee Benefit Obligations
Other Noncurrent Liabilities
Total Noncurrent Liabilities

12,124
34,431
64,225
6,867
117,647

$

10,014
18,033
65,225
6,578
99,850

282,480
72,563
2,422
357,465

289,906
84,519
3,016
377,441

Total Liabilities

475,112

477,291

NET ASSETS
Without Donor Restrictions
With Donor Restrictions
Total Net Assets

828,468
14,976
843,444

829,211
15,962
845,173

Total Liabilities and Net Assets

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

1,318,556

$

1,322,464

THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

(In Thousands)
2018
REVENUE
Net Patient Service Revenue
Other Operating Revenue
Medicaid Assessment Program Revenue
Total Revenue

$

OPERATING EXPENSES
Compensation and Benefits
Supplies and Services
Depreciation and Amortization
Interest Expense
Medicaid Assessment Program Expense
Total Operating Expenses

2017

956,502
28,791
9,892
995,185

$

862,726
35,741
10,693
909,160

517,199
381,929
47,943
12,424
9,021
968,516

507,392
326,854
45,788
12,340
9,454
901,828

26,669

7,332

NONOPERATING INCOME (EXPENSE)
Investment Income
Contributions to the Community and Other
Organizational Restructuring
Net Periodic Benefit Cost Other than Service Cost
Total Nonoperating Income (Expense)

(27,274)
(200)
(12,547)
(40,021)

96,877
(1,458)
(2,570)
(12,007)
80,842

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES

(13,352)

88,174

NET OPERATING INCOME

OTHER CHANGES IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT
DONOR RESTRICTIONS
Pension-Related Changes Other than Net
Periodic Pension Cost
Net Assets Released from Restrictions for
Property and Equipment
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT
DONOR RESTRICTIONS

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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12,608

(381)

-

$

(744)

110

$

87,903

THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

(In Thousands)
2018
NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS
Excess (Deficit) of Revenue over Expenses
Pension-Related Changes Other than Net
Periodic Pension Cost
Net Assets Released from Restrictions

$

$

87,903

511
(287)
(1,209)

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS WITH
DONOR RESTRICTIONS
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS
Net Assets - Beginning of Year

784
769
(1,259)

(985)

294

(1,729)

88,197

845,173
$

88,174
(381)
110

(744)

NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS
Contributions
Investment Income
Net Assets Released from Restrictions

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(13,350)
12,606
-

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT
DONOR RESTRICTIONS

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR

2017

843,444

756,976
$

845,173

THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

(In Thousands)
2018
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in Net Assets
Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets to
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:
Depreciation and Amortization
Amortization of Deferred Financing Costs and Bond Premium
(Gain) Loss on Disposal of Equipment
Undistributed Equity in Net Gains of Unconsolidated Affiliates
Net Realized Gains on Investments and
Assets Limited as to Use
Net Change in Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Investments and
Assets Limited as to Use
Pension-Related Changes Other than Net Periodic
Pension Cost
Changes in Operating and Assets and Liabilities:
Accounts Receivable
Inventory
Prepaid Expenses and Other
Other Assets
Accounts Payable
Accrued and Other Liabilities
Estimated Third-Party Payor Settlements
Deferred Employee Benefit Obligations and
Other Noncurrent Liabilities
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

$

(1,729)

2017
$

88,197

47,943
(605)
95
(330)

45,788
(632)
(496)
(433)

(34,803)

(15,328)

62,364

(74,439)

(12,608)

381

(6,276)
(2,883)
4,180
(11,027)
16,398
(1,000)
289

(14,177)
440
419
147
1,908
(2,576)
4,799

58
60,066

2,975
36,973

(43,203)
2,497
(156,403)
230,227
33,118

(27,788)
(292,532)
282,910
(37,410)

(10,414)

(9,333)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

82,770

(9,770)

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year

29,146

38,916

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of Land, Buildings, and Equipment
Proceeds from Sale of Equipment
Purchases of Investments and Assets Limited as to Use
Sales of Investments and Assets Limited as to Use
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal Payments on Long-Term Debt

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

111,916

$

29,146

THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

(In Thousands)
2018
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash Paid for Interest, Net of Capitalized Interest Paid of
$-0- and $64 for 2018 and 2017, Respectively
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Assets Acquired through Capital Lease Obligations
Assets Acquired through Issuance of Note Payable
Purchases of Capital Assets Included in Accounts Payable

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2017

$

12,982

$

12,988

$

3,472
2,231
181

$

3,191
1,827

THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Entity and Principles of Consolidation
ThedaCare, Inc. and Affiliates (ThedaCare) provide comprehensive medical, surgical,
emergency, outpatient, nursing home, home care, hospice, and clinical services to residents
in and around the Fox Valley area in Wisconsin. The consolidated financial statements of
ThedaCare include the accounts and operations of:
•

ThedaCare Regional Medical Center-Neenah (TCN); ThedaCare Regional Medical
Center-Appleton (TCA); ThedaCare Medical Center-New London (TCNL);
ThedaCare Medical Center-Waupaca (TCW),ꞏThedaCare Medical Center-Shawano
(TCS); ThedaCare Medical Center-Berlin (TCB), and ThedaCare Medical CenterWild Rose (TCWR), (collectively the Hospitals).

•

Over 350 primary care and specialist physicians and advanced practice clinicians
providing physician services in over 30 clinic locations throughout Northeast
Wisconsin (the Clinics).

•

The Heritage operates a 136-unit retirement center and an 18-unit assisted living
center.

•

Peabody Manor operates a 58-bed skilled nursing facility.

•

Juliette Manor operates a 50-bed skilled nursing facility.

•

ThedaCare Behavioral Health Services provides one-on-one counseling, group
therapy, outpatient day programs, inpatient care, and medication management, and
Alcohol and Other Drug Abuse (AODA) recovery programs for individuals needing
behavioral health services.

•

ThedaCare at Home provides home health and hospice services, durable medical
equipment, and nursing and related home health services, including infusion therapy
and respiratory care services.

•

ThedaCare at Work provides comprehensive occupational medical, counseling, and
training services.

•

ThedaCare ACO and ThedaCare Core ACO participate in several risk-sharing
arrangements with third-party payors.

•

ThedaCare Family of Foundations, Inc. is a nonstock, nonprofit corporation
organized and operated exclusively for charitable, scientific, and educational
purposes. Its primary function is to raise support for ThedaCare’s affiliates.

All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
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THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial Statement Presentation
ThedaCare follows accounting standards set by the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC). The ASC is the single source of
authoritative accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP) to be
applied to nongovernment entities.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with
GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the consolidated financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.
Changes in estimates related to self-funded health insurance and workers compensation
insurance are reported in compensation and benefits expense in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.
Cash Equivalents
ThedaCare considers all highly liquid short-term investments with a maturity of three months
or less when acquired to be cash equivalents, with the exception of cash equivalents held as
short-term investments in the investment portfolio.
Patient Accounts Receivable and Credit Policy
Patient accounts receivable are uncollateralized patient obligations that are stated at the
amount that reflects the consideration to which ThedaCare expects to be entitled in
exchange for providing patient care. These obligations are primarily from local residents,
most of whom are insured under third-party payor agreements. ThedaCare bills third-party
payors on the patients’ behalf, or if a patient is uninsured, the patient is billed directly. Once
claims are settled with the primary payor, any secondary insurance is billed, and patients
are billed for copay and deductible amounts that are the patients’ responsibility. Payments
on accounts receivable are applied to the specific claim identified on the remittance advice
or statements. ThedaCare does not have a policy to charge interest on past due accounts.
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THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Patient Accounts Receivable and Credit Policy (Continued)
Patient accounts receivable are recorded in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
at net realizable value based on certain assumptions. For third-party payors, including
Medicare, Medicaid, Managed Care and Commercial payors, the net realizable value is
based on the estimated contractual reimbursement percentage, which is based on current
contract prices or historical paid claims data by payor. For uninsured patients (which
includes both patients without insurance and patients with deductible and copayment
balances due for which third-party coverage exists for a portion of the bill), the net realizable
value is determined using estimates of historical collection experience. These estimates are
adjusted for expected recoveries and any anticipated changes in trends, including significant
changes in payor mix, economic conditions or trends in federal and state governmental
health care coverage.
Other Accounts Receivable
Other accounts receivable includes various receivables not related to net patient service
revenue and are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding
balances.
Inventory
Inventory is valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or net realizable value.
Assets Limited as to Use
Assets limited as to use include assets the board of trustees have designated for
replacement and expansion of facilities, over which the board retains control and may at its
discretion subsequently use for other purposes, assets set aside to fund donor designations,
assets held by a trustee under revenue bond indenture agreements, and assets held to fund
deferred compensation plans.
Investments
ThedaCare’s investments include money market, fixed income and equity securities, which
are carried at fair value, based on quoted market prices, and are classified as trading
securities. Investment securities are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, credit,
and overall market volatility. In addition, ThedaCare invests in limited partnerships, limited
liability partnerships, and limited liability companies that hold interests in hedge funds,
private equity funds, real estate funds, and other commingled funds (collectively alternative
investments) which are recorded at net asset value (NAV) as a practical expedient to fair
value. Investment income or loss (including realized and unrealized gains and losses on
investments, interest, and dividends) is included in nonoperating income (expense) unless
the income or loss is restricted by donor or law. Realized gains and losses are determined
by specific identification.
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THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Fair Value of Measurements
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an ordinary transaction between market participants at the measurement date. A three-tier
hierarchy prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. These tiers include Level 1,
defined as observable inputs such as quoted market prices in active markets; Level 2,
defined as inputs other than quoted market prices in active markets that are either directly or
indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined a unobservable inputs in which little or no market
data exists, therefore, requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions. The asset’s or
liability’s fair value measurement within the hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any
input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
Land, Buildings, and Equipment
Land, buildings, and equipment are stated at cost or, if donated, at fair value at the date of
donation. Items of an ordinary maintenance or repair nature are charged directly to expense
as incurred, and major renewals or improvements that extend the useful life of the buildings
or equipment are capitalized. Interest cost incurred on borrowed funds during the period of
construction of capital assets is capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those
assets. Cost and related accumulated depreciation for property sold or otherwise retired are
removed from the accounts, and gains or losses on disposition are included in nonoperating
income (expense). Assets under capital leases are amortized over the shorter of the lease
period or the life of the asset.
Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method. Estimated
useful lives used for depreciation and amortization purposes are:
Land Improvements
Buildings and Improvements
Equipment
Computer Software

5 to 25 Years
10 to 40 Years
3 to 15 Years
3 to 5 Years

Bond Issuance Costs and Bond Premium
ThedaCare amortizes bond issuance costs and bond premium over the terms of the bonds.
The amortization is calculated using the effective interest method. Amortization is included
with interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
Intangible Assets
Intangible assets include patient relationships and other intangible assets which are
amortized over their estimated remaining economic lives. Amortization expense totaled
$729 and $361 in 2018 and 2017, respectively. Intangible assets, which are included in
investments in affiliates and other, were $1,771 and $-0- at December 31, in 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

(12)

THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Long-Lived Assets
ThedaCare periodically evaluates the carrying value of property and equipment for
impairment by comparing the carrying value of the property and equipment with the
estimated future net undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets,
including cash flows from disposition. Should the sum of the expected future net cash flows
be less than the carrying value, ThedaCare would recognize an impairment loss at that time.
No impairment losses were recognized in 2018 or 2017.
Net Assets
Net assets without donor restriction consist of investments and otherwise unrestricted
amounts that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations. Net assets with donor
restrictions are those whose use by ThedaCare has been limited by donor-imposed
restrictions. Some donor-imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those that
will be met by the passage of time or other events specified by the donor. Other donorimposed restrictions are perpetual in nature, where the donor stipulates that resources be
maintained in perpetuity. Donor-imposed restrictions are released when a restriction expires,
when the stipulated purpose for which the resource has been fulfilled, or both.
Patient Service Revenue
ThedaCare recognizes patient service revenue at the amount that reflects the consideration
to which ThedaCare expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care.
Charity Care
ThedaCare provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under its charity care policy
without charge or at amounts less than its established rates. Because collection is not
pursued on amounts determined to qualify as charity care, these amounts are not included
in patient service revenue.
The estimated cost of providing care to patients under ThedaCare’s charity care policy is
calculated by multiplying the ratio of cost-to-gross charges by the gross uncompensated
charity care charges. The estimated costs to provide care to patients under ThedaCare’s
charity care policy were $4,017 and $3,872 for 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Other Operating Revenue
Other operating revenue consists of rental income, equity in unconsolidated affiliates’
earnings, cafeteria and vending proceeds, medical records, risk-sharing revenue, and
various other revenue. Included in rental income are amounts from residential units, an
assisted living center, and various other entities occupying hospital and clinic space.
Medicaid Assessment Program Revenue
Wisconsin state regulations require eligible hospitals to pay the state an annual assessment.
The assessment period is the state’s fiscal year, which runs from July 1 through June 30.
The assessment is based on each hospital’s gross revenue, as defined. The revenue
generated from the assessment is to be used, in part, to increase overall reimbursement
under the Wisconsin Medicaid program.
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THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Net Operating Income
The accompanying consolidated statements of operations include the intermediate subtotal
net operating income. Nonoperating income (expense) includes investment income,
contributions net of related expenses, net periodic benefit cost other than service cost, and
nonrecurring gains and losses, which management views as outside of normal operating
activities.
Excess of Revenue Over Expenses
The accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets
include excess of revenue over expenses, which is considered the performance indicator.
Changes in unrestricted net assets, which are excluded from the operating indicator, include
changes in pension obligation other than net periodic pension cost, permanent transfer of
assets to and from affiliates for other than goods and services, contributions of long-lived
assets, and net assets released from donor restrictions for purchases of land, buildings, and
equipment.
Unconditional Promises to Give and Contributions
Unconditional promises to give cash and other assets are reported at fair value at the date
the promise is received. Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give
are reported at fair value at the date the gift is received. Contributions are considered
available for unrestricted uses unless specifically restricted by the donor. The gifts are
reported as net assets with donor restrictions if they are received with donor stipulations that
limit the use of donated assets. When a donor restriction expires, that is when a stipulated
time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor
restrictions are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as net
assets released from restrictions.
Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.
Income Taxes
The consolidated entities are nonprofit corporations as described in Section 501(c)(3) of the
Internal Revenue Code (IRC) and are exempt from federal income taxes on related income
pursuant to Section 501(a) of the IRC. The consolidated entities are also exempt from state
income taxes on related income.
New Accounting Pronouncements
Effective January 1, 2018, ThedaCare adopted FASB ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) using the full retrospective method of transition. This
ASU converged and replaced existing revenue recognition guidance, including industryspecific guidance and requires revenue to be recognized in an amount that reflects the
consideration the entity expects to be entitled to in an exchange of goods or services. The
adoption of this ASU did not result in changes to previously reported revenues, other than
presentation.
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THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)
ThedaCare also adopted FASB ASU No. 2016-14, Presentation of Financial Statements of
Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958). ASU No. 2016-14. This ASU requires a not-for-profit
entity to present on the face of the balance sheet amounts for two classes of net assets at
the end of the period (net assets with donor restrictions and net assets without donor
restrictions), rather than three classes previously required. This ASU also requires
qualitative and quantitative disclosures about the liquidity of assets at the balance sheet
date, purposes of any board designations on the use of resources, and expenses reported
by both functional and natural classifications. ThedaCare has adjusted the presentation of
these statements accordingly. The ASU has been applied retrospectively to all periods
presented. The adoption of this ASU did not result in changes to previously reported net
assets, other than presentation.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). This ASU
requires the rights and obligations arising from the lease contracts, including existing and
new arrangements, to be recognized as assets and liabilities on the balance sheet. The
ASU will require disclosures to help financial statement users better understand the amount,
timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. This ASU is effective for reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The primary
effect of adopting the ASU will be to record right-of-use assets and obligations for current
operating leases. ThedaCare is still evaluating the effect of adoption on its consolidated
financial statements.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-08, Not-for-Profit Entities – Clarifying the
Scope and Accounting Guidance for Contributions Received and Contributions Made (Topic
958). This ASU provides a more robust framework to determine when a transaction should
be accounted for as a contribution or as an exchange transaction and provides additional
guidance about how to determine whether a contribution is conditional. This ASU is effective
January 1, 2019, and ThedaCare is evaluating the effect of this ASU on its consolidated
financial statements.
Subsequent Events
ThedaCare has evaluated subsequent events for potential recognition and/or disclosure
through May 22, 2019, the date the consolidated financial statements were issued.
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THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 2

UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES
ThedaCare accounts for its investments in the following unconsolidated affiliates under the
equity method of accounting:
•

Gold Cross Ambulance Service, Inc. – ThedaCare owns 50% of Gold Cross
Ambulance Service, Inc., a nonprofit corporation formed by area hospitals to provide
ambulance services.

•

Premium Healthcare, Inc. – ThedaCare owns 50% of Premium Healthcare, Inc., a
corporation formed to assist in the administration of contracts on behalf of health
care providers and to develop and implement systems of utilization management and
quality control for services of health care providers.

•

Mosaic Family Health, Inc. – ThedaCare owns 50% of Mosaic Family Health, Inc.
which operates a physician residency program.

The total investment related to these affiliates in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets was $4,222 and $3,891 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Included in
other operating revenue are undistributed equity in net gains of these affiliates of $567 and
$433 for 2018 and 2017, respectively.
A summary of certain estimated financial data for ThedaCare’s unconsolidated affiliates
under the equity method of accounting as of and for the years ended December 31 is as
follows:
Total Assets

$

2018
9,879

$

2017
9,340

Net Assets

$

8,898

$

7,627

Operating and Total Revenue

$

616

$

11,105

Excess of Revenue over Expenses

$

567

$

405

ThedaCare also has investments in unconsolidated affiliates accounted for under the cost
method. The carrying value of these affiliates was $5,967 and $5,967 at December 31, 2018
and 2017, respectively.
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THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 3

NET PATIENT SERVICE REVENUE
Net patient service revenue is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration to which
ThedaCare expects to be paid for providing patient care. These amounts, representing
transaction price, are due from patients, third-party payors (including health insurers and
government programs), and others and includes variable consideration for retroactive
revenue adjustments due to settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally,
ThedaCare bills the patients and third-party payors several days after the services are
performed and/or the patient is discharged from the facility. Revenue is recognized as
performance obligations are satisfied.
Performance obligations are determined based on the nature of the services provided.
Revenue for performance obligations satisfied over time is recognized based on actual
charges incurred in relation to total expected or actual charges. ThedaCare believes that
this method provides a faithful depiction of the transfer of services over the term of the
performance obligation based on the inputs needed to satisfy the obligation. Generally,
performance obligations satisfied over time relate to patients receiving inpatient acute care
services or patients receiving services in our outpatient Clinics or in their homes (home
care). ThedaCare measures the performance obligation from admission into the hospital to
the point when it is no longer required to provide services to that patient, which is generally
at the time of discharge Revenue for performance obligations satisfied at a point in time is
recognized when goods or services are provided and ThedaCare does not believe it is
required to provide additional goods or services to the patient.
Because all of its performance obligations relate to contracts with a duration of less than one
year, ThedaCare has elected to apply the optional exemption provided in FASB ASC 60610-50-14(a) and, therefore, is not required to disclose the aggregate amount of the
transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. The unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied
performance obligations referred to above are primarily related to inpatient acute care
services at the end of the reporting period. The performance obligations for these contracts
are generally completed when the patients are discharged, which generally occurs within
days or weeks of the end of the reporting period.
ThedaCare uses a portfolio approach to account for categories of patient contracts as a
collective group, rather than recognizing revenue on an individual contract basis. The
portfolios consist of major payor classes for inpatient revenue and outpatient revenue.
Based on the historical collection trends and other analysis, ThedaCare believes that
revenue recognized by utilizing the portfolio approach approximates the revenue that would
have been recognized if an individual contract approach were used.
ThedaCare determines the transaction price based on standard charges for goods and
services provided, reduced by contractual adjustments provided to third-party payors,
discounts provided to uninsured patients in accordance with ThedaCare’s policy, and/or
implicit price concessions provided to uninsured patients. Estimated contractual adjustments
and discounts are based on contractual agreements, its discount policy (or policies), and
historical experience. Estimated implicit price concessions are based on its historical
collection experience with this class of patients.
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THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 3

NET PATIENT REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Laws and regulations concerning government programs, including Medicare and Medicaid,
are complex and subject to varying interpretation. Compliance with such laws and
regulations may also be subject to future government review and interpretation as well as
significant regulatory action, including fines, penalties, and potential exclusion from the
related programs. There can be no assurance that regulatory authorities will not challenge
ThedaCare’s compliance with these laws and regulations, and it is not possible to determine
the impact (if any) such claims or penalties would have upon ThedaCare. In addition, the
contracts ThedaCare has with commercial payors also provide for retroactive audit and
review of claims.
Settlements with third-party payors for retroactive adjustments due to audits, reviews, or
investigations are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of
the estimated transaction price for providing patient care. These settlements are estimated
based on the terms of the payment agreement with the payor, correspondence from the
payor and historical settlement activity, including an assessment to ensure that it is probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur
when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved.
Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known (that is,
new information becomes available), or as years are settled or are no longer subject to such
audits, reviews, and investigations. During 2018 and 2017, successful appeals, cost report
settlement, and other adjustments pertaining to prior year estimates of variables resulted in
an increase (decrease) in net patient service revenue of $(806) and $(1,310), respectively.
Generally patients who are covered by third-party payors are responsible for related
deductibles and coinsurance, which vary in amount. ThedaCare also provides services to
uninsured patients, and offers those uninsured patients a discount, either by policy or law,
from standard charges. ThedaCare estimates the transaction price for patients with
deductibles and coinsurance and from those who are uninsured based on historical
experience and current market conditions. The initial estimate of the transaction price is
determined by reducing the standard charge by any contractual adjustments, discounts, and
implicit price concessions. Subsequent changes to the estimate of the transaction price are
generally recorded as adjustments to net patient service revenue in the period of the
change.
ThedaCare provides care to patients regardless of their ability to pay. Therefore, ThedaCare
has determined it has provided implicit price concessions to uninsured patients and patients
with other uninsured balance (for example, copays, and deductibles). The implicit price
concessions included in estimating the transaction price represent the difference between
amounts billed to patients and the amount ThedaCare expects to collect based on its
collection history with those patients.
Patients who meet ThedaCare’s criteria for charity care are provided care without charge or
at amounts less than established rates. Such amounts determined to qualify as charity care
are not reported as revenue.
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THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 3

NET PATIENT REVENUE (CONTINUED)
The composition of net patient service revenue recognized in the period by type of service is
as follows:
Hospitals
Ancillary Services
Medical Specialties
Surgical Specialties
Primary Care
Post Acure
TCAW
Net Patient Service Revenue

$

$

2018
677,556
33,784
33,671
39,717
109,280
51,191
11,303
956,502

$

$

2017
606,200
33,824
27,206
39,700
103,873
41,783
10,140
862,726

Medicare and Medicaid revenue as a percentage of patient service revenue was
approximately 57.6% and 55.6% in 2018 and 2017, respectively.
The composition of patient service revenue by major payor sources for the years ended
December 31 is as follows:
2018
Medicare, Medicaid, Health Maintenance Organization
Plans, and Other Third-Party Payors
Uninsured Patients
Net Patient Service Revenue

NOTE 4

$
$

932,028
24,474
956,502

2017
$
$

840,334
22,392
862,726

REIMBURSEMENT ARRANGEMENTS WITH THIRD-PARTY PAYORS
Agreements are maintained with third-party payors that provide for reimbursement at
amounts that vary from ThedaCare’s established rates. A summary of the basis of
reimbursement with major third-party payors follows:
Government Payors
TCN and TCA
• Medicare – Inpatient hospital acute care services are paid at prospectively
determined rates per discharge. These rates vary according to a patient classification
system that is based on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors. Outpatient services
are reimbursed primarily on a prospective payment methodology based on a patient
classification system.
•

Medicaid – Inpatient and outpatient services are reimbursed primarily based on
prospectively determined rates.
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THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 4

REIMBURSEMENT ARRANGEMENTS WITH THIRD-PARTY PAYORS (CONTINUED)
Government Payors
TCNL, TCW, TCS, TCB, and TCWR
These hospitals operate as critical access hospitals (CAH). Under the CAH designation,
inpatient and outpatient hospital services rendered to Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries
are paid based on a cost- reimbursement methodology.
Physician Clinics
Clinics are reimbursed by Medicare based on federally established fixed fee schedules.
Medicaid reimbursement is based on the lower of each clinic’s cost or a specified rate per
visit.
Other Providers
Nursing home, behavioral health, and home health and hospice services are reimbursed
by Medicare and Medicaid based on fee schedules or prospectively determined rates per
day or episode of care.
Other Payors
ThedaCare has entered into payment agreements with commercial insurance carriers,
health maintenance organizations, and preferred provider organizations. The basis for
payment under these agreements includes prospectively determined rates per discharge,
discounts from established charges, fee schedules, and prospectively determined daily
rates.
Accounting for Contractual Arrangements
Certain Medicare services are reimbursed at tentative rates, with final settlements
determined after audit of the related annual cost reports. The cost reports have
been audited by Medicare fiscal intermediaries for TCN, TCA, TCNL & TCWR through
December 31, 2015, and for all other Hospitals through December 31, 2014.
Accountable Care Organizations
ThedaCare participates in several risk-sharing arrangements with third-party payors through
Accountable Care Organization (ACO) models. Generally, these arrangements reward
ThedaCare through additional reimbursement for meeting certain patient-quality measures
and reducing costs. However, some arrangements also include a sharing of losses, as
defined in the respective agreement, if certain quality measures or cost savings are not met.
Accruals from these arrangements are typically based on data provided by the third-party
payor. As part of certain of these risk-sharing arrangements, ThedaCare was required to
obtain an annual letter of credit for $1,614, which expires December 31, 2019. No amounts
have been drawn on the letter of credit. During 2018 and 2017, ThedaCare recorded
revenue of $7,362 and $5,844, respectively, related to the ACO arrangements. These
amounts are included in other operating revenue in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.
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THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 4

REIMBURSEMENT ARRANGEMENTS WITH THIRD-PARTY PAYORS (CONTINUED)
Compliance
The health care industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations of federal, state, and
local governments. Compliance with these laws and regulations, particularly those relating
to the Medicare and Medicaid programs, can be subject to government review and
interpretation, as well as regulatory actions unknown and unasserted at this time. Violations
by health care providers of laws and regulations could result in the imposition of significant
fines and penalties, as well as significant repayments of previously billed and collected
revenue from patient services.
CMS uses recovery audit contractors (RACs) as part of its efforts to ensure accurate
payments. RACs search for potentially inaccurate Medicare payments that may have been
made to health care providers and not detected through existing CMS program integrity
efforts. Once a RAC identifies a claim it believes is inaccurate, CMS makes a deduction
from or addition to the provider’s Medicare reimbursement in an amount estimated to equal
the overpayment or underpayment. The provider will then have an opportunity to appeal the
adjustment before final settlement of the claim is made.

NOTE 5

LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY
ThedaCare invests cash in excess of short-term requirements in investments. As of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, ThedaCare has working capital of $669,609 and $697,438,
respectively.
Financial assets available for general expenditure, that is, without donor or other restrictions
limiting their use, within one year of the balance sheet date, comprise the following:
2018
Financial Assets at Year-End:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Short-Term Investments
Patient Accounts Receivables, Net
Other Accounts Receivables
Investments
Total Financial Assets Available within One Year
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$

$

111,916
353,898
136,386
6,018
179,038
787,256

2017
$

$

29,146
428,792
126,075
10,053
203,222
797,288

THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 6

INVESTMENTS AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair
value, including assets held in ThedaCare’s defined benefit retirement plans (see Note 9).
•

Money market funds are measured using $1 as NAV.

•

Mutual funds are valued at the daily closing price as reported by the fund. These
funds are registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and are
required to publish their daily NAV and to transact at that price.

•

Alternative investments are reported using their NAV as a practical expedient, or
using the Family of Foundations’ proportional share of the underlying investments as
reported by the investment issuer. These funds are made up of several underlying
managers, each of whom manages their own portfolio. Fair value is determined
based on the fair value of the underlying investments. In substantiating the
reasonableness of the pricing of alternative investments, management evaluates a
variety of factors including recently executed transactions, economic conditions,
industry and market developments, and overall credit ratings. In accordance with
ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, alternative investments that
are measured using NAV as a practical expedient have not been classified in the fair
value hierarchy.

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be
indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while Family
of Foundations believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other
market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair
value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the
reporting date.

(22)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 6

INVESTMENTS AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
The tables below present the balances of assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis
by level within the hierarchy as of December 31:
2018
Money Market Funds
U.S. Government and Agency Obligations
Corporate Bonds and Asset-Backed Securities
Mutual Funds:
Equities
Fixed Income
Alternative Investments Using NAV as
Practical Expedient:
Funds of Funds
Private Equity
Real Estate
Total

$

$

Level 1
9,257
-

Level 2
$

Level 3

45,323
27,963

$

-

$

Total
9,257
45,323
27,963

188,194
79,115

-

-

188,194
79,115

276,566

73,286

-

115,596
37,765
57,909
561,122

$

$

$

2017
Money Market Funds
U.S. Government and Agency Obligations
Corporate Bonds and Asset-Backed Securities
Mutual Funds:
Equities
Fixed Income
Alternative Investments:
Funds of Funds
Real Estate
Private Equity
Alternative Investments Using NAV as
Expedient - Funds of Funds
Total

$

$

Level 1
8,939
-

Level 2
$

Level 3

43,798
24,141

$

-

$

Total
8,939
43,798
24,141

300,436
40,157

-

-

300,436
40,157

-

-

31,387
31,870
22,579

31,387
31,870
22,579

349,532

$

67,939

$

85,836

$

159,201
662,508

The changes in Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized
as follows:
Balance at Beginning
Purchases
Total Net Gains Included in Excess of
Revenue over Expenses
Sales
Transfer to NAV as Practical Expedient
Balance at End

$

$
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2018
85,836
(85,836)
-

$

$

2017
74,050
13,486
10,586
(12,286)
85,836

THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 6

INVESTMENTS AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
The following table sets forth additional disclosures of ThedaCare’s alternative investments
as of December 31, 2018:
Net Asset

Unfunded

Redemption

Redemption

Value

Commitments

Frequency

Notice Period

Alternative Investments:
Funds of Funds (a)

$
$

63,782 Ranges from Quarterly

190,588

Lockup
Period

Ranges from 30-Day

Fair Value of $8,547 Subject

to Every Two Years,

Notice to 180-Day

to a 2-Year Lockup, $4,011

Real Estate (b)

31,870

Depending on the Terms

Notice, Depending

Subject to a 6-Year Lockup;

Private Equity (c)

22,579

of the Fund.

on the Terms of

$3,063 Subject to an 8-Year

the Fund.

Lockup; $50,449 Subject to a
10-Year Lockup; $1,460
Subject to an 11-Year Lockup;
$5,972 Subject to a 12-Year
Lockup and $4,411 Subject
to a 14-Year Lockup.

(a) This class invests primarily in offshore partnerships and seeks superior absolute returns
with low correlation to global equity and fixed income markets.
(b) This class seeks predictable returns from a targeted portfolio of income-producing real
estate.
(c) This class seeks significant value appreciation of their portfolio companies through
active management strategies or by investing in funds that invest in venture capital
companies.
Investments were classified in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31 as follows:
Short-Term Investments
Investments
Assets Limited as to Use
Total

$

$

2018
353,898
179,038
28,186
561,122

$

$

2017
428,792
203,222
30,494
662,508

Investment return is comprised of and classified as follows in the consolidated financial
statements for the years ended December 31:
Interest Income and Dividends
Net Realized Gains on Investment and
Assets Limited as to Use
Net Change in Unrealized Gains and Losses on
Investments and Assets Limited as to Use
Total Investment Return, Net
Unrestricted - Investment Income
Total Donor Restricted Investment Income
Total Investment Return
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$

2018
13,390

$

15,328

21,415

$
$
$

(62,366)
(27,561)
(27,274)
(287)
(27,561)

2017
7,879

$
$
$

74,439
97,646
96,877
769
97,646

THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 7

LAND, BUILDINGS, AND EQUIPMENT
A summary of land, buildings, and equipment and the related accumulated depreciation and
amortization is as follows at December 31:
Land and Improvements
Buildings and Improvements
Equipment
Computer Software
Construction in Progress
Buildings and Equipment under Capital Leases
Total Land, Buildings, and Equipment
Less: Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization
Land, Buildings, and Equipment, Net

$

$

2018
43,534
612,251
442,069
4,623
9,636
8,996
1,121,109
(650,170)
470,939

$

$

2017
36,100
618,567
416,716
4,474
8,972
5,796
1,090,625
(618,787)
471,838

Accumulated amortization on buildings and equipment under capital leases at December 31,
2018 and 2017 was $1,496 and $2,585, respectively.
Depreciation and amortization expense on land, buildings, and equipment for 2018 and
2017 was $47,213 and $45,427, respectively.
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, construction in progress related to general construction
projects and major equipment purchases. At December 31, 2018, ThedaCare had
commitments totaling $10,360 related to general construction projects and major equipment
purchases.
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NOTE 8

LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt is summarized as follows at December 31:
Description

2018

Wisconsin Health and Education Finance Authority
(WHEFA) Revenue Bonds, Series 2009A, interest at
3.50% to 5.50%, due in installments through 2038.

$

75,680

2017

$

77,800

WHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2009B, interest at
4.00% to 5.00%, due in installments through 2020.

6,330

9,290

WHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2010, interest at
2.50% to 5.50%, due in installments through 2027.

14,175

15,485

WHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2012, interest at
2.37%, due in installments beginning in 2021 continuing
through 2030.

49,745

49,745

9,804

10,304

118,525

120,380

Note payable City of Shawano, Wisconsin Industrial
Development Revenue Bonds, Series 2006, interest at
4.93%, due in installments through 2031, the interest
rate becomes variable in October 2021.

3,969

4,186

Note payable to Cancer Specialists of NE Wisconsin
Equipment Leasing, LLC, interest at 5.00%, due in
installments through 2021.

1,823

-

Capital Lease Obligations

5,664

3,237

285,715

290,427

WHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2014A, variable rate
(2.56% at December 31, 2018), due in installments
through 2024.
WHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2015, interest at
3.00% to 5.00%, due in installments through 2044.

Total Long-Term Debt
Plus: Unamortized Original Issue Bond Premium
Less: Bond Issuance Costs

11,392
(2,503)

Subtotal
Less: Current Portion
Long-Term Debt, Net of Current Portion
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$

12,237
(2,744)

294,604

299,920

(12,124)

(10,014)

282,480

$

289,906

THEDACARE, INC. AND AFFILIATES
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NOTE 8

LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)
The loans and related agreements with WHEFA and the city of Shawano provide, among
other things, that ThedaCare and the Hospitals (the Obligated Group) are jointly and
severally liable for the debt service on all obligations issued thereunder. Under the terms of
the agreements, various amounts are being held on deposit with a trustee for bond
redemption, interest payments, and certain construction expenditures. In addition, the
master trust indenture requires the Obligated Group to maintain certain financial ratios and
places restrictions on various activities such as the transfer of assets and incurrence of
additional indebtedness.
Scheduled payments on all long-term debt as of December 31, 2018 are as follows:
Bonds and
Notes Payable
$
11,219
11,693
12,432
12,508
12,805
219,394
$
280,051

Year Ending December 31,
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total

NOTE 9

Capital
Leases
$
904
930
749
159
173
2,749
$
5,664

$

$

Total
12,123
12,623
13,181
12,667
12,978
222,143
285,715

LEASE COMMITMENTS
Lease expense charged to operations for all operating leases was $22,710 and $21,438 in
2018 and 2017, respectively. As of December 31, 2018, future minimum lease payments
under all operating leases with initial or remaining noncancelable lease terms in excess of
one year are as follows:
Year Ending December 31,
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total
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$

$

Amount
12,745
12,026
8,974
6,301
4,858
4,397
49,301
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NOTE 10 DEFERRED EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS AND PENSION PLANS
Defined Contribution Plans
ThedaCare offers a defined contribution 403(6) savings plan in which substantially all
employees may participate. For employees age 19 and over, the Plan includes a 75% match
on the first 4% of eligible wages contributed to the Plan by employees, plus a discretionary
employer contribution of 3% of eligible wages to employees who meet a minimum-hours
requirement and are employed as of the last day of the Plan year (December 31).
TCB sponsors a defined contribution retirement plan covering substantially all of its
employees. TCB matched each participant’s contribution from 2% to 4% of covered
earnings based on years of service. The Plan was frozen effective December 31, 2014.
TCWR sponsors a discretionary contribution retirement plan covering substantially all of its
employees. TCWR contributed 3% of participant employees’ gross base wages to the Plan.
The Plan was frozen effective December 31, 2014.
Total defined contribution expense was $21,848 and $20,674 during 2018 and 2017,
respectively.
Deferred Compensation
ThedaCare provides certain executive compensation plans that vest over a one to five-year
period. Related liabilities are $9,906 and $12,029 at December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. Liabilities are included in deferred employee benefit obligations in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet. Related assets are included in assets limited as
to use (Note 5).
Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits
The ThedaCare Pension Plan, which was frozen in 2009, is a defined benefit pension plan
that covered all full- and many part-time employees of ThedaCare who had completed one
year of service and attained the age of 21. ThedaCare funds contributions to the Plan based
on actuarial computations using the projected unit credit method. Benefits are based on
years of service and the employee’s average compensation for the five highest consecutive
years of service. There is no anticipated required contribution for ThedaCare’s pension plan
for the year ending December 31, 2018.
ThedaCare also provides certain benefits to eligible employees after their retirement date.
Such benefits include life insurance and the additional claims cost in excess of standard
premiums for medical and dental benefits. ThedaCare funds benefit costs on a pay-as-yougo basis. The contribution for ThedaCare’s other postretirement benefits for the year ending
December 31, 2019 is anticipated to be $345.
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NOTE 10 DEFERRED EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS AND PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)
Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits (Continued)
Information regarding the benefit obligations and assets of the pension and postretirement
benefit plans as of and for the years ended December 31 is as follows:
Pension Benefits
2018
2017
Actuarial Present Value of Benefit Obligations Accumulated Benefit Obligation
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation:
Projected Benefit Obligation at Beginning
Settlement (Gain) or Loss
Interest Cost
Actuarial (Gains) Losses
Benefits Paid

$

223,806

$

263,389

$

4,930

$

6,193

$

263,389
2,240
8,653
(26,181)
(24,295)

$

249,853
835
9,620
27,500
(24,418)

$

6,193
364
205
(1,492)
(340)

$

6,165
356
239
(187)
(380)

Projected Benefit Obligation at End of
Measurement Period

223,806

263,390

Change in Plan Assets:
Fair Value of Plan Assets at Beginning of
Measurement Period
Actual Return (Loss) on Plan Assets
Employer Contributions
Benefits Paid

197,093
(16,718)
10,000
(24,295)

186,136
25,375
10,000
(24,418)

Fair Value of Plan Assets at End of
Measurement Period

166,080

197,093

Funded Status at End of Measurement Period

Other Postretirement Benefits
2018
2017

$

(57,726)

$

(66,297)

4,930

6,193

340
(340)

380
(380)

$

(4,930)

$

(6,193)

Components of net periodic benefit cost and other amounts recognized in changes in
unrestricted net assets are as follows:
Pension Benefits
2018
2017
Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets Consist of the Following - LongTerm Deferred Employee Benefit Obligations

$

Amounts Recognized in Unrestricted Net Assets Net Actuarial Loss (Gain)

57,726

73,655

(29)

$

66,297

84,771

Other Postretirement Benefits
2018
2017
$

4,930

(1,001)

$

6,193

491
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NOTE 10 DEFERRED EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS AND PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)
Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits (Continued)
Components of net periodic benefit cost and other amounts recognized in changes in
unrestricted net assets are as follows at December 31:
Pension Benefits
2018
2017
Net Periodic Benefit Cost:
Service Cost
Interest Cost on Projected Benefit Obligation
Expected Loss on Plan Assets
Amortization of Net Losses
Settlement/Curtailment Charge
Net Periodic Benefit Cost

$

Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit
Obligations Recognized in Unrestricted
Net Assets:
Net Actuarial (Gain) Loss Arising
During the Period
Amortization of Net Actuarial Loss
Total Other Changes in Plan Assets and
Benefit Obligations
Total Recognized in Net Periodic Benefit
Cost and Unrestricted Net Assets

8,653
(8,110)
6,068
5,936
12,547

$

887
(12,003)

1,431

9,620
(9,283)
5,754
5,916
12,007

$

12,243
(11,670)

(11,116)

$

Other Postretirement Benefits
2018
2017

573

$

12,580

$

364
205
569

$

356
239
6
601

(1,492)
-

(187)
(6)

(1,492)

(193)

(923)

$

408

The estimated net actuarial loss for the defined benefit pension plan that will be amortized
from unrestricted net assets into net periodic benefit cost during 2019 will be $5,432.
The following weighted average assumptions were used to estimate the benefit obligation at
December 31 and the net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31:
Pension Benefits
2018
2017
4.25 %
3.40 %
3.40
4.00

Discount Rate (Benefit Obligation)
Discount Rate (Benefit Cost)
Assumed Rate of Return on Plan Assets
(Benefit Cost)

5.25

5.25

Other Postretirement Benefits
2018
2017
4.25 %
3.40 %
3.40
4.00
N/A

N/A

For 2018 and 2017, ThedaCare used the MP-2018 and MP-2017 mortability tables,
respectively, to develop the pension benefit obligation.
To develop the expected long-term rate of return on asset assumptions, ThedaCare
considered the historical returns and future expectations for returns in each asset class, as
well as targeted asset allocation percentages within the pension portfolio. This resulted in
the selection of long-term rate of return on asset assumptions of 5.25% for 2018 and 2017.
For postretirement benefit obligation measurement purposes, a 9.0% annual rate of
increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits is assumed for 2019. The rate
is assumed to decrease by 0.5% per year to 5.0% in 2027 and remain at that level
thereafter.
(30)
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NOTE 10 DEFERRED EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS AND PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)
Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits (Continued)
The assumed health care cost trend assumption has a significant effect on the amounts
reported for the postretirement benefit obligation. A one-percentage-point change in the
assumed health care cost trend rate would have the following effects:
One Percentage One Percentage
Point Decrease Point Increase
$
61
$
(52)
398
(348)

Effect on Service and Interest Cost Components in 2018
Effect on Postretirement Benefit Obligation as of December 31, 2018

The following estimated future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as
appropriate, are as follows:
Year Ending December 31,
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024 through 2028

Pension
Benefits
$
17,112
17,515
17,617
17,276
16,754
74,431

Postretirement
Benefits
$
345
440
505
510
575
2,685

Plan Assets
The pension fund is managed in accordance with the documents, policies, applicable laws,
and regulations of the pension investment policy. The pension investment policy includes
specific guidelines for quality, asset concentration, asset mix, asset allocations, and
performance expectations. The pension funds are reviewed for compliance with the pension
investment policy by the finance committee.
The asset mix was as follows for the years ended December 31:
2018
Fixed Income Mutual Funds (Includes Cash and
Cash Equivalents Maintained to Meet Anticipated
Plan Expenses and Distributions)
Equity Mutual Funds
Total

(31)

73 %
27
100 %

2017

71 %
29
100 %
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NOTE 10 DEFERRED EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS AND PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)
Plan Assets (Continued)
The fair values of pension plan assets by asset category at December 31 were as follows:
2018
Money Market Funds
Domestic Equity Mutual Funds
International Equity Mutual Funds
Fixed Income Mutual Funds
Total

$

$

Level 1
6,511
32,556
12,224
114,789
166,080

Level 2
$

Level 3
-

$

$

-

$

$

$

Totals
6,511
32,556
12,224
114,789
166,080

2017
Money Market Funds
Domestic Equity Mutual Funds
International Equity Mutual Funds
Fixed Income Mutual Funds
Total

$

$

Level 1
8,654
40,631
16,481
131,327
197,093

Level 2
$

$

Level 3
-

$

$

-

$

$

Totals
8,654
40,631
16,481
131,327
197,093

NOTE 11 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION
ThedaCare has elected to pay for unemployment compensation benefits on a
reimbursement basis and filed letters of credit in the aggregate amount of $9,327 at
December 31, 2018 and 2017 with the Wisconsin Department of Industry, Labor, and
Human Relations.
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NOTE 12 NET ASSETS CLASSIFICATION
Net assets with donor restrictions were available for the following purposes at December 31:
Subject to Expenditure for Specific Purpose
Capital Expenditures - Campaign Fund
Programs:
ThedaCare Community Fund
Berlin Area Children᾽s Fund
Nursing and Clinical Education Fund
Helping Hands Cancer Fund
Capital Expenditures or Programs:
Peabody Heritage Fund
Aylward Surgery Center
Oncology Fund
Cancer Fund
Breast Center
Urology
Appleton Medical Center
ThedaStar
Collaborative Care
Various
Pledges Due to Time Restrictions
Total

2018
$

Not Subject to Appropriation or Expenditure
Shattuck Fund
John G. and Mary Alsted Strange Memorial Fund
Children᾽s Endowment
Peabody Heritage Endowment
TC Endowment Fund
Auxiliary Volunteer Service Scholarship
Boldt Family Fund
Various
Total
Total Net Assets With Donor Restrictions
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$

2017
199

$

244

1,231
841
450
113

1,977
850
475
135

1,114
846
309
232
226
186
175
171
106
2,539
8,738

1,163
751
330
272
218
202
181
170
106
2,643
7
9,724

3,124
1,000
425
299
208
183
149
850
6,238

3,124
1,000
425
299
208
183
149
850
6,238

14,976

$

15,962
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NOTE 13 ENDOWMENT FUNDS
The endowment funds include both donor-restricted endowment funds and funds designated
by the board of trustees to function as endowments. Net assets associated with the
endowment funds are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donorimposed restrictions.
Interpretation of Relevant Law
ThedaCare is subject to the Wisconsin Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds
Act (UPMIFA) and, thus, classifies amounts in its donor-restricted endowment funds as net
assets with donor restrictions because those net assets are time restricted until the board of
directors appropriates such amounts for expenditure. Most of those net assets are also
subject to purpose restrictions that must be met before reclassifying those net assets to net
assets without donor restrictions. The board of directors has interpreted UPMIFA as not
requiring the maintenance of purchasing power of the original gift amount contributed to an
endowment fund, unless a donor stipulates to the contrary. As a result of this interpretation,
when reviewing its donor-restricted endowment funds, ThedaCare considers a fund to be
underwater if the fair value of the fund is less than the sum of (a) the original value of initial
and subsequent gift amounts donated to the fund and (b) any accumulations to the fund that
are required to be maintained in perpetuity in accordance with the direction of the applicable
donor gift instrument. ThedaCare has interpreted UPMIFA to permit spending from
underwater funds in accordance with the prudent measures required under the law.
Additionally, in accordance with UPMIFA, ThedaCare considers the following factors in
making a determination to appropriate or accumulate donor restricted endowment funds:
-

The duration and preservation of the fund
The purposes of ThedaCare and the donor-restricted endowment fund
General economic conditions
The possible effect of inflation and deflation
The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments
Other resources of ThedaCare
The investment policy of ThedaCare
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NOTE 13 ENDOWMENT FUNDS NT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Interpretation of Relevant Law (Continued)
ThedaCare’s endowment net asset composition by type of fund is as follows at
December 31:
2018
Without Donor

With Donor

Restrictions
Donor Restricted

Restrictions

$

Board Designated

-

$

2,600

Total Funds

$

2,600

Total

6,666

$

6,666

$

9,266

$

6,666

2,600

2017
Without Donor

With Donor

Restrictions
Donor Restricted

Restrictions

$

Board Designated

-

$

2,447

Total Funds

$

2,447

Total

6,829

$

6,829

$

6,829

2,447
$

9,276

The changes in endowment by net asset class for ThedaCare were as follows:

Endowment Net Assets at December 31, 2016

$

Investment Return - Investment Income
Contributions
Release of Board-Designated Endowment

Without Donor

With Donor

Restrictions

Restrictions

2,056

$

Total

6,703

$

8,759

397

313

-

1

710
1

(6)

-

(6)

Appropriation of Endowment Assets for
Expenditure

-

Endowment Net Assets at December 31, 2017

(188)

2,447

Investment Return - Investment Income

154

Contributions
Release of Board-Designated Endowment

(188)

6,829

9,276

(147)

7

-

1

1

(1)

-

(1)

Appropriation of Endowment Assets for
Expenditure

-

Endowment Net Assets at December 31, 2018

$

2,600

(17)
$

6,666

(17)
$

9,266

Funds With Deficiencies
From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted
endowment funds may fall below the level that the donor requires ThedaCare to retain as a
fund of perpetual duration. There were no deficiencies of this nature as of December 31,
2018 and 2017.
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NOTE 13 ENDOWMENT FUNDS NT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Return Objectives and Risk Parameters
ThedaCare has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that
attempt to provide a predictable stream of funding to programs supported by its endowment
funds while seeking to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets.
Endowment assets include those assets of donor-restricted funds that the organization must
hold in perpetuity or for a donor-specified period(s), as well as board- designated funds.
Under this policy, as approved by the board of trustees, the endowment assets are invested
in a manner that is intended to produce results that exceed the price and yield results of the
S&P 500 Index while assuming a moderate level of investment risk.
Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives
To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, ThedaCare relies on a total return strategy
in which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and
unrealized) and current yield (interest and dividends). ThedaCare targets a diversified asset
allocation that places a greater emphasis on equity-based investments to achieve its longterm return objectives within prudent risk constraints.
Spending Policy and How the Investment Objectives Relate to Spending Policy
ThedaCare has a policy of appropriating for distribution each year 5% rate of return to be
based on a three-year rolling average at year-end. In establishing this policy, ThedaCare
considered the long-term expected return on its endowment.
NOTE 14 MALPRACTICE INSURANCE
ThedaCare has professional liability insurance for claim losses of less than $1,000 per claim
and $3,000 per year for claims incurred during a policy year regardless of when claims are
reported (occurrence coverage). ThedaCare is insured against losses in excess of these
amounts through its mandatory participation in the Patients’ Compensation Fund of the state
of Wisconsin. The professional liability insurance policy is renewable annually and has been
renewed by the insurance carrier for the annual period extending through June 1, 2018.
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NOTE 15 FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES
ThedaCare provides general health care and other services to residents within its
geographic locations including hospital, ambulatory, and retirement center services.
Expenses related to providing these services were as follows for the years ended December
31:
2018

Compensation and Benefits
Supplies and Services
Depreciation and Amortization
Interest Expense
Medicaid Assessment Program Expenses
Total

Hospiital
Services
$
278,808
261,827
30,837
44
8,977
$
580,493

Ambulatory
Services
$
144,166
52,655
6,659
70
$
203,550

Post Acute
Services
$
34,489
18,470
2,470
44
$
55,473

General and
Administrative
$
59,736
48,977
7,977
12,310
$
129,000

Total
Expenses
$
517,199
381,929
47,943
12,424
9,021
$
968,516

2017
Program Services:
Hospital Services
Ambulatory Services
Retirement Center Services
Medicaid Assessment Program Expense
General and Administrative
Total Expenses

$

$

563,232
220,852
49,977
9,454
58,313
901,828

The financial statements report certain categories of expenses that are attributable to more
than one program or supporting function. Therefore, these expenses require allocation on a
reasonable basis that is consistently applied. This includes the split between hospital
services, ambulatory services and post-acute services, which is allocated based on a
percent of total departmental revenue.
NOTE 16 CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK
Financial instruments that expose credit risk consist principally of cash deposits in excess of
insured limits in financial institutions, investments which are uninsured, and accounts
receivable.
Cash – ThedaCare maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts. Amounts on deposit
exceeded the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insured limits at December 31, 2017.
Management regularly monitors ThedaCare’s cash balances along with the financial
condition of the financial institutions to minimize this potential risk.
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NOTE 16 CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)
Accounts Receivable – ThedaCare grants credit without collateral to its patients, most of
whom are local residents of the Fox Valley area of Wisconsin and insured under third-party
payor agreements. The mix of receivables from patients and third-party payors are
approximately as follows at December 31:
2018
Medicare
Commercial Programs
Self-Pay
Medicaid
Totals

41 %
37
15
7
100 %

2017
41 %
36
14
9
100 %

NOTE 17 SELF-FUNDED INSURANCE
ThedaCare sponsors self-funded health and dental plans, which provide medical and dental
benefits to its employees and their dependents. Health and dental costs are expensed as
incurred. Health and dental expense includes claims paid, reinsurance premiums,
administration fees, and unpaid claims at year-end. Self-funded health and dental expense
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $49,631 and $54,843, respectively.
A liability of $7,878 and $7,419 for claims outstanding has been recorded at December 31,
2018 and 2017, respectively.
ThedaCare is also self-insured for workers’ compensation claims for claims under $1,000.
ThedaCare is insured by a third-party for workers’ compensation claims in excess of $1,000.
Workers’ compensation claims are expensed as incurred, and expense includes claims paid
and unpaid claims at year-end. ThedaCare has filed a letter of credit in the amount of
$2,600 with the state related to the self-insured workers’ compensation plan. A liability of
$3,875 and $3,572 for workers’ compensation claims outstanding has been recorded at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE
A brief description of the Amended and Restated Master Indenture, which is being adopted simultaneously with
the issuance of the Corporation’s Series 2019 Bonds with the requisite consent or deemed consent of a majority of the
Noteholders, is set forth below. This description does not purport to be comprehensive or definitive. All references in this
Official Statement to the Master Indenture are qualified in their entirety by reference to this document, a copy of which are
available at the offices of the Bond Trustee.
DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS
“Accountant’s Certificate” shall mean a certificate prepared and executed by a nationally recognized firm of
independent certified public accountants.
“Additional Indebtedness” shall mean any Indebtedness incurred or assumed subsequent to the date of the Master
Indenture.
“Authority” means the Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority.
“Balloon Indebtedness” shall mean Indebtedness, 25% or more of the original principal amount of which matures
during any consecutive twelve-month period, if such maturing principal amount is not required to be amortized below such
percentage by mandatory redemption or prepayment prior to such twelve-month period. Balloon Indebtedness does not
include Indebtedness which otherwise would be classified under the Master Indenture as Put Indebtedness.
“Board of Trustees” shall mean either the Board of Trustees of the Corporation or any duly authorized committee
of that Board (and not the Governing Body of any other Obligated Issuer).
“Book Value” shall mean, when used in connection with Property of the Corporation or any other Obligated
Issuer, that value of such Property, net of accumulated depreciation, and any unimproved Property or interest therein, as it
is carried on the books of account of the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer and in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and when used in connection with Property of the Obligated
Group, means the aggregate of the values so determined with respect to Property of each member of the Obligated Group.
“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any proposed, temporary or final
regulations related to it or any successor federal income tax code and its related regulations.
“Commitment Indebtedness” shall mean the obligation of any Person to repay amounts disbursed pursuant to a
commitment from a financial institution, insurer, surety or similar entity to pay, refinance or purchase when due, when
tendered or when required to be purchased or tendered, or to extend funds for such purpose, other Indebtedness of such
Person or any other obligation of any other Person, and the obligation of any Person to pay interest payable on amounts
disbursed for such purposes, plus any fees, costs or expenses payable to such financial institution, insurer, surety or similar
entity for, under or in connection with such commitment, in the event of disbursement pursuant to such commitment or in
connection with enforcement thereof, including without limitation any penalties payable in the event of such enforcement
and any indemnification or contribution obligation related thereto.
“Completion Indebtedness” shall mean any Long-Term Indebtedness incurred by any Person for the purpose of
financing the completion of facilities for the acquisition, construction or equipping of which Long-Term Indebtedness has
theretofore been incurred in compliance with the provisions of the Master Indenture, to the extent necessary to provide a
completed and equipped facility of substantially the same type and scope contemplated at the time that such Long-Term
Indebtedness theretofore incurred was originally incurred, and with a principal amount not in excess of the amount required
to provide a completed and equipped facility of substantially the same type and scope contemplated at the time such prior
Long-Term Indebtedness was originally incurred, to provide for interest on the Completion Indebtedness through the
completion of the facility being financed, to provide any reserve funds related to such Completion Indebtedness and to pay
the costs and expenses of issuing such Completion Indebtedness.

C-1

“Construction Index” shall mean the then current health care component of the implicit price deflator for the gross
national product as most recently reported by the United States Department of Commerce or its successor agency, or, if
such index is no longer published, such other index as is certified to be comparable and appropriate by the Corporation in
an Officer’s Certificate delivered to the Master Trustee.
“Corporation” shall mean ThedaCare, Inc., a Wisconsin nonstock nonprofit corporation or any successor permitted
by the provisions summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER
INDENTURE – Consolidation, Merger, Sale or Conveyance.”
“Cross-over Date” shall mean, with respect to Cross-over Refunding Indebtedness, the date on which the principal
portion of the Cross-over Refunded Indebtedness is paid or redeemed, or on which it is anticipated that such principal
portion be paid or redeemed, from the proceeds of such Cross-over Refunding Indebtedness.
“Cross-over Refunded Indebtedness” shall mean Indebtedness of a Person refunded by Cross-over Refunding
Indebtedness.
“Cross-over Refunding Indebtedness” shall mean Indebtedness of a Person issued for the purpose of refunding
other Indebtedness of such Person if the proceeds of such Cross-over Refunding Indebtedness are irrevocably deposited in
escrow to secure the payment on the applicable Cross-over Date of the Cross-over Refunded Indebtedness and earnings on
such escrow deposit are required to be applied to pay interest on either or both of such Cross-over Refunding Indebtedness
or such Cross-over Refunded Indebtedness until the Cross-over Date.
“Counterparty” shall mean the counterparty with which an Obligated Issuer enters into an Interest Rate
Agreement.
“Debt Service” shall mean the aggregate annual principal (whether at maturity or pursuant to sinking fund
redemption requirements), interest payments and other payments of the Corporation and the other Obligated Issuers on all
Outstanding Long-Term Indebtedness, including Balloon Indebtedness, Commitment Indebtedness, Guaranties (other than
any Guaranty by one Obligated Issuer of Indebtedness of another Obligated Issuer) and Put Indebtedness, but excluding
Non-Recourse Indebtedness, Subordinated Indebtedness and Short-Term Indebtedness, for the period of time for which
calculated; provided, however, that for purposes of calculating such amount:
(a)
the amount of such payments for any future period shall be calculated in accordance with the assumptions
summarized under the headings “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE –
Restrictions as to Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness” and “ – Calculation of Debt Service;”
(b)
principal and interest shall be excluded from the determination of Debt Service to the extent that such
principal or interest is payable and expected by the Corporation to be paid in the period of the determination from
amounts deposited in trust, escrowed or otherwise set aside for the payment thereof with the Master Trustee, a
Related Bond Trustee or another Person approved by the Master Trustee; and
(c)
fees and expenses related to Indebtedness, such as remarketing fees, auction fees, bond insurance
premiums, and amortization of original issue discount or premium, shall be excluded from the determination of
Debt Service.
“Debt Service Coverage Ratio” shall mean the ratio of Net Income Available for Debt Service for the period or
periods in question to the Maximum Annual Debt Service.
“Defeasance Obligations” has the meaning attributed to it under the headings “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Providing for Payment of Notes.”
“Event of Default” shall have the meaning attributed to it under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Events of Default.”
“Excluded Property” shall mean any Property of an Obligated Issuer which is not used or needed in any significant
respect at the time of determination in connection with the operation of revenue producing facilities or activities of an
Obligated Issuer.
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“Facilities” shall mean the real and personal property owned by each Obligated Issuer and used by any such
Obligated Issuer in its primary operations, but does not include Excluded Property.
“Federal Bankruptcy Code” shall mean United States Code, Title 11-Bankruptcy, as amended.
“Fiscal Year” shall mean the period commencing on the first day of January of each year and ending on the
thirtieth day of December of the following year. So long as any Obligated Issuer uses and with respect to any period during
which any Obligated Issuer used a fiscal year for its internal purposes which is or was different from the Fiscal Year
provided for in the Master Indenture, for any purpose under the Master Indenture the financial information for any Fiscal
Year may include financial information from the most recently completed fiscal year of such Obligated Issuer ending on a
date prior to the ending date of such Fiscal Year.
“Fitch” shall mean Fitch Inc., its successors and assigns, and, if such corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated
or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “Fitch” shall be deemed to refer to any other
nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the Corporation with written notice to the Master Trustee.
“Governing Body” shall mean with respect to any corporation the board of trustees or directors or other analogous
body established as required by the law of the state of incorporation of such corporation.
“Guaranty” when used in connection with a particular Person shall mean all obligations of such Person
guaranteeing or in effect guaranteeing any indebtedness or other obligation of any other Person (the “primary obligor”) in
any manner, whether directly or indirectly, including without limitation, obligations incurred through an agreement,
contingent or otherwise, by such Person:
(a)

to purchase such indebtedness or obligation or any Property or assets constituting security therefor;

(b)

to advance or supply funds
(i)

for the purchase or payment of such indebtedness or obligation at any time after its original

(ii)

to maintain working capital or other balance sheet condition;

incurrence, or

(c)
to lease Property or to purchase securities or other Property or services primarily for the purpose of
assuring the owner of such indebtedness or obligation of the ability of the primary obligor to make payment of the
indebtedness or obligation; or
(d)
otherwise to assure the owner of the indebtedness or obligation of the primary obligor against loss in
respect thereof; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, none of the following shall be deemed to constitute
a Guaranty: (A) the endorsement in the ordinary course of business of negotiable instruments for deposit or collection;
(B) the discount or sale with recourse of any such person’s notes receivable or accounts receivable; (C) rentals payable in
future years under operating leases, provided such leases be for an original term of 84 months or less; (D) the obligation to
make payments on Notes pursuant to the provisions of the Master Indenture; (E) excluding obligations of the type described
in (c) above, any obligation of such person guaranteeing or in effect guaranteeing any obligation of the primary obligor that
does not constitute an obligation for the payment of money; and (F) any obligation of any Obligated Issuer to guaranty
indebtedness of, or the income of, or to purchase land and improvements thereon from, physicians (or entities controlled by
such physicians) who are at the date of, or will become pursuant to the contract creating such obligation, members of the
medical staff of such Obligated Issuer and any obligation of any Obligated Issuer to guaranty the income of other
professionals or managers which obligations the Obligated Issuer considers necessary or appropriate in recruiting and
retaining its professional and managerial staff; provided, however, that guaranties of indebtedness (which for purposes of
this definition do not include guaranties of income) shall not be excluded under clause (F) to the extent that the aggregate
amount thereof exceed 3% of Unrestricted Revenues in the most recent Fiscal Year for which audited financial statements
of the Obligated Group are available.
“Holder” (see “Noteholder”).
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“Indebtedness” means, for any Person, (i) all Guaranties by such Person, (ii) all liabilities (exclusive of reserves
such as those established for deferred taxes or litigation) recorded or required to be recorded as such on the audited
financial statements of such Person in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and (iii) all obligations for
the payment of money incurred or assumed by such Person primarily to assure the repayment of money borrowed or credit
extended, due and payable upon the occurrence of a condition precedent or upon the performance of work, possession of
Property as lessee, rendering of services by others or otherwise and shall include, without limitation, Non-Recourse
Indebtedness and Indebtedness even if not evidenced or secured by Notes under the Master Indenture; provided that
Indebtedness shall not include (whether or not evidenced by a Note, Guaranty or otherwise):
(a)
obligations of any Obligated Issuer to another Obligated Issuer or guarantees or assumptions by an
Obligated Issuer, directly or indirectly, of Indebtedness of another Obligated Issuer or the joint and several liabilities of
another Obligated Issuer on Indebtedness issued by another Obligated Issuer;
(b)
any portion of any Indebtedness or any Related Bonds which is deemed to be discharged or defeased in
accordance with the terms of the instrument or instruments creating or evidencing such Indebtedness or Related Bonds, as
the case may be,
(c)
liabilities incurred by the endorsement for collection or deposit of checks or drafts received in the
ordinary course of business or overdrafts to banks to the extent there are immediately available funds sufficient to pay such
overdrafts and such overdrafts are incurred and corrected in the normal course of business;
(d)
accounts payable and similar liabilities (other than for the repayment of borrowed money) incurred in the
ordinary course of business;
(e)
liabilities payable out of current payments for the funding of employee pension plans, retiree benefits
other than pensions, health plans and other benefit programs, contributions to self-insurance or pooled-risk insurance
programs and estimated long-term self-insurance liability, and the funding of reserves for deferred taxes, deferred revenues,
deferred compensation, similar such liabilities;
(f)
obligations under contracts for supplies, services or pensions allocated to the current operating expenses
of future years in which the supplies are to be furnished, the services rendered or the pensions paid;
(g)

operating leases;

(h)
any other obligations that do not constitute indebtedness under accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America;
(i)

obligations of any Obligated Issuer with respect to an Interest Rate Agreement;

(j)
any obligation of any Obligated Issuer to repay moneys deposited by patients or others with an Obligated
Issuer as security for or as prepayment of the cost of patient care or any rights of residents of life care, elderly housing or
similar facilities to entrance fees, endowment or similar funds deposited by or on behalf of such residents; and
(k)
any obligation to reimburse a bond insurer, financial institution or other Person which has guaranteed or
otherwise assured the performance of an Obligated Issuer’s obligations under an Interest Rate Agreement.
“Independent” shall mean, in the case of an individual, a Person who is not a partner, member, director, officer or
employee of either the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer and, in the case of a firm, shall not have a partner,
member, director, officer or employee who is a partner, member, director, officer or employee of either the Corporation or
any other Obligated Issuer.
“Independent Architect” shall mean an architect, engineer or firm of architects or engineers selected by the
Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer, and licensed by, or permitted to practice in, the state where the construction
involved is located, which architect, engineer or firm of architects or engineers is Independent and shall have no interest,
direct or indirect, in the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer; it being understood that an arm’s-length contract with
either the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer for the performance of architectural or engineering services shall not in
and of itself be regarded as creating an interest in or an employee relationship with such entity and that the term
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Independent Architect may include an architect or engineer or a firm of architects or engineers who otherwise meet the
requirements of this definition and who also are under contract to construct the facility which they have designed.
“Independent Consultant” shall mean a Person who is Independent and is appointed by the Corporation or any
other Obligated Issuer and nationally recognized as qualified to pass upon questions relating to the financial affairs of
organizations engaged in like operations to those of the Corporation and the other Obligated Issuers and having a favorable
reputation for skill and experience in such financial affairs.
“Independent Insurance Consultant” shall mean a Person who is Independent, appointed by the Corporation and
qualified to survey risks and to recommend insurance coverage for organizations engaged in like operations to those of the
Corporation and the other Obligated Issuers and having a favorable reputation for skill and experience in such surveys and
such recommendations, and who may be a broker or agent with whom the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer
transacts business.
“Insurance Subsidiary” shall mean any corporation of which the Corporation or another Obligated Issuer is the
sole voting member which is in the business of providing insurance coverage to the Corporation or any other Obligated
Issuer.
“Interest Rate Agreement” shall mean an interest rate swap, basis swap, index swap or option, exchange, cap,
collar, option, floor, forward, futures contract or hedging agreement, arrangement or security, or combination of the
foregoing, however denominated, including any option to enter into the foregoing, identified to the Master Trustee in a
certificate of the Corporation as having been entered into by an Obligated Issuer for the purpose of reducing, modifying,
converting or otherwise managing the Obligated Issuer’s risk of interest rate or interest rate index changes or interest rate or
interest rate index exposures or costs or risk of changes or exposures to prices of commodities, securities, portfolios,
products, supplies, goods or services. Obligations of an Obligated Issuer in respect of an Interest Rate Agreement shall not
constitute Indebtedness under the Master Indenture.
“Interest Rate Agreement Payments” shall mean all payment obligations of the Obligated Issuers pursuant to an
Interest Rate Agreement that is authenticated as a Note under the Master Indenture, or is secured by a Note under the
Master Indenture.
“Issuer” shall mean the Corporation or another Obligated Issuer, depending on the context.
“Lien” shall mean any mortgage of, security interest in, lien, charge or encumbrance on or pledge of Property
excepting, however, any lease and leaseback or similar arrangements entered into by an Obligated Issuer with a Related
Issuer to the extent required in connection with the issuance of Related Bonds.
“Long-Term” when used in connection with Indebtedness, shall mean Indebtedness having an original maturity
greater than one year or renewable or extendible at the option of the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer for a period
greater than one year from the date of original issuance thereof.
“Market Value” shall mean (i) with respect to Net Plant, Property and Equipment: (a) the aggregate fair market
value of such Net Plant, Property and Equipment as reflected in the most recent written report of an Independent appraiser
acceptable to the Master Trustee and, in the case of real property, who is a member of the American Institute of Real Estate
Appraisers (MAI), delivered to the Master Trustee (which report shall be dated not more than three years prior to the date
as of which Market Value is to be calculated) increased or decreased by a percentage equal to the aggregate percentage
increase or decrease in the Construction Index from the date of such report to the date as of which Market Value is to be
calculated; plus (b) the Book Value of any Net Plant, Property and Equipment acquired since the last such report increased
or decreased by a percentage equal to the aggregate percentage increase or decrease in the Construction Index from the date
of such acquisition to the date as of which Market Value is to be calculated; minus (c) the greater of the Book Value or the
fair market value (as reflected in such most recent appraiser’s report) of any Net Plant, Property and Equipment disposed of
since the last such report increased or decreased by a percentage equal to the aggregate percentage increase or decrease in
the Construction Index from the date of such report to the date as of which Market Value is to be calculated, and (ii) with
respect to any other Property the fair market value of such Property, which fair market value shall be evidenced in a manner
satisfactory to the Master Trustee.
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“Master Indenture” shall mean the Amended and Restated Master Trust Indenture dated as of December 1, 2019
between the Corporation, the other Obligated Issuers party thereto, and the Master Trustee.
“Master Note(s)” (See “Notes”)
“Master Trustee” shall mean U.S. Bank National Association or its successor pursuant to the Master Indenture.
“Maximum Annual Debt Service” shall mean the Debt Service due in the then current or a future Fiscal Year in
which Debt Service is the greatest.
“Member” shall mean, with respect to any corporation organized on a not-for-profit basis under state law, a Person
so designated under such corporation’s Articles of Incorporation (or similar organizational document) or by-laws having the
power to elect or appoint, together with any other Members, the Governing Body of such corporation.
“Moody’s” shall mean Moody’s Investors Service, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State
of Delaware, its successors and assigns and, if Moody’s Investors Service shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer
perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “Moody’s” shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized
securities rating agency designated by the Corporation with written notice to the Master Trustee.
“Net Income Available for Debt Service” shall mean, as to any period of time, all Unrestricted Revenues of the
Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer minus Total Expenses of the Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer other
than depreciation, amortization and interest, all as determined on a pro forma consolidated or combined basis in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America or as otherwise specifically required.
“Net Plant, Property and Equipment” shall mean, with respect to the Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer,
the entire complex of tangible long-lived assets used by the Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer as shown on the
balance sheet of the Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer, net of accumulated depreciation, determined on a
combined basis in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
“Net Proceeds,” when used with respect to any insurance or condemnation award, shall mean the gross proceeds
from the insurance or condemnation award remaining after payment of all expenses (including attorneys’ fees and expenses
of any Related Bond Trustee or Related Issuer) incurred in the collection of such gross proceeds.
“Non-Recourse Indebtedness” shall mean Long-Term Indebtedness incurred subsequent to the date of execution
and delivery of the Master Indenture for the purpose of financing the purchase or acquisition of real or tangible personal
property secured by a lien on, or security interest in, the property being purchased or acquired and evidenced by an
instrument which expressly provides that upon default in the payment of the principal thereof or interest thereon the obligee
thereof may look only to the property securing the same and not to the credit of any Obligated Issuer nor to any other
Property of any Obligated Issuer.
“Note” shall mean any obligation of an Obligated Issuer issued under the Master Indenture, as a joint and several
obligation of each Obligated Issuer, which has been authenticated by the Master Trustee and which may be in any form set
forth in a Supplemental Master Indenture, including, but not limited to, notes, direct note obligations, bonds, obligations,
debentures, Interest Rate Agreements, loan agreements, leases or reimbursement agreements. Reference to a Series of
Notes or to Notes of a Series shall mean a Series of Notes or Notes of a Series issued pursuant to a single Supplemental
Master Indenture to the Master Indenture.
“Noteholder” or “Holder” (when used with reference to any Note or Notes) shall mean the Person in whose name
the Note is registered on the Note Register.
“Note Register” shall mean the register kept pursuant to the Master Indenture at the Principal Corporate Trust
Office of the Master Trustee in which, subject to such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, the Master Trustee shall
provide on behalf of the Obligated Issuers for the registration and transfer of Notes.
“Obligated Group” shall mean the Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer.
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“Obligated Group Representative” shall mean the Corporation or such other Obligated Issuer as may have been
designated pursuant to written notice to the Master Trustee, executed by all the Obligated Issuers.
“Obligated Issuer” shall mean the Corporation, each other Person named on the signature pages of the Master
Indenture which has executed the Master Indenture and any Person which shall have become an Obligated Issuer pursuant
to the provisions summarized under the headings “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER
INDENTURE – The Obligated Group - Becoming an Obligated Issuer and Member of the Obligated Group” and
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – The Obligated Group – Acceptance as an
Obligated Issuer” and shall not have withdrawn as such pursuant to the provisions summarized under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – The Obligated Group – Withdrawal of
Obligated Issuers.”
“Officer’s Certificate” shall mean a certificate signed by the President, any Vice President, or any other dulyauthorized officer of one or more Obligated Issuers.
“Opinion of Bond Counsel” shall mean an opinion in writing signed by legal counsel who shall be nationally
recognized as expert in matters pertaining to the validity of obligations of governmental issuers (as such term is defined
within the definition of the term “Related Bonds”) and the exemption from federal income taxation of interest on such
obligations.
“Opinion of Counsel” shall mean an opinion in writing signed by legal counsel who may be an employee of or
counsel to the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer and who shall be satisfactory to the Master Trustee.
“Outstanding,” when used in connection with Indebtedness, shall mean, as of any time, Indebtedness issued or
incurred and not paid or for which payment has not been provided by deposit of money or securities with the Master
Trustee and shall not include Notes surrendered for exchange pursuant to the Master Indenture or Notes for which
replacement Notes have been issued pursuant to the Master Indenture, or Notes that the Master Indenture otherwise
provides shall be deemed not to be Outstanding.
“Permitted Encumbrances” shall mean those encumbrances enumerated under the heading “SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Restrictions as to Creation of Liens.”
“Person” shall mean an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a joint stock company, a joint
venture, a trust, an unincorporated organization, or a government or any agency or political subdivision thereof.
“Pledged Revenues” shall mean all rents, issues, profits, income, revenues, accounts and receipts of the
Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer referred to in, and not excepted by, the provisions summarized in clause (b)
under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Granting Clauses.”
“Principal Corporate Trust Office of the Master Trustee” shall mean the designated corporate trust office of the
Master Trustee at which at any particular time its corporate trust business shall be administered. The present address of
such principal office is 1555 N. RiverCenter Drive, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53212.
“Projected Rate” means:
(a)
if the obligation with respect to which such Projected Rate is being determined bears interest at a fixed
rate, the interest rate which equals the most recently available Revenue Bond Index as published in The Bond Buyer (or
such comparable index selected by the Obligated Group Representative if the Revenue Bond Index is no longer published),
or
(b)
if the obligation with respect to which such Projected Rate is being determined bears interest at a variable
rate, a formula rate or a fixed rate per annum based on a varying index, (A) the average of the SIFMA Index (or such
comparable index selected by the Obligated Group Representative if the SIFMA Index is no longer published) or, if the
obligation bears interest at a taxable interest rate, the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) of comparable duration as
the duration of the rate on the obligation, or if such index is no longer computed, such other interest based index which is
reasonably expected to measure contemporaneous variations in the costs of newly borrowed funds in United States Dollars
(including without limitation the reference rate selected as an alternative to LIBOR by the central bank, reserve bank,
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monetary authority or any similar institution that is consistent with accepted market practice regarding the selection and use
of a substitute for LIBOR for the comparable duration period or the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published by the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York) (“Replacement LIBOR”) during the twelve calendar months immediately preceding
the date of calculation or (B) the average of the SIFMA Index (or such comparable index selected by the Obligated Group
Representative if the SIFMA Index is no longer published) or LIBOR (or Replacement LIBOR), if the obligation bears
interest at a taxable interest rate, of comparable duration as the duration of the rate on the obligation during any consecutive
12 month period during the eighteen calendar months immediately preceding the date of calculation; provided that if the
obligation with respect to which such Projected Rate is being determined is convertible from an instrument which bears
interest at a fixed rate to an instrument which bears interest at a variable rate, or vice versa, the Projected Rate shall be
determined based on the then current interest rate borne by such obligation, or
(c)
such interest rate as shall be specified in a written statement from an investment banking or financial
advisory firm selected by the Obligated Group Representative.
“Property,” when used in connection with a particular Person, shall mean any and all rights, title and interests of
such Person in and to any and all property (including cash) whether real or personal, tangible or intangible, and wherever
situated, but not including Excluded Property.
“Property, Plant and Equipment” shall mean all Property of an Obligated Issuer which is considered property,
plant and equipment of such Obligated Issuer under generally accepted accounting principles.
“Put Date” shall mean (i) any date on which an owner of Put Indebtedness may elect to have such Put
Indebtedness paid, purchased or redeemed by or on behalf of the underlying obligor prior to its stated maturity date or (ii)
any date on which Put Indebtedness is required to be paid, purchased or redeemed from the owner by or on behalf of the
underlying obligor (other than at the option of the owner) prior to its stated maturity date, other than pursuant to any
mandatory sinking fund or other similar fund or other than by reason of acceleration upon the occurrence of an event of
default.
“Put Indebtedness” shall mean Indebtedness which is (a) payable or required to be purchased or redeemed by or on
behalf of the underlying obligor, at the option of the owner thereof, prior to its stated maturity date or (b) payable or
required to be purchased or redeemed from the owner by or on behalf of the underlying obligor (other than at the option of
the owner) prior to its stated maturity date, other than pursuant to any mandatory sinking fund or other similar fund or other
than by reason of acceleration or required purchase upon the occurrence of an event of default.
“Qualified Accountants” shall mean (a) CliftonLarsonAllen LLP, (b) a firm of certified public accountants of the
size and type commonly referred to as nationally known certified public accountants or (c) a firm of independent public
accountants selected by the Corporation.
“Rating Agency” shall mean Moody’s, Standard & Poor’s or Fitch.
“Refunding Indebtedness” shall mean any Additional Indebtedness including any Cross-over Refunding
Indebtedness issued for the purpose of refunding any Outstanding Long-Term Indebtedness, Balloon Indebtedness, NonRecourse Indebtedness or Put Indebtedness and financing the funding of related reserve funds, costs of issuance and other
costs related to such refunding.
“Refunding Notes” shall mean any additional Notes that constitute Refunding Indebtedness.
“Related Bond Indenture” shall mean any indenture or other document pursuant to which a series of Related
Bonds is issued or incurred.
“Related Bond Trustee” shall mean the trustee and its successors in the trusts created under any Related Bond
Indenture.
“Related Bonds” shall mean the bonds, participation certificates, debentures or other obligations of any Related
Issuer issued or incurred pursuant to a Related Bond Indenture, the proceeds of which are loaned or otherwise made
available to any Obligated Issuer in consideration of the execution, authentication and delivery of a Note or Notes to such
Related Issuer.
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“Related Issuer” shall mean any state of the United States or any municipal corporation or political subdivision
formed under the laws thereof or any body corporate and politic or any constituted authority or any agency or
instrumentality of any of the foregoing empowered to issue or incur obligations on behalf thereof which is the issuer or
obligor of any series of Related Bonds.
“Responsible Officer of the Master Trustee” shall mean the chairman and vice-chairman of the board of directors,
the president, the chairman and vice-chairman of a standing committee of the board of directors, the chairman of the trust
committee, every vice president or officer senior thereto, every assistant vice president, the secretary, every assistant
secretary, the treasurer, every assistant treasurer, every corporate trust officer, every assistant corporate trust officer, and
every other officer and assistant officer of the Master Trustee customarily performing functions similar to those performed
by the persons who at the time shall be such an officer, respectively, or to whom any corporate trust matter is referred
because of his knowledge of, and familiarity with, a particular subject.
“Secured Indebtedness” shall mean any Indebtedness secured by a Lien.
“Short-Term” when used in connection with Indebtedness, shall mean Indebtedness having an original maturity
less than or equal to one year, and not renewable or extendible at the option of the obligor thereon for a term greater than
one year beyond the date of original issuance.
“Standard & Poor’s” shall mean Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of Standard & Poor’s Financial
Services, LLC, a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the State of New York, its successors
and assigns and, if such limited liability company shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions
of a securities rating agency, “Standard & Poor’s” shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities
rating agency which has been designated by the Corporation with written notice to the Master Trustee.
“Subordinated Indebtedness” shall mean Indebtedness which, with respect to any issue thereof, is evidenced by
instruments, or issued under an indenture or other document, containing provisions for the subordination of such
Indebtedness (to which appropriate reference shall be made in the instrument evidencing such Indebtedness) substantially
as set forth under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE –
Subordinated Indebtedness.”
“Supplemental Master Indenture” shall mean an indenture supplemental to, and authorized and executed pursuant
to the terms of, the Master Indenture (including the Original Master Indenture) for the purpose of creating one or more
series of Notes issued under the Master Indenture or amending or supplementing the terms thereof.
“Tax-Exempt Organization” shall mean a Person organized under the laws of the United States of America or any
state thereof which is an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, which is exempt from federal income
taxes under Section 501(a) of the Code and is not a “private foundation” within the meaning of Section 509(a) of the Code,
or corresponding provisions of federal income tax laws from time to time in effect.
“Total Expenses” shall mean for any period total operating and non-operating expenses of the Corporation and
each other Obligated Issuer, determined on a pro forma consolidated or combined basis in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America consistently applied; provided, however, that no
determination of Total Expenses shall take into account (a) minimum pension liability adjustments; (b) losses resulting
from any reappraisal, revaluation or impairment of assets or liabilities, (c) unrealized or non-cash losses from investments,
(d) unrealized or non-cash losses in respect of any Interest Rate Agreement, (e) any one-time charitable expenses greater
than $500,000, (f) any loss resulting from the early extinguishment of Indebtedness, (g) the equity in the losses from
investment in affiliates, (h) any losses resulting from the sale, exchange or other disposition of investments not in the
ordinary course of business, (i) extraordinary expenses and other non-cash expenses, (j) any expenses resulting from
adjustments to the value of assets or liabilities resulting from changes in GAAP, (k) any expenses resulting from a
forgiveness of or the establishment of reserves against Indebtedness of an affiliate which does not constitute an
extraordinary expense, and (l) if such calculation is being made with respect to the Obligated Group, excluding any such
expenses attributable to transactions between any Obligated Issuer and any other Obligated Issuer; provided, however, that
the provisions of (a) through (l) notwithstanding, no amount shall be subtracted from expenses more than once.
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“Unencumbered” shall mean not subject to a Lien other than a Lien which secures the Notes as contemplated by
clause (iii) in the first paragraph under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER
INDENTURE – Restrictions as to Creation of Liens.”
“Unrestricted Revenues” shall mean for any period (i) in the case of any Obligated Issuer providing health care
services, the sum of (a) gross patient and resident service revenues less contractual allowances and provisions for
uncollectible accounts, free care and discounted care, plus all rents and income derived by any Obligated Issuer from the
regular course of its operations including residents’ entrance fees, minus amortization of deferred revenues on all residents’
entrance fees, plus (b) other operating revenues, plus (c) non-operating revenues, all as determined in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America consistently applied; and (ii) in the case of any
other Obligated Issuer, gross revenues less sale discounts and sale returns and allowances, as determined in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America consistently applied; provided, however, that no
determination of Unrestricted Revenues shall take into account (p) earnings resulting from any reappraisal, revaluation or
impairment of assets or liabilities, (q) unrealized or non-cash gains from investments, (r) unrealized or non-cash gains or
losses in respect of any Interest Rate Agreement, (s) any gains or losses resulting from the early extinguishment of
Indebtedness, (t) the equity in the earnings from investments in affiliates, (u) any gains or losses resulting from the sale,
exchange or other disposition of investments not in the ordinary course of business, (v) any gains or losses resulting from
the sale, exchange or other disposition of property, plant and equipment, (w) gifts, grants, bequests or donations restricted
as to use for a purpose inconsistent with the payment of Debt Service, (x) insurance (other than business interruption) and
condemnation proceeds, (y) any gains or losses resulting from adjustments to the value of assets or liabilities resulting from
changes in GAAP, and (z) if such calculation is being made with respect to the Obligated Group, excluding any such gains
attributable to transactions between any Obligated Issuer and any other Obligated Issuer; provided, however, the provisions
of (p) through (z) notwithstanding, no amount shall be excluded from Unrestricted Revenues more than once.
“Unsecured Indebtedness” shall mean any Indebtedness not secured by any Lien.
SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE
General
The Master Indenture authorizes the Obligated Issuers to issue Notes which are joint and several obligations of the
Obligated Issuers and which may be but are not required to be secured by a mortgage on or security interest in the assets of
any of the Members of Obligated Group. The Notes are entitled to the benefit of certain operational and financial
restrictions and other contractual obligations contained in the Master Indenture. Set forth below is a summary of certain
provisions of the Master Indenture. The summary is not comprehensive and reference is made to the Master Indenture for a
complete recital of its terms.
Granting Clauses
In consideration of the premises and the acceptance by the Master Trustee of the trusts created by the Master
Indenture and of the purchase and acceptance of the Notes of each series by the Holders thereof that shall be issued under
the Master Indenture and under Supplemental Master Indentures applicable thereto, and for other good and valuable
considerations, to secure the payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest and Interest Rate Agreement
Payments on such Notes according to their tenor and effect and to secure the performance and observance by the
Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer of all the covenants expressed or implied therein and in the Master Indenture,
Supplemental Master Indentures and each series of Notes issued and Outstanding under the Original Master Indenture and
issued under the Master Indenture and thereunder, the Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer pledge, assign and grant
a security interest in the following described property (the “Master Trust Estate”) to the Master Trustee and its successors in
trust and assigns forever, SUBJECT, HOWEVER, to Permitted Encumbrances:
(a)
Any funds or property held by the Master Trustee under the Master Indenture or any
Supplemental Master Indenture.
(b)
Any and all right, title and interest of each Obligated Issuer in and to all rents, issues, profits,
income, revenues and receipts derived by each Obligated Issuer from all sources, including all right, title and
interest and security interest, if any, of each Obligated Issuer in and to all moneys, earnings, revenues, rights to the
payment of money and receivables, whether now owned or hereafter acquired and whether or not derived from the
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use or operation of the Facilities including, without limitation: (i) all patient fees, third party payments, rents,
issues, profits, income, revenues and receipts derived in any fashion from the Facilities; and (ii) all accounts,
chattel paper and instruments owned by each Obligated Issuer and all proceeds therefrom, whether cash or noncash, all as defined in Article 9 of the Wisconsin Uniform Commercial Code.
Excepting, however, from the foregoing (i) gifts, donations, grants, pledges, legacies, bequests, devises
and contributions and investment earnings thereon restricted by the donor to uses inconsistent with use for
payment of principal and interest on the Notes; (ii) revenue received pursuant to grants and contracts for sponsored
programs of research or instruction; (iii) revenue received by each Obligated Issuer as billing agent for others,
including charges for a physician’s services whether or not the physician is an employee of the Obligated Issuer;
(iv) proceeds of borrowings; and (v) proceeds of sale of property that is not a part of the Facilities upon
foreclosure of, or in satisfaction of, a security interest (the “Pledged Revenues”).
(c)
Any and all other property, or interests therein, of every kind or description that may from time
to time hereafter, by delivery or by writing of any kind, be sold, transferred, conveyed, assigned, hypothecated,
endorsed, deposited, pledged, mortgaged, granted or delivered to or deposited with the Corporation or any other
Obligated Issuer or the Master Trustee as additional security under the Master Indenture by the Corporation or any
other Obligated Issuer or by anyone on behalf of any of them or with the written consent of any of them, or that
pursuant to any of the provisions of the Master Indenture may come into the possession of or control of the Master
Trustee or a receiver appointed pursuant to the Master Indenture, as such additional security; and the Master
Trustee is authorized to receive any and all such property as and for additional security under the Master Indenture
and to hold and apply all such property subject to the terms of the Master Indenture and of all Supplemental
Master Indentures.
Accounting Principles
Where the character or amount of any asset, liability or net assets or item of income or expense is required to be
determined or any consolidation, combination or other accounting computation is required to be made for the purposes of
the Master Indenture or any agreement, document or certificate executed and delivered in connection with or pursuant to
the Master Indenture, this shall be done in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America at the time in effect, to the extent applicable, except where such principles are inconsistent with the requirements
of the Master Indenture or such agreement, document or certificate.
If any change in generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) which differs from GAAP used in the
preparation of the financial statements of the Obligated Group as of December 31, 2018 is occasioned by the promulgation
of rules, regulations, pronouncements, or opinions by or required by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(or its boards or committees or successors thereto or agencies with similar functions) and such change results in a change in
the accounting terms used in the Master Indenture, at the option of the Obligated Group Representative, the accounting
terms used in the Master Indenture shall be modified to reflect such change in GAAP so that the criteria for evaluating the
compliance of the Obligated Group with all financial covenants and tests contained in the Master Indenture shall be the
same after such change as if no such change in GAAP from those used in the preparation of the financial statements of the
Obligated Group, as of December 31, 2018 had been made. If the Obligated Group Representative elects not to modify the
accounting terms or calculations used in the Master Indenture pursuant to a change in GAAP as provided in the preceding
sentence, the Obligated Group Representative shall file an Officer’s Certificate with the Master Trustee, which shall contain
a certification to the effect that (i) such modifications are occasioned by such a change in GAAP, and (ii) such
modifications will not have a materially adverse effect on the Noteholders or result in materially different criteria for
evaluating the compliance of the Obligated Group with all financial covenants and tests contained in the Master Indenture.
Series and Amount of Notes
The number or series of Notes that may be created under the Master Indenture is not limited. The aggregate
principal or notional amount of Notes of each series that may be issued, authenticated and delivered under the Master
Indenture is not limited except as may be set forth in the Supplemental Master Indenture and as restricted by the provisions
of the Master Indenture including but not limited to the provisions summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Restrictions as to Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness.”
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Payment of Principal, Premium, Interest and Interest Rate Agreement Payments on Notes and Guaranty of Notes
Each Obligated Issuer agrees in the Master Indenture, jointly and severally, that it will duly and punctually pay the
principal of, the premium, if any, and the interest and Interest Rate Agreement Payments on each Note issued under the
Master Indenture, and the payment of any other amounts payable thereunder or under the Master Indenture, on the dates, at
the times and at the place and in the manner provided in such Note, the Supplemental Master Indenture relating thereto and
the Master Indenture when and as the same become payable, whether at maturity, upon call for redemption, by acceleration
of maturity or otherwise, according to the true intent and meaning thereof. These agreements on the part of each Obligated
Issuer shall be continuing, irrevocable, absolute and unconditional and shall remain in full force and effect until an
Obligated Issuer shall withdraw as summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE
MASTER INDENTURE – The Obligated Group – Withdrawal of Obligated Issuers,” in which event they shall terminate
only with respect to the withdrawing Obligated Issuer, or until the Master Indenture has been satisfied and discharged in the
manner summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE –
Satisfaction and Discharge of the Indenture; Unclaimed Moneys.” The obligation of each Obligated Issuer with respect to
payments on Notes issued under the Master Indenture shall not be abrogated, prejudiced or affected by:
(a)
the granting of any extension, waiver or other concession given to the Corporation or any other
Obligated Issuer by the Master Trustee, a Related Bond Trustee, or any other Noteholder, or by any compromise,
release, abandonment, variation, relinquishment or renewal of any of the rights of the Master Trustee, a Related
Bond Trustee or any Noteholder or anything done or omitted or neglected to be done by the Master Trustee or any
such Related Bond Trustee or Noteholder in exercise of the authority, power and discretion vested in them by the
Master Indenture, or by any other dealing or thing which, but for this provision, might abrogate, prejudice or affect
such obligation;
(b)
the liability of the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer ceasing for any cause whatsoever,
other than the release of an Obligated Issuer upon withdrawal as an Obligated Issuer pursuant to the provisions
summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE –
The Obligated Group – Withdrawal of Obligated Issuers;” or
(c)
any Obligated Issuer’s failure to become liable as, or losing eligibility to become, an Obligated
Issuer according to the terms of the Master Indenture or of any Supplemental Master Indenture.
General Covenants
The Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer, respectively, covenants in the Master Indenture to:
(a)
subject to the provisions summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Consolidation, Merger, Sale or Conveyance,” preserve its
corporate existence as a corporation and all its rights and licenses to the extent necessary or desirable in the
operation of its business and affairs and be qualified to do business in each jurisdiction where its ownership of
Property or the conduct of its business requires such qualification; provided, however, that nothing contained in
the Master Indenture shall be construed to obligate it to retain or preserve any of its rights or licenses no longer
used or, in the judgment of its Governing Body, no longer useful in the conduct of its business;
(b)
at all times cause its business to be carried on and conducted in an effective manner and its
Property to be maintained, preserved and kept in good repair, working order and condition and all needful and
proper repairs, renewals and replacements thereof to be made; provided, however, that nothing contained in the
Master Indenture shall be construed (i) to prevent it from ceasing to operate any portion of its Property, if in the
judgment of its Governing Body it is advisable not to operate the same for the time being, or if it intends to sell or
otherwise dispose of the same and within a reasonable time endeavors to effect such sale or other disposition, or
(ii) to obligate it to retain, preserve, repair, renew or replace any Property, leases, rights, privileges or licenses no
longer used or, in the judgment of its Governing Body, no longer useful in the conduct of its business;
(c)
conduct its affairs and carry on its business and operations in such manner as to comply with any
and all applicable laws of the United States of America and the several states thereof and duly observe and
conform to all valid orders, regulations or requirements of any governmental authority relative to the conduct of its
business and the ownership of its Property; provided, nevertheless, that nothing contained in the Master Indenture
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shall require it to comply with, observe and conform to any such law, order, regulation or requirement of any
governmental authority so long as the validity thereof shall be contested in good faith;
(d)
promptly pay all lawful taxes, governmental charges and assessments at any time levied or
assessed and due upon or against it or its Property; provided, however, that it shall have the right to contest in good
faith by appropriate proceedings any such taxes, charges or assessments or the collection of any such sums and
pending such contest may delay or defer payment thereof and shall have the right to pay taxes in installments; and
provided further that such contest shall not materially impair the ability of the Obligated Issuers to meet their
obligations under the Master Indenture;
(e)
promptly pay or otherwise satisfy and discharge all of its obligations and Indebtedness
(including, in addition to Indebtedness, Guaranties by any Obligated Issuer of Indebtedness of any other Obligated
Issuer) and all demands and claims against it as and when the same become due and payable, other than any
thereof (exclusive of the Notes issued and Outstanding under the Master Indenture and the obligations to make
payments on Notes pursuant to the provisions summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Payment of Principal, Premium, Interest and Interest Rate
Agreement Payments on Notes and Guaranty of Notes”) whose validity, amount or collectability is being
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, so long as such contest shall not materially impair the ability
of the Obligated Issuers to meet their obligations under the Master Indenture;
(f)
at all times comply with all terms, covenants and provisions contained in any Liens at such time
existing upon its Property or any part thereof or securing any of its Indebtedness and pay or cause to be paid, or to
be renewed, refunded or extended or to be taken up, by it, all of its Liens, as and when the same shall become due
and payable; and
(g)
procure and maintain all necessary licenses and permits and, if appropriate, maintain
accreditation of its health care facilities and maintain, if appropriate, the status of its health care facilities as a
provider of health care services eligible for reimbursement under the Medicare, Medicaid, commercial and
equivalent insurance programs, including future federal programs; provided, however, that an Obligated Issuer
need not comply with this subsection if and to the extent that its Governing Body shall have determined in good
faith, evidenced by a resolution of the Governing Body, that such compliance is no longer in the best interests of
such Obligated Issuer and that lack of such compliance would not materially impair the ability of such Obligated
Issuer to pay its Indebtedness, if any, when due.
Restrictions as to Creation of Liens
The Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer, respectively, agrees in the Master Indenture that it will not create
or suffer to be created or exist any Lien upon Property now owned or thereafter acquired by it (i) except for Permitted
Encumbrances whenever created, all of which may be superior to the lien of the Master Indenture, (ii) other than on
Property conveyed in the ordinary course of business or pursuant to the provisions summarized in paragraphs (b) or (c)
under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Sale, Lease or Other
Disposition of Property” and (iii) other than on any Property or interest therein, if, in each instance and by the instrument
creating such Lien, each series of Notes issued and Outstanding under the Master Indenture is directly secured thereby
equally and ratably by such Lien.
Permitted Encumbrances shall consist of the following:
(i)
liens arising by reason of good faith deposits with the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer
in connection with tenders, leases of real estate, bids or contracts (other than contracts for the payment of money),
deposits by the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer to secure public or statutory obligations, or to secure, or
in lieu of, surety, stay or appeal bonds, and deposits as security for the payment of taxes or assessments or other
similar charges;
(ii)
statutory rights of the United States of America to recover against the Corporation or any other
Obligated Issuer by reason of federal funds made available under 42 U.S.C. § 291 et seq., and similar rights under
federal and state statutes;
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(iii)
any lien arising by reason of deposits to enable the Corporation, any other Obligated Issuer or an
Insurance Subsidiary to maintain self-insurance or to participate in any funds established to cover any insurance
risks or in connection with worker’s compensation, unemployment insurance, old age pensions or other social
security, or to share in the privileges or benefits required for companies participating in such arrangements;
(iv)
any judgment lien against the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer so long as such
judgment is being contested and execution thereon is stayed, and so long as such lien or contest shall not
materially impair the ability of the Obligated Issuers to meet their obligations under the Master Indenture;
(v)
(A) rights reserved to or vested in any municipality or public authority by the terms of any right,
power, franchise, grant, license, permit or provision of law, affecting any Property, to (l) terminate such right,
power, franchise, grant, license or permit, provided that the exercise of such right would not materially impair the
use of such Property or materially and adversely affect the value thereof, or (2) purchase, condemn, appropriate or
recapture, or designate a purchaser of, such Property, provided that the exercise of such right would not materially
impair the use of such Property or materially and adversely affect such Property; (B) any liens on any Property for
taxes, assessments, levies, fees, water and sewer rents, and other governmental and similar charges and any liens
of mechanics, materialmen and laborers for work or services performed or materials furnished in connection with
such Property, which are not due and payable or which are not delinquent or which, or the amount or validity of
which, are being contested and execution thereon is stayed or, with respect to liens of mechanics, materialmen and
laborers, have been due for less than 90 days; (C) easements, rights-of-way, servitudes, restrictions and other
minor defects, encumbrances, and irregularities in the title of any Property which do not materially impair the use
of such Property and which do not materially and adversely affect the value thereof; (D) rights reserved to or
vested in any municipality or public authority to control or regulate any Property or to use such Property in any
manner, which rights do not materially impair the use of such Property or materially and adversely affect the value
thereof, and (E) to the extent that it affects title to any Property, the Master Indenture;
(vi)
any Lien described in the Master Indenture which is existing on the date of the Master Indenture,
provided that no Lien so described may be modified to apply to any Property of the Corporation or any other
Obligated Issuer not subject to such Lien on the date of the Master Indenture, and provided further that no
Additional Indebtedness may be incurred which is secured by such Lien;
(vii)
any Lien to which the Property of an Obligated Issuer is subject at the time it becomes an
Obligated Issuer, provided that at the time of becoming an Obligated Issuer, (a) the requirements of the Master
Indenture summarized in paragraph (a) under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE
MASTER INDENTURE – The Obligated Group - Acceptance as an Obligated Issuer” or under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Consolidation, Merger, Sale or
Conveyance” have been met, (b) no Lien so described may be modified to apply to any Property of any Obligated
Issuer not subject to such Lien on the date of such Obligated Issuer’s joining as an Obligated Issuer, (c) no
Additional Indebtedness may be thereafter incurred which is secured by such Lien and (d) no Lien so described
may be extended or replaced by another Lien;
(viii)
any Lien or restriction on use, expressed or implied, on Property of an Obligated Issuer received
as a gift, pursuant to the terms of such gift;
(ix)
Liens on moneys deposited by patients, residents or others with the Corporation or any
Obligated Issuer as security for or as prepayment for the cost of patient or resident care or other services;
(x)
contracts;

Liens arising under law or by contract with respect to initial deposits made under life-care

(xi)
any Lien arising by reason of deposits with, or the giving of any form of security to, any
governmental agency or any body created or approved by law or governmental regulation for any purpose at any
time as required by law or governmental regulation as a condition to the transaction of any business or the exercise
of any privilege or license;
leases which relate to Property of the Obligated Group which is of a type that is customarily the
(xii)
subject of such leases, such as office space for physicians and educational institutions, food service facilities,
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parking facilities, gift shops, pharmacy and similar departments; leases entered into in accordance with the
disposition of Property provisions of the Master Indenture; leases, licenses or similar rights to use property to
which the Corporation or another Obligated Issuer is a party existing as of December 1, 2019 and any renewals
and extensions thereof; and any leases, licenses or similar rights to use Property whereunder an Obligated Issuer is
lessee, licensee or the equivalent thereof upon fair and reasonable terms no less favorable to the lessee or licensee
than would obtain in a comparable arm’s-length transaction;
(xiii)
utility, access and other easements and rights-of-way, restrictions, encumbrances and exceptions
which do not materially interfere with or materially impair the operation of the Property affected thereby (or, if
such Property is not being then operated, the operation for which it was designed or last modified);
(xiv)
such Liens, defects, irregularities of title and encroachments on adjoining property as normally
exist with respect to property similar in character to the Property involved and which do not materially adversely
affect the value of, or materially impair, the Property affected thereby for the purpose for which it was acquired or
is held by the owner thereof, including without limitation statutory liens granted to banks or other financial
institutions, which liens have not been specifically granted to secure Indebtedness and which do not apply to
Property which has been deposited as part of a plan to secure Indebtedness;
(xv)
zoning laws and similar restrictions which are not violated by use or operation of the Property
affected thereby;
(xvi)

Liens on Property due to rights of third party payors for recoupment of excess reimbursement

paid;
(xvii) any security interest in any rebate account, depreciation reserve, debt service or interest reserve,
debt service fund or any similar fund established pursuant to the terms of any Supplemental Master Indenture or
Related Bond Indenture in favor of the Master Trustee, a Related Bond Trustee, a Related Issuer or the holder of
the Indebtedness issued pursuant to such Supplemental Master Indenture or Related Bond Indenture;
(xviii) any Lien on any Related Bond or any evidence of Indebtedness of any Obligated Issuer acquired
by or on behalf of any Obligated Issuer which secures Commitment Indebtedness and only Commitment
Indebtedness;
(xix)
any purchase money security interest in or similar security interest arising under an installment
sale, lease or financing lease of personal property provided that the aggregate amount of annual rental and debt
service payments for such financing arrangements in any Fiscal Year do not exceed 25% of Unrestricted
Revenues;
(xx)

Leases pursuant to which residents of the Facilities of an Obligated Issuer occupy their units;

(xxi)

Liens securing Non-Recourse Indebtedness without limit;

(xxii) Liens securing Indebtedness or Interest Rate Agreements if the Book Value or, at the option of
the Corporation, the Market Value, of the Property subject to the Lien does not exceed 10% of the Book Value or,
at the option of the Corporation, the Market Value of the Unencumbered Net Plant, Property and Equipment of the
Obligated Issuers on a combined basis, based on the most recently available audited financial statements of the
Obligated Group;
(xxiii) Liens on funds or securities posted in a collateral account held by a Counterparty or by a third
party custodian therefor securing the obligations of an Obligated Issuer under an Interest Rate Agreement other
than the obligation to make termination payments, indemnification payments, gross-up payments, payments of
expenses, default interest payments or similar non-scheduled payments with respect to an Interest Rate Agreement;
and
(xxiv) Liens securing Short-Term Indebtedness on the Obligated Issuers’ accounts receivable (and
proceeds thereof) arising as a result of a pledge or sale of such accounts receivable with or without recourse, which
Lien may be prior to, on a parity with or subordinate to the security interest in these accounts created by the
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Master Indenture, provided that the principal amount of the Indebtedness secured by any such lien does not
exceed 7.5% of the Unrestricted Revenues of the Obligated Group. The Master Trustee is authorized and directed
to execute and deliver any documents the Corporation may reasonably request to evidence the priority of the
security interest in accounts permitted by this subsection. The responsibility for, and the cost of preparation of,
such documents shall be borne by the Corporation.
Restrictions as to Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness
The Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer, respectively, agrees in the Master Indenture that it will not incur
any Additional Indebtedness, other than the following Additional Indebtedness, if incurred at any time when there shall not
exist any Event of Default of the Corporation or such Obligated Issuer under the Master Indenture or under any Related
Bond Indenture (unless such Additional Indebtedness is to be incurred to cure such Event of Default):
(a)
Long-Term Additional Indebtedness. Long-Term Additional Indebtedness provided that: the
Corporation shall have delivered to the Master Trustee either:
(i)
Report on Historical Coverage. An Officer’s Certificate to the effect that for
the most recently ended Fiscal Year for which audited financial statements are available the Debt
Service Coverage Ratio was not less than 1.20 for all Outstanding Long-Term Indebtedness
(exclusive of any Outstanding Long-Term Indebtedness which is to be refunded or redeemed
with proceeds of the Indebtedness proposed to be incurred) and the Long-Term Indebtedness
then proposed to be incurred; or
(ii)

Reports on Historical and Pro Forma Coverage. The following:

(aa)
an Officer’s Certificate to the effect that for the most recently ended
Fiscal Year for which audited financial statements are available the Debt Service
Coverage Ratio was not less than 1.20 for all Outstanding Long-Term Indebtedness
(not including the Long-Term Indebtedness then proposed to be incurred); and
(bb)
a written report of an Independent Consultant to the effect that the
projected Debt Service Coverage Ratio for each of the first two full Fiscal Years
following the estimated completion of the acquisition, construction, renovation or
replacement being paid for with the proceeds of such Additional Indebtedness or
following the incurrence of Long-Term Additional Indebtedness for other purposes will
not be less than 1.20 for all Outstanding Long-Term Indebtedness after giving effect to
the incurrence of such Long-Term Additional Indebtedness and the application of the
proceeds thereof; or
(iii)
Report on Historical Debt to Capitalization. An Officer’s Certificate to the
effect that for the most recently ended Fiscal Year for which audited financial statements are
available, the Debt to Capitalization Ratio was not greater than 67% (exclusive of any
Outstanding Long-term Indebtedness which is to be refunded or redeemed with proceeds of the
Indebtedness proposed to be incurred) including the Long-Term Indebtedness then proposed to
be incurred.
For purposes of this provision (a)(iii), the following defined terms shall have the
following meanings:
“Capitalization” means the sum of the outstanding principal on Long-Term
Indebtedness plus unrestricted net assets of the Obligated Group based on the most
recently available audited financial statements.
“Debt to Capitalizations Ratio” means, for the period of determination, the
ratio of (a) the outstanding principal on Long-Term Indebtedness of the Obligated
Group to (b) Capitalization of the Obligated Group.
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provided, however, that in the event that an Independent Consultant shall deliver a report to the Master Trustee to
the effect that state or federal laws or regulations or administrative interpretations of such laws or regulations then
in existence do not permit or by their application make it impracticable for the Obligated Issuers to produce the
required ratios set forth above, then such ratios shall be reduced to the highest practicable ratios then permitted by
such laws or regulations but in no event less than 1.00.
(b)

Completion Indebtedness. Completion Indebtedness without limit.

(c)
Refunding Indebtedness. Refunding Indebtedness, provided that, the requirements summarized
in clause (a) under this heading are satisfied or the Corporation has delivered an Officer’s Certificate to the Master
Trustee certifying that the Maximum Annual Debt Service on all Long-Term Indebtedness will not be increased by
more than 25% by such refunding.
(d)
Balloon Indebtedness. Balloon Indebtedness if the conditions set forth in clause (a)(i) above are
met with respect to such Balloon Indebtedness when it is assumed that such Balloon Indebtedness is Long-Term
Indebtedness maturing over a period of not more than 30 years from the date of issuance of the Balloon
Indebtedness (which period shall be selected by the Obligated Group Representative), bears interest on the unpaid
principal balance at the Projected Rate (with any average of any index computed under the definition of Projected
Rate to be computed based on a five year historical calendar year period rather than the twelve calendar month
period set forth in the definition of Projected Rate) and is payable on an amortization schedule provided by the
Obligated Group Representative to the Master Trustee.
(e)
Put Indebtedness. Put Indebtedness if the conditions set forth in clause (a)(i) above are met with
respect to such Put Indebtedness when it is assumed that the Put Indebtedness is Long-Term Indebtedness
maturing over a period of not more than 30 years from the date of issuance of the Put Indebtedness (which period
shall be selected by the Obligated Group Representative), bears interest on the unpaid principal balance at the
Projected Rate (with any average of any index computed under the definition of Projected Rate to be computed
based on a five year historical calendar year period rather than the twelve calendar month period set forth in the
definition of Projected Rate) and is payable on an amortization schedule provided by the Obligated Group
Representative to the Master Trustee.
(f)

Non-Recourse Indebtedness and Subordinated Indebtedness without limit.

(g)

Commitment Indebtedness without limit.

(h)
Guaranties. Guaranties provided that the conditions set forth in the Master Indenture are
satisfied if it is assumed that the Indebtedness guaranteed is Long-Term Indebtedness of an Obligated Issuer. In
making the calculation required by this clause (h) the Obligated Group’s Net Income Available for Debt Service
shall not be deemed to include any revenues of the primary obligor and the debt service payable with respect to the
Indebtedness guaranteed shall be calculated in accordance with the assumptions summarized under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE - Calculation of Debt Service.”
(i)
Short-Term Indebtedness. Short-Term Indebtedness which constitutes commercial paper if the
conditions set forth in clause (a)(i) above are met with respect to such Short Term Indebtedness when it is assumed
that such Short-Term Indebtedness is Long-Term Indebtedness maturing over a period of not more than 30 years
from the date of issuance of the Short-Term Indebtedness (which period shall be selected by the Obligated Group
Representative), bears interest on the unpaid principal balance at the Projected Rate and is payable on an
amortization schedule provided by the Obligated Group Representative to the Master Trustee.
(j)
Any other Additional Indebtedness the principal amount of which at the time incurred, together
with the aggregate principal amount of all other Indebtedness then outstanding which was issued pursuant to the
provisions of this clause (j) and which has not been subsequently reclassified as having been issued under
clause (a), (d), (e), (f), (g) or (i) of this provision of the Master Indenture, does not exceed 25% of the Unrestricted
Revenues of the Obligated Group for the most recent Fiscal Year for which audited financial statements are
available.
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Indebtedness may be incurred under any of clauses (a) through (i), above, with respect to which the tests set forth
in such clause are met and need not be incurred under only a clause specifically referring to such type of Indebtedness (e.g.,
Balloon Indebtedness and Put Indebtedness may be incurred under clause (a) above if the tests therein are satisfied).
Calculation of Debt Service
The various calculations of the amount of Indebtedness of a Person, the amortization schedule of such
Indebtedness and the Debt Service payable with respect to such Indebtedness for future periods required under certain
provisions of the Master Indenture shall be made in a manner consistent with the provisions summarized under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE - Restrictions as to Incurrence of
Additional Indebtedness” and as summarized under this heading. The Projected Rate and other assumptions utilized with
respect to Indebtedness at the time compliance with the provisions summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Restrictions as to Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness”
was first calculated shall continue to be utilized for the calculation of Debt Service payable with respect to such
Indebtedness for future periods unless such Indebtedness is reclassified as provided under this heading.
In determining the amount of Debt Service payable on Indebtedness in the course of the various calculations
required under certain provisions of the Master Indenture, except as otherwise summarized under the heading “SUMMARY
OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Restrictions as to Incurrence of Additional
Indebtedness” with respect to interest rate assumptions, if the terms of the Indebtedness being considered are such that
interest thereon for any future period of time is expressed to be calculated at a varying rate per annum, a formula rate or a
fixed rate per annum based on a varying index, then for the purpose of making such determination of Debt Service, interest
on such Indebtedness for such period (the “Determination Period”) shall be computed by assuming that the rate of interest
applicable to the Determination Period is equal to the average annual rate of interest (calculated in the manner in which the
rate of interest for the Determination Period is expressed to be calculated) that was or would have been in effect for the 12month period immediately preceding the date on which such calculation is made; provided, however, that if such average
annual rate of interest cannot be calculated for such entire 12-month period but can be calculated for a shorter period, then
the assumed interest rate for the Determination Period shall be the average annual rate of interest that was or would have
been in effect for such shorter period; and provided further, that if such average annual rate of interest cannot be calculated
for any preceding period of time, then the assumed interest rate for the Determination Period shall be the initial annual rate
of interest which is actually applicable to such Indebtedness upon the incurrence thereof. No Indebtedness shall be deemed
to arise when variable rate Indebtedness is converted to Indebtedness which bears interest at a fixed rate, or when fixed rate
Indebtedness is converted to Indebtedness which bears interest at a variable rate, or when the method of computing the
variable rate on variable rate Indebtedness is changed if any such conversion is in accordance with the provisions applicable
to such Indebtedness in effect immediately prior to such conversion.
Except for the purpose of calculating any historical Debt Service or for determining whether a Guaranty may be
incurred, in which case the guarantor’s Debt Service under a Guaranty shall be deemed to be the actual amount paid (for
historical) or payable (for incurrence) on such Guaranty by the guarantor, a guarantor shall be considered liable only for
20% of the annual debt service requirement on the Indebtedness guaranteed for future periods; provided, however, if the
guarantor has been required by reason of its guaranty to make a payment in respect of such Indebtedness within the
immediately preceding 12 months, the guarantor shall be considered liable in future periods for 100% of the annual debt
service requirement on the Indebtedness guaranteed.
Balloon Indebtedness incurred pursuant to the provisions summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Restrictions as to Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness”
shall be deemed payable in accordance with the assumptions set forth in clause (d) under said heading.
Put Indebtedness incurred pursuant to the provisions summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Restrictions as to Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness” shall be
deemed payable in accordance with the assumptions set forth under this heading; provided that if the option of the holder to
require that such Put Indebtedness be paid, purchased or redeemed prior to its stated maturity date has expired as of the date
of calculation, such Put Indebtedness shall be deemed payable in accordance with its terms. No Indebtedness shall be
deemed to arise when the terms upon which Put Indebtedness may be or is required to be tendered for purchase are
changed, if such change is in accordance with the provisions applicable to such Put Indebtedness in effect immediately
prior to such change.
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Notes issued to secure Indebtedness permitted to be incurred pursuant to the provisions summarized under the
heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Restrictions as to Incurrence of
Additional Indebtedness” shall not be treated as Additional Indebtedness.
No debt service shall be deemed payable with respect to Commitment Indebtedness until such time as funding
occurs under the commitment which gave rise to such Commitment Indebtedness, except to the extent that the terms of
such Commitment Indebtedness are to be considered pursuant to the provisions summarized under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Restrictions as to Incurrence of
Additional Indebtedness” in determining the amortization schedule and debt service payable with respect to the
Indebtedness supported by the commitment which gave rise to such Commitment Indebtedness. From and after such
funding, the amount of such debt service shall be calculated in accordance with the actual amount required to be repaid on
such Commitment Indebtedness and the actual interest rate and amortization schedule applicable thereto, utilizing the
various assumptions summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER
INDENTURE – Restrictions as to Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness” and under this heading. No Additional
Indebtedness shall be deemed to arise when any funding occurs under any such commitment or any such commitment is
renewed upon terms which provide for substantially the same terms of repayment of amounts disbursed pursuant to such
commitment as obtained prior to such renewal.
The Master Trustee shall be fully protected in relying on any certificates, opinions or reports delivered to it with
regard to any calculations which relate to or include the calculation of Debt Service.
The Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer may elect to have Indebtedness issued pursuant to one provision
summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE –
Restrictions as to Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness” classified as having been incurred under another provision
summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE –
Restrictions as to Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness” by demonstrating (in an Officer’s Certificate) compliance with
such other provision on the assumption that such Indebtedness is being reissued on the date of delivery of the materials
required to be delivered under such other provision including the certification of any applicable Projected Rate. From and
after such demonstration, such Indebtedness shall be deemed to have been incurred under the provision with respect to
which such compliance has been demonstrated until any subsequent reclassification of such Indebtedness.
If any Obligated Issuer enters an Interest Rate Agreement with a Counterparty requiring the Obligated Issuer to
pay a fixed interest rate on a notional amount or requiring the Obligated Issuer to pay a variable interest rate on a notional
amount, and the Obligated Issuer has made a determination that the Interest Rate Agreement was entered for the purpose of
providing substitute interest payments (or a portion thereof) for Indebtedness of a particular maturity or maturities in a
principal amount equal to the notional amount of the Interest Rate Agreement, then during the term of the Interest Rate
Agreement and so long as the Counterparty under the Interest Rate Agreement is not in default under the Interest Rate
Agreement, for purposes of any calculation of Debt Service, the interest rate (or portion thereof) on the Indebtedness of that
maturity or maturities will be determined as if the Indebtedness bore interest at the fixed interest rate or the variable interest
rate, as the case may be, payable by the Obligated Issuer after giving effect to the Interest Rate Agreement. Any
obligations under the Interest Rate Agreement, whether or not secured by a Note, will not be separately included in any
calculation of Debt Service payable on Indebtedness. No Additional Indebtedness is deemed to arise when an Interest Rate
Agreement is entered or terminated.
Debt Service Coverage Ratio
The Obligated Group shall set rates and charges for its facilities such that the Debt Service Coverage Ratio,
calculated at the end of each Fiscal Year, will not be less than 1.10. If the Debt Service Coverage Ratio, as calculated at the
end of any Fiscal Year based on the most recent audited financial statements, is below 1.10, the Corporation shall retain an
Independent Consultant at the end of each Fiscal Year in which the Debt Service Coverage Ratio of the Obligated Group is
below 1.10, to make recommendations to increase the Debt Service Coverage Ratio to at least 1.10, and each Obligated
Issuer agrees it shall follow such Independent Consultant’s recommendations for the subsequent Fiscal Year to the extent
feasible; provided, however, that in the event that the Independent Consultant shall deliver a report to the Master Trustee to
the effect that state or federal laws or regulations or administrative interpretations of such laws or regulations then in
existence do not permit or by their application make it impractical for the Obligated Group to produce the required Debt
Service Coverage Ratio of 1.10, then it shall be reduced to the highest practicable ratio permitted by the laws and
regulations then in effect, but in no event less than 1.00. So long as the Corporation shall retain an Independent Consultant
C-19

and each Obligated Issuer shall follow such Independent Consultant’s recommendations to the extent feasible, and so long
as the Debt Service Coverage Ratio is in no event less than 1.00 for any two (2) consecutive Fiscal Years, this provision
shall be deemed to have been complied with even if the Debt Service Coverage Ratio is below 1.10, and such
circumstances shall not constitute an Event of Default under this Indenture. The Master Trustee has no duty or obligation
to monitor compliance with the recommendations of any Independent Consultant.
Sale, Lease or Other Disposition of Property
(a)
The Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer, respectively, agrees in the Master Indenture that, except
as summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE –
Consolidation, Merger, Sale or Conveyance,” it will not sell, lease or otherwise dispose of any of its Property (other than
Excluded Property), except in the ordinary course of business, except to another Obligated Issuer or except as permitted by
the provisions summarized in paragraphs (b) or (c) under this heading, unless the Corporation shall certify to the Master
Trustee in an Officer’s Certificate that:
(i)
in the judgment of the Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer which is the owner of such
Property, such Property, has, or within the next succeeding 24 calendar months is reasonably expected to, become
inadequate, obsolete, worn out, unsuitable, undesirable or unnecessary, provided the sale, lease, removal or other
disposition thereof will not materially impair the structural soundness, efficiency or economic value of its
remaining Property; or
(ii)
immediately after such transaction, the condition described in clause (a) under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Restrictions as to Incurrence of
Additional Indebtedness” would be met for the incurrence of one dollar of Long-Term Additional Indebtedness
after giving effect to such transaction.
(b)
In addition, the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer may sell, lease or otherwise dispose of its
Property, Plant and Equipment (other than in the ordinary course of business, and other than Excluded Property, which can
be disposed of without limit), without satisfying the conditions that must be certified pursuant to the provisions summarized
in paragraph (a) under this heading, if such Property, Plant and Equipment is sold, leased or otherwise disposed of pursuant
to the provisions summarized in this paragraph (b) and the aggregate Book Value of the Property, Plant and Equipment
sold, leased or otherwise disposed of pursuant to the provisions summarized in this paragraph (b) in any Fiscal Year does
not exceed 10% of the total assets of the Obligated Group as of the beginning of that Fiscal Year.
(c)
Nothing in the Master Indenture shall prohibit any Obligated Issuer from making secured or unsecured
loans provided that if any such loan is in excess of $200,000 (i) such loan is evidenced in writing, and (ii) the Master
Trustee receives an Officer’s Certificate stating that (a) the Obligated Group Representative reasonably expects such loan to
be repaid, and (b) such loan bears interest at a reasonable rate of interest as determined in good faith by the Obligated
Group Representative.
Consolidation, Merger, Sale or Conveyance
(a)
The Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer, respectively, covenants in the Master Indenture that it
will not merge or consolidate with any other corporation not an Obligated Issuer or sell or convey all or substantially all of
its assets to any Person not an Obligated Issuer unless (i) either (A) such Obligated Issuer shall be the surviving
corporation, or (B) the successor corporation (if other than such Obligated Issuer) shall be a corporation organized and
existing under the laws of the United States of America or a state thereof and such corporation shall expressly assume in
writing all of the obligations of such Obligated Issuer to pay principal of and interest and Interest Rate Agreement
Payments on the Notes issued under the Master Indenture, and the due and punctual performance and observance of all of
the covenants and conditions of the Master Indenture to be performed or observed by such Obligated Issuer by a
Supplemental Master Indenture, executed and delivered to the Master Trustee by such corporation.
(b)
In case of any such consolidation, merger, sale or conveyance and upon any such assumption by the
successor corporation, such successor corporation shall succeed to and be substituted for such Obligated Issuer, with the
same effect as if it had been named in the Master Indenture as the Corporation or another Obligated Issuer, as the case may
be. Such successor corporation thereupon may cause to be signed, and may issue in its own name Notes issuable under the
Master Indenture; and upon the order of such successor corporation, instead of such Obligated Issuer, and subject to all the
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terms, conditions and limitations in the Master Indenture prescribed, the Master Trustee shall authenticate and shall deliver
Notes that such successor corporation shall have caused to be signed and delivered to the Master Trustee. All Outstanding
Notes so issued by such successor corporation under the Master Indenture shall in all respects have the same legal rank and
benefit under the Master Indenture as Notes theretofore or thereafter issued in accordance with the terms of the Master
Indenture as though all of such Notes had been issued under the Master Indenture at the date of the execution of the Master
Indenture.
(c)
In case of any such consolidation, merger, sale or conveyance such changes in phraseology and form (but
not in substance) may be made in Notes thereafter to be issued as may be appropriate.
(d)
The Master Trustee, subject to the provisions of the Master Indenture, may receive an Opinion of Counsel
as conclusive evidence that any such consolidation, merger, sale or conveyance, and any such assumption, complies with
the provisions of the Master Indenture summarized under this heading and that it is proper for the Master Trustee under the
provisions of the Master Indenture to join in the execution of the Supplemental Master Indenture as summarized under this
heading.
(e)
Any corporation which controls the Corporation (the “New Parent”) may assume all obligations, rights
and duties and succeed to all interests of the Corporation under the Master Indenture, and upon completion of such
assumption will be the “Corporation” under the Master Indenture if (i) there shall be filed with the Master Trustee (1) a
resolution of the Governing Body of the New Parent agreeing to assume all obligations, rights and duties of the Corporation
under the Master Indenture, approving the form of and authorizing the execution of the document mentioned in clause (2)
below, (2) a document, executed by the Corporation and the New Parent evidencing such assumption, (3) an Opinion of
Bond Counsel, to the effect that such assumption will not adversely affect any exclusion from gross income for federal
income tax purposes of interest payable on any Related Bond to which that interest would otherwise be entitled and (4) an
Officer’s Certificate certifying compliance with the requirements of the provisions of the Master Indenture summarized
under this heading and (ii) the requirements summarized in paragraphs (a) through (d) under this heading shall have been
met to the same extent as if the New Parent and the Corporation had merged.
Filing of Financial Statements, Certificate of No Default, Other Information
The Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer, respectively, covenant in the Master Indenture as follows:
(a)
as soon as practicable but in no event later than 180 days after the end of each Fiscal Year, the
Corporation shall file, or cause to be filed, with the Master Trustee, with each Noteholder who may have so
requested or on whose behalf the Master Trustee may have so requested, with each Related Issuer, with each
Rating Agency maintaining a rating on any issue of Related Bonds and with each underwriter who has
underwritten the sale of a series of Related Bonds who may have so requested: (i) a combined or consolidated and
consolidating revenue and expense statement of the Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer for such Fiscal
Year (all material inter-company transactions and balances shall be eliminated in the preparation of the combined
statements), and (ii) a combined or consolidated balance sheet presented on the basis described in (i) above as of
the end of such Fiscal Year, accompanied by an Accountant’s Certificate or an opinion of Qualified Accountants
to the effect that such statements have been properly compiled from information underlying the audited financial
statements of the respective Obligated Issuers;
(b)
as soon as practicable but in no event later than 180 days after the end of each Fiscal Year, the
Corporation shall file with the Master Trustee, with each Noteholder who may have so requested or on whose
behalf the Master Trustee may have so requested, with each Related Issuer, with each Rating Agency maintaining
a rating on any issue of Related Bonds and with each underwriter who has underwritten the sale of a series of
Related Bonds who may have so requested an Officer’s Certificate of the Corporation stating whether or not, to the
best knowledge of the signer(s), the Obligated Issuers are in default (including any financial covenant set forth in
any supplemental master indenture) in the performance of the Debt Service Coverage Ratio covenant summarized
under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Debt Service
Coverage Ratio” or in relation to the performance of any other financial covenant contained in the Master
Indenture as amended or supplemented from time to time, and, if so, specifying each such default of which the
signers may have knowledge;
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(c)
if an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the Corporation and each other
Obligated Issuer shall (i) file with the Master Trustee other financial statements and information concerning the
operations and financial affairs of the Corporation and each Obligated Issuer as the Master Trustee may from time
to time reasonably request, excluding donor records, patient and resident records and personnel records and (ii)
provide access to the facilities of each Obligated Issuer for the purpose of inspection by the Master Trustee during
regular business hours as the Master Trustee may reasonably request; and
(d)
within 20 days after the Corporation’s receipt thereof, the Corporation will file with the Master
Trustee a copy of each report which any provision of the Master Indenture requires to be prepared by an
Independent Consultant or an Independent Insurance Consultant.
To the extent that accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America would require consolidation of
certain financial information of entities which are not Obligated Issuers with financial information of one or more Obligated
Issuers, consolidated financial information with respect to entities which are not Obligated Issuers may be delivered in
satisfaction of the requirements summarized under this heading so long as: (a) supplemental information in sufficient detail
to separately identify the information with respect to the Obligated Issuers is delivered to the Master Trustee with the
audited financial statements; (b) such supplemental information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements delivered to the Master Trustee and, in the opinion of the accountant, is fairly
stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole; and (c) such
supplemental information is used for the purposes of the Master Indenture or for any agreement, document or certificate
executed and delivered in connection with or pursuant to the Master Indenture.
Insurance
Subject to their rights to enter into a program of self insurance in compliance with the provisions summarized
under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE - Reduction of Insurance
Coverage; Self Insurance,” the Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer, respectively, agrees that it will maintain, or
cause to be maintained, insurance covering such risks (including, but not limited to, public liability, fire and extended
coverage and medical malpractice) and in such amounts as is customary in the case of corporations engaged in the same or
similar activities and similarly situated as the Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer which is adequate to protect it
and its Properties and operations. The Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer, respectively, agrees in the Master
Indenture that it will deliver or cause to be delivered to the Master Trustee annually, on or prior to a date designated by it
upon reasonable prior notice to the Master Trustee, an Officer’s Certificate of the Obligated Group Representative with a
description of the Insurance maintained, or caused to be maintained, by each Obligated Issuer under this heading and then
in effect. The Master Trustee shall have no duty to monitor compliance by the Obligated Issuer with respect to any such
determination or to determine the sufficiency of such insurance requirements.
Reduction of Insurance Coverage; Self Insurance
If the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer has or hereafter obtains any of the following types of insurance,
whether from an Insurance Subsidiary or other insurer, it must secure the concurrence of an Independent Insurance
Consultant before it may reduce or eliminate the amounts of its insurance coverage for the following types of insurance:
(i) comprehensive general public liability insurance, including product liability, blanket contractual liability and automobile
insurance including owned, non-owned and hired automobiles (excluding collision and comprehensive coverage thereon),
(ii) professional liability or medical malpractice insurance, (iii) worker’s compensation insurance and (iv) boiler insurance.
In making its decision whether to concur in such reductions or eliminations, the Independent Insurance Consultant
shall make an estimate of the added financial risk, if any, assumed by the Corporation or the Obligated Issuer, as the case
may be, as a result of the lower or amended coverage; it shall consider the availability of commercial insurance, the terms
upon which such insurance is available and the cost of such available insurance, and the effect of such terms and such cost
upon such Obligated Issuer and charges for its services; and it shall determine whether the additional financial risk, if any,
being assumed by such Obligated Issuer, is prudent in light of the savings to be realized from lowered insurance premiums
or in light of the general availability of such coverage.
Before the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer may enter into a program of self-insurance (i.e. a program
not involving a contract of insurance issued by an insurer licensed by the Commissioner of Insurance of the State of
Wisconsin) against any particular risk for which it is not on the date of the Master Indenture self-insuring, it must receive a
C-22

certificate from an Independent Insurance Consultant to the effect that adequate reserves for such insurance program are
deposited and maintained with an independent corporate trustee if recommended by the Independent Insurance Consultant.
The Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer may not enter into a program of self-insurance against risks of damage to
property, plant and equipment, including business interruption insurance.
Damage or Destruction
Each Obligated Issuer agrees in the Master Indenture to notify the Master Trustee immediately in the case of the
destruction of its Facilities or any portion thereof as a result of fire or other casualty, or any damage to such Facilities or
portion thereof as a result of fire or other casualty, the Net Proceeds of which are estimated to exceed 10% of the Book
Value of the Property of the Obligated Issuers at the end of the most recent Fiscal Year for which audited financial
statements are available.
In the event such Net Proceeds exceed the amount described above, the Obligated Issuer suffering such casualty or
loss shall deposit such Net Proceeds with the Master Trustee and within 12 months after the date on which the Net Proceeds
are finally determined elect by written notice of such election to the Master Trustee one of the following three options:
(a)
Option A-Repair and Restoration. Such Obligated Issuer may elect to replace, repair,
reconstruct, restore or improve any of the Facilities of the Obligated Group or acquire additional Facilities for the
Obligated Group or repay Indebtedness incurred for any such purpose pending the receipt of such Net Proceeds.
In such event such Obligated Issuer shall proceed forthwith to replace, repair, reconstruct, restore or improve
Facilities of the Obligated Group or to acquire additional Facilities. So long as the Obligated Issuers are not in
default under the Master Indenture, any Net Proceeds of insurance relating to such damage or destruction received
by the Master Trustee shall be released from time to time by the Master Trustee to such Obligated Issuer upon the
receipt by the Master Trustee of:
(1)
an Officer’s Certificate of such Obligated Issuer specifying the expenditures made or to
be made or the Indebtedness incurred in connection with such repair, reconstruction, restoration,
improvement or acquisition and stating that such Net Proceeds, together with any other moneys legally
available for such purposes, will be sufficient to complete such replacement, repair, reconstruction,
restoration, improvement or acquisition; and
(2)
if such expenditures were or are to be made or such Indebtedness was incurred for the
construction or renovation of Facilities, the written approval of such Officer’s Certificate by an
Independent Architect.
It is further understood and agreed that in the event such Obligated Issuer shall elect this Option A, such Obligated
Issuer shall complete the replacement, repair, reconstruction, restoration, improvement and acquisition of the Facilities,
whether or not the Net Proceeds of insurance received for such purposes are sufficient to pay for the same.
(b)
Option B-Prepayment of Notes. Such Obligated Issuer may elect to have all or a portion of the
Net Proceeds payable as a result of such damage or destruction applied to the prepayment of the Notes designated
by the Corporation. In such event such Obligated Issuer shall, in its notice of election to the Master Trustee, direct
the Master Trustee to apply such Net Proceeds, when and as received, to the prepayment of the Notes provided
that if in any such case less than all of the Notes are redeemed the Obligated Group shall have first provided the
Master Trustee with a certificate of an Independent Architect or Independent Consultant stating (i) that the
property that was damaged is not essential to the Obligated Group’s use or occupancy of its Facilities and the
damage will not operate to materially reduce the revenues of the Obligated Group or (ii) that the damaged facility
has been restored to a condition substantially equivalent to its condition prior to the damage or condemnation.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Notes designated by the Corporation for prepayment secure an issue of
Related Bonds the Obligated Group further agrees in the Master Indenture to comply with the provisions of the
Related Bond Indenture for the prepayment of the Related Bonds and the Notes designated for prepayment by the
Corporation pursuant to the provisions summarized under this heading are not deemed prepaid pursuant to the
provisions summarized under this heading unless their prepayment results in a corresponding prepayment of the
Related Bonds.
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(c)
Option C-Partial Restoration and Partial Prepayment of Notes. Such Obligated Issuer may elect
to have a portion of such Net Proceeds applied to the replacement, repair, reconstruction, restoration and
improvement of the Facilities of the Obligated Group or the acquisition of additional Facilities for the Obligated
Group or the repayment of Indebtedness incurred for any such purpose pending the receipt of such Net Proceeds
with the remainder of such Net Proceeds to be applied to prepay Notes, in which event such Net Proceeds to be
used for replacement, repair, reconstruction, restoration, improvement and acquisition shall be applied as set forth
in subparagraph (a) under this heading and such Net Proceeds to be used for prepayment of the Notes shall be
applied as set forth in subparagraph (b) under this heading.
The foregoing notwithstanding, no Obligated Issuer will be required to comply with the provisions summarized
under this heading to the extent that the Facilities damaged or destroyed were pledged as security for Non-Recourse
Indebtedness incurred in accordance with the provisions summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Restrictions as to Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness” and the
documents pursuant to which such Indebtedness was incurred require Net Proceeds to be applied in a manner inconsistent
with the provisions summarized under this heading or if the Facilities damaged or destroyed are subject to no Liens other
than Liens described under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE –
Restrictions as to Creation of Liens.” If an Obligated Issuer fails to make a timely election under subparagraphs (a) – (c)
under this heading above, such net proceeds shall be applied at the direction of the Holders of a majority in aggregate
principal amount of the Notes.
Condemnation
The Master Indenture contains provisions similar to those described under the heading “SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Damage or Destruction” which apply in the case of a
condemnation, taking or payment received in a sale consummated under threat of condemnation.
Events of Default
Event of Default, as used in the Master Indenture, shall mean any of the events described under this heading,
whatever the reason for such Event of Default and whether it shall be voluntary or involuntary or come about or be effected
by operation of law or pursuant to or in compliance with any judgment, decree or order of any court or any order, rule or
regulation of any administrative or governmental body:
(a)
There shall be a failure to make any payment of the principal of, the premium, if any, interest on
any Notes issued and Outstanding or any Interest Rate Agreement Payments under the Master Indenture when and
as the same shall become due and payable, whether at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise, in accordance with
the terms thereof, of the Master Indenture and any Supplemental Master Indenture; or
(b)
The Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer shall fail duly to observe or perform any covenant
or agreement on its part contained in the Master Indenture or any Supplemental Master Indenture (other than a
failure that would result in a default summarized in clause (a), (d) or (e) under this heading) for a period of 30 days
after the date on which written notice of such failure, requiring the same to be remedied, shall have been given to
the Corporation and the other Obligated Issuers by the Master Trustee, or to the Corporation, the other Obligated
Issuers and the Master Trustee by the Holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of Notes then
Outstanding except that, if such failure can be remedied but not within such thirty (30) day period, such failure
shall not become an Event of Default for so long as the Corporation and the other Obligated Issuers shall diligently
proceed to remedy same in accordance with and subject to any directions or limitations of time established by the
Master Trustee; or
(c)
The Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer shall default in the payment of any Indebtedness
for borrowed money (other than Notes issued and Outstanding under the Master Indenture) in an amount which
exceeds 1% of the net assets of the Obligated Group for its most recently completed Fiscal Year for which audited
financial statements are available, whether such Indebtedness now exists or shall hereafter be created, and any
period of grace with respect thereto shall have expired, or an event of default as defined in any mortgage,
indenture or instrument, under which there may be issued, or by which there may be secured or evidenced, any
Indebtedness, whether such Indebtedness now exists or shall hereafter be created, shall occur, which default in
payment or event of default shall result in such Indebtedness becoming or being declared due and payable prior to
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the date on which it would otherwise become due and payable, provided, however, that such default shall not
constitute an Event of Default within the meaning of the provisions summarized under this heading if within the
time allowed for service of a responsive pleading in any proceeding to enforce payment of the Indebtedness under
the laws of the state having jurisdiction or other laws governing such proceeding (i) the Obligated Issuers in good
faith commence proceedings to contest the existence or payment of such Indebtedness, and (ii) sufficient moneys
are escrowed with a bank or trust company for the payment of such Indebtedness; or
(d)
(i) without the consent of the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer, a decree or order by a
court having jurisdiction in the premises shall have been entered adjudging the Corporation or any other Obligated
Issuer as bankrupt or insolvent, or approving as properly filed a petition seeking reorganization or arrangement of
the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer under the Federal Bankruptcy Code or any other similar applicable
federal or state law, and such decree or order shall have continued undischarged and unstayed for a period of 90
days; or, without the consent of the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer, a decree or order of a court having
jurisdiction in the premises for the appointment of a receiver or trustee or assignee in bankruptcy or insolvency of
the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer or of its Property, or for the winding up or liquidation of its affairs,
shall have been entered and such decree or order shall have remained in force undischarged and unstayed for a
period of 90 days and (ii) the Obligated Issuers shall have failed to deposit with the Master Trustee within 15
calendar days of the end of such 90 day period either (A) an amount sufficient to pay in full all Notes of such
Obligated Issuer or (B) if acceptable to the Master Trustee in its sole discretion, and then only under such terms
and conditions as the Master Trustee in its sole discretion shall prescribe, a Note or Notes executed by one or more
other Obligated Issuers in substitution for the Note or Notes of such Obligated Issuer; or
(e)
(i) the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer shall institute proceedings to be adjudicated a
voluntary bankrupt, or shall consent to the institution of a bankruptcy proceeding against it, or shall file a petition
or answer or consent seeking reorganization or arrangement under the Federal Bankruptcy Code or any other
similar applicable federal or state law, or shall consent to the filing of any such petition, or shall consent to the
appointment of a receiver or trustee or assignee in bankruptcy or insolvency of it or of its Property, or shall make
assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they
become due, or corporate action shall be taken by the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer in furtherance of
any of the aforesaid purposes and (ii) the Obligated Issuers shall have failed to deposit with the Master Trustee
within 15 calendar days of such an event either (A) an amount sufficient to pay in full all Notes of such Obligated
Issuer or (B) if acceptable to the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes, a Note or Notes
executed by one or more other Obligated Issuers in substitution for the Note or Notes of such Obligated Issuer.
The provisions summarized in subparagraph (b) under this heading are subject to the following limitations: If by
reason of force majeure, any Obligated Issuer is unable in whole or in part to carry out its agreements on its part contained
in the Master Indenture, such Obligated Issuer shall not be deemed in default during the continuance of such disability. The
term “force majeure” includes the following: acts of God; strikes; lockouts or other employee disturbances; acts of public
enemies; orders of any kind of the government of the United States of America, the state or states in which such Obligated
Issuer is doing business, or any of their departments, agencies, political subdivisions or officials, or any civil or military
authority; insurrections; riots; epidemics; storms; floods; washouts; droughts; civil disturbances; explosions, breakage or
accident to machinery, transmission pipes or canals; partial or entire failure of utilities; or similar acts or events other than
financial not within the control of the Obligated Issuer.
Remedies for Certain Defaults
Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default described in subparagraphs (a), (c), (d) and (e) under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Events of Default,” then and in each and
every such case, unless the principal of and termination payments (in the case of Interest Rate Agreements that are
authenticated as Notes or secured by Notes) on Notes shall have already become due and payable, the Master Trustee may,
and if requested by the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of all Notes then Outstanding, the
Master Trustee shall, and upon the occurrence of an Event of Default described in subparagraph (b) under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Events of Default” and if requested by
the holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of all Notes then Outstanding the Master Trustee shall, by
notice in writing to the Obligated Issuers declare the principal of all such Notes to be due and payable immediately, and
upon any such declaration the same shall become and shall be immediately due and payable, anything in the Master
Indenture or in such Notes contained to the contrary notwithstanding. In such event, there shall be due and payable on the
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Notes an amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of all such Notes (together with the amount of any Interest Rate
Agreement Payments that may be due), plus all interest and other amounts accrued thereon and, to the extent permitted by
applicable law, interest on such amounts to the date of payment. This provision, however, is subject to the condition that if,
at any time after the principal of all Notes and termination payments (in the case of Interest Rate Agreements that are
authenticated as Notes or secured by Notes) shall have been so declared due and payable, and before any judgment or
decree for the payment of the moneys due shall have been obtained or entered as provided in the Master Indenture, the
Obligated Issuers shall pay or shall deposit with the Master Trustee a sum sufficient to pay all matured installments of
interest upon all such Notes and the principal and premium, if any, and Interest Rate Agreement Payments of all such Notes
that shall have become due otherwise than by acceleration (with interest on overdue installments of interest and on such
principal and premium, if any, and Interest Rate Agreement Payments at the respective rates borne by such Notes to the
date of such payment or deposit) and the expenses of the Master Trustee, and any and all Events of Default under the
Master Indenture, other than the nonpayment of principal of and accrued interest on such Notes that shall have become due
by acceleration, shall have been remedied, then and in every such case the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal
amount of all Notes then Outstanding, by written notice to the Obligated Issuers and to the Master Trustee, or the Master
Trustee by written notice to the Obligated Issuers, may rescind and annul such declaration and its consequences; but no
such rescission and annulment shall extend to or affect any subsequent Event of Default, or shall impair any right
consequent thereon.
The Master Trustee, in its own name and as trustee of an express trust shall be entitled and empowered to institute
any actions or proceedings at law or in equity for the collection of the sums so due and unpaid and, in addition thereto, such
further amount as shall be sufficient to cover the costs and expenses of collection, including a reasonable compensation to
the Master Trustee, its agents, attorneys and counsel, and any expenses incurred by the Master Trustee other than as a result
of its negligence or bad faith. The Master Trustee may prosecute any such action or proceedings to judgment or final
decree, and may enforce any such judgment or final decree against the Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer, and
collect in the manner provided by law out of the Property of the Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer, wherever
situated, the moneys adjudged or decreed to be payable. The Master Trustee, upon the bringing of any action or proceeding
at law or in equity as summarized under this heading as a matter of right, without notice and without giving bond to the
Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer, may, to the extent permitted by law, have a receiver appointed for all of the
Property of the Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer pending such action or proceeding with such powers as the
court making such appointment shall confer.
In addition, immediately upon the occurrence of an Event of Default described in subparagraph (a) under the
heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Events of Default,” the
Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer shall deposit all of their respective Pledged Revenues with the Master Trustee
daily until the arrears which caused the Event of Default are satisfied.
Additional Remedies and Enforcement of Remedies
Upon the occurrence and continuance of any Event of Default described in subparagraphs (a) through (e) under the
heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Events of Default,” the Master
Trustee may, and upon the written request of the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Notes
then Outstanding, together with indemnification of the Master Trustee to its satisfaction therefor, shall proceed forthwith to
protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the Holders under the Master Indenture by such suits, actions or proceedings
as the Master Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall deem expedient, including but not limited to:
(i)
Enforcement of the rights of the Holders to collect and enforce the payment of amounts due or
becoming due under the Notes and the Master Indenture, including the joint and several liability of the Obligated
Issuers for the payment of principal and interest and Interest Rate Agreement Payments on Outstanding Notes;
(ii)

Suit upon all or any part of the Notes;

(iii)
Civil action to require any Person holding moneys, documents or other Property pledged to
secure payment of amounts due or to become due on the Notes to account as if it were the trustee of an express
trust for the Noteholders;
(iv)
Civil action to enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in violation of the rights of
the Noteholders and to compel the performance of any action required by the Indenture;
C-26

(v)
Upon bringing any such suit or other proceeding, as a matter of right and without notice or
giving bond, to the extent permitted by law, have a receiver appointed of all or any part of the Property of any
Obligated Issuer pending such suit or other proceeding with such powers as the court making such appointment
shall confer; and
(vi)
Enforcement of any other rights or remedy of the Noteholders conferred by law or equity or by
the Master Indenture, including, without limitation, exercise of remedies of a secured party under Article 9 of the
Uniform Commercial Code with respect to personal property pledged to secure Notes and the Master Indenture.
Regardless of the happening of an Event of Default, the Master Trustee may, and if requested in writing by the
Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then Outstanding, shall, upon being indemnified to
its satisfaction therefor, institute and maintain such suits and proceedings as it may be advised shall be necessary or
expedient (i) to prevent any impairment of the security under the Master Indenture by any acts which may be unlawful or in
violation of the Master Indenture, or (ii) to preserve or protect the interests of the Noteholders, provided that such request
and the action to be taken by the Master Trustee are not in conflict with any applicable law or the provisions of the Master
Indenture and, in the sole judgment of the Master Trustee, not unduly prejudicial to the interest of the Noteholders not
making such request.
Suit by Trustee
All rights of action and rights to assert claims under any Note may be enforced by the Master Trustee without the
possession of such Note in any trial or other proceedings instituted by the Master Trustee. In any proceedings brought by
the Master Trustee (and also any proceedings involving the interpretation of any provision of the Master Indenture to which
the Master Trustee shall be a party) the Master Trustee shall be held to represent all the holders of Notes, and it shall not be
necessary to make any holders of Notes parties to such proceedings.
Application of Moneys Collected
Any amounts collected by the Master Trustee shall be applied, for the equal and ratable benefit of the holders of
Notes of all series then due and payable by acceleration or otherwise in the order following, at the date or dates fixed by the
Master Trustee for the distribution of such moneys, upon presentation of such Notes and stamping thereon the payment, if
only partially paid, and upon surrender thereof if fully paid:
(a)
to the payment of costs and expenses of collection, and of all amounts payable to the Master
Trustee pursuant to the Master Indenture;
(b)
to fund any deficiency in any fund or account created by a Related Bond Indenture or otherwise
to provide for the payment of amounts required to be paid to the United States pursuant to Section 148 of the Code
with respect to any Related Bonds if doing so will, according to an Opinion of Bond Counsel, prevent owners or
holders of the Related Bonds from losing the ability to exclude from their gross incomes interest paid on the
Related Bonds for federal income tax purposes;
(c)
unless the principal of all of the Notes shall have become or shall have been declared due and
payable, all such moneys shall be applied in the following order:
FIRST: to the payment to the persons entitled thereto of all installments of interest and
scheduled payments on Interest Rate Agreements then due and payable in the order in which such
installments shall have become due and payable and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay
in full any particular installment, then to the payment, ratably, according to the amounts due on such
installment, to the persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference; and
SECOND: to the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal of and
termination payments on (in the case of Interest Rate Agreements authenticated as Notes under the
Master Indenture or secured by Notes under the Master Indenture) any of the Notes which shall have
become due and payable (other than Notes previously called for redemption for the payment of which
moneys are held pursuant to the provisions of the Master Indenture) in the order of their due dates, and, if
the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full such amounts due and payable on any particular
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date, then to the payment of such amounts, ratably, according to the amount of such amounts due on that
date, to the persons entitled thereto without any discrimination or preference; and
(d)
if the principal of and termination payments on (in the case of Interest Rate Agreements
authenticated as Notes under the Master Indenture or secured by Notes under the Master Indenture) all the Notes
shall have become or shall have been declared due and payable, moneys shall be applied to the payment of the
principal and interest and Interest Rate Agreement Payments then due and unpaid upon the Notes, (other than for
Notes previously called for redemption for the payment of which moneys are held pursuant to the provisions of the
Master Indenture) without preference or priority of any of principal, termination payments (in the case of Interest
Rate Agreements authenticated as Notes under the Master Indenture or secured by Notes under the Master
Indenture, interest or Interest Rate Agreement Payments over any of the other of such amounts, or of any
installment of any such amounts over any other installment of any such amounts, or of any Note over any other
Note, ratably, according to the amounts due respectively for such amounts, to the persons entitled thereto without
any discrimination or preference;
(e)
to the payment of any other sums required to be paid by the Corporation or any other Obligated
Issuer pursuant to any provisions of the Master Indenture or any of the Notes; and
(f)
to the payment of the remainder, if any, to the Obligated Issuers, their successors or assigns, or
to whomsoever may be lawfully entitled to receive the same, or as a court of competent jurisdiction may direct.
Suit by Noteholders
Unless otherwise provided in the applicable Supplemental Master Indenture, no Noteholder shall have any right by
virtue of any provision of the Master Indenture to institute any suit, action or proceeding in equity or at law upon or under
or with respect to the Master Indenture or for the appointment of a receiver or trustee, or any other remedy under the Master
Indenture, unless such Noteholder previously shall have given to the Master Trustee written notice of default and of the
continuance thereof, as provided in the Master Indenture, and unless also the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate
principal amount of all series of Notes then Outstanding shall have made written request upon the Master Trustee to
institute such action, suit or proceeding in its own name as Master Trustee under the Master Indenture and shall have
offered to the Master Trustee such reasonable indemnity as it may require against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be
incurred therein or thereby, and the Master Trustee, for 30 days after its receipt of such notice, request and offer of
indemnity, shall have neglected or refused to institute any such action, suit or proceeding and no direction inconsistent with
such written request shall have been given to the Master Trustee pursuant to the provisions summarized under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Direction of Proceedings and Waiver of
Defaults by Noteholders;” it being understood and intended, and being expressly covenanted by the taker and Holder of a
Note with every other taker and Holder of a Note and the Master Trustee, that no one or more Noteholders shall have any
right in any manner whatever by virtue or by availing of any provision of the Master Indenture to affect, disturb or
prejudice the rights of any other Noteholders or to obtain or seek to obtain priority over or preference to any other such
Noteholder, or to enforce any right under the Master Indenture, except in the manner provided in the Master Indenture and
for the equal, ratable and common benefit of all Noteholders. For the protection and enforcement of the provisions
summarized under this heading, each and every Noteholder and the Master Trustee shall be entitled to such relief as can be
given either at law or in equity.
The Noteholder instituting a suit, action or proceeding in compliance with the provisions summarized under this
heading shall be entitled in such suit, action or proceeding to such amounts as shall be sufficient to cover the costs and
expenses of collection, including, to the extent permitted by applicable law, a reasonable compensation to its attorneys.
Notwithstanding any other provisions in the Master Indenture, the right of a Noteholder to receive payment of the
principal of and interest and Interest Rate Agreement Payments on such Note, on or after the respective due dates expressed
in such Note, or to institute suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after such respective dates, shall not be
impaired or affected without the consent of such Noteholder.
Direction of Proceedings and Waiver of Defaults by Noteholders
Except as summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER
INDENTURE – Remedies for Certain Defaults,” the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of Notes then
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Outstanding shall have the right to direct the time, method, and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy
available to the Master Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred on the Master Trustee; provided, however, that,
subject to the Master Indenture, the Master Trustee shall have the right to decline to follow any such direction if the Master
Trustee, being advised by counsel, determines that the action so directed may not lawfully be taken, or if the Master Trustee
in good faith shall, by a Responsible Officer or Officers of the Master Trustee, determine that the proceedings so directed
would be illegal or involve it in personal liability, and provided further that nothing in the Master Indenture shall impair the
right of the Master Trustee in its discretion to take any action deemed proper by the Master Trustee and which is not
inconsistent with such direction by the Noteholders.
Prior to the declaration of the maturity of Notes as summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Remedies for Certain Defaults,” the Holders of 25% or more in
aggregate principal amount of Notes then Outstanding may on behalf of the Holders of all Notes waive any past Event of
Default and its consequences, except a default in the payment of the principal of or interest or Interest Rate Agreement
Payments on such Notes or in respect of a covenant or provision of the Master Indenture which under the Master Indenture
cannot be modified or amended without the consent of all the Holders of such Notes then Outstanding. In the case of any
such waiver the Corporation, each other Obligated Issuer, the Master Trustee and the Noteholders of all series shall be
restored to their former positions and rights under the Master Indenture, respectively; but no such waiver shall extend to
any subsequent or other default or impair any right consequent thereon.
Remedies Cumulative
No remedy conferred upon or reserved to the Master Trustee or the Noteholders entitled to the benefits of the
Master Indenture is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative, and
shall be in addition to every other remedy given under the Master Indenture or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity
or by statute; and the employment of any remedy under the Master Indenture or otherwise, shall not prevent the concurrent
employment of any other appropriate remedy or remedies.
Notice of Default
The Master Trustee shall, within 10 days after it receives notice of the occurrence of an Event of Default, mail to
all Noteholders as the names and addresses of such Noteholders appear in the Note Register notice of such Event of
Default, unless such Event of Default shall have been cured before the giving of such notice (the term “Event of Default”
for the purposes of the Master Indenture summarized under this heading being defined to be the events specified under the
heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Events of Default” not including
any periods of grace provided for under said heading) and provided that, except in the case of default in the payment of the
principal of or premium, if any, or interest and Interest Rate Agreement Payments on any of the Notes and the Events of
Default specified in subparagraphs (d) and (e) under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE
MASTER INDENTURE – Events of Default,” the Master Trustee shall be protected in withholding such notice if and so
long as the board of directors, the executive committee, or a trust committee of directors or Responsible Officers of the
Master Trustee in good faith determines that the withholding of such notice is in the interest of the Noteholders.
Resignation, Removal and Successor Trustee
The Master Trustee may resign at any time without cause by giving at least 60 days’ prior written notice to the
Obligated Issuers and to each Noteholder, as the names and addresses of such Noteholders appear on the register
maintained pursuant to the Master Indenture, such resignation to be effective upon the acceptance of such trusteeship by a
successor. In addition, the Master Trustee may be removed without cause at the direction of the Corporation (so long as no
Event of Default under the Master Indenture has occurred and is continuing, and no event has occurred which, with the
giving of notice or the passage of time or both, will become an Event of Default) or the Holders of more than 50% in
aggregate principal amount of Notes then Outstanding, delivered to the Obligated Issuers and the Master Trustee, and the
Master Trustee shall promptly give notice thereof in writing to each Noteholder as provided above. Such removal of the
Master Trustee shall not be effective until the acceptance of such trusteeship by a successor. In the case of the resignation
or removal of the Master Trustee, a successor Master Trustee may be appointed at the direction of the Corporation (so long
as no Event of Default under the Master Indenture has occurred and is continuing, and no event has occurred which, with
the giving of notice or the passage of time or both, will become an Event of Default) or, if an Event of Default under the
Master Indenture has occurred and is continuing or an event has occurred which with the giving of notice or the passage of
time or both will become an Event of Default, the Holders of more than 50% in aggregate principal amount of Notes then
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Outstanding. If a successor Master Trustee shall not have been appointed within 60 days after such notice of resignation or
removal, the Master Trustee, the Corporation, any other Obligated Issuer or any Noteholder may apply to any court of
competent jurisdiction to appoint a successor to act until such time, if any, as a successor shall have been appointed as
above provided. The successor so appointed by such court shall immediately and without further act be superseded by any
successor appointed as above provided.
Evidence of Action by Noteholders; Related Bondholders Deemed Noteholders
Whenever in the Master Indenture it is provided that the Holders of a specified percentage in aggregate principal
amount of Notes may take any action (including the making of any demand or request, the giving of any notice, consent, or
waiver or the taking of any other action), (i) the fact that at the time of taking any such action the Holders of such specified
percentage have joined therein shall be evidenced by any instrument or any number of instruments of similar tenor executed
by such Holders in person or by agent or proxy appointed in writing and (ii) subject to the provisions of any Supplemental
Master Indenture to the contrary, in determining whether the Holders of the requisite aggregate principal amount of Notes
have concurred in taking any such action, Notes owned or held by a Related Bond Trustee as security for the payment of
Related Bonds shall be disregarded and deemed not Outstanding for the purposes of such determination and each Holder of
such a Related Bond then outstanding under the Related Bond Indenture shall, for the purposes of such determination, be
deemed to hold a Note then Outstanding in a principal amount equal to the principal amount of such Related Bond then
Outstanding.
Supplemental Master Indentures without Consent of Noteholders
The Corporation, when authorized by its Board of Trustees, and each other Obligated Issuer, and the Master
Trustee may from time to time and at any time enter into one or more Supplemental Master Indentures for one or more of
the following purposes:
(i)
to evidence the succession of another corporation to the Corporation or any other Obligated
Issuer, or successive successions, and the assumption by the successor corporation of the covenants, agreements
and obligations of the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer pursuant to the Master Indenture;
(ii)
to add to the covenants of the Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer such further covenants,
restrictions or conditions as the Master Trustee shall consider to be for the protection of the holders of Notes
issued under the Master Indenture, and to make the occurrence, or the occurrence and continuance, of a default in
any of such additional covenants, restrictions or conditions an Event of Default permitting the enforcement of all
or any of the several remedies provided in the Master Indenture; provided, however, that in respect of any such
additional covenant, restriction or condition such supplemental indenture may provide for a particular period of
grace after default (which period may be shorter or longer than that allowed in the case of other defaults) or may
provide for an immediate enforcement upon such default or may limit the remedies available to the Master Trustee
upon such default;
(iii)
to cure any ambiguity or to correct or supplement any provision contained in the Master
Indenture or in any Supplemental Master Indenture which may be defective or inconsistent with any other
provision contained therein or in any Supplemental Master Indenture, or to make any other changes that shall not
impair the security of the Master Indenture or adversely affect the interest of the Noteholders;
(iv)
to modify or supplement the Master Indenture in such manner as may be necessary or
appropriate to qualify the Master Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 as then amended (the “1939
Act”), or under any similar federal statute hereafter enacted, or as may be necessary to comply with any applicable
state securities laws which require the Master Indenture to comport with any requirements of the 1939 Act
regardless of the applicability of the 1939 Act to the Master Indenture, including provisions whereby the Master
Trustee accepts such powers, duties, conditions and restrictions under the Master Indenture and the Corporation
and each other Obligated Issuer undertakes such covenants, conditions or restrictions additional to those contained
in the Master Indenture as would be necessary or appropriate so to qualify the Master Indenture or so to comply
with such state securities laws;
(v)

to provide for the issuance of additional Notes;
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(vi)
to add new Obligated Issuers, and if applicable, to add details with respect to existing Liens
applicable to the new Obligated Issuers, pursuant to the provisions summarized in clause (vii) under the heading
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Restrictions as to Creation of
Liens;” and
(vii)

to evidence the withdrawal of Obligated Issuers.

The Master Trustee is authorized by the Master Indenture to join with the Corporation and each other Obligated
Issuer in the execution of any Supplemental Master Indenture, to make any further appropriate agreements and stipulations
which may be therein contained and to accept the conveyance, transfer, mortgage, pledge or assignment of any Property
thereunder, but the Master Trustee shall not be obligated to enter into any such Supplemental Master Indenture that affects
the Master Trustee’s own rights, duties or immunities under the Master Indenture or otherwise.
Any Supplemental Master Indenture authorized by the provisions summarized under this heading may be executed
by the Corporation, by each other Obligated Issuer without adoption of resolutions by the Governing Body of such other
Obligated Issuers, and by the Master Trustee without the consent of the Noteholders, notwithstanding any of the provisions
summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE –
Supplemental Master Indentures with Consent of Noteholders.”
Supplemental Master Indentures with Consent of Noteholders
With the consent (evidenced as summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF
THE MASTER INDENTURE – Evidence of Action by Noteholders; Related Bondholders Deemed Noteholders”) of the
Holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of Notes then Outstanding, the Corporation and each
other Obligated Issuer, and the Master Trustee may from time to time and at any time enter into a Supplemental Master
Indenture for the purpose of adding any provisions to or changing in any manner or eliminating any of the provisions of the
Master Indenture or of any Supplemental Master Indenture or of modifying in any manner the rights of the Noteholders;
provided, however, that no such Supplemental Master Indenture shall, without the consent of the Holders of all Notes then
Outstanding which are affected thereby, (A) effect a change in the times, amounts or currency of payment of the principal
of, premium, if any, or interest on any Note or a reduction in the principal amount or redemption price of any Note or the
rate of interest thereon, or any other amounts payable thereon, (B) reduce the aforesaid percentage of Notes, the Holders of
which are required to consent to any such Supplemental Master Indenture, (C) except as otherwise provided therein, permit
the preference or priority of any Note or Notes over any other Note or Notes or (D) release any portion of the Master Trust
Estate or any other collateral given to secure the Notes except as specifically provided in the documents pursuant to which
the interest in the collateral is given.
Upon the request of the Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer, accompanied by a copy of a resolution of
each Governing Body certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of each Obligated Issuer authorizing the
execution of any such Supplemental Master Indenture, and upon the filing with the Master Trustee of evidence of the
consent of the Noteholders as aforesaid, the Master Trustee shall join with the Corporation and each other Obligated Issuer
in the execution of such Supplemental Master Indenture unless such Supplemental Master Indenture affects the Master
Trustee’s own rights, duties or immunities under the Master Indenture or otherwise, in which case the Master Trustee may
in its discretion, but shall not be obligated to, enter into such Supplemental Master Indenture.
Pursuant to the provisions summarized under this heading, it shall not be necessary for the consent of the
Noteholders to approve the particular form of any proposed Supplemental Master Indenture, but it shall be sufficient if such
consent shall approve the substance thereof.
Promptly after the execution by the Corporation, each other Obligated Issuer and the Master Trustee of any
Supplemental Master Indenture pursuant to the provisions summarized under this heading, the Corporation shall notify each
Noteholder, setting forth in general terms the substance of such Supplemental Master Indenture. Any failure of the
Corporation to provide such notice, or any defect therein, shall not, however, in any way impair or affect the validity of any
such Supplemental Master Indenture.
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Replacement of Master Indenture with Replacement Master Indenture
Upon the request of the Obligated Group Representative under the Master Indenture and the delivery of a
Replacement Master Indenture (as defined below), the Master Trustee shall (i) accept the substitution of such Replacement
Master Indenture for the Master Indenture and the liens, rights, and interests created hereby shall cease, determine, and
become null and void, (ii) at the expense of the Obligated Group Representative, execute and deliver a termination
statement and such instruments of satisfaction and discharge as may be necessary, (iii) pay, assign, transfer and deliver at
the written request of the Obligated Group Representative all cash, securities, and other personal property then held by it
under the Master Indenture as part of the Master Trust Estate, and (iv) recognize that each Note then Outstanding under the
Master Indenture is entitled to the security and benefits under the Replacement Master Indenture, all upon delivery to the
Master Trustee of:
(a)
Ratings. Evidence that, prior to the date upon which the Replacement Master Indenture is to take effect,
both the Corporation and the members of the obligated group under the Replacement Master Indenture maintain ratings by
each Rating Agency then rating their respective long-term debt of at least A3 (Moody’s)/A- (Standard & Poors and Fitch)
(without regard to any rating outlooks). No delivery of a Replacement Master Indenture will be permitted under the Master
Indenture if there is not at least one rating agency delivering or maintaining such a rating on the long-term debt of the New
Group following the delivery of the Replacement Master Indenture; and
(b)
Opinion of Counsel. An Opinion of Counsel to the effect that (i) the Replacement Master Indenture has
been duly authorized, executed and delivered by, and constitutes the legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligation of the
New Group, subject to customary exceptions, (ii) the acceptance of the Replacement Master Indenture and the release of
the Master Indenture will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income of interest under the Code on any
Outstanding Indebtedness and otherwise entitled to such exemption, (iii) the acceptance of the Replacement Master
Indenture and the release of the Master Indenture will not adversely affect the validity of any Indebtedness, (iv) the
acceptance of the Replacement Master Indenture and the release of the Master Indenture will not require the registration of
any Indebtedness under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (or, if registration is required, such Indebtedness shall have
been so registered), and (v) all requirements and conditions in the Master Indenture to the acceptance of the Replacement
Master Indenture and the release of the Master Indenture have been complied with and satisfied.
For purposes of this provision, the following defined terms shall have the following meanings:
“New Group” means those Obligated Issuers, if any, and/or any other Persons who agree (i) to
unconditionally guaranty payment or become jointly and severally obligated under the Replacement Master
Indenture for any obligations under the Master Indenture, and (ii) to otherwise comply with the provisions of the
Replacement Master Indenture.
“Replacement Master Indenture” means a master trust indenture entered into by the New Group and a
master trustee that, inter alia, provides either (i) that all Outstanding Indebtedness under the Master Indenture shall
be deemed to be a note or obligation issued under and entitled to the security and benefits of such Replacement
Master Indenture without the necessity of any amendment, exchange or replacement of such Indebtedness, or (ii)
for the exchange or replacement of all Outstanding Indebtedness under the Master Indenture with notes or
obligations issued under and entitled to the benefits of such Replacement Master Indenture.
Supplemental Master Indentures Creating Series of Notes
The Corporation or any other Obligated Issuer, when authorized by a resolution of the Governing Body of the
entity planning to create a series of Notes, and the Master Trustee may from time to time enter into a Supplemental Master
Indenture in order to create a series of Notes. Such Supplemental Master Indenture shall, with respect to the series of Notes
created thereby, set forth the date thereof, and the date or dates upon which principal of and premium, if any, and interest
and Interest Rate Agreement Payments on such Notes shall be payable, and shall contain such other terms and provisions as
shall be established in the Supplemental Master Indenture. Any Supplemental Master Indenture authorized by the
provisions summarized under this heading may be executed without the consent of the Noteholders, notwithstanding the
provisions summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE –
Supplemental Master Indentures with Consent of Noteholders.”
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Conditions to Issue of Notes
With respect to each series of Notes, simultaneously with or prior to the execution, authentication and delivery of
such Notes pursuant to the Master Indenture: (a) all requirements and conditions to the issuance of such Notes, if any, set
forth in the Supplemental Master Indenture shall have been complied with and satisfied; (b) the Issuer of such Notes shall
have delivered to the Master Trustee an Opinion of Counsel to the effect that registration of such Notes under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, is not required, or, if such registration is required, that the Obligated Issuers have complied with
all applicable provisions of said Act; and (c) the Corporation and the applicable Obligated Issuer shall have delivered to the
Master Trustee an Officer’s Certificate stating that, to the best of the knowledge of the signer thereof, each of the persons in
whose name such a Note is to be registered upon the original issuance thereof is not acquiring the interest represented by
such a Note directly or indirectly with the assets of, or in connection with any arrangement or understanding by it in any
way involving any employee benefit plan with respect to which (i) any employee of any Obligated Issuer or the Master
Trustee, in its individual capacity, is a participant or (ii) any Obligated Issuer or the Master Trustee, in its individual
capacity, or any of their affiliates is otherwise a party in interest, all within the meaning of the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
The Obligated Group
Becoming an Obligated Issuer and Member of the Obligated Group
Subject to meeting the criteria with respect to acceptance summarized under the subheading “Acceptance as an
Obligated Issuer” below, any Person may, with the consent of the Corporation, become an Obligated Issuer and a member
of the Obligated Group.
Acceptance as an Obligated Issuer
Prior to becoming an Obligated Issuer under the Master Indenture, a Person shall in each case deliver to the Master
Trustee and each Related Issuer a written instrument in the form attached to the Master Indenture. In addition, a Person
may not become an Obligated Issuer unless the Corporation shall deliver to the Master Trustee an Officer’s Certificate to
the effect that:
(a)
Giving effect to the inclusion of the proposed Obligated Issuer at the beginning of the most
recently completed Fiscal Year, the conditions described under clause (a) under the heading “SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE - Restrictions as to Incurrence of Additional
Indebtedness” would be met for the incurrence of one dollar of Long-Term Additional Indebtedness by the
Obligated Group, after giving effect to the acceptance of such Obligated Issuer; and
(b)
Giving effect to the inclusion of the proposed Obligated Issuer, no Event of Default would occur
and be continuing under the Master Indenture or any Related Bond Indenture;
Each such acceptance shall be accompanied by a Supplemental Master Indenture duly executed and delivered
pursuant the provisions summarized in clause (vi) of the first paragraph under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Supplemental Master Indentures without Consent of Noteholders” and
by an Opinion of Counsel, addressed to and reasonably satisfactory to the Master Trustee to the effect that all conditions
precedent to the addition of a member to the Obligated Group, as set forth in the Master Indenture, have been satisfied, each
such Person has the corporate power and authority to execute and deliver the acceptance in the form attached to the Master
Indenture and the Supplemental Master Indenture and to perform its obligations under such instruments and such
instruments have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by such Person and constitute valid and binding obligations
of each of such parties, enforceable in accordance with their terms, except as limited by bankruptcy laws, insolvency laws
and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally.
It shall be a condition precedent to the consummation of any transaction involving an instrument to be executed
and delivered to the Master Trustee in accordance with the provisions summarized under the subheading “Becoming an
Obligated Issuer and Member of the Obligated Group” and under this subheading that the Master Trustee shall also have
received upon request by the Master Trustee an Opinion of Bond Counsel, in form and substance satisfactory to the Master
Trustee, to the effect that the consummation of such transaction would not adversely affect the exclusions under the Code
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of the interest payable on any issue of Related Bonds then outstanding from the gross income of the owners of the Related
Bonds for federal income tax purposes.
Effects of Becoming an Obligated Issuer
Upon any Person becoming an Obligated Issuer, (i) the Person shall be jointly and severally liable for the payment
of principal and interest and Interest Rate Agreement Payments on all of the Outstanding Notes and (ii) the Person shall be
required to perform the various covenants applicable to Obligated Issuers contained in the Master Indenture.
Obligated Issuer Remains an Obligated Issuer
A Person becoming an Obligated Issuer shall remain an Obligated Issuer until such time as the Master Indenture
shall be discharged pursuant to the Master Indenture or is permitted to withdraw pursuant to the provisions summarized
under the subheading “Withdrawal of Obligated Issuers” below.
Withdrawal of Obligated Issuers
An Obligated Issuer may not withdraw from the terms of the Master Indenture and the obligation of such
Obligated Issuer under the Master Indenture unless, in each case, the Obligated Issuer shall deliver to the Master Trustee
and each Related Issuer a written instrument in the form attached to the Master Indenture. In addition an Obligated Issuer
may not withdraw unless the Corporation shall deliver to the Master Trustee an Officer’s Certificate to the effect that:
(a)
Giving effect to the proposed withdrawal of the Obligated Issuer, as if such withdrawal had
occurred at the beginning of the most recently completed Fiscal Year for which combined financial statements
which have been reported upon by an independent certified public accountant are available, the condition
described under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE Restrictions as to Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness” would be met for the incurrence of one dollar of LongTerm Additional Indebtedness by the Obligated Group, after giving effect to the withdrawal of such Obligated
Issuer; and
(b)
Giving effect to the proposed withdrawal of the Obligated Issuer, no Event of Default would
occur and be continuing under the Master Indenture or any Related Bond Indenture; and
(c)
The Obligated Issuer proposing to withdraw has no series of Notes Outstanding or any such
Note has been reissued or assumed by an Obligated Issuer which is not withdrawing in accordance with the
provisions of the Master Indenture as if it were new Indebtedness and all applicable provisions of law pursuant to
which the Note and any other Indebtedness secured by the Note and any Related Bonds were issued or incurred.
Each such withdrawal shall be accompanied by a Supplemental Master Indenture duly executed and delivered
pursuant to the provisions summarized in clause (vii) of the first paragraph under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Supplemental Master Indentures without Consent of Noteholders” and
by an Opinion of Counsel, addressed to and reasonably satisfactory to the Master Trustee to the effect that all conditions
precedent to the withdrawal of a member of the Obligated Group have been satisfied and that any reissued or assumed Note
referred to in subparagraph (c) above is a valid and enforceable obligation under the terms of the Master Indenture.
Satisfaction and Discharge of the Master Indenture
If (i) all Notes theretofore authenticated (other than any Notes which shall have been mutilated, destroyed, lost or
stolen and which shall have been replaced or paid as provided in the Master Indenture) and not theretofore canceled are
delivered to the Master Trustee for cancellation, or (ii) all Notes not theretofore canceled or delivered to the Master Trustee
for cancellation shall have become due and payable and payment thereof shall have been provided for by a deposit of
money in accordance with the provisions summarized under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF
THE MASTER INDENTURE – Providing for Payment of Notes,” or (iii) the Corporation or any Obligated Issuer shall
deposit with the Master Trustee (or with a bank or trust company pursuant to an agreement between the Corporation or any
Obligated Issuer and such bank or trust company) as trust funds the entire amount of moneys or Defeasance Obligations (as
defined under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER INDENTURE – Providing for
Payment of Notes”) or both which, together in the case of Defeasance Obligations with the income or increment to accrue
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thereon, will be sufficient to pay at maturity or upon redemption, or termination in the case of Interest Rate Agreements
authenticated as Notes under the Master Indenture or secured by Notes under the Master Indenture, or combination of
payment, redemption and termination, all Notes not theretofore canceled or delivered to the Master Trustee for cancellation,
including principal and interest and Interest Rate Agreement Payments due or to become due to such date of maturity,
redemption or termination or combination thereof, as the case may be, and if in any such case the Corporation or any
Obligated Issuer shall also pay or cause to be paid all other sums payable under the Master Indenture by the Corporation or
any Obligated Issuer, then the Master Indenture, shall cease to be of further effect, and the Master Trustee, on demand of
the Corporation or any Obligated Issuer, and at the cost and expense of the Corporation and the Obligated Issuers, shall
execute proper instruments acknowledging satisfaction of and discharging the Master Indenture. The Corporation and each
Obligated Issuer agrees in the Master Indenture to reimburse the Master Trustee for any costs of expenses theretofore and
thereafter reasonably and properly incurred by the Master Trustee in connection with the Master Indenture or such Notes.
Providing for Payment of Notes
Payment of one or more series of, but less than all, Notes may be provided for by the deposit with the Master
Trustee (or with a bank or trust company pursuant to an agreement between the Corporation or any Obligated Issuer and
such bank or trust company) as trust funds of moneys or Defeasance Obligations or both. The moneys and the maturing
principal and interest income on such Defeasance Obligations, if any, shall be sufficient, as evidenced by a certificate of
independent certified public accountants, to pay the principal of and interest or Interest Rate Agreement Payments on such
Notes. The moneys and Defeasance Obligations shall be held by the Master Trustee or other bank or trust company
irrevocably in trust for the holders of such Notes solely for the purpose of paying the principal of and interest or Interest
Rate Agreement Payments on such Notes as the same shall mature, come due or become payable upon prior redemption,
and, if applicable, upon simultaneous direction, expressed to be irrevocable, to the Master Trustee as to the dates upon
which any such Notes are to be redeemed prior to their respective maturities.
As used in this summary, Defeasance Obligations shall mean non-callable:
(a)
Direct general obligations of, or obligations the payment of principal and interest on which is
unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America;
(b)
Evidences of ownership of proportionate interests in future interest and principal payments on
specified obligations described in (a) held by a bank or trust company as custodian, under which the owner of the
investment is the real party in interest and has the right to proceed directly and individually against the obligor on
the underlying obligations described in (a), and which underlying obligations are not available to satisfy any claim
of the custodian or any person claiming through the custodian or to whom the custodian may be obligated;
(c)
Evidences of indebtedness issued by any of the following: Bank for Cooperatives; Federal
Home Loan Banks, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (including participation certificates); Federal Land
Banks; Federal Financing Banks; or any other agency or instrumentality of the United States of America created
by an act of Congress which is substantially similar to the foregoing in its legal relationship to the United States of
America;
(d)
Debt obligations, whether or not interest thereon is exempt from federal income taxes, which, at
the time of deposit, are rated by Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s in the highest long-term debt rating category of
such rating agency or, if such debt obligations are then being rated by Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s but not both,
are rated by Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s in the highest long-term debt rating category of such rating agency,
without regard to any refinement or gradation of such rating category by numerical modifier or otherwise;
provided, that if any Note or Related Bond being provided for is then rated by Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s, the
obligations deposited must be rated by each rating agency having a rating in effect on such Notes or Related Bonds
in a rating category no lower than that in effect on such Notes or Related Bonds; and
(e)
Obligations described in Section 103(a) of the Code, provision for the payment of the principal
of, premium, if any, and interest on which shall have been made by the irrevocable deposit with a bank or trust
company acting as a trustee or escrow agent for holders of such obligations of securities described in clauses (a) or
(b) the maturing principal of and interest on which, when due and payable, will provide sufficient moneys to pay
when due the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on such obligations, and which securities described in
clauses (a) or (b) are not available to satisfy any other claim, including any claim of the trustee or escrow agent or
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of any person claiming through the trustee or escrow agent or to whom the trustee or escrow agent may be
obligated, including in the event of the insolvency of the trustee or escrow agent or proceedings arising out of such
insolvency.
Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions summarized under this heading, the Supplemental Master Indenture or
Related Bond Indenture pursuant to which a Series of Notes or Related Bonds, respectively, is issued may preclude
providing for the payment thereof through the deposit of one or more types of Defeasance Obligations described in the
preceding paragraph, and as to such Series of Notes or Related Bonds, respectively, the provisions of such Supplemental
Master Indenture or Related Bond Indenture shall control.
If payment of a Series of Notes is provided for in compliance with the provisions summarized under this heading,
the Master Trustee shall mail a notice so stating to each Holder of a registered Note so provided for.
Notes the payments of which has been provided for in accordance with the provisions summarized under this
heading shall no longer be deemed Outstanding under the Master Indenture or secured by the Master Indenture, and the
Holders thereof shall thereafter be entitled to payment only from the moneys or obligations deposited in trust to provide for
the payment of such Notes.
Payment of Notes after Discharge of Lien
Notwithstanding the discharge of the lien of the Master Indenture as provided in the Master Indenture, the Master
Trustee shall nevertheless retain such rights, powers and duties under the Master Indenture as may be necessary and
convenient for the payment of amounts due or to become due on the Notes and the registration, transfer, exchange and
replacement of Notes as provided in the Master Indenture. Nevertheless, any moneys held by the Master Trustee or any
paying agent for the payment of amounts due on any Note remaining unclaimed for five years after the principal of and
Interest Rate Agreement Payments on all Notes has become due and payable, whether at maturity or upon proceedings for
declaration as provided in the Master Indenture, shall then be paid to the respective Obligated Issuers and the Holders of
any Notes not theretofore presented for payment shall thereafter be entitled to look only to the Obligated Group for
payment thereof and all liability of the Master Trustee or any paying agent with respect to such moneys thereupon cease.
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APPENDIX D
SUMMARY OF THE BOND INDENTURE AND THE LOAN AGREEMENT
The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Bond Indenture and the Loan Agreement which
are not described elsewhere in this Official Statement. Throughout this Appendix D, the term “Bond” or “Bonds”
refers only to the Bonds while they bear interest at the fixed rates established on the original issue date of the
Bonds.
These summaries do not purport to be comprehensive and reference should be made to each of said
documents for a full and complete statement of their provisions.
DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS
The following is a summary of certain terms used in this SUMMARY OF THE BOND INDENTURE
AND THE LOAN AGREEMENT and not defined elsewhere in this Official Statement. All capitalized terms not
defined herein or elsewhere in this Official Statement have the meanings set forth in the Bond Indenture.
Act shall mean Chapter 231 of the Wisconsin Statutes, as the same is now in effect and as from time to
time hereafter amended or supplemented.
Additional Payments shall mean the payments so designated and required to be made by the Borrower
pursuant to the Loan Agreement.
Administrative Fees and Expenses shall mean any application, commitment, financing or similar fee
charged, or reimbursement for administrative or other expenses incurred, by the Authority or the Bond Trustee,
including Additional Payments.
Authority, as used in this SUMMARY OF THE BOND INDENTURE AND THE LOAN AGREEMENT,
shall mean the Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority, created pursuant to, and as defined in, the
Act, and its successors.
Authorized Representative means with respect to the Borrower, its President and Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer, and General Counsel, or any other person designated
as an Authorized Representative of the Borrower in a Certificate of the Borrower, signed by any existing
Authorized Representative and filed with the Bond Trustee.
Beneficial Owner shall mean any Person which has or shares the power, directly or indirectly, to make
investment decisions concerning ownership of any of the Bonds (including any Person holding Bonds through
nominees, depositories or other intermediaries).
Bond Financed Projects means the projects financed and refinanced with the proceeds of the Bonds as
more specifically described in the Loan Agreement and in the Tax Agreement.
Bonds, as used in this SUMMARY OF THE BOND INDENTURE AND THE LOAN AGREEMENT,
shall mean the Bonds while in the Initial Fixed Period as described in this Official Statement.
Borrower means ThedaCare, Inc., a nonstock corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of
the State of Wisconsin, or any corporation that is the surviving, resulting or transferee corporation in any merger,
consolidation or transfer of assets permitted under the Master Indenture.
Business Day shall mean any day on which banks located in New York, New York, and the city in which
the Principal Corporate Trust Office of the Bond Trustee is located are not required or authorized to be closed and
on which The New York Stock Exchange is open.

Code shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any successor statute thereto and any
regulations promulgated thereunder.
Completion Certificate means a certificate signed by an Authorized Representative of the Borrower
(a) stating, without prejudice as to rights against third parties, the date on which the Bond Financed Projects were
substantially completed to the satisfaction of the Borrower, and that all costs and expenses incurred in connection
with the Bond Financed Projects and expected to be paid with proceeds of the Bonds have been paid except for
specified amounts either that are not yet due and payable or that the Borrower is contesting in good faith by
appropriate proceedings, (b) stating that all permits for the occupancy and use of the Bond Financed Projects have
been obtained, if applicable, and (c) either (i) demonstrating that the weighted average maturity of the Bonds does
not exceed 120% of the average reasonably expected economic life of the Bond Financed Projects (taking into
account any additions to or deletions from the Bond Financed Projects as originally contemplated), calculated in
accordance with Section 147 of the Code or (ii) containing the agreement of the Borrower to sufficiently shorten the
weighted average maturity of the Bonds so that the condition described in (i) will be met through a defeasance or
optional redemption of a portion of the Bonds as provided in the Loan Agreement.
Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall mean that certain Continuing Disclosure Agreement entered into
in conjunction with the issuance of the Bonds relating to the Bonds, executed by the Borrower, for itself and on
behalf of the Members of the Obligated Group, dated the date of issuance of the Bonds, as originally executed and
as it may be amended from time to time in accordance with its terms.
Costs of Issuance means all items of expense directly or indirectly payable by or reimbursable to the
Authority or the Borrower and related to the authorization, issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds, including but
not limited to advertising and printing costs, costs of preparation and reproduction of documents, filing and
recording fees, initial fees and charges of the Bond Trustee and the Master Trustee, initial and ongoing fees and
charges of the Authority, legal fees and charges, fees and disbursements of consultants and professionals, Rating
Agency fees, fees and charges for preparation, execution, transportation and safekeeping of the Bonds, and any
other cost, charge or fee in connection with the original issuance of the Bonds.
Electronic Means shall mean the following communication methods: e-mail, facsimile transmission,
secure electronic transmission containing applicable authorization codes, passwords and/or authentication keys
issued by the Bond Trustee, or another method or system specified by the Bond Trustee as available for use in
connection with its services under the Bond Indenture.
Event of Default, when used with respect to the Bond Indenture, shall mean any of the events of default
specified in the Bond Indenture as described under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE
BOND INDENTURE – Events of Default” in this SUMMARY OF THE BOND INDENTURE AND THE LOAN
AGREEMENT.
Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel shall mean an opinion of Bond Counsel, addressed to the Authority,
the Borrower and the Bond Trustee to the effect that the action proposed to be taken is authorized or permitted by
the Bond Indenture and will not, in and of itself, adversely affect the validity of the Bonds or any exclusion from
gross income for federal income tax purposes to which interest on the Bonds would otherwise be entitled.
Fitch shall mean Fitch, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware,
its successors and assigns, or, if such corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the
functions of a securities rating agency, any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the
Borrower by notice in writing to the Authority and the Bond Trustee.
Fixed Period shall mean the interest rate period during which a Series of Bonds bear interest at a fixed rate
to their maturity date.
Holder or Bondholder, whenever used with respect to a Bond, shall mean the Person in whose name such
Bond is registered on the registration books of the Bond Trustee.
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Interest Accrual Date shall mean with respect to any Fixed Period, the first day thereof and, thereafter,
each Interest Payment Date in respect thereof, other than the last such Interest Payment Date.
Initial Fixed Period means the Fixed Period commencing on the original issue date of the Bonds (in which
the Bonds bear interest at the rate or rates for the respective maturities set forth on the inside of the front cover of
this Official Statement).
Interest Payment Date shall mean (a) with respect to any Fixed Period, each June 15 and December 15
(the first Interest Payment Date for the Bonds is June 15, 2020); and (b) the day next succeeding the last day of the
Initial Fixed Period.
Investment Securities shall mean (a) United States Government Obligations and bonds or securities issued
or guaranteed as to principal and interest by a commission, board or other instrumentality of the federal government,
(b) short-term discount obligations of the Federal National Mortgage Association, (c) certificates of deposit or time
deposits constituting direct obligations of any bank the full amount of which is insured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation, (d) time deposits in any credit union, bank, savings bank, trust company or savings and loan
association which is authorized to transact business in the State if the time deposits mature in not more than three
years, (e) bonds or securities of any county, city, drainage district, technical college district, village, town or school
district of the State, (f) any security which matures or which may be tendered for purchase at the option of the
holder within not more than seven years of the date on which it is acquired, if that security has a rating at the time of
purchase which is the highest or second highest rating category assigned by S&P, Moody’s or other similar
nationally recognized rating agency or if that security is senior to, or on a parity with, a security of the same issuer
which has such a rating, (g) securities of an open-end management investment company or investment trust if the
investment company or investment trust does not charge a sales load, if the investment company or investment trust
is registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, 15 U.S.C. 80a-1 to 80a-64, and if the portfolio of the
investment company or investment trust is limited to the following: (i) bonds and securities issued by the federal
government or a commission, board or other instrumentality of the federal government, (ii) bonds that are
guaranteed as to principal and interest by the federal government or a commission, board or other instrumentality of
the federal government and (iii) repurchase agreements that are fully collateralized by bonds or securities described
under (i) or (ii) and (h) any other obligation or security which constitutes a permitted investment for money of the
Authority as a result of an amendment of the Act subsequent to the date of issuance, if the prior written consent of
the Authority and the Bond Trustee are obtained.
Loan Default Event shall mean any of the events of default specified in the Loan Agreement as described
under the heading “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT – Events of
Default” in this SUMMARY OF THE BOND INDENTURE AND THE LOAN AGREEMENT.
Loan Repayments shall mean the payments so designated and required to be made by the Borrower
pursuant to the Loan Agreement.
Member or Member of the Obligated Group shall mean a member of the Obligated Group created under
the Master Indenture.
Minimum Authorized Denominations shall mean with respect to any Fixed Period, $5,000 and any
integral multiple thereof.
Moody’s shall mean Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws
of the State of Delaware, its successors and assigns, or, if such corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall
no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, any other nationally recognized securities rating
agency designated by the Borrower by notice in writing to the Authority and the Bond Trustee.
Opinion of Counsel shall mean a written opinion of counsel (who may be counsel for the Authority) not
objected to by the Bond Trustee.
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Outstanding, when used as of any particular time with reference to Bonds, shall mean (subject to the
provisions of the Bond Indenture relating to disqualified Bonds) all Bonds theretofore, or thereupon being,
authenticated and delivered by the Bond Trustee under the Bond Indenture except (a) Bonds theretofore canceled by
the Bond Trustee or surrendered to the Bond Trustee for cancellation; (b) Bonds with respect to which all liability of
the Authority shall have been discharged in accordance with the defeasance provisions of the Bond Indenture,
including Bonds (or portions of Bonds) with respect to which money is held under the Bond Indenture; and
(c) Bonds for the transfer or exchange of or in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds shall have been
authenticated and delivered by the Bond Trustee pursuant to the Bond Indenture.
Person shall mean an individual, corporation, firm, association, partnership, trust, or other legal entity or
group of entities, including a governmental entity or any agency or political subdivision thereof.
Principal Corporate Trust Office shall mean, as appropriate, the designated corporate trust office of
(a) the Bond Trustee, which as of the date hereof is located at 2 North LaSalle Street, 7th Floor, Chicago, Illinois
60602, Attention: Corporate Trust Department or (b) the Tender Agent, which as of the date hereof, shall be the
same as the Bond Trustee, provided , however, that for the purposes of presentation of Bonds for payment or for the
registration of transfer or exchange such term shall mean the office or agency of the Bond Trustee at which, at any
particular time, its corporate trust agency business shall be conducted. The principal corporate trust office of the
Bond Trustee is located at:
First Class/Registered/Certified
The Bank of New York Mellon
Global Corporate Trust
P.O. Box 396
East Syracuse, New York 13057
Express Delivery Only
The Bank of New York Mellon
Global Corporate Trust 111 Sanders Creek Parkway
East Syracuse, New York 13057
By Hand Only
The Bank of New York Mellon
Global Corporate Trust
Corporate Trust Window
240 Greenwich Street, 1st Floor East
New York, New York 10286
Rating Agency shall mean S&P, Moody’s and Fitch.
Rating Category shall mean a generic securities rating category, without regard to any refinement or
gradation of such rating category by a numerical modifier or otherwise.
Record Date shall mean with respect to any Bonds bearing interest at a Fixed Rate, the first day of the
month in which such Interest Payment Date falls or, in the event that an Interest Payment Date shall occur less than
15 days after the first day of a Fixed Period, such first day.
Redemption Price shall mean, with respect to any Bond (or portion thereof), the principal amount of such
Bond (or portion) plus the applicable premium, if any, payable upon redemption thereof pursuant to the provisions
of such Bond and the Bond Indenture.
Responsible Officer when used with respect to the Bond Trustee, shall mean an officer in the corporate
trust office specified in the Bond Indenture (or any successor corporate trust office) customarily performing
functions similar to those performed by the persons who at the time shall be such officers, respectively, or to whom
any corporate trust matter is referred at the corporate trust office specified in the Bond Indenture because of such
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person's knowledge of and familiarity with the particular subject and having direct responsibility for the
administration of the Bond Indenture.
Revenues shall mean all amounts received by the Authority or the Bond Trustee for the account of such
Authority pursuant to or with respect to the Loan Agreement or the Series 2019 Master Note, including, without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, Loan Repayments (including both timely and delinquent payments and any
late charges, and whether paid from any source), prepayments, insurance proceeds, condemnation proceeds and all
interest, profits or other income derived from the investment of amounts in any fund or account established pursuant
to the Bond Indenture, but not including any Administrative Fees and Expenses or any moneys required to be
deposited in the Rebate Fund established under the Bond Indenture.
S&P shall mean Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, its successors and assigns, or, if such organization
shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, any other
nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the Borrower by notice in writing to the Authority and
the Bond Trustee.
Series shall mean all the Bonds designated as being of the same series, authenticated and delivered in a
simultaneous transaction, and any Bonds thereafter authenticated and delivered upon a transfer or exchange or in
lieu of or in substitution for such Bonds as provided in the Bond Indenture. The Bonds issued under the Bond
Indenture are issued in only one Series and all references to a Series of Bonds or multiple Series of Bonds in the
Bond Indenture or in the Loan Agreement shall be read to refer to the one Series of Bonds.
Sinking Account Installment shall mean the amount required by the Bond Indenture to be paid by the
Authority on any single date for the retirement of Bonds with a Sinking Account Installment.
State shall mean the State of Wisconsin.
Supplemental Bond Indenture shall mean any indenture duly authorized and entered into between the
Authority and the Bond Trustee, supplementing, modifying or amending the Bond Indenture; but only if and to the
extent that such Supplemental Bond Indenture is specifically authorized under the Bond Indenture.
Tax Agreement shall mean the Tax Exemption Certificate and Agreement among the Authority, the
Borrower and the Bond Trustee dated the date of issuance and delivery of the Bonds, as the same may be amended
or supplemented in accordance with its terms.
United States Government Obligations shall mean (a) direct obligations of the United States of America
(including obligations issued or held in book-entry form on the books of the Department of Treasury of the United
States of America) and obligations the timely payment of the principal of and interest on which are fully guaranteed
by the United States of America, (b) to the extent permitted by the Act, certificates or other instruments which
evidence ownership of the right to the payment of the principal of and interest on obligations described in clause (a)
provided that such obligations are held in the custody of a bank or trust company in a special account separate from
the general assets of such custodian and (c) municipal obligations the timely payment of the principal of and interest
on which is fully provided for by the deposit in trust or escrow of cash or obligations described in clauses (a) or (b).
SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND INDENTURE
General
The Bond Indenture sets forth the terms of the Bonds, the nature and extent of security, the various rights
of the Holders of the Bonds, the rights, duties and immunities of the Bond Trustee and the rights and obligations of
the Authority. Certain provisions of the Bond Indenture are summarized below. Other provisions are summarized
in the forepart of the Official Statement under the captions “THE BONDS” and “SECURITY AND OTHER
SOURCES OF FUNDS FOR THE BONDS”.
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The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Bond Indenture not described elsewhere in this
Official Statement. This summary does not purport to be complete or definitive and reference is made to the Bond
Indenture for the complete terms thereof.
Establishment of Funds and Accounts
The Bond Indenture creates a Project Fund, an Issuing Expenses Fund, a Surplus Project Fund, a Revenue
Fund, an Interest Account, a Principal Account, a Redemption Fund, an Optional Redemption Account, a Special
Redemption Account, a Bond Purchase Fund and a Rebate Fund, all of which are to be held, disbursed, allocated
and applied by the Bond Trustee as provided in the Bond Indenture.
Pledge and Assignment
Subject only to the provisions of the Bond Indenture permitting the application thereof for the purposes
and on the terms and conditions set forth therein, there are pledged to secure the payment of the principal of and
premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds in accordance with their terms and the provisions of the Bond Indenture,
all of the Revenues and any other amounts (including proceeds of the sale of the Bonds) held in any fund or account
established pursuant to the Bond Indenture (other than the Bond Purchase Fund and the Rebate Fund). Said pledge
shall constitute a lien on and security interest in such assets and shall attach, be perfected and be valid and binding
from and after delivery by the Bond Trustee of the Bonds, without any physical delivery thereof or further act.
Under the Bond Indenture, the Authority transfers in trust, grants a security interest in and assigns to the
Bond Trustee, for the benefit of the Holders from time to time of the Bonds, all of the Revenues and other assets
pledged as described in the immediately preceding paragraph and all of the right, title and interest of the Authority
in the Loan Agreement (except for (a) the right to receive any Administrative Fees and Expenses to the extent
payable to the Authority, (b) any rights of the Authority to indemnification, and (c) the rights of the Authority to
execute and deliver amendments or supplements to the Bond Indenture and the Loan Agreement, to receive notices
and other documents and to provide its consent, acceptance or approval with respect to matters as to which that right
is given in the Bond Indenture or the Loan Agreement) and the Series 2019 Master Note. The Bond Trustee shall
be entitled to and shall collect and receive all of the Revenues, and any Revenues collected or received by the
Authority shall be deemed to be held, and to have been collected or received, by the Authority as the agent of the
Bond Trustee and shall forthwith be paid by the Authority to the Bond Trustee. The Bond Trustee also shall be
entitled to and shall take all steps, actions and proceedings reasonably necessary in its judgment to enforce all of the
rights of the Authority and all of the obligations of the Borrower under the Loan Agreement and of the other
Members of the Obligated Group under the Series 2019 Master Note.
Revenue Fund
All Revenues received by the Bond Trustee shall be promptly deposited by the Bond Trustee upon receipt
thereof in a special fund designated as the “Revenue Fund” which the Bond Trustee is directed to establish,
maintain and hold in trust, except as otherwise provided in the Bond Indenture and except that all moneys received
by the Bond Trustee and required by the Loan Agreement or the Series 2019 Master Note to be deposited in the
Bond Purchase Fund or the Redemption Fund shall be promptly deposited in the Bond Purchase Fund and
Redemption Fund, respectively. All Revenues deposited with the Bond Trustee shall be held, disbursed, allocated
and applied by the Bond Trustee only as provided in the Bond Indenture.
Allocation of Revenues
On or before the dates specified below, the Bond Trustee shall transfer from the Revenue Fund and deposit
into the following respective accounts the following amounts, in the following order of priority, the requirements of
each such account (including the making up of any deficiencies in any such account resulting from lack of
Revenues sufficient to make any earlier required deposit) at the time of deposit to be satisfied before any transfer is
made to any account subsequent in priority:
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First: on or before each Interest Payment Date, to the Interest Account, the amount of interest becoming
due and payable on such Interest Payment Date on all Bonds then Outstanding, until the balance in said
account is equal to said amount of interest; and
Second: on or before each December 15, to the Principal Account, the amount of the Sinking Account
Installments or principal at maturity becoming due and payable on such December 15, until the balance in
said account is equal to said amount of such Sinking Account Installments or principal at maturity, as
applicable.
Any moneys remaining in the Revenue Fund after the foregoing transfers shall be transferred to the
Borrower as an overpayment of Loan Repayments.
Application of Interest Account
All amounts in the Interest Account established under the Bond Indenture shall be used and withdrawn by
the Bond Trustee solely for the purpose of paying interest on the Bonds as it shall become due and payable
(including accrued interest on any Bonds purchased or redeemed prior to maturity pursuant to the Bond Indenture).
Application of Principal Account
All amounts in the Principal Account established under the Bond Indenture shall be used and withdrawn by
the Bond Trustee solely to purchase or redeem or pay Sinking Account Installments or pay at maturity the Bonds as
provided in the Bond Indenture, except all amounts in a Sinking Account shall be used and withdrawn by the Bond
Trustee solely to redeem or pay at maturity the related Series of Bonds, as provided in the Bond Indenture.
The Bond Trustee shall establish and maintain within the Principal Account separate subaccounts for each
Series of the Bonds, for which Sinking Account Installments were designated pursuant to the Bond Indenture,
designated as the “_________ Sinking Account” (inserting therein the Series, maturity and, if necessary, interest
rate of such Bonds). The Bond Trustee shall transfer the amount deposited in the Principal Account pursuant to the
Bond Indenture for the purpose of making a Sinking Account Installment (if such payment is required at such time)
from the Principal Account to the applicable Sinking Account. On each Sinking Account Installment date
established for such Series, the Bond Trustee shall apply the Sinking Account Installment required on that date to
the redemption (or payment at maturity, as the case may be) of the applicable Series of the Bonds, upon the notice
and in the manner provided in the Bond Indenture; provided that, at any time prior to giving such notice of such
redemption, the Bond Trustee may apply moneys in such Sinking Account to the purchase of Bonds of the Series
for which the Sinking Account was established, at public or private sale, as and when and at such prices (including
brokerage and other charges, but excluding accrued interest, which is payable from the Interest Account) as directed
in writing by the Borrower, except that the purchase price (excluding accrued interest) shall not exceed the par
amount of the Bonds of such Series so purchased. If, during the twelve-month period immediately preceding a
Sinking Account Installment date, the Bond Trustee has purchased Bonds of a Series with moneys in a Sinking
Account, for which such Sinking Account was established, or, during said period and prior to giving said notice of
redemption, the Borrower has deposited any such Bonds of a Series with the Bond Trustee (together with a Request
of the Borrower, to apply such Bonds of a Series to the related Sinking Account Installment due on said date with
respect to such Series), or Bonds of such Series were at any time purchased or redeemed by the Bond Trustee from
the Redemption Fund and allocable to said Sinking Account Installment, such Bonds of a Series shall be applied, to
the extent of the full principal amount thereof, to reduce said Sinking Account Installment with respect to such
Series. All Bonds purchased or deposited pursuant to the provisions of the Bond Indenture as described in this
paragraph, if any, shall be cancelled by the Bond Trustee. Bonds purchased from a Sinking Account, purchased or
redeemed from the Redemption Fund, or deposited by the Borrower with the Bond Trustee shall be allocated first to
the next succeeding related Sinking Account Installment, then as a credit against such future related Sinking
Account Installments as the Borrower may specify in writing. Any amounts remaining in the Sinking Account when
all of the Bonds of the Series for which the Sinking Account was established are no longer Outstanding shall be
withdrawn by the Bond Trustee and transferred to the Revenue Fund.
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Application of Redemption Fund
All amounts deposited in the Optional Redemption Account and in the Special Redemption Account shall
be used and withdrawn by the Bond Trustee solely for the purpose of redeeming Bonds, in the manner and upon the
terms and conditions specified in the Bond Indenture, at the next succeeding date of redemption for which notice
has not been given and at the Redemption Prices then applicable to redemptions from the Optional Redemption
Account and the Special Redemption Account, respectively; provided that, at any time prior to giving such notice of
redemption, the Bond Trustee shall, upon direction of the Borrower, apply such amounts to the purchase of Bonds
at public or private sale, as and when and at such prices (including brokerage and other charges, but excluding
accrued interest, which is payable from the Interest Account) as the Borrower may direct, except that the purchase
price (exclusive of accrued interest) may not exceed the Redemption Price then applicable to such Bonds; and
provided further that, in the case of the Optional Redemption Account, in lieu of redemption at such next
succeeding date of redemption, or in combination therewith, amounts in such account may be transferred to the
Revenue Fund and credited against Loan Repayments in order of their due date as set forth in a Request of the
Borrower.
Rebate Fund
To the extent required by the Bond Indenture and the Tax Agreement, certain amounts will be deposited in
the Rebate Fund by the Borrower, and thereafter paid to the federal government to the extent required to satisfy the
rebate requirements (as described in the Tax Agreement). Any moneys remaining in a Rebate Fund after the
payment of all such amounts, or provision made therefor, will be remitted to the Borrower.
Issuing Expenses Fund
All amounts deposited into the Issuing Expenses Fund shall be used to pay Costs of Issuance or to
reimburse the Borrower for Costs of Issuance actually paid by it. No money on deposit in any other fund or account
created by the Bond Indenture may be used to pay Costs of Issuance or to reimburse the Borrower, the Authority or
any other party for Costs of Issuance. The Bond Trustee is directed in the Bond Indenture to withdraw sufficient
funds from the Issuing Expense Fund to fund each disbursement required to be made for Costs of Issuance upon a
Request from the Borrower, signed by an Authorized Representative of the Borrower, which lists each Costs of
Issuance to be paid and includes invoices therefor. Upon receipt of a certificate from an Authorized Representative
of the Borrower to the effect that all Costs of Issuance have been paid, amounts then on deposit in the Issuing
Expenses Fund shall be transferred to the Project Fund and the Issuing Expenses Fund shall be closed.
Project Fund
All amounts deposited into the Project Fund shall be used to pay costs of the Bond Financed Projects or to
reimburse the Borrower for costs of the Bond Financed Projects actually paid by it or to pay capitalized interest with
respect to the Bond Financed Projects. The Bond Trustee is directed in the Bond Indenture to withdraw sufficient
funds from the Project Fund to fund each disbursement required to be made for costs of the Bond Financed Projects
upon a written requisition from the Borrower, signed by an Authorized Representative of the Borrower.
The completion of the Bond Financed Projects is to be evidenced by the filing with the Bond Trustee of the
Completion Certificate from an Authorized Representative of the Borrower. Upon receipt of the Completion
Certificate, the Bond Trustee is directed in the Bond Indenture to transfer to the Surplus Project Fund any excess
funds then on deposit in the Project Fund and the Project Fund shall be closed.
Surplus Project Fund
There shall be deposited into the Surplus Project Fund, when and as received, moneys remaining in the
Project Fund after receipt of the Completion Certificate described above.
The Bond Trustee is directed in the Bond Indenture to use the moneys in the Surplus Project Fund to call
Bonds for optional redemption. Such redemption shall be in the largest amount possible and at the earliest possible
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call date or dates given the call provisions of the Bonds as specified in the Bond Indenture. The Bond Trustee shall
proceed with such redemption by transferring the appropriate funds from the Surplus Project Fund to the Optional
Redemption Account of the Redemption Fund prior to the applicable redemption date.
During such periods in which the Bonds are not callable for optional redemption, the Bond Trustee is
directed in the Bond Indenture to use the moneys on deposit in the Surplus Project Fund to pay a pro rata portion
(calculated as described below) of the principal due on the Bonds on each principal payment date or Sinking
Account Installment date occurring within such periods, unless directed not to do so by the Borrower. The portion
of the principal amount which the Bond Trustee shall pay with Surplus Project Fund moneys on each principal
payment date or Sinking Account Installment date shall be equal to an amount that bears the same ratio to the
principal due that the moneys then in the Surplus Project Fund bears to the outstanding principal balance of the
Series 2019 Bonds. The Bond Trustee is directed to transfer funds equal to the pro rata portion of the principal
amount to be paid, calculated as described above, from the Surplus Project Fund to the Revenue Fund prior to the
principal payment date or Sinking Account Installment date, as the case may be.
Investment of Moneys in Funds and Accounts
All moneys in any of the funds and accounts established pursuant to the Bond Indenture shall be invested
by the Bond Trustee, upon direction of the Borrower, solely in Investment Securities as set forth in the Bond
Indenture.
Tax Covenants
The Authority shall at all times do and perform all acts and things permitted by law and the Bond Indenture
which are necessary or desirable in order to assure that interest paid on the Bonds (or any of them) will be
excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes, provided sufficient funds are made available to the
Authority by or on behalf of the Borrower for the payment of all fees and expenses incurred by the Authority in
connection therewith, and shall take no action that would result in such interest not being so excluded. Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Authority agrees to comply with the provisions of the Tax Agreement
applicable to the Authority. This covenant shall survive payment in full or defeasance of the Bonds.
Continuing Disclosure
The Borrower and the Members of the Obligated Group have undertaken all responsibility for compliance
with continuing disclosure requirements, and the Authority shall have no liability to the Holders of the Bonds or any
other Person with respect to Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Amendment of Loan Agreement
(a)
Except as described in the following paragraph, the Authority shall not amend, modify or
terminate any of the terms of the Loan Agreement, or consent to any such amendment, modification or termination
unless the written consent of the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding to such
amendment, modification or termination is filed with the Bond Trustee, provided that no such amendment,
modification or termination shall reduce the amount of Loan Repayments to be made to the Authority or the Bond
Trustee by the Borrower pursuant to the Loan Agreement, or extend the time for making such payments, without the
written consent of all of the Holders of the Bonds then Outstanding.
(b)
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Bond Indenture described in the preceding paragraph, the
terms of the Loan Agreement may also be modified or amended from time to time and at any time by the Authority
without the necessity of obtaining the consent of any Bondholders, only to the extent permitted by law and only for
any one or more of the following purposes:
(1)
to add to the covenants and agreements of the Authority or the Borrower contained in the
Loan Agreement other covenants and agreements thereafter to be observed, to pledge or assign additional
security for the Bonds (or any portion thereof), or to surrender any right or power therein reserved to or
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conferred upon the Authority or the Borrower, provided, that no such covenant, agreement, pledge,
assignment or surrender shall materially adversely affect the interests of the Holders of the Bonds;
(2)
to make such provisions for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, inconsistency or
omission, or of curing or correcting any defective provision, contained in the Loan Agreement, or in regard
to matters or questions arising under the Loan Agreement, as the Authority may deem necessary or
desirable and not inconsistent with the Loan Agreement or the Bond Indenture, and which shall not
materially adversely affect the interests of the Holders of the Bonds;
(3)

to evidence or give effect to, or to conform to the terms and provisions of, any Liquidity

Facility;
(4)
to evidence or give effect to, or to conform to the terms and provisions of, any insurance
policy, letter of credit or other credit enhancement for any Series of the Bonds;
(5)
Bonds; or

to maintain the exclusion from gross income of interest payable with respect to the

(6)
to make any modification or amendment to the Loan Agreement which will be effective
upon the remarketing of Bonds following the mandatory tender of the Bonds pursuant to the Bond
Indenture.
Replacement of Series 2019 Master Note with Master Note Issued under a Separate Master Indenture
The Series 2019 Master Note may be replaced by an obligation issued under a replacement master
indenture upon the conditions specified in the Bond Indenture as described under this heading.
The Series 2019 Master Note shall be surrendered by the Bond Trustee and delivered to the Master Trustee
for cancellation upon receipt by the Bond Trustee of the following:
(a)
a Request of the Borrower requesting such surrender and delivery and stating that the Borrower
has become a member of an obligated group under a master indenture (other than the Master Indenture) (or an entity
which, directly or indirectly, controls the Borrower has become a member of such an obligated group and the
Borrower is obligated, by its articles of incorporation, bylaws or by contract or otherwise, to make payments to such
controlling entity in amounts sufficient to enable the entity to make payments with respect to obligations issued
under such master indenture) and that an obligation is being issued to the Bond Trustee under such replacement
master indenture (the “Replacement Master Indenture”);
(b)
an executed obligation (the “Replacement Obligation”) issued under the Replacement Master
Indenture and registered in the name of the Bond Trustee with the same tenor and effect as the Series 2019 Master
Note (in a principal amount equal to the then Outstanding principal amount of Bonds), authenticated by the master
trustee under the Replacement Master Indenture;
(c)
an Opinion of Counsel selected by the Borrower to the effect that the Replacement Obligation has
been validly issued under the Replacement Master Indenture and constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the
Borrower (or the entity which directly or indirectly controls the Borrower, if applicable) and each other Member of
the Obligated Group (if any) which is jointly and severally liable under the Replacement Master Indenture;
(d)
a copy of the Replacement Master Indenture, certified as a true and accurate copy by the master
trustee under the Replacement Master Indenture;
(e)
evidence that, prior to the date the Replacement Obligation is to take effect, the ratings on the
Bonds by each rating agency then rating the Bonds and on the obligated group under the Replacement Master
Indenture by each rating agency then rating the long term debt of such obligated group is at least A3 (Moody’s)/A-1
(S&P and Fitch) (without regard to rating outlooks); and
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(f)

a Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel with respect to the replacement of the Series 2019 Master

Note.
Upon satisfaction of such conditions, all references in the Bond Indenture and in the Loan Agreement to
the Series 2019 Master Note shall be deemed to be references to the Replacement Obligation, all references to the
Master Indenture shall be deemed to be references to the Replacement Master Indenture, all references to the Master
Trustee shall be deemed to be references to the master trustee under the Replacement Master Indenture, all
references to the Obligated Group and the Members of the Obligated Group shall be deemed to be references to the
obligated group and the members of the obligated group under the Replacement Master Indenture and all references
to the Supplemental Master Indenture shall be deemed to be references to the supplemental master indenture
pursuant to which the Replacement Obligation is issued.
Events of Default
Each of the following is an Event of Default under the Bond Indenture: (a) default in the due and punctual
payment of the principal or Redemption Price of any Bond when and as the same shall become due and payable,
whether at maturity as therein expressed, by proceedings for redemption, by acceleration or otherwise or default in
the redemption of any Bonds from Sinking Account Installments in the amounts and at the times provided in the
Bond Indenture; (b) default in the due and punctual payment of any installment of interest on any Bond when and as
such interest installment shall become due and payable; (c) failure to pay the Purchase Price of any Bond tendered
pursuant to the Bond Indenture when such payment is due; (d) default in any material respect by the Authority in
the observance of any of the other covenants, agreements or conditions on its part in the Bond Indenture or in the
Bonds, if such default shall have continued for a period of 60 days after written notice thereof, specifying such
default and requiring the same to be remedied, shall have been given to the Authority and the Borrower by the Bond
Trustee, or to the Authority, the Borrower and the Bond Trustee by the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate
principal amount of the Bonds at the time Outstanding; or (e) a Loan Default Event. Upon actual knowledge of the
existence of any Event of Default by a Responsible Officer of the Bond Trustee, the Bond Trustee shall notify the
Borrower, the Authority and the Master Trustee in writing as soon as practicable; provided, however, that the Bond
Trustee need not provide notice of any Loan Default Event if the Borrower has expressly acknowledged the
existence of such Loan Default Event in a writing delivered to the Bond Trustee, the Authority and the Master
Trustee.
Acceleration of Maturities
If any Event of Default has happened and is continuing the Bond Trustee may take the following remedial
steps: (a) in the case of an Event of Default described in clause (a), (b) or (c) of the preceding paragraph, the Bond
Trustee may notify the Authority and the Master Trustee of such Event of Default, may make a demand for payment
under the Series 2019 Master Note and request the Master Trustee in writing to give notice pursuant to the Master
Indenture to the Members of the Obligated Group declaring the principal of all obligations issued under the Master
Indenture then outstanding to be due and immediately payable. Thereupon, the Bond Trustee shall declare the
principal of all the Bonds then Outstanding, and the interest accrued thereon, to be due and payable immediately,
and upon any such declaration the same shall become and shall be immediately due and payable, anything in the
Bond Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding. In addition, the Bond Trustee may take whatever action at law or
in equity is necessary or desirable to collect the payments due under the Series 2019 Master Note; (b) in the case of
an Event of Default described in clause (d) of the preceding paragraph, the Bond Trustee may take whatever action
at law or in equity is necessary or desirable to enforce the performance, observance or compliance by the Authority
with any covenant, condition or agreement by the Authority under the Bond Indenture; and (c) in the case of an
Event of Default described in clause (e) of the preceding paragraph, the Bond Trustee may take whatever action the
Authority would be entitled to take, and shall take whatever action the Authority would be required to take,
pursuant to the Loan Agreement in order to remedy the Loan Default Event.
Notwithstanding any other provision of the Bond Indenture or any right, power or remedy existing at law
or in equity or by statute, the Bond Trustee shall not under any circumstance in which an Event of Default has
occurred declare the entire unpaid aggregate principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding to be immediately due and
payable except in accordance with the directions of the Master Trustee in the event that the Master Trustee shall
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have declared the principal amount of the Series 2019 Master Note and all interest due thereon immediately due and
payable in accordance with the Master Indenture.
Any such declaration, however, is subject to the condition that if, at any time after such declaration and
before any judgment or decree for the payment of the moneys due shall have been obtained or entered, the
Authority or the Borrower shall deposit with the Bond Trustee a sum sufficient to pay all the principal, Sinking
Account Installments or redemption price of and installments of interest on the Bonds, payment of which is
overdue, with interest on such overdue principal at the rate borne by the respective Bonds, and the reasonable
charges and expenses of the Bond Trustee, and if the Bond Trustee has received notification from the Master
Trustee that the declaration of acceleration of the Series 2019 Master Note has been annulled pursuant to the Master
Indenture and any and all other defaults known to the Bond Trustee (other than in the payment of principal of and
interest on the Bonds due and payable solely by reason of such declaration) shall have been made good or cured to
the satisfaction of the Bond Trustee or provision deemed by the Bond Trustee to be adequate shall have been made
therefor, then, and in every such case, the Bond Trustee shall, on behalf of the Holders of all of the Bonds, rescind
and annul such declaration and its consequences and waive such default; but no such rescission and annulment shall
extend to or shall affect any subsequent default, or shall impair or exhaust any right or power consequent thereon.
Notice of such declaration having been given as aforesaid, anything to the contrary contained in the Bond
Indenture or in the Bonds to the contrary notwithstanding, interest shall cease to accrue on such Bonds from and
after the date set forth in such notice (which shall be not more than seven days from the date of such declaration).
Nothing contained in the Bond Indenture, however, shall require the Bond Trustee to exercise any
remedies in connection with an Event of Default unless a Responsible Officer of the Bond Trustee shall have actual
knowledge or the Bond Trustee shall have received written notice of such Event of Default at the address and as
otherwise set forth in the Bond Indenture.
Application of Revenues and Other Funds After Default
If an Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, all Revenues and any other funds then held or
thereafter received by the Bond Trustee under any of the provisions of the Bond Indenture (other than moneys
required to be deposited in the Rebate Fund or the Bond Purchase Fund) shall be applied by the Bond Trustee as
follows and in the following order:
(a)
To the payment of any expenses necessary in the opinion of the Bond Trustee to protect
the interests of the Holders of the Bonds and payment of reasonable fees and expenses of the Bond Trustee
(including reasonable fees and disbursements of its counsel) incurred in and about the performance of its
powers and duties under the Bond Indenture; and
(b)
To the payment of the principal or Redemption Price of and interest then due on the
Bonds (upon presentation of the Bonds to be paid, and stamping thereon of the payment if only partially
paid, or surrender thereof if fully paid) subject to the provisions of the Bond Indenture, as follows:
(1)
Unless the principal of all of the Bonds shall have become or have been
declared due and payable,
First: To the payment to the Persons entitled thereto of all installments of interest then
due in the order of the maturity of such installments, and, if the amount available shall
not be sufficient to pay in full any installment or installments maturing on the same date,
then to the payment thereof ratably, according to the amounts due thereon, to the Persons
entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference; and
Second: To the payment to the Persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal (including
Sinking Account Installments) or Redemption Price of any Bonds which shall have
become due, whether at maturity or by call for redemption, in the order of their due
dates, with interest on the overdue principal at the rate borne by the respective Bonds,
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and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full all the Bonds due on any
date, together with such interest, then to the payment thereof ratably, according to the
amounts of principal or Redemption Price due on such date to the Persons entitled
thereto, without any discrimination or preference.
(2)
If the principal of all of the Bonds shall have become or have been declared due
and payable, to the payment of the principal and interest then due and unpaid upon the Bonds,
with interest on the overdue principal at the rate borne by the respective Bonds, and, if the amount
available shall not be sufficient to pay in full the whole amount so due and unpaid, then to the
payment thereof ratably, without preference or priority of principal over interest, or of interest
over principal, or of any installment of interest over any other installment of interest, or of any
Bond over any other Bond, according to the amounts due respectively for principal and interest, to
the Persons entitled thereto without any discrimination or preference.
Bond Trustee to Represent Bondholders
Pursuant to the Bond Indenture, the Bond Trustee is irrevocably appointed (and the successive respective
Holders of the Bonds, by taking and holding the same, shall be conclusively deemed to have so appointed the Bond
Trustee) as trustee and true and lawful attorney-in-fact of the Holders of the Bonds for the purpose of exercising and
prosecuting on their behalf such rights and remedies as may be available to such Holders under the provisions of the
Bonds, the Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Series 2019 Master Note, the Act and applicable provisions of
any other law. If any Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Bond Trustee in its discretion may, and
upon the written request of the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then
Outstanding and receipt of indemnity to its satisfaction shall, proceed to protect or enforce its rights or the rights of
such Holders by such appropriate action, suit, mandamus or other proceedings as it shall deem most effectual to
protect and enforce any such right, at law or in equity, either for the specific performance of any covenant or
agreement contained in the Bond Indenture, or in aid of the execution of any power granted in the Bond Indenture,
or for the enforcement of any other appropriate legal or equitable right or remedy vested in the Bond Trustee or in
such Holders under the Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Series 2019 Master Note, the Act or any other
law; and upon instituting such proceeding, the Bond Trustee shall be entitled, as a matter of right, to the
appointment of a receiver of the Revenues and other amounts and assets pledged under the Bond Indenture, pending
such proceedings. If more than one such request is received by the Bond Trustee from the Holders, the Bond
Trustee shall follow the written request executed by the Holders of the greater percentage of Bonds then
Outstanding in excess of 25%. All rights of action under the Bond Indenture or the Bonds or otherwise may be
prosecuted and enforced by the Bond Trustee without the possession of any of the Bonds or the production thereof
in any proceeding relating thereto, and any such suit, action or proceeding instituted by the Bond Trustee shall be
brought in the name of the Bond Trustee for the benefit and protection of all the Holders of such Bonds, subject to
the provisions of the Bond Indenture.
Bondholders’ Direction of Proceedings
The Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding under the Bond
Indenture shall have the right, by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing executed and delivered to the
Bond Trustee, and upon indemnifying the Bond Trustee to its satisfaction, to direct the method of conducting all
remedial proceedings taken by the Bond Trustee under the Bond Indenture, provided such directions shall not be
otherwise than in accordance with law and the provisions of the Bond Indenture, and that the Bond Trustee shall
have the right to decline to follow any such direction which in the opinion of the Bond Trustee would be unjustly
prejudicial to Bondholders not parties to such direction.
Limitation on Bondholders’ Right to Sue
No Holder of any Bond shall have the right to institute any suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity,
for the protection or enforcement of any right or remedy under the Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Series
2019 Master Note, the Act or any other applicable law with respect to such Bond unless (a) such Holder shall have
given to the Bond Trustee written notice of the occurrence of an Event of Default, (b) the Holders of not less than
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25% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall have made written request to the Bond
Trustee, to exercise the powers granted to it under the Bond Indenture or to institute such suit, action or proceeding
in its own name; provided, however, that if more than one such request is received by the Bond Trustee from the
Holders, the Bond Trustee shall follow the written request executed by the Holders of the greater percentage of
Bonds then Outstanding in excess of 25%; (c) such Holder shall have tendered to the Bond Trustee indemnity
satisfactory to it against costs, expenses and liabilities, and (d) the Bond Trustee shall have refused or omitted to
comply with such request for a period of 60 days after such written request shall have been received by and the
tender of indemnity shall have been made to the Bond Trustee.
Such notification, request, tender of indemnity and refusal or omission are declared, in every case, to be
conditions precedent to the exercise by any Holder of Bonds of any remedy under the Bond Indenture or under law;
it being understood and intended that no one or more Holders of Bonds shall have any right in any manner whatever
by such Holder’s or Holders’ action to affect, disturb or prejudice the security of the Bond Indenture or the rights of
any other Holders of Bonds, or to enforce any right under the Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Series 2019
Master Note, the Act or other applicable law with respect to the Bonds, except in the manner provided in the Bond
Indenture, and that all proceedings at law or in equity to enforce any such right shall be instituted, had and
maintained in the manner provided in the Bond Indenture and for the benefit and protection of all Holders of the
Outstanding Bonds, subject to the provisions of the Bond Indenture.
Amendment of Bond Indenture
The Bond Indenture and the rights and obligations of the Authority and of the Holders of the Bonds and of
the Bond Trustee may be modified or amended from time to time and at any time by a Supplemental Bond
Indenture, which the Authority and the Bond Trustee may enter into when the written consent of the Holders of a
majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding and the Borrower shall have been filed with
the Bond Trustee. No such modification or amendment shall (a) extend the stated maturity of any Bond, or reduce
the amount of principal thereof, or extend the time of payment or change the method of computing the rate of
interest thereon, or extend the time of payment of interest thereon, or reduce any premium payable upon the
redemption thereof, without the consent of the Holder of each Bond so affected, or (b) reduce the aforesaid
percentage of Bonds the consent of the Holders of which is required to effect any such modification or amendment,
or permit the creation of any lien on the Revenues and other assets pledged under the Bond Indenture prior to or on
a parity with the lien created by the Bond Indenture, or deprive the Holders of the Bonds of the lien created by the
Bond Indenture on such Revenues and other assets (except as expressly provided in the Bond Indenture), without
the consent of the Holders of all Bonds then Outstanding. It shall not be necessary for the consent of the
Bondholders to approve the particular form of any Supplemental Bond Indenture, but it shall be sufficient if such
consent shall approve the substance of such Supplemental Bond Indenture.
The Bond Indenture and the rights and obligations of the Authority, of the Bond Trustee and of the Holders
of the Bonds may also be modified or amended from time to time and at any time by a Supplemental Bond
Indenture, which the Authority and the Bond Trustee may enter into with the consent of the Borrower, but without
the necessity of obtaining the consent of any Bondholders, only to the extent permitted by law and only for any one
or more of the following purposes: (a) to add to the covenants and agreements of the Authority contained in the
Bond Indenture other covenants and agreements thereafter to be observed, to pledge or assign additional security for
the Bonds (or any portion thereof) or to surrender any right or power in the Bond Indenture reserved to or conferred
upon the Authority, provided, that no such covenant, agreement, pledge, assignment or surrender shall materially
adversely affect the interests of the Holders of the Bonds; (b) to make such provisions for the purpose of curing any
ambiguity, inconsistency or omission, or of curing or correcting any defective provision, contained in the Bond
Indenture, or in regard to matters or questions arising under the Bond Indenture, as the Authority or the Bond
Trustee may deem necessary or desirable and not inconsistent with the Bond Indenture and which shall not
materially adversely affect the interests of the Holders of the Bonds; (c) to modify, amend or supplement the Bond
Indenture in such manner as to permit the qualification of the Bond Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act of
1939, as amended, or any similar federal statute, and to add such other terms, conditions and provisions as may be
permitted by said act or similar federal statute, and which shall not materially adversely affect the interests of the
Holders of the Bonds; (d) to evidence or give effect to, or to conform to the terms and provisions of, any insurance
policy, letter of credit or other credit enhancement for the Bonds; (e) to facilitate and implement any book entry
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system (or any termination of a book entry system) with respect to the Bonds; (f) to maintain the exclusion from
gross income of interest payable with respect to the Bonds; or (g) to make any modification or amendment to the
Bond Indenture which will be effective upon the remarketing of the Bonds following the mandatory tender of the
Bonds pursuant to the Bond Indenture.
Defeasance
The Bonds may be paid by the Authority or the Bond Trustee on behalf of the Authority in any of the
following ways: (a) by paying or causing to be paid the principal or Redemption Price of and interest on all Bonds
Outstanding, as and when the same become due and payable; (b) by depositing with the Bond Trustee, in trust, at or
before maturity, moneys or securities in the necessary amount to pay when due or redeem all Bonds then
Outstanding; or (c) by delivering to the Bond Trustee, for cancellation by it, all Bonds then Outstanding.
Whenever in the Bond Indenture it is provided or permitted that there be deposited with or held in trust by
the Bond Trustee money or securities in the necessary amount to pay or redeem any Bonds, the money or securities
to be so deposited or held may include money or securities held by the Bond Trustee in the funds and accounts
established pursuant to the Bond Indenture (other than the Rebate Fund) and shall be:
(a)
lawful money of the United States of America in an amount equal to the principal amount of such
Bonds and all unpaid interest thereon to maturity, except that, in the case of Bonds which are to be redeemed prior
to maturity and in respect of which notice of such redemption shall have been given as provided in the Bond
Indenture or provision satisfactory to the Bond Trustee shall have been made for the giving of such notice, the
amount to be deposited or held shall be the principal amount or Redemption Price of such Bonds and all unpaid
interest thereon to the redemption date; or
(b)
United States Government Obligations (not callable by the Authority thereof prior to maturity),
the principal of and interest on which when due (without any income from the reinvestment thereof) will provide
money sufficient, in the opinion of a verification agent, to pay the principal or Redemption Price of and all unpaid
interest to maturity, or to the redemption date, as the case may be, on the Bonds to be paid or redeemed, as such
principal or Redemption Price and interest become due; provided that, in the case of Bonds which are to be
redeemed prior to the maturity thereof, notice of such redemption shall have been given or provision satisfactory to
the Bond Trustee shall have been made for the giving of such notice;
provided, in each case, that the Bond Trustee shall have been irrevocably instructed to apply such money to the
payment of such principal or Redemption Price and interest with respect to such Bonds, and provided further, that
with respect to the deposit of United States Government Obligations pursuant to subsection (b), the Bond Trustee
shall have received (i) a verification report from a firm of independent accountants or other verification agent or
attorneys acceptable to the Bond Trustee to the effect that the amount deposited is sufficient to make the payments
specified therein and (ii) a Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such deposit and investment will
not result in the inclusion of interest on the Bonds in gross income for federal income tax purposes.
Liability of Authority Limited to Revenues
Notwithstanding anything in the Bond Indenture or in the Bonds, the Authority shall not be required to
advance any moneys derived from any source other than the Revenues and other assets pledged under the Bond
Indenture for any of the purposes in the Bond Indenture, whether for the payment of the principal or Redemption
Price of or interest on the Bonds or for any other purpose of the Bond Indenture.
SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT
The Loan Agreement provides the terms of a loan of all or a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds by the
Authority to the Borrower and the repayment of such loan by the Borrower.
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The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Loan Agreement not described elsewhere in this
Official Statement. This summary does not purport to be complete or definitive and reference is made to the Loan
Agreement for the complete terms thereof.
Loan of Proceeds; Loan Repayments
In the Loan Agreement, the Authority lends and advances to the Borrower, and the Borrower borrows and
accepts from the Authority, a loan in a principal amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds, the
net proceeds of which loan shall be equal to the net proceeds received from the sale of the Bonds, such proceeds to
be applied under the terms and conditions of the Loan Agreement and the Bond Indenture. In consideration of the
loan of such proceeds to the Borrower, the Borrower agrees to pay, or cause to be paid, Loan Repayments in an
amount sufficient to enable the Bond Trustee to make the transfers and deposits required at the times and in the
amounts described in the Bond Indenture. Each Loan Repayment shall be made in immediately available funds.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower agrees to make payments, or cause payments to be made, at the times
and in the amounts required to be paid as principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds from time to
time Outstanding under the Bond Indenture and other amounts required to be paid under the Bond Indenture, as the
same shall become due whether at maturity, upon redemption, by declaration of acceleration or otherwise.
Additional Payments
The Borrower also agrees to pay certain Additional Payments in connection with the issuance of the
Bonds, including certain taxes and assessments charged to the Authority or the Bond Trustee, all reasonable fees,
charges, expenses and indemnities of the Authority, the Bond Trustee and the Tender Agent under the Loan
Agreement and under the Bond Indenture, the reasonable fees and expenses of experts engaged by the Authority
and the Bond Trustee, and all other reasonable fees and expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of the
Bonds or attributable to the Bonds, the Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement or the Series 2019 Master Note.
Credits for Payments
The Borrower shall receive credit against its payments required to be made under the Loan Agreement, in
addition to any credits resulting from payment or repayment from other sources, as follows:
(a)
On installments of interest in an amount equal to moneys deposited in the Interest Account, which
amounts are available to pay interest on the Bonds, to the extent such amounts have not previously been credited
against such payments;
(b)
On installments of principal in an amount equal to moneys deposited in the Principal Account,
which amounts are available to pay principal of the Bonds, to the extent such amounts have not previously been
credited against such payments;
(c)
On installments of principal and interest in an amount equal to the principal amount of Bonds for
the payment at maturity or redemption of which sufficient amounts (as determined by the Bond Indenture) in cash
or United States Government Obligations are on deposit as provided in the Bond Indenture to the extent such
amounts have not previously been credited against such payments, and the interest on such Bonds from and after the
date fixed for payment at maturity or redemption thereof. Such credits shall be made against the installments of
principal and interest which would have been used, but for such call for redemption, to pay principal of and interest
on such Bonds when due; and
(d)
On installments of principal and interest in an amount equal to the principal amount of Bonds
acquired by the Borrower and surrendered to the Bond Trustee for cancellation or purchased by the Bond Trustee on
behalf of the Borrower and canceled, and the interest on such Bonds from and after the date interest thereon has
been paid prior to cancellation. Such credits shall be made against the installments of principal and interest which
would have been used, but for such cancellation, to pay principal of and interest on such Bonds when due.
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Prepayment
The Borrower shall have the right, so long as all amounts which have become due under the Loan
Agreement have been paid, at any time or from time to time to prepay all or any part of the Loan Repayments and
the Authority agrees that the Bond Trustee shall accept such prepayments when the same are tendered.
Prepayments may be made by payments of cash, deposit of United States Government Obligations or surrender of
Bonds. All such prepayments (and the additional payment of any amount necessary to pay the applicable premium,
if any, payable upon the redemption of Bonds) shall be deposited upon receipt at the Borrower’s direction in the
Special Redemption Account if the Bonds are to be redeemed as described in the forepart of this Official Statement
under the caption “THE BONDS – Redemption of the Bonds – Extraordinary Optional Redemption” (or in such
other Bond Trustee held escrow account as may be specified by the Borrower) and, at the request of and as
determined by the Borrower, credited against payments due under the Loan Agreement or used for the redemption
or purchase of Outstanding Bonds in the manner and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Bond
Indenture. Notwithstanding any such prepayment or surrender of Bonds, as long as any Bonds remain Outstanding
or any Additional Payments required to be made under the Loan Agreement remain unpaid, the Borrower shall not
be relieved of its obligations under the Loan Agreement.
Obligations Unconditional
The obligations of the Borrower under the Loan Agreement are absolute and unconditional,
notwithstanding any other provision of the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture, the Series 2019 Master Note, the
Supplemental Master Indenture or the Bond Indenture. Until the Loan Agreement is terminated and all payments
under the Loan Agreement are made, the Borrower (a) will pay all amounts required under the Loan Agreement
without abatement, deduction or set-off except as otherwise expressly provided in the Loan Agreement; (b) will not
suspend or discontinue any payments due under the Loan Agreement for any reason whatsoever, including, without
limitation, any right of set-off or counterclaim; (c) will perform and observe all its other agreements contained in the
Loan Agreement; and (d) except as provided in the Loan Agreement, will not terminate the Loan Agreement for any
cause, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, damage, destruction or condemnation of the
health facilities financed or refinanced with the proceeds of the Bonds or any part thereof, commercial frustration of
purpose, any change in the tax or other laws of the United States of America or of the State, or any political
subdivision of either thereof or any failure of the Authority to perform and observe any agreement, whether express
or implied, or any duty, liability or obligation arising out of or connected with the Loan Agreement. The provisions
of the Loan Agreement described in this paragraph shall not be construed to release the Authority from the
performance of any of the agreements on its part contained in the Loan Agreement; and in the event the Authority
should fail to perform any such agreement on its part, the Borrower may institute such action against the Authority
as the Borrower may deem necessary to compel performance.
The rights of the Bond Trustee or any party or parties on behalf of whom the Bond Trustee is acting shall
not be subject to any defense, set-off, counterclaim or recoupment whatsoever, whether arising out of any breach of
any duty or obligation of the Authority, the Master Trustee or the Bond Trustee owing to the Borrower, or by reason
of any other indebtedness or liability at any time owing by the Authority, the Master Trustee or the Bond Trustee to
the Borrower.
Tax Covenant
The Borrower covenants and agrees that it will at all times do and perform all acts and things permitted by
law, the Tax Agreement and the Loan Agreement which are necessary in order to assure that interest paid on the
Bonds (or any of them) will be excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes and will take no
action that would result in such interest not being so excluded. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the
Borrower agrees to comply with the provisions of the Tax Agreement. This covenant shall survive payment in full
or defeasance of the Bonds.

D-17

Non-Liability of the Authority
The Loan Agreement provides that the Authority shall not be obligated to pay the principal of, and
premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, except from payments received under the Loan Agreement, under the
Series 2019 Master Note and other Revenues. Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State, or any
political subdivision thereof is pledged to the payment of the principal of, or premium or interest on the Bonds.
The Borrower acknowledges in the Loan Agreement that the Authority’s sole source of moneys to repay
the Bonds will be provided by the payments made by the Borrower under the Loan Agreement and by the Members
of the Obligated Group pursuant to the Series 2019 Master Note and other Revenues, together with amounts on
deposit in, and investment income on, certain funds and accounts held by the Bond Trustee under the Bond
Indenture, and agrees that if the payments to be made under the Loan Agreement and under the Series 2019 Master
Note shall ever prove insufficient to pay all principal of, and premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds as the same
shall become due (whether by maturity, redemption, acceleration or otherwise), then upon notice from the Bond
Trustee, the Borrower shall pay such amounts as are required from time to time to prevent any deficiency or default
in the payment of such principal, premium, interest or Purchase Price, including, but not limited to, any deficiency
caused by acts, omissions, nonfeasance or malfeasance on the part of the Bond Trustee, the Tender Agent, the
Master Trustee, the Members of the Obligated Group, the Authority or any third party.
Completion of Bond Financed Projects
The Borrower covenants to complete the Bond Financed Projects identified in the Loan Agreement with
reasonable dispatch and to pay or cause to be paid all costs of the Bond Financed Projects whether or not they can
be paid for out of the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds. Upon completion of the Bond Financed Projects, the
Borrower shall deliver to the Bond Trustee a Completion Certificate as provided in the Bond Indenture.
The Borrower may make changes in the Bond Financed Projects if (a) the Borrower delivers to the Bond
Trustee an amended description of the Bond Financed Projects, which specifically identifies the additions, deletions
or changes to the Bond Financed Projects which the Borrower proposes to make, (b) the proposed changes will not
cause the average maturity of the Bonds to exceed 120% of the average reasonably expected economic life of the
facilities being financed or refinanced with the net proceeds of the Bonds, unless the Borrower first certifies to the
Bond Trustee and the Authority in a written statement that it will utilize an optional redemption to shorten the
average maturity of the Bonds to something less than 120% of the average reasonably expected economic life of the
facilities being financed or refinanced with the net proceeds of the Bonds, as required by Section 147 of the Code,
and (c) the proposed changes will not otherwise adversely affect the validity of the Bonds or in and of itself result in
the inclusion of the interest on the Bonds in gross income for federal income tax purposes and a Favorable Opinion
of Bond Counsel to that effect is delivered to the Bond Trustee. No change or amendment may be made which
would (a) result in Bond Financed Projects being used for any purpose prohibited by the Loan Agreement,
(b) conflict with any governmental permits or approvals previously obtained unless the consent of the issuer of the
permit or approval is obtained, (c) result in any portion of the Bond Financed Projects not being owned by a
Member of the Obligated Group, or (d) result in Bond Financed Projects being located on property which address or
location is not identified in the Loan Agreement. A copy of each change or amendment will be filed promptly with
the Bond Trustee and the Authority.
The Borrower shall be entitled to withdraw funds from the Project Fund upon submission to the Bond
Trustee of a properly and accurately completed requisition, upon which the Bond Trustee may conclusively rely,
substantially in the form provided in the Loan Agreement.
Deposit to Redemption Fund
If any recalculation of the weighted average reasonably expected economic life of the Bond Financed
Projects is required pursuant to the preceding paragraph or any requisition, the Borrower agrees to deposit in the
Redemption Fund, at the time the recalculation is made, an amount which, when applied by the Bond Trustee to the
optional redemption of Bonds, will be sufficient, with a Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel obtained at the time
the recalculation is made, to cause the weighted average maturity of the Bonds to be no more than 120% of the

D-18

weighted average reasonably expected economic life of the Bond Financed Projects, all calculated in accordance
with Section 147 of the Code.
Events of Default
The following events shall be Loan Default Events under the Loan Agreement: (a) if the Borrower shall
fail to pay in full any payment required by the Loan Agreement or if the Member of the Obligated Group shall fail
to pay in full any payment required under the Series 2019 Master Note when due, whether on an interest payment
date, at maturity, upon a date fixed for prepayment, by declaration, upon tender of the Bonds for purchase pursuant
to the Bond Indenture, or otherwise pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement or the Series 2019 Master Note;
(b) if any material representation or warranty made by the Borrower in the Loan Agreement or any Member of the
Obligated Group in any document, instrument or certificate furnished to the Bond Trustee or the Authority in
connection with the issuance of the Series 2019 Master Note or the Bonds shall at any time prove to have been
incorrect in any respect as of the time made; (c) if the Borrower shall fail to observe or perform any other covenant,
condition, agreement or provision in the Loan Agreement on its part to be observed or performed, or shall breach
any warranty by the Borrower in the Loan Agreement, for a period of 60 days after written notice specifying such
failure or breach and requesting that it be remedied, has been given to the Borrower by the Authority or the Bond
Trustee, except that, if such failure or breach can be remedied but not within such 60 day period and the Borrower
has taken all action reasonably possible to remedy such failure or breach within such 60 day period, such failure or
breach shall not become a Loan Default Event for so long as the Borrower shall diligently proceed to remedy the
same in accordance with and subject to any directions or limitations of time established by the Bond Trustee; and
(d) any Event of Default as defined in and under the Bond Indenture or the Master Indenture.
Remedies on Default
If a Loan Default Event shall occur under the Loan Agreement, the Bond Trustee on behalf of the
Authority may, among other things, declare all installments of Loan Repayments to be immediately due and
payable. The Authority or the Bond Trustee may also take whatever action, at law or in equity, to collect the
payment required under the Loan Agreement then due or to otherwise enforce the performance and observance of
any obligation, agreement or covenant of the Borrower contained in the Loan Agreement.
Amendments to Loan Agreement
The Loan Agreement may be amended, changed or modified only as provided in the Bond Indenture, as
described under the caption “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND INDENTURE –
Amendment of Loan Agreement” in this SUMMARY OF THE BOND INDENTURE AND THE LOAN
AGREEMENT.
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APPENDIX E
FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION
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December 20, 2019

We have acted as bond counsel in connection with the issuance by the Wisconsin Health
and Educational Facilities Authority (the “Authority”) of $140,790,000 of its Revenue Bonds,
Series 2019 (ThedaCare, Inc.) (the “Bonds”). The Bonds are being issued pursuant to Chapter
231 of the Wisconsin Statutes (the “Act”) and a resolution adopted by the Authority on
November 12, 2019 (the “Resolution”) and under a Bond Trust Indenture dated as of
December 1, 2019 (the “Bond Indenture”) between the Authority and The Bank of New York
Mellon Trust Company, as bond trustee (the “Bond Trustee”).
Under a Loan Agreement dated as of December 1, 2019 (the “Loan Agreement”) between
the Authority and ThedaCare, Inc. (the “Borrower”), the Authority is loaning to the Borrower the
proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to (a) currently refund all of the outstanding Wisconsin
Health and Educational Facilities Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2009A (ThedaCare, Inc.)
(the “Series 2009A Bonds”) (b) currently refund all of the outstanding Wisconsin Health and
Educational Facilities Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2009B (ThedaCare, Inc.) (the “Series
2009B Bonds” and collectively with the Series 2009A Bonds, the "Series 2009 Bonds"),
(c) finance or reimburse the Borrower and/or certain of its affiliates (the “Benefited Affiliates”)
for costs associated with the acquisition, construction, renovation and equipping of the projects
described in the Loan Agreement (collectively, the “Project”), and (d) pay certain costs
associated with the issuance of the Bonds.
The Borrower’s obligation to repay the loan is evidenced by its Promissory Note, Series
2019B dated December 20, 2019 (the “Note”). The Note is being issued pursuant to a Master
Trust Indenture dated as of June 1, 1988, as heretofore supplemented and as currently being
supplemented, amended and restated by a Twenty First Supplemental Master Trust Indenture
dated as of December 1, 2019 between the Obligated Group created by such Master Trust
Indenture (of which the Borrower is a member) and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., as master trustee thereunder.
The Bonds are issuable as fully registered bonds in the denominations, bear interest at the
rates and mature on the dates and in the amounts as provided in the Bond Indenture. The Bonds
are subject to redemption and purchase prior to maturity at the times, in the manner and upon the
terms set forth in the Bonds and the Bond Indenture.
We have examined (a) copies of Bonds numbered R-1 through R-12, (b) the Loan
Agreement, (c) the Note, (d) the Bond Indenture, (e) a Tax Exemption Certificate and Agreement
dated December 20, 2019 (the “Tax Exemption Agreement”) among the Authority, the Borrower
and the Bond Trustee, (f) a Bond Purchase Agreement dated November 19, 2019 (the “Bond
Purchase Agreement”) among the Authority, BofA Securities, Inc., on behalf of itself and as
representative of Well Fargo Bank, National Association, and the Borrower, and (g) the
Resolution.

E-1

December 20, 2019
Page 2
As to questions of fact material to our opinion, we have also examined and relied upon
representations and certifications of officials of the Authority, the Borrower, the Benefited
Affiliates and others delivered in connection with the issuance of the Bonds (including without
limitation, certifications as to the use of proceeds of the Bonds and the Series 2009 Bonds and
the ownership, operation and use of the property financed and refinanced therewith) without
undertaking to verify the same by independent investigation. We refer you to, and have relied
upon, the legal opinion dated the date hereof of Godfrey & Kahn, s.c, counsel to the Borrower
and the Benefited Affiliates, with respect to various matters concerning the Borrower and each of
the Benefited Affiliates, including (a) the status of each as an organization described in Section
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), which is exempt from
federal income taxation pursuant to Section 501(a) of the Code and is not a private foundation as
defined in Section 509(a) of the Code, (b) the corporate existence of each of the Borrower and
the Benefited Affiliates, (c) the authorization, execution and delivery of the Loan Agreement, the
Tax Exemption Agreement, and the Note by the Borrower and (d) the validity, binding effect and
enforceability of the Loan Agreement, the Tax Exemption Agreement, and the Note against the
Borrower. We note that the opinions are subject to a number of qualifications and limitations.
We have also examined the other documents we deemed relevant and necessary in rendering this
opinion.
Based upon the examination described above, it is our opinion under existing law that:
1.
The Authority is a public body corporate and politic created and existing under
the laws of the State of Wisconsin and has authority under the Act to issue the Bonds and to
enter into and perform its obligations under the Loan Agreement, the Tax Exemption Agreement,
the Bond Purchase Agreement, and the Bond Indenture.
2.
The Bonds are in the form required by law and have been authorized, executed,
issued and delivered by the Authority in accordance with law, the Resolution and the Bond
Indenture. The Bonds are valid and binding limited obligations of the Authority and are entitled
to the protection given by the Bond Indenture except that enforceability may be limited by
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, moratorium, fraudulent transfer or other
laws affecting creditors’ rights generally. Enforceability of the Authority’s obligations is also
subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether enforceability is considered in a
proceeding in equity or at law). The principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds are
payable solely out of the revenues derived from the Loan Agreement and the Note or, in the
event of default under the Loan Agreement, as otherwise permitted by the Bond Indenture or the
Resolution and by law. The Bonds do not constitute or give rise to a pecuniary liability of the
Authority or a charge against its general credit. The Authority has no taxing power.
3.
The Loan Agreement, the Note and the amounts payable under the Loan
Agreement and the Note by the Borrower (excluding the Unassigned Rights, as defined in the
Loan Agreement) have been pledged and assigned under the Bond Indenture as security for
payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.
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4.
The interest on the Bonds is excludable for federal income tax purposes from the
gross income of the owners of the Bonds. The interest on the Bonds is not a specific preference
item for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed by Section 55 of the Code on
individuals. The Code contains requirements that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of
the Bonds in order for interest on the Bonds to be or continue to be excludable from the gross
income of the owners of the Bonds for federal income tax purposes. Failure to comply with
certain of those requirements could cause the interest on the Bonds to be included in gross
income retroactively to the date of issuance of the Bonds. The Authority, the Bond Trustee, and
the Borrower and the Benefited Affiliates have agreed to comply with all of those requirements
and the opinion set forth in the first sentence of this paragraph is subject to the condition that the
Authority, the Bond Trustee, and the Borrower and the Benefited Affiliates comply with those
requirements. We express no opinion regarding other federal tax consequences arising with
respect to the Bonds.
This opinion letter deals only with the specific legal issues that it explicitly addresses and
no opinions may be inferred or implied beyond the matters expressly contained herein. The
opinions expressed herein are specifically limited to the laws of the United States and the present
internal laws of the State of Wisconsin. The opinions expressed herein are based upon those
facts and circumstances in existence and laws in effect on the date hereof, and we assume no
obligation or responsibility to update or supplement this opinion letter to reflect any facts or
circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention or any changes in laws that may hereafter
occur, or to inform any person of any change in circumstances occurring after the date hereof
that would alter the opinions rendered herein.
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FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT
This Continuing Disclosure Agreement (the “Disclosure Agreement”) dated as of
December 1, 2019, is executed and delivered by ThedaCare, Inc., a Wisconsin nonstock
corporation (the “Corporation”), ThedaCare Regional Medical Center – Neenah, Inc., (“TCN”)
ThedaCare Regional Medical Center – Appleton, Inc., a Wisconsin nonstock corporation
(“TCA”), ThedaCare Medical Center - New London, Inc., a Wisconsin nonstock corporation
(“TCNL”), ThedaCare Medical Center – Berlin, Inc., (“TCB”), ThedaCare Medical Center –
Shawano, Inc., a Wisconsin nonstock corporation (“TCS”), ThedaCare Medical Center –
Waupaca, Inc., a Wisconsin nonstock corporation (“TCW”) and ThedaCare Medical Center –
Wild Rose, Inc., a Wisconsin nonstock corporation (“TCWR)” and, collectively, the “Obligated
Group”) and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (the “Trustee”) in connection
with the issuance of $140,790,000 aggregate principal amount of Wisconsin Health and
Educational Facilities Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 (ThedaCare, Inc.) (the “Bonds”).
The Bonds are being issued pursuant to a Bond Trust Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2019
(the “Indenture”), between the Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority (the
“Authority”) and the Trustee. The proceeds of the Bonds are being loaned by the Authority to
the Corporation pursuant to a Loan Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2019 (the “Loan
Agreement”), between the Authority and the Corporation.
Section 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement. This Disclosure Agreement is being
executed and delivered by the members of the Obligated Group and the Trustee for the benefit of
the Bondholders (including any beneficial owners thereof when the Bonds are held in a bookentry system) and in order to assist the Underwriters in complying with the Rule (defined below).
The Obligated Group and the Trustee acknowledge that the Authority has undertaken no
responsibility with respect to any reports, notices or disclosures provided or required under this
Disclosure Agreement, and has no liability to any person, including any Bondholder, with
respect to any such reports, notices or disclosures.
Section 2. Definitions. In addition to the definitions set forth in the Master Indenture, as
defined herein, which apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Agreement unless
otherwise defined in this Disclosure Agreement, the following capitalized terms shall have the
following meanings:
“Annual Financial Information” means the financial information, which shall be based on
financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”), and operating data with respect to the Corporation, TCN, TCA, TCNL, TCB, TCS,
TCW and TCWR and any future members of the Obligated Group on a consolidated basis and
substantially similar in form and scope to the financial information and operating data set forth in
the tables under the captions “Utilization,” “Sources of Revenue,” “Historical and ProForma
Capitalization” (historical only), “Historical and ProForma Debt Service Coverage”
(historical only), and “Liquidity” in APPENDIX A to the Official Statement (except for
information relating to interim periods other than fiscal years) and which shall include, among
other things, audited financial statements of the Obligated Group substantially similar in form
and scope to those contained in APPENDIX B to the Official Statement; provided, however, that
if the audited financial statements of the Obligated Group are not available by the deadline for
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filing the Annual Financial Information, they shall be promptly provided when and if available
and unaudited financial statements shall be included in the Annual Financial Information.
“Bondholder” shall mean the registered owner of any Bond, and the beneficial owner of
any Bond held in a book-entry system.
“Collateral Documents” shall mean the Indenture, the Master Indenture and the Loan
Agreement.
“Disclosure Representative” shall mean the Obligated Group Agent, or such other person
as the members of the Obligated Group shall designate in writing to the Trustee from time to
time.
“Dissemination Agent” shall mean any Dissemination Agent designated as such in
writing by the Obligated Group pursuant to the terms hereof. Initially, there shall be no
Dissemination Agent appointed under this Disclosure Agreement.
“EMMA” shall mean the MSRB’s Electronic Municipal Market Access system, or such
other information repository or organization recognized by the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) from time to time for purposes of compliance with the rule.
“Financial Obligation” means (i) a debt obligation; (ii) derivative instrument entered
into in connection with or pledged as security or as a source of payment for, an existing or
planned debt obligation; or (iii) guarantee of (i) of (ii). The term Financial Obligation shall not
include municipal securities as to which a final official statement has been provided to the
MSRB consistent with the Rule.
“Listed Event” means any of the following events with respect to the Bonds:
1.

Delinquency in payment when due of any principal of or interest on the

Bonds.
2.
Occurrence of any Event of Default under and as defined in the Collateral
Documents (other than as described in clause (1) above).
3.
Any unscheduled draw on reserve fund established with respect to the
Bonds reflecting financial difficulties.
4.
Any unscheduled draw on credit enhancement with respect to the Bonds
reflecting financial difficulties.
5.

Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform.

6.
Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of
proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS
Form 5701–TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax
status of the Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds.
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7.

Modification of rights of Bondholders, if material.

8.

Bond calls, if material, and tender offers.

9.

Defeasance of the Bonds or any portion thereof.

10.
The release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the
Bonds (including property leased, mortgaged or pledged as such security), if material.
11.
12.
Person.1

Any change in any rating on the Bonds.
Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of an Obligated

13.
The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an
obligated person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the obligated person,
other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to
undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such
actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material.
14.
The appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of
name of a trustee, if material.
15.
Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of an Obligated Person, if material,
or agreement to covenants, events or default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar
terms of a Financial Obligation of an Obligated Person, any of which affect security
holders, if material.
16.
Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms or
other similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of an Obligated Person,
any of which reflect financial difficulties.
“Listed Event Notice” means written or electronic notice specifying the occurrence of a
Listed Event and identifying the same.
“Master Indenture” means the Amended and Restated Master Trust Indenture dated as of
December 1, 2019, between the Obligated Group and U.S. Bank National Association, as master
trustee, as amended and supplemented.
“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.
1
This event is considered to occur when any of the following occur: The appointment of a receiver, fiscal
agent or similar officer for an Obligated Person in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other
proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over
substantially all of the assets or business of the Obligated Person, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by
leaving the existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders
of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or
liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets
or business of the Obligated Person.
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“Obligated Group Agent” means the Corporation.
“Obligated Person” means any person who is either generally or through an enterprise,
fund or account of such person committed by contract or other arrangement to support payment
of all, or part of the obligations on the Bonds.
“Official Statement” means the Official Statement dated December 19, 2019, delivered in
connection with the original issue and sale of the Bonds.
“Quarterly Financial Information” means unaudited consolidated financial statements
with respect to the Corporation and the other members of the Obligated Group and the operating
data of the Corporation (including all member of the Obligated Group) set forth under the
caption “Utilization” in APPENDIX A to the Official Statement; all substantially similar in
form and scope to the quarterly financial information and operating data provided in the Official
Statement; provided, however, that if such statements are not available by the deadline for filing
the Quarterly Financial Information, they shall be promptly provided when and if available.
“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12 adopted by the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time.
“Tax-exempt” shall mean that interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for
federal income tax purposes, whether or not such interest is includable as an item of tax
preference or otherwise includable directly or indirectly for purposes of calculating any other tax
liability, including any alternative minimum tax or environmental tax.
“Underwriters” shall mean BofA Securities, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as the original underwriters of the Bonds required to comply with the Rule in
connection with offering of the Bonds.
3.

Undertaking to Provide Ongoing Disclosure.

(a)
This Disclosure Agreement constitutes the written undertaking of each
member of the Obligated Group for the benefit of the Bondholders required by the Rule.
It is the express intention of each member of the Obligated Group that the Bondholder be
a beneficiary of this Disclosure Agreement with the right to enforce this Section directly
against the members of the Obligated Group.
(b)
Each member of the Obligated Group, as an Obligated Person, undertakes
to provide the following information with respect to itself to the Obligated Group Agent
for preparation of the consolidated financial information and filing of the Listed Event
Notices:
Annual Financial Information;
Quarterly Financial Information; and
Listed Event Notices.
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(c)
The Disclosure Representative on behalf of the members of the Obligated
Group shall, while any Bonds are outstanding, provide Annual Financial Information to
the Authority, the Trustee and to EMMA not later than 150 days after the end of the
Corporation’s fiscal year commencing with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019
(the “Annual Report Date”). Fifteen days prior to the Annual Report Date (the “Annual
Submission Date”), the Disclosure Representative shall submit the Annual Financial
Information to the Dissemination Agent, if any. With each submission of Annual
Financial Information the Disclosure Representative shall include a written representation
addressed to the Dissemination Agent, which the Dissemination Agent may conclusively
rely upon, stating the Annual Financial Information is the Annual Financial Information
required by this Section and that it complies with the applicable requirements of this
Section. The Disclosure Representative may adjust the Annual Submission Date and the
Annual Report Date if the Obligated Group changes its fiscal year by providing written
notice of the change of fiscal year and the new Annual Submission Date and Annual
Report Date to the Dissemination Agent, the Authority and EMMA; provided that the
new Annual Report Date shall be not more than 150 days after the end of the new fiscal
year and the new Annual Submission Date shall be 15 days prior to the Annual Report
Date, and provided further that the period between the final Annual Report Date relating
to the former fiscal year and the initial Annual Report Date relating to the new fiscal year
shall not exceed one year in duration. It shall be sufficient if the Disclosure
Representative provides to the Authority and EMMA the Annual Financial Information
by specific reference to documents previously provided to EMMA or filed with the SEC
and, if such a document is a final official statement within the meaning of the Rule,
available from the MSRB.
(d)
The Disclosure Representative on behalf of the members of the Obligated
Group shall, while any Bonds are outstanding, provide Quarterly Financial Information to
the Authority, the Trustee and EMMA not later than 45 days after each March 31,
June 30, September 30 and December 31 of each year commencing December 31, 2019
(each a “Quarterly Report Date”). Fifteen days prior to each Quarterly Report Date (the
“Quarterly Submission Date”), the Disclosure Representative shall submit the Quarterly
Financial Information to the Dissemination Agent, if any. With each submission of
Quarterly Financial Information the Disclosure Representative shall include a written
representation addressed to the Dissemination Agent, which the Dissemination Agent
may conclusively rely upon, stating the Quarterly Financial Information is the Quarterly
Financial Information required by this Section and that it complies with the applicable
requirements of this Section. The Disclosure Representative may adjust the Quarterly
Submission Dates and the Quarterly Report Dates if the Obligated Group changes its
fiscal year by providing written notice of the change of fiscal year and the new Quarterly
Submission Dates and Quarterly Report Dates to the Dissemination Agent, the Authority
and EMMA; provided that the new Quarterly Report Date shall be not more than 45 days
after the end of the new calendar quarter and the new Quarterly Submission Dates shall
be 15 days prior to the Quarterly Report Dates, and provided further that the period
between the final Quarterly Report Date relating to the former calendar quarter and the
initial Quarterly Report Date relating to the new calendar quarter shall not exceed one
calendar quarter in duration. It shall be sufficient if the Disclosure Representative
provides to the Authority and EMMA the Quarterly Financial Information by specific
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reference to documents previously provided to EMMA or filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and, if such a document is a final official statement within the
meaning of the Rule, available from the MSRB.
(e)
If a Listed Event occurs while any Bonds are outstanding, the Disclosure
Representative, on behalf of the members of the Obligated Group shall provide a Listed
Event Notice in a timely manner not in excess of ten business days from the occurrence
thereof to the Dissemination Agent, if any, and the Dissemination Agent shall then
promptly distribute the Listed Event Notice to the Authority and EMMA. Each Listed
Event Notice shall be so captioned and shall prominently state the date, title and CUSIP
numbers of the Bonds.
(f)
The Trustee shall promptly advise the Disclosure Representative
whenever, in the course of performing its duties as Bond Trustee under the Indenture, the
Trustee identifies an occurrence which would require the Obligated Group to provide a
Listed Event Notice pursuant to subsection (e) above; provided that the failure of the
Trustee so to advise the Disclosure Representative of such occurrence shall not constitute
a breach by the Trustee of any of its duties and responsibilities under the Indenture. If in
response to a notice under this subsection (f), the Disclosure Representative determines
that such event contains a materiality qualifier and such event would not be material,
neither the Disclosure Representative nor the Dissemination Agent shall be required to
report the occurrence pursuant to subsection (e) and the Disclosure Representative shall
notify the Dissemination Agent in writing and instruct the Dissemination Agent not to
report the occurrence.
(g)
The Disclosure Representative shall provide notice in a timely manner to
the Trustee, the Authority and EMMA of any failure while any Bonds are outstanding to
provide Annual Financial Information or Quarterly Financial Information on or before
the Annual Report Date or Quarterly Report Date, as applicable (for any reason), as
provided herein.
(h)
The Disclosure Representative may, from time to time, appoint or engage
a Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure
Agreement, and may discharge any such Dissemination Agent, with or without
appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. If no Dissemination Agent has been
appointed or engaged or if a Dissemination Agent resigns or is otherwise removed and no
successor Dissemination Agent is appointed or engaged, the Disclosure Representative
shall perform all of the duties and assume all of the obligations of the Dissemination
Agent hereunder. The acting Dissemination Agent may resign upon 30 days prior written
notice to the Authority, the Corporation and the Disclosure Representative.
(i)

The Dissemination Agent shall:

(i)
Without further direction or instruction from the Disclosure
Representative, or the Obligated Group provide in a timely manner to the
Authority and to EMMA notice of any failure while any Bonds are outstanding by
the Dissemination Agent to provide EMMA with Annual Financial Information or
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Quarterly Financial Information on or before the Annual Report Date or Quarterly
Report Date, as applicable (whether caused by failure of the Disclosure
Representative to provide such information to the Dissemination Agent by the
Annual Submission Date or Quarterly Submission Date or for any other reason).
For the purposes of determining whether information received from the
Disclosure Representative is Annual Financial Information or Quarterly Financial
Information, the Dissemination Agent shall be entitled conclusively to rely on the
Disclosure Representative’s written representation made pursuant to subsection
(c) and (d) hereof.
(ii)
If the Disclosure Representative provides to the Dissemination
Agent information relating to the Obligated Group or the Bonds, which
information is not designated as a Listed Event Notice, and directs the
Dissemination Agent to provide such information to information repositories,
provide such information in a timely manner to the Authority, the Trustee and
EMMA;
(iii)
If by the Annual Submission Date or Quarterly Submission Date,
the Dissemination Agent has not received a copy of the Annual Financial
Information or Quarterly Financial Information, as applicable, contact the
Disclosure Representative to determine if the Obligated Group is in compliance
with subsection (c) or (d), and
(iv)
If the Dissemination Agent has not itself provided or received the
representation from the Disclosure Representative that it has provided the Annual
Financial Information or Quarterly Financial Information to the Authority and
EMMA, send a notice to such parties in substantially the form attached as
Schedule A.
(v)
File a report with the Disclosure Representative certifying that the
Annual Financial Information and Quarterly Financial Information has been
provided pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement, stating the date it was provided,
and listing all the parties to whom it was provided.
(j)
The Disclosure Representative shall determine each quarter prior to the
date for providing the Quarterly Financial Information, the name, address and web
address, if any, of each of the then existing Repositories.
(k)
In addition, each member of the Obligated Group covenants to provide to
the Disclosure Representative and/or the Dissemination Agent, if any, Annual Financial
Information, Quarterly Financial Information and Listed Event Notices with respect to
such member of the Obligated Group from time to time to the extent that such person
continues to constitute an “Obligated Person” in respect of the Bonds within the meaning
of the Rule, available from the MSRB.
(l)
Unless otherwise required by law and subject to technical and economic
feasibility (including reasonable cost), the Disclosure Representative and the
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Dissemination Agent, if any, shall employ such methods of information transmission as
shall be required or recommended by the designated recipients of the Obligated Group’s
information.
(m)

Notwithstanding the foregoing,

(i)
notice of the occurrence of an event described in clauses (1), (8) or
(9) of the definition of “Listed Event” shall be given by the Dissemination Agent,
if any, unless the Disclosure Representative gives the Dissemination Agent
written instructions not to disclose such occurrence;
(ii)
notice of events described in clauses (8) and (9) of the definition of
“Listed Event” need not be given under this subsection any earlier than the notice
(if any) of the underlying event is given to the Bondholders of affected Bonds
pursuant to the Indenture; and
(iii)
if no Dissemination Agent is appointed hereunder, the Trustee
shall assume the duties of the Dissemination Agent described in Section 3(i)(iii),
3(i)(iv) and 3(m)(i).
Section 4. Obligated Persons.
(a)
In the event that any other person subsequently becomes a member of the
Obligated Group or otherwise becomes an Obligated Person, the Obligated Group
Members agree to require such person to enter into a written undertaking to comply with
the provisions set forth in this Disclosure Agreement as a condition of such person
becoming a member of the Obligated Group.
(b)
Any member of the Obligated Group (other than the Corporation) reserves
the right to terminate its obligation to provide Annual Financial Information, Quarterly
Financial Information and notices of Listed Events, as set forth above, if and when such
person is no longer a member of the Obligated Group, as applicable, or an Obligated
Person with respect to the Bonds within the meaning of the Rule. The Disclosure
Representative will provide notice of any such termination to the Authority, the Trustee
and EMMA.
(c)
If the Corporation’s obligations under the Loan Agreement or the
obligations of the members of the Obligated Group under the Master Indenture are
assumed in full by some other entity, such person shall be responsible for compliance
with this Disclosure Agreement in the same manner as if it were the Corporation, the
members of the Obligated Group and the original Corporation or members of the
Obligated Group, as applicable, shall have no further responsibility hereunder.
Section 5. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The continuing obligation hereunder
of each member of the Obligated Group to provide Annual Financial Information, Quarterly
Financial Information and Listed Event Notices hereunder shall terminate immediately once the
Bonds are no longer outstanding, if not terminated earlier in accordance with Section 4(b) hereof.
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Section 6. Disclosure Representative. The members of the Obligated Group shall,
from time to time, appoint or engage a Disclosure Representative to assist them in carrying out
their obligations under this Disclosure Agreement, and may discharge any such Disclosure
Representative, upon appointment of a successor Disclosure Representative. If at any time there
is not any other designated Disclosure Representative, the Corporation shall be the Disclosure
Representative. Each member of the Obligated Group hereby appoints the Obligated Group
Agent as the initial Disclosure Representative and the Obligated Group Agent hereby accepts
such appointment.
Section 7. Amendment; Waiver. The provisions of the Disclosure Agreement,
including but not limited to the provisions relating to the accounting principles pursuant to which
the financial statements of the Obligated Group are prepared, may be amended as deemed
appropriate by the Corporation; but any such amendment must be adopted procedurally and
substantively in a manner consistent with the Rule, including any interpretation thereof made
from time to time by the SEC. Such interpretations currently include the requirements that
(a) the amendment may only be made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises
from a change in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature, or status of
the Obligated Group or the type of activities conducted thereby, (b) the undertaking, as amended,
would have complied with the requirements of the Rule at the time of the primary offering of the
Bonds, after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any
change in circumstances, and (c) the amendment does not materially impair the interests of
Bondholders, as determined by parties unaffiliated with the Obligated Group (such as
independent legal counsel). The foregoing interpretations may be changed in the future.
In the first Annual Financial Information to which an amendment applies, the Annual
Financial Information shall explain the reason for the amendment and the impact of the
amendment on the type of operating data or financial information being provided. If an
amendment to this Disclosure Agreement is made specifying the accounting principles to be
followed in preparing financial statements, the Annual Financial Information for the first year in
which the amendment applies shall present a comparison between the financial statements or
information prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the
basis of the former accounting principles. The comparison shall include a qualitative discussion
of the differences in the accounting principles and the impact of the change in the accounting
principles on the presentation of the financial information. The Disclosure Representative shall
provide notice of such amendment to EMMA. In the event that the Rule is amended in the
future, and such amendment would apply to the Bonds, the members of the Obligated Group and
the Trustee hereby agree that this Disclosure Agreement will be amended, in accordance with the
provisions of this Section 7 to cause the undertaking contained in this Disclosure Agreement to
comply with the requirements of the Rule, as amended.
Section 8. Additional Information. Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be
deemed to prevent the members of the Obligated Group from disseminating any other
information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Agreement or any
other means of communication, or including any other information in any Annual Financial
Information, Quarterly Financial Information or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in
addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Agreement.
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Section 9. Default. In the event of a failure of the members of the Obligated Group or
the Disclosure Representative, on behalf of the Obligated Group, to comply with any provision
of this Disclosure Agreement, the Dissemination Agent, or the Trustee if no Dissemination
Agent is appointed hereunder, may (and, at the request of the Underwriters or the owners of at
least 25% of the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Bonds, shall), take such actions as
may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking specific performance by court order, to
cause the members of the Obligated Group or the Disclosure Representative, on behalf of the
Obligated Group to comply with their obligations under this Disclosure Agreement. A default
under this Disclosure Agreement shall not be deemed an Event of Default under the Master
Indenture, the Indenture or the Loan Agreement, and the sole remedy under this Disclosure
Agreement in the event of any failure of the members of the Obligated Group, the Disclosure
Representative, on behalf of the members of the Obligated Group, or the Trustee to comply with
this Disclosure Agreement shall be an action to compel performance. The Dissemination Agent
shall be under no obligation to take any additional remedial action other than to submit a written
demand to the Disclosure Representative to comply with its obligations under this Disclosure
Agreement unless the Underwriters or the owners of not less than 25% in aggregate principal
amount of the outstanding Bonds shall request the Dissemination Agent to take such remedial
action and the Dissemination Agent is indemnified to its satisfaction.
Section 10. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of the Dissemination Agent and the
Trustee. Article 8 of the Indenture is hereby made applicable to this Disclosure Agreement as if
this Disclosure Agreement were (solely for this purpose) contained in the Indenture. The
Dissemination Agent and the Trustee shall have only such duties as are specifically set forth in
this Disclosure Agreement, and the members of the Obligated Group agree to indemnify and
save the Dissemination Agent and the Trustee, its officers, directors, employees and agents,
harmless against any loss, expense and liabilities which it may incur arising out of or in the
exercise or performance of its powers and duties hereunder, including the costs and expenses
(including attorneys’ fees) of defending against any claim of liability, but excluding liabilities
due to the Dissemination Agent’s or the Trustee’s negligence or willful misconduct. The
obligations of the members of the Obligated Group under this Section shall survive resignation
or removal of the Trustee or the Dissemination Agent and payment of the Bonds. If the Trustee
is required to take any action hereunder, the Obligated Group shall pay the Trustee reasonable
fees for its services. The Dissemination Agent shall have no obligation or liability for the
accuracy or completeness of any Annual Financial Information, Quarterly Financial Information
and any Listed Event Notices provided in accordance with this Disclosure Agreement and shall
have no obligation to review such information given for dissemination. The Dissemination
Agent’s obligation to deliver the information at the times and with the contents described in this
Disclosure Agreement shall be limited to the extent the Obligated Group or the Disclosure
Representative has provided such information to the Dissemination Agent as required hereunder.
Section 11. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit
of the members of the Obligated Group, any other Obligated Person, the Trustee, the
Underwriters, and the Bondholders from time to time of the Bonds, and shall create no rights in
any other person or entity.
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Section 12. Counterparts. This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the
same instrument.
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Section 13. Governing Law. This Disclosure Agreement shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Wisconsin.
THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON
TRUST COMPANY, N.A., as Trustee

By:
Authorized Officer
THEDACARE, INC.,
on behalf of itself and on behalf of
THEDACARE REGIONAL MEDICAL
CENTER –NEENAH, INC.
THEDACARE REGIONAL MEDICAL
CENTER –APPLETON, INC.
THEDACARE MEDICAL CENTER –NEW
LONDON, INC.
THEDACARE MEDICAL CENTER –
BERLIN, INC.
THEDACARE MEDICAL CENTER –
SHAWANO, INC.,
THEDACARE MEDICAL CENTER –
WAUPACA, INC.
THEDACARE MEDICAL CENTER –WILD
ROSE, INC.

By: ________________
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operations
Officer

[Signature Page to Continuing Disclosure Agreement]
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SCHEDULE A
NOTICE OF FAILURE TO FILE [ANNUAL]
[QUARTERLY] FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Name of Authority:

Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority

Name of Bond Issue:

$140,790,000 Wisconsin Health and Educational Facilities Authority
Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 (ThedaCare, Inc.)

Name of Corporation:

ThedaCare, Inc.

Date of Issuance:
December 20, 2019
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Obligated Group have not provided the [Annual]
[Quarterly] Financial Information with respect to the above-named Bonds as required by
Section 3[(c)][(d)] of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement dated as of December 1, 2019
among ThedaCare, Inc., ThedaCare Regional Medical Center - Appleton, Inc., ThedaCare
Regional Medical Center - Neenah, Inc., ThedaCare Medical Center - New London, Inc.,
ThedaCare Medical Center Berlin Inc., ThedaCare Medical Center – Shawano, Inc., ThedaCare
Medical Center – Waupaca, Inc., and ThedaCare Medical Center - Wild Rose, Inc. and The Bank
of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee. The Obligated Group anticipates that the
[Annual] [Quarterly] Financial Information will be filed by ________________________.
Dated: _____________________________
on behalf of the Obligated Group

By:
Its:
cc:

Disclosure Representative
[if notice is send by Dissemination Agent.]
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